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Highlights

Financial highlights

Group revenue

Adjusted profit/{loss) before tax*

Adjusted net cash/{dabt)
{exclusive of lease obligations)

Statutory diluted EPS®

QOrdar book

' On continuing activities.

MNet debt (inclusive of lease obligations)

Repaorted profit/{loss) before tax®

EBITDA to cash conversion**

Adjusted diluted EPS*

Accident frequency rate

*  On continuing activitles, staled before exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition inlangibles.
*** Haing EBITOA divided by cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategic highlights

— New cllent relationship with the
Ministry of Justice to provide
housing services

— Significant capabilities to support the
decarbonisation of the UK's housing
stock incluging an end-to-end offer
for ¢lients, enabling projects to be
designed, funded, implemented
and measured

— Good progress in managling the
controlled closure af cur
Development activities, releasing
working capital absorbed In that area

—— Excellentworking capital

management
— Underlying net debt (before lease
obligations) a1 ciose to z&ro

ESG highlights

- Staif delivered 1,500 local communily
projecis generating over £29.4m of
soclal value

— Plans to eliminate our carbon footprint
by 2030

— Awarded Order of Distinction by the
Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents (RoSPA), having achieved
Goid Award standard in our safety
record for 19 consecutive years

= Recognised as one of the Best
. Big Companles o work for by the
Sunday Times

Reconciations between the slatutory
figures and the ahernative performance
measures are reconciled on pages 55 and
56 of the Financial review. The Financial
review also provides detalled analysis

of the financial impact from the
discontinued operations.
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Strategic Report

Specialists in housing solutions

OUR FURPOSE

Warking together to help people and
communities thrive, This Is the guiding
principle that defines our brand and drives

our activities. It is what makes Mears distinctive
and is the stanting point for &l of our activities.

OUR VISION

To be the leating provider of hovsing
services and solutions to the affordable
housing market in the UK.

OUR VALUES

We vatue tearmwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
axcheding athers,

‘We value our customans
and communities, putting
thelr needs ot the heart of

everything wo do.

Our business at a glance

WHAT WE DO

Mears has a single-minded focus on the housing market and delivering
services 1o the residents of these homes. We operate within the
afforgabie housing sector, which is an area that will see continued
imvesiment given the significant housing shortage and the rising nnber
of peopie who are regarded as statutarily homeless. We ane aisp & key
player in the Net Zero agenda, As the largest provider of repairs and
mainiensnce to the social housing sector, we are alieady delivering Net
Zerc housing solutions with our pariners.

OUR SERVICES

Our core services are In the maintenance and management of homes.
Increasingly we operate an intelligent approach to maintenance, using
technology and experience lo operate prevantative maintenance
programmes that reduce levels of emergency repdirs. As regards
management, we callect rent and ensure homes are managed and
maintained to a decent standard, whilst often praviding other welfare
services to the tenants, Qur particu’ar focus is on providing sustainable
alternatives 1o homelessness, helping reduce the riging problems
created by Lhe housing shortage In the UK.

OUR CUSTOMERS

We work predominantty with Central Government and Local
Government, in the delivery of housing services. These are typicaity
through long-term contracts. We equally consitier the residents of the
homes that we manage and/or maintaln to He our customers, and we
take prde In the high levels of customer satisiaction thal we achleve.

02

We value Innovation,
haing inventive in our
pproach amd emp ing
peopie to take reasonable
action without fear or
discrimination.

LONG-TERM DRIVERS

The shorlage of housing in the UK has made invesiment in housing both
a political and an economic priority. The Social Housing White Paper will
lead to greater focus on tenant engagement and safety. UK carben
reduction 1argets will also mean that significan further investment in
hausing is needed, incuding the replacement of gas boilers.

We are already seeing rising investment In our markets and a greater
aftention to the quality of Geltvery.

Demographic change is also a key long-lerm driver, given the growing
and ageling populdtion of {he UK. This wit create opporiunity for more
specialist housing. where management and maintenance senvices can
be effectively combined through a single partner.

Mears Group PLC Annual Repor! and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

2021 accreditations

An organisation that actively
promotes support to Armed
fForces Veterans

An organisation that promotes
a safe working environment

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PREVENTION
OF ACCIDENTS

Health ahd salety is paramount (o cur business,

In 2021 Mears Group was awarded tha ROSPA
Order of Distinction alongside its 19%h consecutive
Gaokd Award in the iIntermnationally renowned
Health and Safety Awards run by ReSPA.

ARMED FORCES COVENANT —

GOLD AWARD

Mears has signed up 1o the Armed Forces
Covenant lo demonstrate cur commitment to
ensure that those who serve or who have
served In the armed forces, and thelr famlles,
are treated falrly.

An organisation that engages

with customers A grest employer

TPAS CONTRACTOR ACCREDITATION
AND AWARD WINNER

Mears has continuousty hekd the TPAS
Contractor accreditation since 2015. 1tis an
indepandem evidence-based accreditation
scheme that assesses and recognises resident
engagement arrangements. Mears is privileged
to have been awarded the TPAS Award for best
conlracior — tenant engagement.

BEST COMPANIES

Mears was named in 2021 as one of the Top 25
large businesses 1o work for in the Sunday Times
Best Companies to work for list Best Compantes
recogrises bysinesses that lake workplace
engagament seriously in order to build a happier,
healthler workforce, Our listing in the top 25 has
been maintained for 3 years.

An organisation that

_ ) A diverse and inclusive business
delivers quality

CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE
Mears aims t¢ put customers at the heart of
everything we do. The Customer Service
Excellence accreditation is a praclical 100l for
driving customer-facused change.

EW GROUP INCLUSIVE

CULTURE PLEDGE

Mears Is proud to have signed the EW Group
Inchusive Culture Pledge. The Pledge will

lacus on keeping the equakty and diversity
conversation alive in our organisation anc how
we continue \0 progress ow diversity and
inchrsion agenda and achievements.

Mears Graup PLC Annual Repaort and Accounts 2021




An organisation that
champions Social Mobility

SOCIAL MOSILITY INDEX

Mears is listed as a top 75 Social Mobiity Employer in the Social
Mobility Index. The Index is an important bench-marking Initiative
that ranks Britain’s employers on the actions they are taking to
cnsure they are upen Lo accessing and progressing talent from
all backgrounds and it showcases progress 1owards improving
social mobllity.

A socially responsible business

FTSE4GOOD

Mears Group is placed in the tap 9% of the UK’s most socially
responsible businesses in the FTSE4Good Index which recognises
excedent environmenial, sodial and governance (ESG) practices.

Delivering excellent
customer service

ICS SERVICEMARK

Mears aims 10 put customers at the heart of everything we do.
The ICS ServiceMark helps crganisations understand how
effective thelr customer service strategy is. and identifias areas
for improvement_

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

An organisation that believes good
people make a great business

INVESTORS IN PEOPLE
Mears is proud o have long held the Investors in People standard.
investors in Pecple is the ndusiry standard for people mansgement.

Colleagues receive best
in class training

ICS TRAININGMARK

The Institute of Customer Service (ICS) TrainingMark demonstrates
that our Customer Excelience Tralning (Making a Positive
Difference) programmes meel natignal standards for customer
sarvice, as independently recognised by the ICS.

Backing our essential workers

ICS — SERVICE WITH RESPECT

Mears is proud to support the 1SC's new ‘Service with Respect’
campaign combatting the abuse and anti-social behaviour
experienced by essential workers In customer-facing roles.
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter

For much of the last two years,
Mears’ strategy has been to
streamline and refocus its
activities on the core provision
of low capital intensity housing
services to public sector clients
and in doing so to reduce its
indebtedness. This has now
been achieved.

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

06

~

INTRODUCTION

The most obvious theme for 2021 was the
gradual and pragressive teturn ta aormal
warking across most of Mears® activities.

Al the start of the year, a varsion of IoCkoown
was still In place, our repair and maintenance
activittes were restricted and a number of
cantracts continued, as they had for much of
202Q. to repay our costs but aliminated the
scope for profit gereration. By tha half year, -
we had retwmned to almost normal operations
and contractual conditions. Activity continuad
to build throughout the second half of the
year, with growing work volumes and a2 more
active bidding process. The resilience of our
markets and our Operstions was undertined
by the fact that the appearance late in the year
of the Omicron Covid variant, while creating
soMme operational challenges, had very littie
impact on activity levels, service quality or
financisl performance. We entered 2022 with
a strong trading and financial position, a good
pipeline of work and continued high fevels of
customer service.

This resilience in performance owes much

to three factors. The first, and mast important,
1s the quality of our stafi. | have seer many
examples of extracrdinary dedication and
resilience in the face of difflcult circurnstences
and a determination ko deliver a good
experience (Qr customers, not simpiy o
execute a piece of work, The second Is the
strength of our customer relationships, fosiered
by our betief that excelent customer service
is the key to effeclive cooperative working
between cllent and provider. Finaily, our
Infarmation technology platform has been
integral 1o the dedivery of our high quality,
responsive service. Mears’ people havé much
10 be proud of in the way they navigated 2021

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021




Continuing revenues

£878.4m

{2020: £805.8m)

Adjusted diluted EPS

18.23p

(Statutory dilutec EPS 11.50p)

Mears in 2022 Is a financially strong group
whose business Is to fulfll contracts from UK
Local and Central Government bodles to
provide essential services to customers in
need. No UK company will be entirely immune
to the consequences of the current
deterloration in the world geapolitical climate,
but Mears' financial stabllity and increasing
certainty of revenue provides the Group with
sirong defensive qualities and confidence in
our sustainable future.

RESULTS
Mears' resulls for the year reflect this pattern
of underlylng activity, with activity and
profitabliity growing as the year progressed.
Full year revepue from continuing actlvities
reached £878.4m, very close to that achleved
in 2019 {£881.5m) and a significant increase
—on 2020 {£805:8m)-Adjusted-profit before-
tox regched £25.6m (2020: £3.4m loss).
Cash generation throughowt the year was
particularly strong, both in the core operations
and in proceeds from realisations in the
residual development business. The year end
adjusted net cash balance was £54.6m but,
more imporntantly, average daily adjusted
net debt for the year was effectively zero.
Undetlying cash conversion of over 100% In
the last twa years, (8s defined and detailed in
the Finance Review), has, along with strategic
disposals, transformed the Group's financiat
position and created the cument balance
sheet strength which Mears is determined
to retain into the future.,

The value of new contracts bid and secured

in the year was relatively low given the delay
caused by Covid. The Group was pleased to
develop & new Central Government ckent
retationship with the Ministry of Justice (Mo.)) to
provide housing services, supporting low and
medium risk prisoners upon their release into
initial accommodation and then providing a
ciear pathway to a settled home. While the
initiat value of the contract Is modesl, there is
scope 10 extend the longevity and geographic
coverage of this work as we become familier
with the requirements of a new and different
customer base and & new client.

We were delighted that in early 2022, the
Ministry of Defence (MoD) nolified Mears that
it had been successful In Its bid to continue to
provide housing services to military personnel
in the community under the new RLAP. This is
an extremely important client and contract for
the Group, and we [00k férward to continuing
to provide a very high quality service to our
military customers for a number of years.
Including this successful retention, the
Company's order book remains strong

at some £2.4bn{2020: £2.6bn).

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

DIVIDEND

The Board I proposing a final dividend of 5.50
pence per share, bringing the total dividend for
the year to 8.00 pence per share. We are
pleased 10 have been able to reinstate
dividend payments as our trading returned
towards normal during 2021 and it is the
Board's policy to pay a progressivaly growing
dividend, keeping cover at betwesn 2x and
2.5x normalised earnings.

STRATEGY

For much ofthe last two years, Mears' strategy
has been to streamline and refocus its activities
on the core provision of low capital Intensity
housing services to public sector Clients and

in doing so has realised value from non-core
activities 10 reduce lts indebtedness. This has
now been achleved. During the [ast year, the
Board has invested considerable time in
working with the management team, supported
by external advisers, to assess the scope for
the Group's fulure development.

The backdrop Is encovraging. Demographic
rends are increasing the demand for
affordable housing and more sophisticated
retirement living solutions. Social housing
waiting lists remain long and there is growing
pressure on Local Authorities and Housing
Associations to find, service and maintgin
homes to a high standard. Finally, the
Govemment's commitment to national carbon
reduction targets cannot be achieved without
both a very substantial investment in the
quality of the existing housing stock as

well as significant changes In the way

houses are heated.

Mears is positioned to benefit from all of these
trends. We expect to use our position as the
market ieader in housing maintenance 1o win
new business at good margin and to
progressively extend our range of services to
clients, We wili explore ways in which we might
be abie lo operate profitably with private sector
clients. We will grow our capabilities, especially
in refation to the 'greening’ of housing and,
once effective funding mechanisms are found
10 pay for this work, expect to be a market
leader in this transformathon of the country’s
social housing stock. We will maintain & strong
financial position and our focus on excellent
cash generation,
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Strategic Report

Chaimman’s letter continued

Our commitment ta ail of our stakeholders will
remain ai the forefront of our development.

We will continue 10 support Customers and
communities, both in how we undernake our
core wark and in the social value projects we
support. We will invest in owr business to
generate incremental opportunity and quality
improvements in the Service we can provide
customers and clents. Our commiliment 10 our
stalf’s wakare and thelr personal anc career
development will also be strengthened. We will
insthute a programme Lo eliminate our own
carbon footprint by 2030, We will maintain
close relationships with our bank lenders,
aithaugh our facilities wifl be smaller than in
past years, And wa will keep 8 close eye on the
need 10 balence retained financial strengih for
1he Group whh a staady and growing retum of
value 1o our sharehoiders.

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

As foreshadowed in last year's repart, both Roy
frwin and Geraint Davies stood dow fram the
Board at the 2021 Annua! General Maeling
(AGM). The Board is grateful for thair services.
At that time, the Board proposed to add one
new Non-Executive Dlrector during 2022

Much work was undertaken by the
Nomingtions Commitiee t0 identify both what
skills and experience would be of most value in
recruling a new director and In examining our
need for a continued effortto reflect at Board
level the Group's overall Commitment 1o
diversity. This work is discussed further in

1he Repor of the Nominations Commitiee.
Foliowing an extensive process, the Board

was pleased to announce the appointment of
Angela Lockwood as Its new Non-Executive
Director with effect from 1 January 2022.
Angeia has held senior roles in the affordable
housing sector for many years and her in-depth
understanding of that community will be of
immense value to Mears as it confinues to
develop Hs business.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

For a number of years, Mears’ largest,
shatehaldes was Primestone Capital, which
held over 17% of the Company's shares.

Ower the last 12 months, Primestone
progressively reduced is hoiding and, by the
end of 2021, it was no langer 2 sharenoider.
Mears' current Sharehotger base is domnated
by a smali pumber of funds with signiicant
holdings, mest of whom have been substantial
and supportive owners of the Company fot
many years.

08

“We will continue to emphasise
the need to support customers

and communities, both in how we
undertake our core work and in the
social value projects we support.”

While day-to-dey dialogue with sharehciders
is lod by the senior management teem, it is
importank for me as Chairman to have the
opporunity 10 tak with shareholders from time
10 time $0 that | can understand the key issues
which underpin their support for Mears.

During 2021, | hetd discussions on at least

ane occasian with most of the largest 15
shareholders in the Group, which sllowed
them to quastion me about the posilion and
prospects for the Group and tacilitated my
understanding of what maners for them In their
cantinuing support for the Company. | intend
to cantinue that dialogue, both reactivety

and proactively, through 2022

ESG -

| referred above 10 the impaortance of the
‘carbon rero sgenda’ in the future developrnernt
of ihe Mears’ business, and this is discussed
furthier in the CEQ's rview. Meais s
developing its pfan to efiminate its own carbon
{solprint by 2030. This plan will be closely
monitored by the Board as it 15 rolled oul acrass
the Group to ensure that the changes we make
are sustainable, affective, and permanent.

Mears’ commitment to responsible business
snd the creation of social valve is anintegral
part of the fabric of the Group, We are plessed
1hat it continues to be recognised by s wide
range of outside observers. We were
delighted to be awarded the Order ot
Distinction by RoSPA (the Royal Society for
the Preventon of Accidents], hawving achieved
Gold Award standard i our safety record for
19 conseculive years. We remain one of the
Best Blg Companies 1o work for In the anaval
Sunday Times survey. We have continyed to
cevelop arange of programmes 10 suppon
s1aff from apprentices through to middle
managemesnt in their Career development.
Our commitment to customer service was
reflected in the retention of the ICS's
ServiceMark Accreditation for Hausing.

We remain In the forefront of the development
of good business practice with the production
ol aur report on Ethical Procurement and in the
development of our Scaottish Business Charter.

Further detslls of othar Initlatives are included
in the E5G section of the Strategic Report.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Much has been achieved by Mears over the
last three years to opiimise its position and
prospects, despite the strong headwinds of
the Covid pandermic for much of that period.
Credit for this mus{ go 1o the management
team and the workforce generally, and it

Is & pleasure, on behsH of the Bosrd, 10
acknowlegge the hard and effective work
which has been put In over this pedad.

we are confident In our capabilities. our
abllity to add value and our capacity to
generate sustainable profitable growth.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



An interview with the

Chief Executive Officer

There has been so much publicity around
the challenges In the asylum System.

How is this ikely to impact the businesy
golng forward?

it is correct to say that there have been major
challenges this year and our staff have been
brilliant in reacting to very high leveis of
demand, often & very short natice, We find
initlal and dispessed accommodcation, on
behalf of the Home Office acrass Scotland,
Northern Ireland and parts of the north of
England. At the time of writing this respanse,
there is no sign of the number of paople
requesting asylum decreasing, aithough we
have assumed that this will start to happen
from the middle of 2022. We wlll continge

lo focus on providing good quality housing
and to work with other groups to suppart the
welfare of the Individuals concerned.

“Our staff have
been brilliant
in reacting to
very high levels
of demand,
often at very
short notice.”

What is the situation regarding materials
availability and inflation, as weil as the
pressures arising from labour shortages?
Worldwide demand had put pressure on
toth the supply and price of some matenals.
We are fortunate that all our major conlracts
provide for increases In inflation, but we still
have a duty to mitigate the impact on our
clients. We have close working relationships
with gur supplers and ensured there Is
good vislhility of forward demand. There are
some pressures on front line trade roles.

To mitigate this, we have put incraased focus
on apprenticaships, invested in the Kickstart
Scheme and developed new entry leval
roles. Our continued focus on promoting
diversity Is also importentin ensuring that we
reach out to all people In society. The most
important thing is staff retention, and it Is
obwiously helpful that we are recognised as
being one of the best large companles to
work for in the UK. We have, however, gone
further, improving terms and conditions for
staff. in areas such as holidays, flexible
benefits and sick pay.

Covid must still be presenting challenges to
Mears. How are you deallng with them?
Covid has almost become a businass-as-
usual chakenge within Mears. By this t mean
staff have been excellent in'sticking 1o
stringent safety procedures and belng able to
palance working from home and the office,
sometimes changing at very short notice.
We have tried and tested procedures, and
whilst it Is possible that more severe
lockdowns may happen, iLis evident thal the
work will not disappesr, but just get delayed.
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Do you believe that the focus on carbon
reduction is a real opportunity for Mears?
Without doubt, The business is already
winning wark In this space and had
devaloped an end-to-end service capability
to support clients’ work towards net zero
within their housing stock. | am also excited
by the benefit this work has on reducing
fuel poverty. While being ambitious In our
development plenning and specifically in
broadening the skills in our worktoree here,
we are being cautious as regards to the
speed at which clients invest, given some
uncenaintles with grant funding avallability.
Overall, though, thisis probably the biggest
opportunity for Mears over the next 5 years.

What steps are you taking to promote
giversity in Mears?

QOuw clients are very diverse and 50 I$ our
workforce. | am pleased thal sta¥f have readily
shared EDI data with us, so we have a very
good picture of our workforce, and we
monitor closely how our workforce Is
progressing, It's been good to see significant
growth inthe percentage of managers who
are women In Mears and that the gender pay
gap Is closing. We have an Employee Director
on the main Board and a Deputy Employee
Director, who is atso (he disabiity champicn
for the Group, Diversity training has taken
place at every level in the Group, ingluding at
the main Board. We have a Social Diversity
and Inclusion Board, with theee independent
Directors, that reports to the main Board on
the progress the Group s making.

Our succession planning procedures, at all
levels, fully consider diversity aspects and
our ongalng goal 1o be a teader in this field.

“Our clients are
very diverse
and so is our
workforce.”

Now the cash position of the Group has
Improved 56 much, do you see a role

for acquisitions?

We don’t befieve that any major acquisitions
afe likely. We have a very clear strategy with
some good opportunities for organic growth.
We will, of course, continue to have this
gasition under review,
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review

We are trusted partners to our
Local and Central Government
clients, who increasingly recognise
the need for a high quality housing
specialist to help them provide a
wide range of accommodation and
related services to often vulnerable
people within their care.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

INTRODUCTION

2021 was a strong year for the Group,
characterised by high quality operations and
cusiomer sesvice, a robust financial position
ang trading cutperformance. Our track record
of operational excellence undarpins everything
we do; from winming new work, attracting and
retaining the best staff, delivering a strong
and sustainabie financial pecfarmance.

‘The pandemic again placed additional
operating challenges this year. Prior long-term
Investment in client relationships, our people
and systems ensured the business continued
to perform well eglative to its peers.

We are a trusted partner 1o our Local and
Centrat Government clients, who increasingly
recognise the need far 8 high quality housing
speciolist 10 help 1hem provide a wide range of
accommodation and reisted services to often
vuinerable people within their care,

1am keen to put an record its appreciation for
the ongoing dedication and commitment shown

by aft staff and the cooperation 8nd support
recelved from our chents and cusiomers,

Accident frequancy rate

0.19

(2020: 0.15)

Order book

£2.4bn

(2020: 2.6bry
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GROUP REVIEW

The trading performance of the Group continued to recaver strongly over the caurse of the year as
the financial impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic receded. The recovery in reveriue in the continuing
operations to near 2012 levels in 2021, and the rise in operating margins, especially in the second

half, were very positive.

Continulng actlvities

We experienced particularly high volumes in
reactive maintenance activity in the second
half of 2021 as we worked with clients and
customers o clear the backlog of fower priarity
malntenance jobs that had been defayed by
lockdowns. Higher Covid-refated levels of
sickness in aur warkforce during 2021, together
with some reduction in productivity given
ongoing social-distancing prctocols, has
resuted In 3 higher level of overdue works
orders. Planned maintenance works have been
slower to return to normal levels, However, this
spend is non-discretlanary over the longer
term and we.are.confident these works will

H12021 H2 2021 2021 2020
Revenue £m £m £m £m
Maintenance-led 2865 2579 544 .4 536.9
Management-led 1385 1689 308.4 2538
Development 127 79 256 15
Total 4437 4347 878.4 B805.8
Opesating profit before tax messures:
Statutory operating profitfloss) 97 17 244 (6.3)
Adjusted operating profitfloss) 15.6 181 337 66
(post-IFRS 16§
Adjusted operating profitioss) 137 59 286 06
{pre-IFRS 162
Adjusted operating margin I 37 24% o
(pre-iFRS 16)
Profit bafore Wx measures
Staturory profitfloss) befora tax 5.6 107 163 {15.2)
Adjusted profit/floss) before tax? 13 W5 25.6 [3.4)

1. Statutory operating profitAioss) Includies share of profit In assoclates,
2. Adiusted measures are defined in the Alternative Performance Measures section of the Finance Review.

Group revenues for the year were €878 4m
{2020: £805.8m}, & 9% increase on the prlor
year, driven by elevated volumes across the
Management-led contracts, repalir volumes
returning to pre-pandemic levels within
respansive Maintenance and & good seil
through In Devetopment, especially in the
first half of 2021

Operating profits and margins continued to
strengthen aver the course of the year as
lockdown restrictions eased, volumes
increased, and the business reverted w its
orlginal commercial mechanisms with clients.
Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted operating profit for the
year was £29.5m (202Q: £0.6m), with pre-IFRS
16 adjusted operating margins recovering from
3.1% in the first half to 3.6% by the second hatf.

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
€25.6m (2020: £3.4m lass), benefitting from
the impraved trading performance and lower
interest costs given the Group’s much
improved debt position throughout 2021,

OPERATING REVIEW

Maintenance-led

Through its porifolio of Maintenance-led
contracts, Mears is responsible for the upkeep,
repair, and maintenance of soclal housing
across the UK, on behalf of around 50 Locat
Authorities and Housing Associations,

The Group's Maintenance-led contracts saw

an Improving volume and revenue trend during
2021 as restrictions eased and more normalised
trading conditions ceturned to most branches.
Ali contracts reverted to their orkginal
commercial mechanisms.
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return during 2022,

Our procurement procedures have meant that
wea have not experlenced significant problems
with material supply. Where lead times have
lengthened, we have managed 1o plan for this
in our operational delivery. However, as
evidenced across the industry, we have
experlenced Input price inflation in the pericd,
impacting upon both materials and labour,
The Group's customer contracts includa
Inflationary uplift mechanisms which negate
much of this risk over the medium term,
aithough there can be timing differences in the
short term. The Mears model has always been
to invest In and retain our own staff as much as
possible, with lesser rellance than peers on
sub-contracted and other short-term labour,
Qur employee tumover remains low relathve
to the industry and, accardingly, we are

better protected from the shortages and
accompanying price inflation seenin the
broader construction labour markets.

Management-led

Mears’ Management-led contracts include the
procurement, management, and melntenance
of over 10,000 affordable homes and support
to the people in those homes. Most of the
revenies In this area are generated through
contracts with Central Government.

Our contracts in this Management-led
category perfarmed strongly throughout 2021,
with revenues up 22% year on year. This was
largely driven by the Asylurm Accommodation
and Support Contract (AASC) in which we find
initlat and dispersed accommedation on
behalf of the Home Office across Scotland,
Northern lreland, and parts of the north of
England. AASC continued to experience
elevated volumes across the entire ssylum
process, with more service users entering

the system than exiting, The process of
supporting these vulnerabla people into
dispersed accommodation is continuing.
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

lam immensely proud of how the Mears AASC
leam and Group Infrastruciure have managed
such high demand {often al short notice)

* and continued to provide good quality
accommaodation and tenamt support

Development

Qur few remaining development sites achieved a strong sell-through, particularly in the first half year.
The Group sold 50 units in the yaar, generating cash snd revanues of £25.6m (2020; £15.m).

The Group anticipates 8 full exit from the remalning Development portfolio during 2022,

throughout the year. While volumes
@levated a1 1the ime of writing, we anticipaie
that numbers within the system will startto
narmalise from the middle of 2022,

Mears was swarded a contract withs the MoJ
{MoJ) to provide transitional housing services
and support to low and medium risk prisoners
upon their release, from initis! accommodation
Intd 3 settied home. A key aim of this pilot
scheme 1s to ensire that no Gne teaves prson
without the ofier of & good gquality place 10 live
from thei fivst night in the community, and a
clear pathway to a settied long-term home.
This 1s a new customer for Mears, We will
provide an integrated service including the
provision of the property, maintenance,
management, and welfare support. The contract
moblised in July 2021 and has ramped up
slawly during the initlal six-months, reaching an
annuakised runrate value of circa £6m revenue
by the year end. [nitia) feedback from the Mo
has been positive and discussions continue in
respect of extending bath the term and
geographic reach of the programme.

Mears was delighied 1o be swarded the new
RLAP contract, providing a wide range of
housing services to the Defence infrastructure
Qrganisstion (DIQ). The new contractis for a
period of up to Seven years @nd has 8 cantract
valug In excess of £50m & year. Under the
contracl, Mears will provide 8 wiie range of
accommodation and property senices to
service personnel and their familles across the
UK. Services include property search, sefection
#nd leasing, relocation serviCes, 1enandy
management, responsive repairs, and
maintenance. The new contract is expected

1o commence in April 2022. Mears has been
successfully providing simiar services since
2016 under the predecessof Substitute Service
Accommodation contract, delivering a high
level of service and operational delivery,

which has conurlbuted to this successful re-bid.
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Development glots Unhis
Completed Lnils as at 1 January 2021 49
Units complaéed during period 17
Units sold during petiod S0
Completed units at 31 December 2021 1B
Building In progress at 31 Decembar (in addition to completed units) 26
Net working tapital absorbed (31 December 2021) €2m
(2020 £25m)

Mears has created an end-to-end offer for
clents. enabling projecis to be designed,
funded, Implemented. and measured.

Energy efficiency

The Social Housing sector, comprising some
20% of the totel number of 28 milion gwellings
in the UK, has bheen tasked by Government to
lead the way in the decarbonisation of the UK's
housing stock, in line with the LIKC's overall
ciimete change ambitions. Furthermore, rising
levets of fuel poverty as energy prices suige
demand further action on engrgy effliciency.
Mears has buiit significant capabilities in this
area and Is heavily engaged with its Local
Authority and Housing Association clieat base
to help them rise 1o these challenges.

Mears has worked colisboratively with several
chients ko design tallored retrofit solutions and
secure funding through the SHDF. This Is

the first ranche of lunding from Central
Government, which will be released over

the next {0 years to improve the energy
perfarmance of soclal reted homes on the
Joumey to achieve net zero by 2050 In England.
The funding applications were facilitated by
Mears in parinesship with Livin Housing, Crawiey
Homes and Miiton Keynes Council. The Gioup
created a ‘carbon reduction teeny focused on
developing solutions to support cur existing
chents to decarbanise their housing stock by
taking a resident first approach that is centred
on reducing fuef stress, improving residents’
Quality of e, and improving the condition and
energy perfiarmance of chients” housing stock.

An analysis by inside Housing put the
estimated cost of decarbonising the UX's social
housing stock a1 £104bn or circa £21.000 per
property. While Central Government has not
yel released anough funding for clients to
achieve thelr 2030 targets, there aie now
increasing funding commitments available to
enable progress lo be made. Aprll 2022 wilk
see £800m released for the English Social
Housing Decarbanisation Fund (SHOF), with
similar funds existing in devolved nations.

The Warm Homes Front and Energy Company
Ohligation {(ECO4) scheme alsa present
significant investment opportunities,

The successiul funding awands 1o date,
combined with client investment, wii defiver
schemes 1o our Millon Keynes Councll, Crawley
Homes and Uivin Housing 1o an aggregete
value of over £15m (including grant funding of
clrca £5m), with works to be completed before
March 2023.
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ItIs obviously iImportant for clients o integrate
green investrent with other planned
maintenance work and for this work to be well
maintained after installation, Mears is uniquely
placed to Integrate such projects efficiently Into
cllents’ ongoing maintenance and regeneration
programmes, Creating energy efficiency Is nota
one-off plece of work, it will become an ongaling
key part of the management of housing stock,
along with rising standards of bullding safety
and tenant engagement. The current Decent
Homes standards review can only give furllwer
momentum to these improvements.

Of course, we have a respansibility to take
action on our own direct operations o increase
carbon efficiency and alm to achleve Net Zero
on Scope 1and 2 emissions by 2030, We will
publish our roadmap to this target in 2022.

CUSTOMERS

The Group conducts over 36,000 ‘Voice of the
Customer’ surveys a year 1o demonstrate 10
ourselves and our clients that the highest
standards of customer service are maintained.
These show that the Group's ‘Satisfled with
Service’ and “Likely ta Recommend (NPS)
scores remalned consistently above B0%

and 60% respectivety. throughout the year.
Such scores are substantially above the
benchmark for the'industry across both the
public and private sector, with 35% being

the average. Integral to this performance was
the Mears Contract Management (MCM)
technology platform, which factitated a
seamless transition to and from remote
working, for both Mears employees and
crucially our clients,

“At a time when competition for
skilled labour is high, it has never
been more important for Mears to
continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff.”

EMPLOYEES

At a time when competition for skilled labour
is high, it has never been more impaortant for
Mears to continue its commitment to being a

—great place to work for our staff; For the third——

year running, we have secured our place in the
2021 Sunday Times Best Companles list of top
25 large compantes to wark for In the UK, and
encouragingly Gur score Is higher than both
2019 and 2020. Our culture ls defined by

our values, as set aut in the ‘Red Thread'.

We recognise that through great employee
engagement we will achleve commercial and
customer success. A culture of investment,
inclusion and development In the workforce
ensured that the Group saw only modest
increases in staff turnover and costs during
the year, despite labour markets tightening
significantly across the sector.

The benefits of this effort can be seen inthe
extraordinary effort and commitment from our
staff during the Covid pertiod, which has had
such a big impact on our operational detivery.
As new opportunities arise, such as energy
efficiency, open up, we will have to continue
investing in our staff to develop both the
capabiiity and capacity of our teams to take
advantage of such opportunities.
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During the yesr, we have used staff feedback
to further strengthen our warkforce proposition,
with the folowing key initiatives implemented
during the year:

— Improved holiday and sick pay for from
line operatives

= Building the workfarce of tomarrow,
through investing In apprentices,
supporting the Kickstar{ programme
and creating new entry level roles lo
drive socal mobliity

— Introducing flexible benefits and enabling
& better bafance hetween home and
office working

— Prawviding excellent communication and
Support around Covid and maintaining the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadly”

— Increasing irvestment in staff, through
besgoke training such as our ‘Emerge’
development programme, for staff looking
1o progress to senicr management positions

~— Externally eppointed Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publish our first
‘ethnicity gap’ repost by the end of 2022

— The development of new law carbon
technology and awareness halning to
help transition our staff to these new
Opportunity areas

— Providing comprehensive menal health
and welbeing support, especially given
the difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basls
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group's health and safety record across
the year was exceptionally good, as evidenced
by our Health and Safety Team being swarded
5 19th Consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and
retaining its pface on RoSPAS Order of Merit.

The Health and Safety 1eam worked closely
with the operational team maobiising the
Ministry of Justice contract, to ensure robust
governance policies and procaedures were
embedded into contract defivery. in this
regard, the Group's knowlenge, expertise, and
experience derived from managing AASC was
hugely beneficial and was a key element in the
very successful deployment of services during
1he latter part of the year.

The ever-increasing imporiance of data
security 1S a key strategic consideration for

the Group and, [n this regard., | have recently
widened the role of the Comgfiance Committee
to encomfass greater scrutly of this essential
area moving forward into 2022, to enhance the
level of information avallable ta the main Board.

SOCIAL YALUE AND

RESPONSIOLE BUSINESS

Owr business is founded In Yocal communilies
whele we deliver the highest standards of
care fo people, thelr homes and their lived
enviranment By carlng about the peopie and
communities we work with, we are wefcomegd
into people’s homes, are a trusted partner 1o
ow clients, and an attractive and valued local
employer. Despite a challenging year in which
10 engage with our locgl communities, the
Group's staff delivared aver 1,500 iocal
community profects generating over £29.4m of
social value, Our AASC stalf delivered laptops
10 schoals and supported children through
lockdown with sell-isolation packs in 11 differem
langusges. Our Key Worker contract teams
contributed over£1tm of sociat! value through
the "Reuse’ nilistive that donates and

diswibules used furniture 10 those in local need.

We hava targeted each empioyee 10 generate
£5,400 of social value In 2022 and the Mears
Foundation [our in-house, companylemployee
funded charity) 10 award £200.000 in funding
to suppon kocal projects.
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ORDER BOOK AND P{PELINE

The order book as ar 31 December 2021 stoed
at£2.4pn {2020: £2.6bn), reflecting the timing
of contract renewals over the last 12 months
and lower levels of re-tender activity across the
Industry due 1o Covid,

Whilst Mears itself enjoyed several shori-lerm
extensions. such as at Tower Hamiets, the
Group was aiso pieased 10 secure impariant
longer-term extensions to a few existing
contracts, notably:

= 3 5-year contract extension with Orbit
Hausing which will see Mears conlinua to
provide services, with an annual value of
circa £20m, until 81 least March 2027

= & 3-year contract extension with Livin
Housing. based in Sedgefield, which will
see Mears continue to provide services,
with an annual value of around £12m per
annum until at least Aprif 2025; and

— as discussed shove, the Group was
deliphled 1o secure work with 8 new
Centra) Government chent. the MoJ.

We are seaing increasing levels of bid
activity and the Group's bid pipeline
currently stangs st drca £1on, The Group
conlinues to prioritise the retention and
expansion of work within existing client
relationships. The reported pipeline excudes
the North Lanarkshire Future integrated
Housing Services coniract ra-tender
estimated st mare than £1.0bn, where the
Group is well placed, with further feedback
expected during Q2 2022. The Group has
atso had positive initial feedback from the
MaJ in respect of the CAS 3 temparary
accommodation pilot programme and
discussions continue around the potentiat
extension and expansion of these services,

STRATEGY REVIEW

We are leaders in the affordable housing
market in the UK. Our services include
responsive repair, refurbishment, and
regeneration of housing stock, as wel as the
procurement and management of temporary
accommodation and tlenem support ol Locat
and Central Governmeant clients. The (uture
demand profile lor these speciallst housing
services remains positive, given the
Tundamental shortage and poar qualily

of affordatile housing in the UK.

In 2021, we completed a S-year strategic plan
for the Graup, focused on this affordable
housing sector. We see opportunities to grow
consistentty and sustainably aver the medium
term, given the foRowing markel drivers:

- |ncreased Government investment in the
aflordable housing sector given expanding
soclal housing waring iists and renewed
politicat kocus on qualty housing past-Cavid.

- Social Housing White Paper and
Government policy towards higher
standards for safety and customer
engagement. Changes (n procwement
procedures, post-Brexit, are also liketly
10 bring advantages 10 those companies
who have high fecus on social value and
service quality.

— The commitment to raise the carbon
efficency of alf socisl housing stock
by ong EPC band by 2030 presents
significant investment requirements.

We are now starting 1o see Increased
funding came thraugh.

— Increasing Local Authoriity spend
an long-term, cost-effective
homelessness solutions,

- Ongoing demographle pressure on
the UK housing shortage, particularty in
Mears’ core competencies of affordable
rental and specialist retrament living.

~ Delivering ESG commitments in line wih
the high standards of social responsibility
that are the foundations of our business.
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Mears will address these market opporiunities
through the fcllowing measures:

-= Leveraging our market-leading position in
housing maintenance to better cross-sell/
upsell our broader housing services
through more effective client planning and
thereby growling our share of wallet with
existing clients.

— Continuing lo evolve our affordable
rental, temporary accommaoadation,
and integrated housing affer to meet
increasing market demands.

— Particlpation in larger, integrated
housing contracts, across Local and
Central Government.

- Driving greater operaticnat efficltencies
thraugh more centralised administrative
and support services such as our regional
Hub network.

- Continued gdigital innovalion to increase
the agility of front line operations whilst
continuing to drive improvements to the
customer experience,

— Opesational consistency across the Group
and driving improvemenis where conlracts
are underperforming.

Even with the potential post-Covid economic
challenges. Housing is a sector that will gain
investment 10 support economic recovery

and to meet longer term challenges. such as
those posed by climate change. There is clear
opportunity to grow both our maimenance-led
and management-led work and indeed we see
8 number of opportunities that will integrate all
of our services. The responsible approach that
we have taken to business through Covid, and
from the start of Mears, has left us weli placed
to benefit.

The business continues o make strategic
progress iowards the vision to be the UK's
most respected and trusted provider of
housing solutions.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION

Over the last couple of years, the Group has
significantly reduced its indebtedness and
re-established its cash generative, lease-based
business model. Following this successful
de-gearing process, the Board will continue to
keep under close review its poficy as lo the
appropriate allocation of the Group's capltal
resowces. At least in currert market conditions,
itis intended to continue to operate the Group
with no more than modest levels of debt.

The Board considers that the Group can
continue to deliver organic growth within that
framework, with a relatively madest level of
capital expenditure, This business model will
comntinue to generate strong free cash flows.

The Board Is committed 10 investing In the

—businessand toInnovation;-and wil-be whling—

10 Increase capltal invesiment, especially in
technology, to develop new digital solutions
both to drive operational efficiency and o
develop business lines. Opportunities may also
arise 1o complete small strategic acquisiions,

again particularly of technclogy or deta-oriemed

businesses, where they can add value to the
development of the Group's business lines,
especially In carbon reduction. The Group’s
current view |s that farger acquisitions are
unlikely 1o drive shareholder value, but the
Group will retain the flexibility to act where
opponunities arise st short notice. Mears
will continue to promote its objactive of
being the most socially responsible business
working with the public sector and in that
context would expect to continue to drive
improvements in payment practices.

MHaving restored the payment of regular
dividends to shareholders, the Board intends
to continue to maintain a progressive dividend
policy and would expect to reduce @arnings
cover over the relatively shorl term toward two
times. The scope to make further distributions
to shareholders, whether by way of share
buybacks or spedial dividends, will be kept
under review as the Investment policy
described above unfolds.
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Accident frequency rate

0.19

{2020: 0.15)

Order book

£2.4bn

{2020: 2.6bn)

15

IINYNUBAOD ALVYHOLEO0D 180438 21931VHLS

SLININIALVYLS TVIONVYNIL

NOILYWHOIN] HIQI1OHIUVYHS

R\

\Y

A\




Strategic Report

Case study

Repairsand
Maintenance

in partnership with North Lanarkshire Cpuncil

Mears defivers an all-encompassing service
caried out i pacinership with North
Lanarkshire Council, to fully maintain and repair
eVETy property within the Council's portfolio.

in 2022 we will be bigding for a mew corract
with the Council - gne of the largest contracts
In our pipeline, which will deliver repairs and
maintenance to every property within the
Council's portiolia of 36,700 tenanted
properties and over 1,000 public bulldings.

If successtul, the new contract will significanthy
grow our wark volume across the Authority.
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North Lanarkshire Counclil and Mears are

joint partners in the LLP, ensuring we have
continuad investmen! In the North Lanarkshire
community for the iong term. The two
ofganisations are tuly integrated, with a shared
commitment (o deifver excellent services 1o
rasidents, whilst bringing community snd
waining benefits 10 the Nonh Lanarkshire
community in a sustainable way. Contract KPis
have been increased from 90% to 95% as part
of this commitment.

These include the following:

Flexible working patterns o address
emergencies - 10 ensure Mears offers
emergency repairs 7 days per week,
36% days a year with coverage from
8.0Cam 1010.00pm.

485

employed within Narth
Lanarkshire contract

Joint contact centre - Joint working
arrangements between Mears and North
Lanarkshire have delivered efficiencies
across the cortract and enable closer
working for both parties.

Van stack review ~ the strategic review has
minimised down lime and driven efficiencies.
Vald property approach — through a jaint
pre-inspection of all vaid properties, the
delivery of materisls Is now automated to
site in advance of works. This has
minimised travel and down time of the
team 10 focus on productive instahation.

INVESTMENT IN NORTH LANARKSHIRE

Satarles totalling £19m per annum

Lacal procurernent of materials totalling
£8m per annum

Payments of £14m per annum to local
Supply chain partners

Training 150 and employing 51
apprentices, achieving a 98%

retention rate on all apprenticeships
Emplayment of 485 employees within
Naorth Lanarkshire working on the contract

Read more
about new contracts
In cur strategy section
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Case study

Changin

Lives

with the Ministry of Justice

Read more
about hew contracts
in our strategy seclion

We have added 10 our stable of contracts for
housing services 1o Central Government with
our successful bid to win the Ministry of Justice
CAS 3 project. This is one part of a wider £70m
project to reduce reoffending, through the
provision of temparary accommodation.

CAS 3 will accommodate and provide services
o people on probation — this means adult
offenders of all genders who are 18 or above
who have been released as homeless from
prison folowing a custedial sentence.
Residents will be accommodated for up to

84 days in Mears managed properties and

will receive support and assisiance to enable
a successiul move on to thelr own home.

The MoJ's key requirement is "to ensure that no
one leaves prison without the offer of a place to
‘live, from their first night in the community and

a pathway to settled accommodation’.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

£70m

dedicated to the provision of
termparary accommodation

MEARS HOUSING MANAGEMENT
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

JOHN TAYLOR SAID:

"We knew when bidding for the contract that
we had the necessary skills and expertise

of working with vulnerable peopie lo deliver

a supporting service, Enabling paople to
mave on with their lves Is so important to

us. We understand that even the risk of
hometessness and the instability caused
means that people are more likely to recfiend.
Mears is proud to be part of a joumney to reduce
the likelibood of a downward spirat once
people have served their time and deserve to
be rehabilitated.”

The contract will run for 1 year, subject to an
option to extend for a further 3 years based on
value for money and posltive autcomes, and we
are in the process of bidding for further housing
opportunities with the Ministry of Justice.

17

LHOdAY D193LVHLS

SINIWALYLS IVIONVNIF JONYNHIAOD 11VHOLEOD

NQIAVHHOIN! HIATOMHIBVYHS

-\

h\Y

A\Y




Strategic Report

Case study

Building an
Exemplar Relationship

in outer London - London Borough of Havering

The London Borough of Havering has
annpunced Mears as i3 New repairs and
malntenance provider. The Loce! Authority is
3 dynamic organisation with a core ethas of
continugus improvement and the client has
made 1 clear thal its intemion is to build the
highest performing contract that is seen as
the bast in London.

With over 12,000 dwelings, the contract budids
R our existing presence in Eas London with
our current contract in Redbridge.

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

AT MEARS, LUCAS CRITCHLEY,
WELCOMED THE NEW RELATIONSHIP:
“From the outset we have made it clear that we
will work with Havering 1o make this coniract
the best in London and an exempiar for other
councils to follow. Mears will be a safe pair of
hands for res'dents. and we wilt bring our
specialist approach to each property.

Meaars will start from the beginning with

strong commurvcation with residents and

ghve them every oppartunily to feed back

on our performance.

" particutarly welcome the focus on developing
focal employment opporiunities — for both
curent residents who are unemplayed and
existing local supply chains, We [ook forward

lo meeting cur mew suppliers and ta a great
partnership for the future.”

Mears will be a safe pair
of hands for residents,
and we will bring our
specialist approach

to each property.

Lucas Critchiey
Chief Operating Officer

Mears wil bring its IT expertise to the new
partnership 1o ensure the best customer
approach possitle. Customers walting for
a repalr will be Informed by automated text
and wil have access to a five tracker — our
In-house approach, MCM Live. & key part
of ihe software [s that it directly finks the
customer with an immediate satisfaction
survey sa both Mears and the chent can
seg how we are paerforming.

Our social value commitment kooks to deliver
for the residents of Havering. This includes
commitments to careers advice, iocal
employment, 3ppranticeships, job mentoring
and supporl. We aiso have a firm commitment
to use the lncal supply chain,

Read mare
about new conlracis
Ih our sirategy seclicn

18
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Case study

Mears and Livin
Partnership

to give Shildon estate a £6m revamp to address major
issues including fuel poverty and carbon reduction

Mears and Livin have embarkad on a multi-
million-pound project to regensrate a
housing estate, addressing fue| poverty
and carbon reduction In Coumty Durham.

Following extensive engagement with tenants,
residents, owners, private lantilords and
stakeholders, The Courts on the Jubilee Fields
estate in Shildon will undergo an extensive
transformation that will inciude:

introducing private garden spaces;
providing allocated parking:

converting unwanted flats into
spacious family homes;

cresting an Improved estate [ayout; and
energy efficiency.

The Courts will be made move energy-efficient
and economicai to heat.

Mears will deliver the £6m scheme between
November 2021 and spring 2023, creating
20 homes for rent and 15 homes for sale,
avallable in phases.

ALAN BODDY, LIVIN'S CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
SAID: “Owr place making approach is a proven
way of addressing issues on estates, balancing
investment in existing and new homes and
addressing community needs and aspirations.

“By listening to our tenhants and local residents,
and through working with our trusted partners,
we have designed a £6m scheme that
transforms homes and llves, and creates an
estate that is sustainable and fit for the future.”

As a business, Mears is
committed to generating
zero carbon housing in
the UK and this project
brings us one step closer
to meeting our target

of zero carbon emissions
by 2030.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Officer

MEARS CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER,
LUCAS CRITCHLEY, SAID: “We are delighted
to be working in partnership with Livin and the
residents of Shildon on a project that will make
a massive difference to the community.

“As a business, Mears Is committed to
generating zero carbon housing in the UK and
this project brings us one step closer to meeting
our target of zero carbon emissions by 2030.

“Wae are iooking forward to revitalising
the estate to create something special —
something that everyone can be proud of.”

Read more
about decarbonisation
In aur ESG section

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Market drivers

HOUSING MARKET

Affordable housing continues to be an
attractive sector for the longer term, given
the UK housing shartage. decarbonisation
contracts, iong social housing waiting fists,
cycles of outsourcing. policy changes
encouraging more social house building
and broader resilience of demand.

Market position
A leading provider of

affordable housing scltions
Inthe UK

A go-1o, eng-to-end expert
on decarbonising our social
housing stock

A large provider of repairs to
the affordable housing sector

Provider of affordable rental
management solutions

A private registered pravider of
housing sits within the Group

Leading pariner to both
Central and Local Government

20

Political and
economic landscape

The Govemment's focus on
achigving Net Zero and g particular
focus on housing

The Sacial Housing White Paper will
be implemented with an increased
focus on tenants and a new Decent
Homes Standard

Changes lo the procurement framework
n 2022

We face a nationat skills gap for new
Net Zero works

Opportunities

——

Retrafitting and fulure proofing existing
housing siock

A further commitment to bener repaws
through the Futwe Homes Programme
and the Social Housing Regulation Bill

in 2022

The Procurement White Paper wil
hopetully see a more transparent and fair
bidlding process which takes 1nto account
social valwe with more impact

Risks

A rellance on plecemeal Government
tundlng for Net Zera which could prevent
ow clients delivering Net Zero plans
whilst maintaining stogk in a strategic way
Further Covid restrictions

Mears’ response

—

We will continue to detiver 8 market-
leading service as s pure-play specialist
in housing solutlons

‘We are winning more work with Central
Government, with contracts 10 provige
housing pravision for three Govemment
depariments

We heve developed a clear carbon offer
for our dients, including funding models,
and have already won contracts ta ald our
cliens’ carbon joumey

Thraugh our independent Scrutiny Board,
we have gone further than we believe
legislation will require to ensure tenants
have & say In how our sefvice ns

‘We have remodelled our apprenticeship
approach 10 bring through the next
generation of skills, whilst Creating
technical positions for those who are
retired 10 enabte them to continue workang
without a longer-term commitment.

We have also been an active supporter
of the Kickstart programme

Rising levels of homelessness,
asylum claims and housing need
for the mast vuinereble

«— The UK is experiancing the highes) influx
of refugees and economic migrants in
recent history, all of whom have a right
o ba housed

«  Councils lack funding to provide their
stawiory homelessness duties

= The Scotland 20490 Housing plan
adopied by the Scottish Government
envisages a role for privatle praviders
in meeling housing larqets

Opportunities

— Innovative and ragid solutions needed,
given likety continued slow growth on
new build provision

- Homelessness sl growing, with
councils jooking for solutions which
innovate and suppon

-— A growth in the market for housing and
support for vuinerable individuals

Risks
= Associsted reputational risks through
working with the most vulnerable

Mears' response

— We have award winning solutions for
more homelessness and affordable
homes, such as our partnership with
the London Borough of Waltham Forest,
which we hope will see a (urther tranche
of housing over 2022

~— We have become the leading provider of
cost-eHective hamelessness solutions

- In 2021 we have further broadened our
footprint 1o areas of specific need
folfowing our successful bid 1o the
Mirisiry of Justice

— Cwr Housing Associatians Plexus and
Omega now represant the largest Privaie
Registered Soclal Landiord inthe UK

- We await confirmation fram the Scottish
Housing Requiator thal we wili be the
first private Housing Assadation in
Scotland, with our Shadow Boarg
already up and wnning

- We are working wel with the Home
Office ta continue housing supply in
thae face of increased migratian

Mears Group PLC Annuat Report and Accounts 2021




Demographic change

— The UK'’s over B5 population
will grow from 1.6 million in
2020 to 2.1 million in 2030,
and 3.7 milion by 2050

— Funding for soclal care
has now been announced
but a White Paper is still
to be delivered

- Ofthe UK's care homes,
an estimaled 70% are now
aged 20 years or older.
Converslon homes and
even 19905 purpose-built
homes are beceming
In¢craasingly outdated

Opportunities

- More specialist housing is
needed to limit escalating
cost to the NHS and
social care

— Agrowth In the market and
concep of retirement living

— The next genersation of over
85s will have many afffluant
and high income members
wha won't qualify for state
funded care and wilk also
wanl to pay a premium
for the best possible
residential care

Mears' response

- We are deveioping
750 exira care units
In partnership with
Carnwall Council

- We continue to service our
specialist housing solutions
such as extra ¢are and
Supported Living

= We have shown that the
cost to the NHS per
person is over £2 400 when
not In extra care through
commissioning independent
dats from HousingLin

= All of our servicas are rated
adequate or betterIn
England and Scotland

Pace of technological
development

— There are rising Government
and customer expectations
that services will be easierto
navigate through technology

— Technology is playing an
increasing roie in all aspects
of service management

Opportunities

-  Our customers will experience

B servica which glves them
control aver appolntments

- Fewer customer complalnts
as we introduce more easlly
navigable services

Mears' response

- We have market-leading
technology to reduce
long-term ¢osts and enable
us to integrate our services

— We are making use of
sel-service technology in
support of changing
expectations such as MCM
Live and chatbot

— There Is a greater use of
customer insight and
development of bespoke
consuitation tools with our
Volce of Customer
programme

— Wa will be introducing more
technology to improve every
step of the customer joumey

The impact of Covid
and Brexit

Supply chains to the UK
are stressed due to Covid
and Brexit

Opportunities

To further demaonstirate our
health and safety expertise
and risk management
approach

Further develop workiorce
engagement

Risks

Loss of work
Rising cost of materials
Sefety challenges

Mears' response

Mears has emerged healthily
from the pandemic.

Qur procedures are tried and
tested and, while it is possible
that there will be interruptions
inwork levets, it is ikely that
any delay work will be
subsequently delivered.

We have strong reiationships
with suppliers and a good
understanding of demand
levels, enabling us to manage
material supply challenges well
We have an exceilent
workforce engagement
approach that gives us the
best possible chance of
recruiting new peopie as well
a5 retaining our staff.

While there are Inflationary
pressures, our major contracis
have buik-in uplift
mechanisms that limit these
impacts significantly

Rising customer
expectations

There are rising resident
expeciations

The Government facus on
'levelling up” and a commitment
o the renewal of democracy 5o
peaple’s voices can be heard
A new Future Homes Standard
is expected in the next 3 years

Opportunities

Customers’ quality,
communication and speed
expectations continue to
Increase

Stronger tenant voice
demanded by White Paper
Opportunity to demonstrate
the core strengths of our
businass model

Our social value impact is the
basis of ow business

Mears' response

We now have a sole focus on
housing, having divested
unprofitable. non-housing
related businesses

We are benchmarking well
against the best across all
industries

We continue 10 support
regulatory change that gives
sarvice users a bigger voice,
as promised in the forthcaming
White Paper

We comtinue to demonstrate
our approach 1o outsourcing
proactively

We are working to continuously
improve tenant engagement,
highlighted by accreditation
from TPAS and winning the
Inside Housing Award for
Qutstanding Tenam
Engagemant — Contractor

We are continuing to support
better communities in which
service users live, with a focus
on developing skiks for the next
generation and bringing pecple
back into the workplace

Qur commitment to social valye
and tenant engagement
through Your Vaice and our
Independent Scrutiny Board
Our social value work remains
at the heart of our business and
is bolstered by the work of the
Mears Foundation
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Strategic Report

Our value creation model

OUR FURPOSE

Working together o help peopie and communities thrive. This is the guiding principie thet defines our brand and drives
aur activitles. it is what makes Mears distinctive and s the starting point for all of our activities,

QUR VISION

To be the leading provider of housing services and solutions Lo the affordable housing markel In the UK.

Key resources and relationships

OUTSTANDING PARTNERSHIPS;

Firmly rooted in Local Govesnment and Housing Asseciations, we are also
an impartent parinar for Central Government. Qur end service users are the
recipients of hausing services and extra care kving.

A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH:

Creating social value is 3 key part of our business strategy. as this enables
us 0 be 3e€n 35 2 usied pannei by our chiems and is an essertial pan of
Building stronger relationships. Our new ESG siralegy sets out how we will
continue on our sociafly responsitle joumaey

see pages 33 10 45

EXCEPTIONAL PEOPLE:

Proud to be in the Sunday Times Yop 25 Big Companles to work for.

We recognise our staff 8s our greatest asset, Mears employees are skilled
in delivering an excellant service whilst showing a strong customer service
ethos and an empathy far our service users.

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLOGY:
Our performance is built on a bedrock of first-class IT platforms, giving
market-leading capablity end driving innovation and residem engagement.

SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS:

We choose supgliers who share our values and meet our siandards.

We work closely with suppliers lo develop innovetive services and integrate
them with our core systems,

FINANCIAL STRATEGY:

We are funded from a comtination of shareholder funds, retained profits
and moderate levels of bank debt. Our underlying business has good
{orwatd visibility, Stable marging, strong cash conversion and kmited capital
raquirements. Accordingly, free cash flow can predominantly be used 1o
invest further in the business, to maintain low levels of dety and o provide
retums to capital providers.

INNOVATION:

The chabenge of delvering service Improvements al jower cos! requires
Innavative thinking and the use of technology. We create and lead best
practice in Que markets.

22

What we do and how

HOUSING
MANAGEMENT

— Procure, manage and maintain portiofios of
atimrdable housing stock

HOUSING
MAINTENANCE

— Regenerate, refurbish and re-purpose staock
- Inteligent maintenance
— Decarbonise homes

SUPPORTING PEOPLE
IN THESE HOMES

-~ Tenancy management
- Tenant welfare and support

REVENUE GENERATION

Mears’ revanue |s generated from payments from
Government, Local Authority and HousIng Association
cllents in raspect of its Housing services. Whilst the end
service users are at the cenire of gur business modef,
they do rot pay for the service divectly. These payments
are rnagde unger lohg-1erm contracts [average 7 years).

STABLE MARGINS AND GOOD CASH
CONVERSION

We have a long-standing record of stable profit margins
o contracts fonce moblfisad) and converting prefit into
cash, utilising sirong financial management combined
with good relationships with cllents and the supply chain.
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Vaiue 1 Value 2 Value 3 Value 4

We value our customers We value teamwork, We value personal We vaiue innovation, being

and cormmunities, putting supporting each other, responsibliity, setting consistently  Inventive in our approsch and

their needs at the heart of sharing ideas and never high standards for our work and ~ empowering people 1o lake

everything we do. excluding others. holding oursetves accountable reasonable action without fear
for achieving them. or giscrimination.

Community outcomes The value we share

LU0dad DIDILYELS

\

Create better
places to live

Reduce
homelessness

KEY STATISTICS

>£1656m

wages and salaries paid 10
circa 5,400 employees

>Im

service users

>30%

women in senior positions

>£160m

taxes paid

Reduce
pressures an the
NHS and the
public purse

tmprove life
chances for
people

£878m

revenue delivered to over
100 clierts

>200

apprentices

>£2,800

average social value
delivered per employee

C. £9m

dividends paid and proposed

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

SHAREHOLDERS:

Given the public health emergency, in 2020 Mears did
not pay a dividend for the first time in 25 years, as we
believed that given the over-riding importance of cash
maenagement meam it would be imprudent to declare a
dividend during 2020. In 2021 we were able to restore
the dividend to cur shareholders.

GOVERNMENT:

In 2021 we paid an aggregate sum in direct and indirect
taxes of E167.4m. In addition, through the services

we provide to the public sector, we are delivering
significant cost savings and better value to Central
Government, Local Authoritles and the NHS.

CUSTOMERS

we maintalin hemes throughout the UK, undertaking
around 5,000 repairs per day. Mears has extended
Its activities 1o provide solutions to resolve the
challenges of homelessness, asylum housing,

MoD and Mo accommodation.

COMMUNITIES

Al the heart of Mears lies a strong sense of
responsibility towards improving people’s lives,

We creste opportunities ang enable people to develop
new skills within some of the most disadvantaged and
marginalised communities in the UK. Every branch of
Mears makes a social value pledge, which focuses on
specific activities to improve lis local community in at
{east one of our socialvalue pricrities.

EMPLOYEES

Mears is committed totralning. We have an exiensive
apprenticeship programme and provide a number of
alternative training sohtlons for upskiling employees
and for the professional development of Mears
managers. We are proud 1o be rated as one of the
best 25 large companies in the UK to work for by

the Sunday Times.
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Strateglc Repart

Our strategy

The Board has fully
reviewed the strategy
for the business in 2021.

Our vision is to be the
leadling provider to the
resilient and growing
affordable housing market
in the UK. A provider that
opertates with a strong
sense of social conscience,
tackling issues that matter
to people and communities.

Against this vision, we have four
strategic prioiites:

Yo be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the pubhic sector

To have the highest levels of
cusiomer service in the
atfordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace innovation that
drives positive change such as
digital and carben reductien

To maintain and grow 8 resifient
Business with fong-term
pantnerships. a srong batance
sheet and cash position, along
with a committed, engaged
waorkfoice

24

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the
most trusted large private
provider working with the
public sector

What we achlieved

To have the highest levels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

What we achleved

— Secured wark with 8 new Central
Government department, being the
Ministry of Justice

- Cohsulted across Scotlang and #unched
a charter as to how we wilt operale
ethicaity in this country. Simitar work
will follow with other nations

2022 priorities

== Through the Covid periad, we maintsined
our akeady high service scores

— Recognised for the quality of our service
and customer engagement, through
several national awards

— Qur new Indepandent Customer
Scrubiny Board has published a report
an cur performance

— We have faced some chalenges with
Covid related work backlogs and high
levels of asylym seekers

2022 priarities

= Continue lo achieve bid win rases
ahead of Mstorical norms

= Launch our new ESG plan with clear
roadmaps towards goal achievement

-— Conlinue o operate to the highest
ethicat standards

How we measure success

~- Manage the challenges associated with
high demands both from maintenance
and from the asylum system

How we measure Success

— Extending services with existing clents

Retaining contracts at sustainabla pricing

- Winning work with naw clients who share
ouwr values

— 8aing seen as a trusted, responsibie and

ethical provider Lo Ceniral Govemment

Risks

- Service user and client feedback

Risks

- Etonomic pressures on some clents
will mean price will continue to grive
decisions on some cofttracts

Link to KPIs

- Rising customer expectation requiring
ever more individual responses

- Stortages in same areas of the labour
market and some delays in materiais
availability

Link to KPlg

060000

00000
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To embrace innovation
that drives positive
change such as digital
and carbon reduction

What we achieved

To maintain and grow

a resilient business with
long-term partnerships,
a strong balance sheet
and cash position,
along with a commitied,
engaged workforce

What we achlieved

- The establishment of carbon redyction
capability in house to assist clients

— The conmtinued improvements to core
systems, which enable our customers to
interact in real time with us and 16 report
and track their work requests

2022 priorities

- Continued to reduce debt

— Secured long-lerm contracts with

both-existing-and-new clients

= Retgined our position in the Sunday
Times Top 25 Best Big Companies list

— Provided a wide range of tools to assist
with mental health and wellbeing

2022 priorities

— Establish Mears as lenders in carbon
reduction in Social Housing

— Expand our sustainable housing solutions
that address homelessness, an ageing
population and challenges to the health
and social care system

How we measure success

— Continue to improve margins

—= Maintain our Sunday Times Bes!
Companies pasition

— " Continue to increase the diversity of our
workforce at all levels

- Maintsin focus on employee engagement
and helping tackle the challenges of
wellbeing and mental health

How we measurs success

- Levels of new work won

Risks

Staff retentlon level

Benchmarking v other organisations
Margin improvements

A happier, healthler and more engaged
workforce based on Best Companies
survey results and mental health and
welibeing working group policies

Risks

«= There remains some uncertainty as to
haw fast Central Govarnment funding will
flow through to enable housing landlords
to meet thelr carbon reduction targets

Link to KPIs

— Inflationary prassures in some areas
— The importance of diversity and inclusion
has never been clearer

Link to KPis

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

Non-financial

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

n arder for customers 1o recommend us, we must
deliver excellent service. The Group completed over
1.5 milllon repaits in 2021 and we subsequently post
inspect around 10% of works orders and encourage
tenants to provide feedback 50 we can defiver furthes
service improvements.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

86%

2021 TARGET

85%

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

86%

CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

Incidents resulting from poor service rasult in 8 complaint
per thousand jobs. We are committed 10 dealing whh all
complaints on an individual basis,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGET

22%
(@) onracx

2022 TARGEY

21%

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER

Qur employees are fundamental to meeting our stralegic
priorities. We recognise the importance in atiracting and
retaining skilled staff, and at a time when competition for
skilled labour is high, it has never been more important.
The staft chum figure s calculated as the iotal number
of leavers during the year as a propartion of the

average headcount.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 YARGET

26%
@ Qutperformance

2022 TARGET

22%

Business development

NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

Contract success Is measuied by the lotal revenues
secured as a proportion of the total valua of lenders
submitied. We typically tender around £Ybn of new
apportunities each year, The average contract length is
around six years. In arder 1o achieve our organic growth
forecasts, it s important that we secure around one in
three, by value,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

35%

2021 TARGET

33%
(® outpertormance

2022 TARGETY

33%

ORDER BOOK

Cur order pook provides us good visibility of those
revenues secured for future pertods. 1t is hetpful tnat

we have long-term contracts that allow us to plan with
confidence, in the knowledga that we have significant
revenues akeady contracied. it is alsa poshive for ait our
stakeholders, providing stability 1o cur supply chaln,
uncers and, most impontantly, for recruiting and
motivating cur workforce.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£2.4bn

1921 TARGET

£2.4hn

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET

£2.1bn
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Financial performance

REVENUE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)
Qur key perfarmance Ingicator (KP1) target relates to total
revenue although it is important to also identify the split
between organic growth and growth thet has been
debvered thmugh acquisitions. We befleve that organic
growth gives g better indication of business performance,
heing an aggregation of SUCCESS in few LORtract wdding
and contract retention. The reduction expected in 2022
reflecis an expeciation that the elevated revenues
enjoyed in 2021will normallise.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+9%

2021 TARGET

+2%
@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

-5%

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
{CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Operating margin Is the KP| used to measure and
understand the profitability of our activities. The
operating profit measure |5 taken before exceptional
costs and the amortisation of acquisition intangibles.
The measure is stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being
the measure that is utiised within the business and
understaod by our investors and bankers.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+3.4%

2021 TARGET

+3.7%

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET

+3.8%

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT

(EXCLUDING LEASE QBLIGATIONS)

Good working capital management remalns a cornerstone
of the business. The Group's IT systems are designed to
deal with the challenges of high volurne and low value
activities. The Group has made significant progress in this
area over the last 2 years, and now kooks 10 maintaln @ low
level of debt or even a small net cash balance.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£nil

2021 TARGET

£60m

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

£nil debt

GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS
Nommalised earnings are stated before exceptional costs
and exclude the amortisation of acquisition intangibles
together with an adjustment 1o reflect a full tax charge.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

18.23p

2021 TARGET

18.0p

@ Qutperformance

2022 TARGET

19.5p

Health and safety

o)

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

The heakh, safety and welbeing of our employees is our
primary consideration in the way we do business. Health,
safety and environmental risks are fully embedded inthe
governance structures of the Group. Providing ouwr
employees with a safe working environment remains
paramount. Qur accident frequency rate (AFR) is
calculated as the number of reportable incidents (by both
employees, Service users and third parties) divided by the
number of hours worked, multiplied by 100,000.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

0.19

2021 TARGET

0.24
@ Qutperformance

2022 TARGET

0.22

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy.
We are focused on delivering positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

Clients

HOW WE ENGAGE

Qur chents are from Central and Locat
Gavernment and Housing Assaciations.
Qur model has always been based on
establishing long-term partnerships thal
address the significant housing chatlenges
and solutions to help our clignts.
Transparency and responsiblity are at the
heart of our approach, and we focus on
solutions thal establish susiainable
soilutions, rather than quick fixes.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Our clients expect a trusied partner that
can contribute 1& wider secior and
stratagic thinking as well os deliver
innovative operational solutions that
imprave setvice aad lawer lang-term cost,
Pariners now look beyond ihe contract and
rightly demand good governance, a
rasponsible financial position and high
levels of social respensibility to be at the
heart of what we do.

RELEVANCE TO BLSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

We gperale 8s a trusted long-term partner
to the public sector. As pariners we have to
demonstrate that gur values complement
their awn. We ane not tke many ather
oulsource organisations, in that both the
focused nature of qur services and the
cultyral fit with our chents contive to
position us to win major new contracts, such
as with the Ministry of Justice, and to reiain
lang-standing contracts in the way that we
oo We also iry to lead the Secter in good
praclice, 8s demonsirated by Gut thoiough
Independent scrutiry arrangements which
take the best of public sector Scrutiny.

Tenants and customers

HOW WE ENGAGE

Qur "Your Voice' programme engages
lenanis via our independent and resident-
ted Scrutiny Board, our customer forums
ang pur online customer network.

We have sirengibened our tenant
engagement to ensure that we go above
and heyond requitements suggested inthe
Govermnment White Paper. Al a local level we
have a system to engage cuSiomers as
soon as they imeract wilh Mears, shouid
they wish la do so. This enables us to create
a network of cur Customers via feedback
and online forums which can feed into our
Scrutinty Board to create a genuingly
resident designed service.

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

The Your Voice Independent Scrutiny Board
reports directly into our PLC Board 10
ensurg that its findings are reported at the
highest level of our organisation.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Qur tenants and service users gxpect to be
part ol develgping solutlons rather than 1o
be simply a recipisnt. Expectations from
tenants are nghtly vising and they should be
seen not mMerely as service users but as
CONSWETS who have he rghtia levels of
service. The greater requirements for
complaint handling and reporting emerging
from {ha Governmeri White Paper are
somathing we have already gone ahave
and beyond. Mears welcomes any furnther
regulation from Govemnment in this area
qver 2022

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

As an organisation with & clear objective lo
be the leader in terms of customer service,
wherever wa operate, this cannot be done
without good engagement. Our autstanding
customer service padformatice is a
testament 1o OUr SUCLESS.

KEY I1SSUES

Clients want us to demonstrate & strong sel
of financial, cultural and community-led
values, We demonstrate an ethical and
transparent approach and bring the best of
private sector innovation i areds such as
technology and access 10 institutional
finance. We do this whilst mainiaining the
spirit of public service gelivery whilst putting
customers at the hearl of what we do.

QUTCOMES

Qur commitment to putling our Lustomers
Tirst was demonsiraled by our winning the
TPAS award for best coniraclor
engagement with tenamts in 2071,

KEY ISSUES

increased reguldtion is coming in 2022 and
we have speni the Iast year praparing to go
above and beyond. Qur customer forum has
hosted the Housing Ombudsman 10 test
whether the Mears approach is working and
10 ensure thal we sre ieading the Secior
rather than responding to future legislation.

OUTCOMES

- Created the Your Vaice scnutiny
approach with custamers Involved al
every level

= Provided a direct line from the Your
Volce board to the PLC Board — our
residernt boand meémbers can speak to
our Non-Executive ang Executive Board
members directly

-~ Engaged with the Housing Ombudsman
Lo ensura our processes are already in
place before legislation & passed

- HWovated with our repales platform
MCM Live, which gives tenants more
information about when their repair is
due and enables them to change the
fime/date withouwt naving 10 cafi us
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Communities

HOW WE ENGAGE

All of our branches develop their own

local specific sociat value plans which
demonstrate where we will add value 1o
the community, often over and above any
contract commitments. Our social vaiue
activity target Is £2,500 per empioyee.
Examples include supporting communities
to develop green spaces, to provide access
10 the internet for asylum seekers so they do
not suffer from soclal isolatlon and o heip
develop the skilts of whole communities
through careers advice and support,
traming and ultimately through job creation,

HOW WE ENGAGE OCUR BOARD

An BExecutive board member sits on qur
independent Social and Diversity Impact
Board which is led by independent experts
and helps us to drive our social value
resources to achieve meaningful community
outcomes. The independent board reports
directty into the PLC Board.

Colleagues

HOW WE ENGAGE

We are proud 1o be on the list of the Sunday
Times 25 Bes! Big Companies to work for,
and on the Soclal Mobllity index of the top
75 employers in the UK for our commitment
to sociat mobility. We have a natlonal
Warkforce Group that is responsible for
setting the epprosach to staff engagement
and each local branch has a People plan,
which sets out what it will do In each year.
We have an Employee Director who sits on
the Mears Group Bnard, which also helps
ensure that the views of the workforce are
listened to and actioned.

Our Say What You see survey Is aligned
with the Sunday Times Best Comparnies
portal, providing independent and
ancnymous feedback.

We communicate with our colleagues

with the aim to ensure that every single
employee has a right to understand how our
company Is performing. We do this through
regular briefings from our Executive Board
and through two-way communication.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Stakeholders expect, given their kng-term
commitment, that we contribute positively to
the communities in which they live. They want
us to help local people into work, 1o upskilt
peopie and to work with them to address local
Issues where we can. This is our continuing
contribution to the Government's Levelling Up
agenda, and scmething we have committed
to for many years.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Belng asoclally responsible organisation
with a firn cornmiment to supporting
communities ts essential to being a valued
pariner to our clients. Establishing strong
community links also helps us attract the
right people into our workfarce and to
establish links with other community-based
organisations, which can contribute to our
service offer. '

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Throughout 2021 we have developed

our employee offer to Introduce an
increase in pay and holiday entitement
for those who earn the least. Qur regular
surveying shows that our colleagues want
transparent and reguiar communication
from the business about how we stand
financlally arwd an honesty in our approach
1o any business changes.

Our staff want to work for an organisation
that values them and the communities in
which they live. They want an grganisation
that treats people fairly and gives them the
apportunity for persanal development,

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Our warkforce engagement is built around
the Mears ‘Red Thread” model, which
works to establish the type and cufture of
waorkforce that we know will lead to both
cuslomer and financtal success.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

KEY ISSVES

Cost of living crisis In the communities
we serve, including fuel stress.
Opportunities to address our sector's
skills gap as a large employer.

Government has begun 1o release
tranches of funding for the net zera
carbon challenge and have allocated
funding for retrofitting, for which Mears
is already a successful applicant.

QUTCOMES

«— Providing free lkearning provision
to our colleagues. clients and
communities we work in.

— Ensuing we have the right local skills
In place through our apprenticeship
programmes.

— Focusing on playing our part 1o tackle
fuel stress and poverty, and doing our
bit for the nation's Net Zero targets

KEY ISSUES

Security in the workplace dwing a time
of financlal fluctuation. A focus on mental
health, wellbeing, and encouraging hard
to reach groups into our workforce.
Creating a more diverse workforce,

A constant focus on communicating better
and performance management.

QUTCOMES

— We have worked with independent
experts, through our Social and
Diversity Impact Board and colleague
engagement to look at where our
seclor needs 1o improve in recriting,
promoting and retaining colleagues
from backgrounds who suffer from
discrimination, This has formed our
new proactive policies to which we
will be held account.

- We have placed a ptimary focus on
performance management 1o ensure
that our workforce is appraised ang
able to davelop in the best way for
each Individual.
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the Directors in performance
of thedr statutary duties in accordance with

Non- tive Direct: nd
Section }of the nies Act on-Executive Directors g

senlof management receive tiaining
on Directors’ duties to ensure
awareness of the Board’s responsibilities
3

The Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC
consider, both individually and together, that
they have actaed in the way they consider, In
good faith, would be most likely to promote the
Success of the Company for the benefit of its
members as a whole In the decisions taken
during the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Board recognises a wide range of

stakehofder interests and seeks to create activitias recorded, and defail Socisl Vatue report reviewed

a cullure er sl included in Boa
re wher2by decislans are made with rd papers and approved by Board
consideration 10 the wider | npact upon the |

organisation as wall as financial performance
and sirategic gbjectives. The Company's
Directors recognise their iegal duties under . R
Section 17zm°3f the Companies Act 2006, 10 Board information
actinthe way that is most likely to promote the
success of the Compasty for the benefit of its
members as g whale whilst also having regard

Stakeholder engagement

p ' Customer Scrutiny Board: Mears Foundation, a charitable
for the interesia g‘ en:: :yees.;he success independently chaired and trust with an independent
of thelt relationships with suppllers and working siongside PLC Board chair, provides regular updates
customers, the Impact of our operations on to the PLC Board

the community 8nd the environment, whilst
maintalnisg a reputation for high standerds
of business conduct.

The Group's culture ensures that
there is proper consideration of
the potential impacts of decisions

Board strategic decision

4

Signiticant focus given 5.172 factors congidered in the
to workforce engagument Board's discussions on strategy
and customer service and in satling the 5-year plan

during Board discussion

Board decision

Y

Engagament and dialogue Follow up actions
with stakeholders with Board oversight
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Section 172 factor

The likely consequences of any decision on the long term

Annual Report disclosures

Company purpese and vision page 02
Our value creation modet pages 22 and 23
Performance review page 26

The intarests of the Group's employees

Performance review page 26

Listening to our stakehoiders pages 2B and 29
Diversity and inclusion page 38

Soclal Mability page 04

The succass of cur relationships with suppliers
and customers

Responsible payment practices page 40
Modern slavery page 40

Sustainablity pages 33 to 37

Non-financlal infermation statement page 45

The impact of our operations an the community and
the environment

- TCFD pages 42 to 45

ESG pages 33tc 45

Maintaining high standards of business conduct

Anti-bribery and corruption page 41
Whistieblowing page 41

Maodem slavery page 40

Risk management pages 46 to 49
Internal controls pages 76 to 81

Acting for the benefit of our members

Mears Group PLC Annuat Report and Accounts 2021

Listening to cur stakeholders pages 28 and 29
Sharehokder engagemant pages 71 and 72
Annua! General Meeting page 72, 98 and 169
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement in action

Promoting the success of the Company

Stakeholder engagement is central

to our strategy. Our kay stakeholder
groups are defailed on pages 28 and 29,
The Board is mindful that it is not always
possible to provide 8 positive oulcome
for all stakeholders and the Board
somatimas has to make decisions based
on competing prioriles of stakeholders,

The differing imerests of stakeholders are
considerad in the business dedcisions we
maeke as a comparny. &t 8l lavels, and are
reinforced by cur Boand setting the tone rght
from the top. Al of the Board's significant
declsions are subject 10 an 5172 evaluation
1o identify the likely cansequences of any
declsion in the long term and the impact of
aur dedsion on gur stakeholders.

Qutcomes and impacts for our

warkforce, clients and communities

The Mears S-year plan addresses the most
Important soclat and business questions of our
peneration, We aim to create 8 more diverse,
scclally responsible, safe and green environment
tn which o sarve our chents’ neads and for our
own worklorce 10 benefit from. Through the
Board's decisions, we have creatad a plan which
embeds Mears as a great place to work, with the
right facus on skills and commuantities. it has also
led to the direct sward of three energy contracls
with our clients to decarbonise homes thanks to
the investment n our sustainability tesm.

Examples of declsions taken by the Board and how stakeholder views and inputs, as well as

Qut and imp for our
workforce, clients and communities
Thraugh dally direction and diaiogue with
our workforce and clients, Mears was shle
1o weather the pandemic by supporting
emergency works 10 hames which peaple
were not able 1o leave. We were able to
continualty update financial and wellbeing
suppor for our workforce and to buikd on
our health and safety expertise through our
Partners i Safaty Programme, This enabled
us Lo continue 1o repall the nomes of our
most vuinerable senice users whilst assuring
them and our employees of their safety.

Stakehaolder groups
S Service Users

£ Employees

P Ivestors

€1 Community

D Debt Funders

C2 Customers

G Governmem

other 5.172 considerations, have been d in its declsk king wre set out below:
Stakeltotar
Hoard considerations group
- The plan will dellver growth in profit and value for shareholders |
roval of 5-yearplan, Tha plan commits to inves! in our workforce, improving the qualily and capabiity of staff, E
The visionunderpinningthe . The plan looks for the Group ta ba more diverse at every level of the organisation. E .
plan s to be the Jeading _
provider o the resifient and —~ The pian aspires to be recognised as the most socdially responsible business working with CLE,S
grawing affardable housing the public sector, maintaining the highest standards of governance, customer and client
market in the UX. A provider engagement, and workforce salety.
that opersaies with a S_tronq ~= The plan committed ta being leaders in carbon raduction within Social Housing, whilst ClE
sense of socisl conscience, focusing on developing a stronger climate change response with our ambition to be carbon
tackiiog Ksues that matter 1o nautrs! by 2030
people and communities. ' ‘
= The plan commilis lo invest further in digital platforms, embracing new technologies thal can C2,8,€
enhance operational parformance, both internally 10 Mears and in the home environment,
- Daity communications throughout Tockdown. E
— Decision taken to fudough colleagues; however, top-up mechanism introduced to ensure I,D,E
lowes! paid staff were not financially disadvartaged.
— Rapid provision of additional mobile technology to enable people 1o work from home. E
Covid-19 crisis = Topping up salaries of staff required o Seif-isolate and hardshipy fund fox staff in financial difficulty. E
management. = Pulting heaith and safety first at 2ll irmes, including agreeing with clients to focus on EC,S
As the Covid-19 pandemic emergency and essantial works only.
unfolded. the Board = Rapid response to PPE shortage, enabling Mears to secure stocks when many others dic not. EC
incréased its interacions 10
maintain continual dialtgue - Voluntary repayment of furlough recelves in 2021, G
on the potential impact ta ~ Conceilation of the final dividend far 2019 and subsequently teinstating the interim dividend c,D
colitagues, chents, service for 2021,

users ang shargholders.
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ESG

“Our ambition is to become the most
socially responsible business in the
housing sector by 2025.”

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

ESG COMMITMENT - PUTTING QUR
CLIENTS FIRST

Through our approach, we will put our
chents first, working In parthership to
achieve our combined ESG ambitions.

To achieve this we will focus on:

— Hasalthy Planet - our transition to
net zero, by decarbanising homes,
reducing emissions acrfoss the
Mears Group and making a positive
contribytion to our planet

- improving Lives - making a positive
difference by delivering great service
safely, giving something back and
treating everyone faity and equalty,
specific to their needs

- Bood Governance — runring our
business in the most ethical and
{ransparent way, operating robust
governance processes covering:
ethics, risk, IT, procurement and

partnership working
DIVERSITY
Womaen on the Board
6 Male
3 Female

(2020:; 2 female, 9 male)

By everyone working together and delivering
our ESG ambitions, we will maintain strong
business credentials and demonsirate our
commitment to always dolng the right thing.
Successful dellvery means, by 2025, we

will have:

— enhanced our ESG reputation and
articulated a clear story to the City, our
investors, clients, customars and partners,
altracted new investors 10 our business;
retained all agreed ESG related
accreditations;

— championed external themes that
demonsirate our values;

— established curselves &s a Thought Leader
- staying ahead of, end being involved in,
future policy and regulation changes,

- established Mears Foundation as the
cornerstone of our community
Investment work;

—  grown diversity, aCrass ow business,
especially in senior posilions;

- damonsirated cormmitment and Internal
leadership 10 ESG;

Woman In senlor leadership roles

36 Male

9 Female

{2020: 7 female, 31 male)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

supported work winning and ratention;
developed strong partnership working with
supply chain;
— enhanced our employer brand story

and colleague Ioyalty; and
— become leaders in reducing carben and
fuel poverty in social housing.

With the above I mind, this document sets out
our plans to develop our ESG Approach. We warnt
to become a trusted friend to Qur clients and beip
them realise theik ESG ambitions, as well as buid
trust with all our stakehokders.

Qur approach prioritises where we can have
the greatest impact and supports a culture that
fully integrates sustsinabllity and

purpose beyond profit.

Together we can raise standards across the
sector, to the benefit of every resident.

Employees by gender

3,917 Male

1,587 Female

{2020:1,633 female, 3.9 male)
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

ouR 2028 Anamon TN “The Mears Board places our

Our culture and values centre around our

ambition to be the most sacially responsible reSPOHSib“ities to SOCiety

buslness in the housing sector by 2025.

We velve: at the heart of our business.

= Our customers and communities, putting

meineccs aithe nesnoteverninng 1 NTOUGH robust governance

we do; . - - . -
— teomwon. suppeing evc ot shreg and identifying risks, we will
~ personal responsibility, setting consistently

high standards ior our work and holding enSUl'e that OUI’ company is ready

oursetves gccountable for achieving them:

anc to fully commit to the measures

= IAnovation, beng mventive in Sut approach

and ampowering pecpe otake easorale - gt ot in our ESG Approach.”

ESG RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board leads and provides svategic direction  Andrew Smith

10 the Group and cames ullmete responsiblity for  Chief Financial Officer
management of the Group’'s activiies, ESG and

financial performance.

The Board acknowledges accauntability

to shareholders, dients. employees and
customers. for proper conduct of the business,
effective assessment of risk ang the long-term
success of the Group, having regard 1o the
Interests of all stakeholders.

OUR MATERIALITY REVIEW

= Through an onfine survey, we consulled
with 32 of qur internal stakehalders ta
identify the matters that are imponant to
thern and asked them to rank @ number
of spedific ESG and sustainability lopics
on 3 rglative basls. We also assessed
these tapics on the incremental impact
1hat they can have on our business

—  While aliitems shown are important,
some have greater urgency, in tenms
of focus, to our business than others

= We will use the results {opposite} to
help Inform our approach and
development plans

- NB ~the key materiality topics used
were souwrced from relevant ESG
framewarks and sectar insights

= In 2022 we will wigen our consultation
10 external stakehoiders, led by our
wndependent ESG Board

HIGH Interest

Stakaholder imerest (impottance)

Interest

Priority Business Impact: Priority to Mears Group PLC High Priority
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UNITED NATIONS' SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
The UN has Identified 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) which 8im to achieve a better and more sustainable future for all.

Mears has identified the 10 fellowing goals and fully afigned them to our own 2025 Sirategy and ESG Approach. The goals we have identified
are those which we halieve are highly relevant to ow business and the housing sector, in which we operate.

3. Good health and wellbeing: Ensure healthy lives
ang promote wellbeing for all at all ages

8. Decent work and economic growth: Promote
susiaihable economic growth, full and productive
employment, and decent work for all

9. Industry, innovation, and infrastructure:
Develop, upgrade, and retrofit infrastructure to make
them gustainable, with increased resaurce efficlency
and daaner technologies and processes

10. Reduced inequalities: Reduce inequality by
supporting the merglnalised and disadvantaged

12. Responsible consumption and production:
Ensure susiainable management and efficient use
of natural resources

13. Climate action: Take urgent action ta combat
ckimate change and itsimpacts

15. Life on land: Sustainably manage forests, combat
desertification, halt and reverse land degradation, halt
biodiversity loss

16. Peace, justice and strong institutions: Promote
peaceful and inciusive societies for sustairnable
development, provide access to justice for a1l and

11. Sustainable cities and communities: Provide access
1o safe, adequste, and atfordabie basic services. energy.

housing, transportation and more

bulld effective, accountable, and inclusive institytions

17. Partnerships: Partner with Governments, businesses,
academia, and communities to mobikse action for
sustainable developmenl

Qur Approach will see the Group report progress against the chosen SOGs and we wilf continually monitor the UN's goals to ensure that we are
always acting on those most relevant to our business. For more information on the UN SDGs, please find out mere here: hitps://sdgs.un.org/goals

Introducing our plans

HEALTHY PLANET

Lk 10 SDGs:
We will achieve net zero carbon emissions on
Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across our operations

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

IMPROVING LIVES GOOD GOVERNANCE

Link to SDGs:
We will enhance o strategy for sustainable

procurement by 2023 and evolve our approach
to maintain our high standards

uink to socs: [ B K8

We will improve lives by contributing at least
£5k, per employee, of sqcial value each year

35

JONYNBIAOD 3IVNDLNDD 14043 D1DALVAHLS

SININILYLS IVIONYNIL

NOILVWYNOIN] USQIOHINYHS

Y

A\Y

A\




Strategic Report

ESG continued

Healthy Planet

Our aimis to become a
carbon neutral organisation,
whilst helping clients

create safe and sustainable
places that will have long-
lasting benefits for their
communities.

HEALTHY PLANET (N 20214

96.63%

waste diversion fram landfill

Zero

pollution incidents

Zero

environmental iegislation hreaches

3

Social Housing Dacarbonisation
projects secured with aur dients

36

Reducing our
carbon emissions

Qur goals

- Achieve net zerp cerbon emissions
on Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across
our operations

— Achieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 204S across our
supply chain

Qur plan

— Creste a net zevo cerbon transition
plan using science-based targets

— Continue disclasing our emissions,
and publicly report On progress
againsi our largets

— Transition to electric vehicle fleet
by 2030

— Continue partnership and suppot
supply chain Lo achieve net zere carbon

— Support our clients In meeting
Goverment Cmmitmearts

— Create an Internal plan for reducing
carban BCross our CONtracEs, creating
awareness and understanding with
all colleagues

Minimising waste

Our goal

= Achieva a Zero Waste Index score
of 1.5 degrees Celslus by 2030,
fram 2021 baseline of 253%

Qur plan

- Increase coleague awareness and
introduce measures Lo reduce wasle
across all sites

= Reduce carbon through the protéction
of natural resources by reviewing our
wasle processes

- Avoid waste by Improving the reuse of
‘wasle materals’

- Partner with charitles to reuse and recycle
furniture and white goods, Increasing the
percemage recycled yearly

~— Monitor and adopt new technclogies as
they become available

-— Work in partnership with our National
Waste partner to embed improvements
to achieve Zero Wasie index score

Decarbonising homes

Qur goa!

- By 2025 we will aim to be a sector-
{eading provider of carbon reduction
sofutions in the social housing sector

Qur plan

- Achieve and maintain oM relevant
accreditations to demonstrate
compatency and compliance

~ Help our clients measure thelr
carbon emissions and fetrofit
solutions Lo dellver carbon savings.

— Embed a resident first approach to the
decatbonisatipn of homes (Data >
Define » Design > Defliver > Declarg)

— Use asset daia 1o help access the
limited financial rescurces currently
available AND leverage funding as
It becomes available

~— Transitton owr workforce as a whole ta
ensure understanding and capabillty

Preventing pollution

Owr goal

= Continually evoive cur approach to
rmaintain zero pollution incidents and
zero enwironmental legisiation breaches

Cur pian

- Maintain (50 OO Environmental
Management Systemn) certification

- Work with clients and communities to
clear pollutants from the enviconments
we work in i.e., litter, plastics, elc,

— Continue activity to raise environmenta!
awareness within our workforce

— Mamntain robust policies ang procedures
o ensure envirocnmental compliance
and agherence with legislation

— Moniior and adopt new technologles
as they become available
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Healthy Planet:
Green space
refurbishment
in Thurrock

Mears, Thurrock Council and the Riverside
Community Big Local have joined together
with the community to take derelict and
mistreated woodiand and have created the
newesl green space for local people to enjoy.

Falconwood in Thurrock had sadly become
a prime spot for fly tipping and vandalism,
meaning that this was not a space the
community could use in safaty.

After being asked to help by the Council,
Mears-volunieerad to parlicipate in the
project to bring this site back lo life, working
with the Riverside Community Big Locat.

Having reviewed the site, we drew up a list
of immed|ate tasks and asked volunteers

for help. This Included installing new metal
security gates to the front and rear entrances
to protect the wood against vandalism and
also rebullding vandalised brickwork piers,

The team was then able to remove cvergromwn
shrubs and weeds ta enable us to proceed and
Install permanent pathways S0 everyone can
use the woodland. Althe end of the clearing,
we remaved over 15 tonnes of waste, inciuding
washing machines and mattresses,

Susan Murray, Asset Investment & Deﬂvery
Manager from Thumrock Councll, commented:
“This was a great project to participate in with
our local residents and partnering contractor
Mears. The waork everyone achieved will be a
great asset for everyone in the community to
be able 1¢ enjoy.”

Andy Blakey, Chairperson from Riverside
Community Big Local, commented:
“Falconwood was one of the very first projects
that residents identified for the Riverside
Community Big Local —it's an area that has
caused protlems for many, many years,

“For far too long it has been awaste
ground, oveigiown and prone to fly
tipping. We reslly want 1o transformitinto
an attractive and inviting space thaltis
real asset for the local community.

“Everyone at the Riverside Community Big
Local is Immensely grateful to Mears for
partnering with us to heip make our ambition
for Falconwood a reality.

“The help and support that Gary Luscombe and
his colleagues from Mears have given

has been amazing and — althcugh there is still

a long way 10 go - they have helped make

the transformation of Falconwood a reality.”
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Gary Luscombe, General Manager

of Mears, said:

*When Thurrock asked us to pitch In and
heip, we sald yes immediately. | think we've
all been reminded over the |ast year of the
impartance of green space and having
places where we can all appreciate nature.
Sadly, Falconwood was not In good shape.

when we put oul the call for help, we had so
many members of tha community volunteer
that we actusity had o turn people away.

I really is 8 fantastic exampie of how, when
called upon, the people of Thurrock truty
come together for the benefit of everyone.

What's next?

Now the woodland has been restored,
Riversige Community Big Local has
ambitious plans for the rest of the year.
Having asked resigents what they would
like to see next, we are working with them
on the next stage of the refurbishment.

Gary Luscombe added:

“Without the volunteers and donations,

we could not have achieved what we have.
It's been a real pleasure (o work with the
Councll and the Riverside Community

Big Local projecl, Thank you to all the
volunieers who helped — this really is

a space for the community.”
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-Strategic Report

ESG continued

improving Lives

From a solid baseline,

our aim is to create an
environmerit that is ‘fair

for alf’, which enables
customers, colteagues and
communities to thrive by
improved: social impact,
heaith, safety and wellbeing,
employee value proposition
and fairness and.inclusion.

IMPROVING LIVES IN 2021
Social value:

- Circa 1,500 soclal value prajacts
— £29am social value Impact

- Over £2 800 impact per employae

Mears Foundation:
— £50k grant donations o support
local community projects.
For more information about the
Mears Foundation please visit:
htips/Avww themearsfoundation.org.uk/

Heaith & safety:
- Actident frequency rate: 019

Falrness & inclusian

- 92% of colleagues shared ED1 data
- 100% of managers trained in EO1
- Gender pay gap of 32%

— Emplayee tumoverof 22%

38

Promoting fairness
& inclusion

Qur goals

Continuailly evolve a Board-driven
sirategy thal ensures fakrness and
inclusion for all cofieagues

By 2025 we will aim to achleve:

36% of womaen in leadership positions
[grade 5 ¥)

12% Group representation of black,
Asian and other ethnicities

Gender pey gap of 19%

Cofieagues consider us a leader

Owur plan

——

Maximising current recruitment
processes to ensure they are blas free
and encourage job oppanunities for al
Pubilish first ethnicity gap report, with
98% of coleagues sharing ED! data
Achieve teading Gold standard faimess
& inclusion accreditation

Insight-led approach to ensuring our
workfarce raflects our local communities
To eradicate ungder-representation ang
pay disparity in all job roles

All coleagues across ihe business 10
receive faimess & indusion trainlng
Achieve Dissbitity Confident

Employer status

D&l tergets to be embedded In
manggers’ performance and

reward schernes

D&l ‘cansalidation” training for
managers — periodic (every 3 years)
Conlractual requirement for suppliers
to provide evidence of how they are
addressing D&I

Improving health & safety

Our goals

Continualy evalve our approsch

to maintain our high standards for
creating a safe working environment
for everyone:

- Accicent frequency rate
of pelow 0.25.

— 'Win the ROSPA Industry Sector
Award, which recognises best H&S
performance in the sectar, by
2030

Attracting &
retaining talent

Our goals

Continuatly evoive 8 cohesive strategy
for atiracting and retaining the best
tatent; enabling our coleagues to thrive

By 2025 we will aim to achieve:

Employer of choice recognition
30% of al! apprentices secure work
21 Mewrs or ancther organisation, on
completion of thelr apprenticeship
Employes tumover of 18%

Qur plan

Develop a competitive Employee Value
Proposition, including standard and
flesdble benefits

Dedver an enhanced approach to talent
management

Promote internally and exiernally the
Mears Brand and Empioyee Value
Proposilion

Year on year growth, in percemage.

of overak recruitment from under-
represented groups

Implement Voice of Colieague forum,
chaired by Employee Direcior, to
enable even bigger employee voice
Mairtain approach Lo ensuring sl
employees are paid the reai Living
wage oOr above

Maintain governance to ensure no
inappropriate Zero Hours contracts
Pramate Mears' flexibie working offer
linked ta wellbeing to support atiraction
and retention

Our plen

—

Maintain all ISO accreditations

Retain ROSPA Gold Award

Maintain 3 team of professionally
quafifled Safety. Health and Environment
Managers 1o support the business.
Mainiain robust policies and procedures
to ensure healih and safety comphance
Conduct reguiar audits and

Inspections across the buslness

1o monitor compllance

Monilor and invest in new technologies
as they became avaliable
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Boosting health
& wellbeing

Our goal

== Continually evolve a Board-driven
wellbetng sirategy, the importance
of which is requdarly communicated
1o the workforee, that ensures the
heaith and wellbeing of our colleagues

Cur plan

— Maentat Health First Alder in 100% of
contracts and departments

— Tailored and enhanced Employee
Assislance Programme (EAP)

- Access for all employee to voluntary
health services and programmes

— Enhance support for vuinerable
colleagues

— Enhance flexible benefits package and
contractual terms to support access
to opporiunities

= Maintain focus on employee engagement
and help tackle the chaltenges of -
wellbeing and mental health

Raising soclal value

Our goals
«= Continually evolve cur approach
to ensure that, by 2025;;
- All contracts must have & yearly
social value plan contributing
at least £5k, per employee, of
soclal velue
- We will grow Mears Foundation
grant giving to over £200k
per annum

Qur plan

- Develop Socigl Return on investment
reporting to focus more on qualltative
outcomes and personal Impact

— Bulld on engagement with supply chain

Year on year [ncrease in use of

volunteering hours

— Lobbying Governmeni for a more
transparent and consistent measure
of soclal value

Improving Lives:
Mears Group adds
to its team using
DWP’s SWAP

scheme

Mears Group, the UK's leading housing
solutions provides, has recently engaged
with the Department of Work and Pensions’
{DWP} SWAP scheme to connect two
jobseekers with permanent employment

tn Its Milton Keynes call handiing facility.

The DWP's SWAP ~ Sector-based Work
Academy Programme — scheme cannects
people trying to enter the job market with
opponunities in local businesses. SWAPs
are an opportunity for jobseekers (claiming
Universal Credit, Jobseeker's Allowance or
Employment and Supoort Allowance) 1o
Improve job praspects, learn new skifls and
get experiance of working in particular
Industries such as care, construction,

or warehouse work.

In Milton Keynes, The MK Coundil
Nelghbourhood Employment Project
Manager approached Mears’ customer
success manager, Claire Foden, 1o
collaborate on a SWAP inlliative. Recognising
that attracting new talent 1o the housing
solutlons sector Is an ongoelng challenge,
Clalre was keen to drive the initiative forward,
support Mears' commitment to social
responsibility and secure employment for
vacant rotes within Mears Group.

At the end of the process, which included a
two-week DWP SWAP training programme
followed by Interviews, Mears offered roles
to two individuals who have been employed
as call handlers for the past four months.

The benefits to Mears and the employees
are numercus; both individuals heve
become trusted and valuable members
of the ¢call handling team, while gaining
valuable skills and experience that wili
sat them up for the future.
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One of them commented on how the
opportunity has positively impacted him:
°Since joining Mears | have been able to
settie Into a routine, which is great for my
condition. | have been |dentifled as
someone who can progress at Mears and
am looking forward to this. Customer service
is really important to me - II's been amazing
so far." Another commented: "It is nice to be
back In work after two years out of work. 1 am
lucky to have a supportive manager and
great colleagues ot Mears.”

Minister for Employment Mims Davies MP
said: °It's great tc hear about people getting
into work and progressing at Mears, with the
support of our Sector-based Work Academy
Programme. What's great about SWAPs Is
(ha1 this training 15 connected to live
vacancies, offering people the best chance
at landing that all important job.

“Our Plan for Jobs, including the SWAPs
scheme, is supporting peopie across the
country on their way to work In exciting
new sectors, from housing to hospitality,
by giving them the skills, expersience and
oppartunities they need.”

Managing Director of Mears and MK
resident Peter Baldwin sald: “l am very
proud of our new colleagues — they have
already become much valved members
of our team here In Milton Keynes and

| look torward to seeing thern develop.
Initiatives like this should be used by all
companies — as shown in this case, we
can make a real giflerence to people’s
lives within a supportive environment.”

Claire Foden of Mears added:

“We are delighted that the SWAP scheme
has worked so well for Mears and has
resulted in them becoming valued members
of our team. We will cantinue to engage with
SWAP and look forward (o bringing mare
people inta the team across the UK.”
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Stestegic Report

ESG continued

Good Governance

Through robust gavemance
and identifying risks and
opportunities, the Mears

Board wotks to the highest -

level of transparency and
good governance. Our aim
is {0 take this approach
throughout our business

to ensure that ethical
behaviour, transparency and
openness form the heart of
our culture at every level.

GOO0D GOVERNANCE IN 2021;

-~ Sirong balance shaet, wih good
cE3h corversion and iow debt

o= Long-herrm, kovw risk conlract
postiolio fN eSSEMU 3erices

= 20 humman fiQhis brec ves

- Crear LOOQ residents e parl of
Ok DAIB ANQBQBMANL ARTWOK

-~ HAvigrd winning Customer
Struuny Board

—  Nowly reformed ESG Advisory Bosrd
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Protecting
buman rights

Our goal

- Mainiain our approach 16 ensiire
wirhava o human rights breaches
of Bsuas

Que plan

~= Cortinue o conduct busingss and
deliver 327vice In § woy that rexpects
and Genkuders human gMs

Sustainable
procurement

Dur gasl

- Danine qur stemegy e ssteinaD:
procurement oy 2023 and theneafter
debver and evolve our appraach 10
WBILSIN GUF Mg SIANCARS

Cus plan
- Al Supiilers signad Lp ko our
Suppler Commaments, which are

el suppliers ully CompienT with measwred Brd MOARDTEN Svuaky
Group pokcy by 2024 — AN cort suppkens hdve successiv

— Uphold our Budil rarsulis by 2025
on modem slavery, tuman traficking - ANtimber products Sourced from

ang! chicitloncad abaur

- Regularty monitor lapour 16 payral

= Deiivera package of infliatives that
rake awaness with scicioyees

- Gl grader unddrE)p0ding of the
supply chain practices ardd procedures
of our key suppiens

Information security
and governance

Owyr goal

e Continuslly evoive a robutl SIrslegy
R0 enSUre we Gelver 10 the nighest
sianoerd, have na security breaches
and are lulty GDPR complant

Our plen

— Eimbed b consistant process 1o idontly
and assess privacy risks — 100%
complishce 8Ccost il DUsiness mreps

— AN informanion secunty InCidents are:
Invastigrated Bhd 2ress oF improvenent
e iartilled wnd actioned

— Daiver ¢ package of inllstves that
ensurm awareness and Widerstanding
8105t ol toligagues

- MEkTAL 20 MToimagon Securky
Mansguvier Sysiem that s certified
w150 37001

- CHouin NG MEIN ALY

— identify snd mansge cybes risks

= Diiver S8curd INFrmMion sysiams,
o the Group

certified forests by 2080

— S0%of o sourced pIooLEIS are
from susialnabh scw el by 2075

- MeiTan responivhe epDIOSCH
10 CEOME DAYMEM cooe

- ETANS GUT HOCUINTIE K #CTivity
i§ OulCome-Totused with wefl-
delined dathverabies

w  COntnue B work wih exsemaly

value Enh_nu.iu.n procuement
— Out Tof 10 wppikes engaged i
colsbotatve ESG plan

Parinerships

Our gomis
We wil E0ntints® 0.

- Work ciasely wilh ow clients s suppty

<¢hain and Inciease parinership tenute
— WOk crossly wilh invistons and funders
— Hoh Y o

Curplan

— Provige seowe Inuesiment snd funding

— Contmuse with Your Voice Cusiomer
Scriny Board ~ ncapdndint

Yor Cusiomer ergeg

— Continue with ESG Aavisory Board
— independent ovisers tha
consiruttivly chabenge

— Consider ESG lactors across al assats
in which we imeest by 2025

— Parinar with Govemments, busnesses,
ACEGRMTU, ond ComMuNItes W ensute

DSt DIACEce And moDiine action for
SLSLINADIE CAVIIOTTONT

- Positively uence poicy and currant
practice (Lotal and National Govammen]
throygh our Thopgh Led ded programme
—continug o lesd the way
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Risk, ethics &
governance

COur goal

- Maintain a robust strategy and
governance framework 10 ensure we
are fully compliant, manage risk and are
regarded as a responsible business

Qur plan

— Ensure year on year compliance with
antl-cormuption govemance

w= Continue zero tolerance 1o
anti-competitive behaviour

- Year on year compllance and
good practice on financlal reporting
and tax obligations

— Revlew and align our targets to TCFD
and UN 50Gs

— Promote Executive Board and senior
management responsibllities for
governance and risk approach

— Continue Independent audit and risk
assessment annually with transparent
action and reporting

— Provide a confidential whistleblowing
channel to encourage calleagues to
speak aut

— Optinto open carbon reporting

= Continue with Mears Warkforce Group,
as govemance to main Board, leading on
ali workforce practice and engagement

- Continue disciplined spproach to
bidding and capital allocation to
maintain strong balance sheet

“Through good governance
we know that we can
reduce risks and create
value by leading from

the front to create a
business truly based on
ethical and transparent
business practices.”

Alan Long
Executive Director

Good Governance:

Holding Mears
to account

In 2021 our Independent Scrutiny Board
published its first annual report, which
highlighted the Company’s performance,
including recommendatians for conlinuing
service improvements,

The resident-led board forms one part of
our resident engagemaent model, which

has the right 10 questian any part of the
Mears business, to scrutinise how we deliver
services to the housing sector snd make
recommendations aimed at improving
cusiomer experience. The Your Voice
Scrutiny Board reports directty to the PLC
Board and has the power to publish
independent public reports about Mears.

Wae slsc recognised that there may be
some issues which impact on customers’
lives which are outside of Mears' direct
control and the Scrutiny Board wik consider
how it can nfluence wider improvements
working with local councils, Housing
Associstions and Government. Your Volce
Is structured as follows:

Maears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Mears Customer Scrutiny Board —
Anindependently chaired panel of customer
representatives working alongside the PLC
Boargd and praviding oversight, challenge and
support to Mears. it will be supported and its

—independence assured by the Centre for -——

Public Scrutiny.

Mears Customer Champions Forum —
Made up of Mears' branch-based customer
engagement (or equivalent) leads plus other
key stakeholders such as cllent Scrutiny
8Bcard chairs, resldent association leads, and
community activists. This forum will create &
link between the Scrutiny Board and the local
involvement groups and scrutiny structures.

Mears Online Customer Network —

Avirtual network of residents from around the
country, who opt into providing feedback on
Mears services, provide Insight into what's
important and what's not, offer opinions and
suggestions, and validate and endorse our
thinking/new inltiatives.

You can read the Board's 2021 report here:

Mears Scrutiny Board — Aanual Report
2020-2021 1 Mears Group PLC
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Mears fs committed to adopting the
recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD),
providing our stakeholders with decision-useful
information pn climale related risks and
©opporunitias that are relevant 1o our business,
We are cominuing lo evolve owr climate risk
disclaswes Ir ine with the TCFD guidelines.
During 2021, the management team continued
10 focus on the Impiementation of TCFD.

The Group hias not completed scenario
planning, and In this area the Group is not
comphiani with the TCFD recommendations.
As part of our sk planning in 2022/23, we

will complete scenarla planning to enable

cur business to mitigate cimate related risks,

Mears is nol new to £5G. in fact, E5G has
atweys been a( the heari of what we do.

We struciure owr ESG Approach through our
three prigrities:

see pages 35S0 4

- Healthy Flanet: Reducing emissions and
making a positive cantribution 1o our planet

— Imptoving Lives: Making 8 positive diflerance
by defivering great service, giving something
back and reating everyone fairy and equalty,
spechic ta their needs

— Good Governance. Running our business
in the most ethical and iranspacent way

Each of thase 15 driven by an understandling that
& company of aur size can make an Impact on
the commiunites we wark in ang on the wider
worid. We set our standards extremely high and
have a rabust set of governance structures in
place, including independent scritiny.

Mears will also pley & crucial rata in halping to
retrofit and improve the national housing stock,
Using our interna) experts, we are aiready
developing plams with our clients to achleve
MNet Zero in emissions fam housing. We see
this as a major part of our future as s business.

Our ultimate goal 15 10 be recognised asthe

most socially responsibie business working In
the public sector.
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Governance

Disclose the organisation’s governance around
cfimate related issues and opportunities.

Qur ESG Approach can be viewed in full on
pages 33 to 41 and outiines our plans to reduce
emisslons — this being one of out three suetegic
priorities for ESG alongside 'mproving Lives
and creating opporfuntites and Good Govemance.

As part of our sirategy In 2021, we appointed a8
new sustainability team 1o provide 2 vision and
pian for us both internally ond as a contrattor b
the pubfc sector.

The Board is focused on ensuring that Mears
Ives by its values. The Board Is accounteble for
the long-term success of the Group. selling 8
framewaork of effective controls which enables
risks, Including climate related risks and
opportunities, io be assessed and managed.
Responsibilly for ESG s embedded Into our
carporate governance and owned by the
Board, receiving inputs from the Compiignce
Committee and Group Sustainability Team.

Owr execuiive management ieads and provides
strategic direction to the Group, and camies
ultimate responsibifity for management of the:
Group's activities, ESG and financial performance.

Wider managemaeni functions throughout the
arganisation also have climate related roles
and responsibllities. For example, our Heaith
and Safety funclion supports the delivery of
our enironmental strategy, with particular
focus on waste managemant and recyciing.

We will continue to embed dimate related roles
and responsibikies throughoul our functions
and operations during 2022.

Our strategy will see us:

- achieve net zero carbon emissions by
2030 across our operations;

« achieve net zero carbon emissions by
2045 across our value chain;

-  ernbed a net 2210 carbon culture based on
personal respansipiity; and

- Move to an electiic vehicle flleet by 2020.

‘We are currently conciugling our Carbon Plan,
which is due for completion during the first hatf
of 2022. This wili inciude additicnal interim
milestones as we progress Lo net zero carbon
emissions by 2030.

We are praud ta have achieved I50 1400
(Enviranmental Management System}
certification and this will form a key indicator
for the Board to review.

See page 36

Strategy

Disclose the actual and potenila) impacts
of climate redated risks and opportunities
on the organisation's business, strategy
end financlal planning where such
Information is material.

Climate change presents Mears with both
risks and apportunities.

RISKS

As 8 Jarge manager of housing stock, the
Company will reed o demonstrate & leading
fole ta ensuring our stock is fit far Net Zero,
As a (epairs and malntenance provider, we
wifl need ta mowe our vehicle flaet 1o electric
by 2030, However this commitment is
dependent upon the infrastructure inthe UK
being available 1o allow our operatives 1o
charge their efectric vehities without impacting
upon productivity.

OPPORTUNITIES

As part of our 2025 Sirategic Plan, the Board
has directed that we will work 1o become
leaders in carbon reduction within soclal
housing and within cur organisation,

The strategy planning for 2025 means that we
are already In a pesition to financially phan for
an electric vehicle leet, to mitigate the effects
of chmate change on cur business and o
enhance aur offer on Net Zero 1 enable us to
benefit from the opportunities of Net Zera.

The benefis of Net Zero are clear to Mears.
The retrofitting of social housing will become
amajor grawth area for Mears, Qur expertse

in this area makas us an integral part of the
green economy. We have already secuned our
Tirst three enevgy efficiency projects as detaled
within the Chief Executive Cfficer's review.

A further bhengfit will be to show Investors with
an emphasis on ESG and the green economy
that Mears is an atiractive imvesiment, and our
expertise will present a caompetitive advaniage
when bidding for contracts.

In considerng our climate risks and
opporiunities, we have considered short-term
risks between O and 2 vears, medium-tarm
risks from 2-5 years and fong-term risks being
aver 5 years. The Board would expectto
increase these time horizons as the Group
builds on the recommendations of the TCFD
and completes the scenario planning work.

Al this ime, 2 period that is significantly
greater than 5 years is cansidered 100 long,
given the inherent uncactainties invoived.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (0~2 YEARS)

Risks

== Faiture o financialy ptan for upskilling
wockiorce n low ¢arbon technology

— Failure 1o access all avatlable funding

MEDIUM-TERM RISKS AND

QOPPQRTUNITILS {2-5 YEARS)

Risks

— Risk that suppliers will not be able to adapt
In timeframe set

- Failure to analyse all contracts for business
procurement, These will all need to be
stress tested to ensure that they help us
to achieve our Net Zero goal

- Foilure to begin upgrades to housing
stock we own and manage

Oppaortunities

w Help to upskil our supply chains 10
reach our Net Zero goals

— Become the preferred supplier for Net
Zerg in social housing stock nationwide

— Access to Government funding to
decarbonise housing stock (see financial
planning beiow)

LONG-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES {5 YEARS AND

ABOVE)

Risks

— Transition to electric vehicle fleet will
depend on charging infrastructure

— Scope 3 is dependent on suppliers

— The UK skills shortage could affect
our plans

- Curlincreasing housing footprint reduces
our ability to meet our goals

— Changing sources of supply. e.g., for
forestry products that may be impacted
by cimate change

- Energy and IT supply risk, where bad
weather causes widespread downtimes

- Additional msintenance pressures a3s 8
result of more extreme weather conditions

-= Need for greater flood protection
measures for homes as risk areas spread

Opportunities

— We become the UK's ieading end-to-
end carbon reduction experts with
capabiity o analyse existing stock,
aceess funding, Implement new
technologies and meastre Impact

— We support the UK skills base by
supporting our supply chains to adapt to
new skills, technologles and regulation

— Need for protection of and greater support
for biodiversity will enhance our social
value offer by greening communities

« Combatting chmate change will present
us with opportunities to grow our
mainienance business

— With Increasing migration we can harness
the new skilis to flll the current gap

FINANCIAL PLANNING

Our 2025 Strategic Plan sats ont our ambition
to bacome leaders in carbon reduction.
Financlal planning is tied to our strategy

and as such we have already incorporated
this and will cantinue to do 50 to meet our
goal of Net Zera for our business by 2030.
Appolnting a carbon reduction team Is an
example of our investment.

To become leaders in this area, we need
to ensure that we are able to access the
significant investment coming in through
Soclal Housing Decarbonisation funds,

the Warm Homes Front and the new ECO4,

We already have an emerging pipeline of
opportunity, athough further Government
funding annauncements will influence how
fast this oppartunity wilk develop. We know
that £800m will be released under the English
Soclal Housing Decarbonisation fund 1n

April 2022, with a further £800m mentloned
for April 2023 {there are similar pots in the
devolved nations). In each case, this will be for
work being carried out over a 3-year period.
We also know there is £150m In the Warm
Homes Front for off gas properties and

April will see ECO4 launched with a potential
£1bn fund for housing of all types.

CARBON PRICING

As part of the scenario analysis, we will further
consider the impact of fulure carbon pricing.
Carbon taxes have to date remained relativety
low but are expected to increase In the fulure
in line with Government commitments.

We conslider the most significant financlal
impact is where the cast of carbon taxes and
levies, both those incurred directly by Mears
and where indirect carbon taxes are passed
to Maars through its supply chain, cannot be
passed onto customers,

RESILIENCE

We link our work to the Group's strategic
priorithes and principal risks, As part of our risk
planning in 2022/23, we wilf complete scenario
planning o enable our business to miigate
climate related risks. This will include planning
10 ensure that we mitigate against risks that
the Group does not maximise opportunities
presented by ESG related changes in its
business environment.

See pages; 46 to 54

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Risk Management

Disclose how the organtsation [dentifies,
assesses and manages climate-related risks.

The Group Sustainability Team identifles
sirategic climate chanqe risks and opportunities
facing Mears through the regular review of
issues and trends. Active collaboration with
external experts, and representation at
conferences and events help to ensure
up-to-date knowledge. dentified risks and
oppornunitles are shared with the Board and
included within the strategic risk register.

As detziled in the Risk management section
on page 46, Mears has a struciured risk
management framework operated at a
business unit, function and Group leves.
The senior management team reviews and
identifies the key risks; climate related risks
are identifled and considered as part of
that process, Climate related risks are not
considerad in isolatian, and the process

is integrated into the Group’s overall risk
management process.

The Board has carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks, including climate related
risks, facing the Group, Including those that
threaten the business model, strategy and future
performance, Risks are prioritised based on
the likellhood of occurrence and the severity

of the impacl on the Group. This severity can
be measured using various criterla such as
financial, customer service, growth, regulatory
compliance and reputational criterla. Therefore.
Mears measures more than simply the financial
impact of the risk. These scores are used to
ascalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Chimate change represents both risk and
opportunity far the Group. There Is a risk that
Mears does not identify and manage the risks
assoclated with changes in environmental
legislation relating to housing, transportation,
and corporate reporting requirements. There is
also a risk that the Group does nol maximise
the opportunities presented by energy
efficiency In the affordable housing sector.

See pages 46 to H4
Climate risks are assessed as parl of our

integrated risk management framewark as
detailed on pages 46-54
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

Metrics and Targets

Disciose the metrics and targets used
1w© and fasant climata
related risks and opportunities where
such information (s material.

Mears will create a net zeca carbon transition
plan, with science-based targets. We will
pubiish data in our Annuai Report and on our
ESG weabsite, whith will publicly show our
emissions, and progress against our targels.
‘We will develop our yaar on year targets for
reducing Scope 18nd 2 as part of our transition
plan over 2022,

Specific targets Include:

- lransition to electric vehicle fleet by 2030;

- work in parinership and support supply
chain t0 achigve nat zero carbon;

- 00% carbon awareness traning for
colieagues by 2023;

= Inwest in carbon offsetting to balance
residual emissions by 2G30; and

- achleve net zero carbon emission by
2045 across our vahye chaln.

We have set g small number of chimate
related metrics and targets in our Group
strategy, and included them within our wider
ESG plan, notably:

- greenhouse gas {(GHG) emissions. absolte
Scope 18nd 2 (as detalled opposite)

—  GHG emission intensity (a5 detailed
opposite); and

- wasie diverted from landfill {as detailed
on page 36).

We recognise the need 1o review our clunale

largets In 2022 and 2023, and further

performance measures will be considered

in due COurse.

The Group’s cacbon amissions dala for the year
Is detailed opposite.

See pages: 351637
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GHG EMISSIONS
The Groug's carbon emissions dala for the year is provided below.

The data set out In these tables represents ermissions and energy use for which Mears Group PLC
is responsible and is Incorporaied by relerence in the Directors' Report on page 9%, To calculate
our Group emissions, we have used the main requirements of the GHG Protocol Corperate Standard.

These figures have been generated from independenitly provided reports of carbon emissions

ar energy usage from a variety of sources and, whare necessary, enegy usage has been
converted inte carban emissions using the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company
Reporting 2021

‘This year, we have also calculaled our Scope 2 emissions using the market-based methodology
Ia recagnise the purchasing of low carben energy.

Seope Units 200 2020
Scope 1- UK Torvas COre 36.397 34370
Scope 2 — UK focation-based Tonnes COze 6,449 7376
Scope 2 - UK market-based Tonnes CO.e 5.817 na
Scope 1and 2 Units 2021 2020
Intensity tonnes CO.e/Em revenue 4878 4963
Energy cansumption Mwh 195,363 189,074

Cur repanting follows the Greenhguse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard, appiying the ‘Financlal Control' approach [organisational boundary).

Our policy is 10 restawe carbon ang energy figures i consideration of changes in methodologies,
improvements in \he sccuracy. or discovery of eors In previous years' data. No restatement has
been made this year.

Our gross carbon emisslons have been classified In the following way:

Scope 1 - Direct emissions from: vehicle use (owned and leased); heating fuets used in buildings.
Scope 2 - indirect emissions from; electicity used in cur buildings. We repon Iocation-based
emisslons ftaking imo account the UK grid average),

Scope 3 -~ Indirect emissions from business wravel by alr and taxi; hated stays; water supply: and
waste recycling and disposal.

Out of Scope ~ Indrect emissions from: biofual usage (rom ak divisions In line with DEFRA
reporting guldelines.

During 2021, Mears has taken aciive measures 1o improve its energy efficency, including:

Utilising technalogy to minirnise joumey time between all operational visits

Expanding use of video lechnology to reduce the number of joumeys iravelied by over 75%
Sourcing enegy from renewsble resources

Working with our supply chain to rechice packaging and waste on a continual basis
Employing a Sustainabiity manager 1o complete a roadmap ihrough to 2030 and beyand

1V
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Non-financiat Information Statement

Board requirements

Policias and standards
which gavern our approach

Addiional infarmation and risk management

Stakeholders {customers,
suppliers, etc.)

— Responsible Business Charter

- Data Protection

— Responses to Social Housing White Paper,
Procurement Green Paper and the Decent
Homes Review

— Scotlish Business Pledge

150 44001 - collaboration in contract

management

— Monitaring right first ime, customer

- complaints, customer satisfaction

Board activities — page 70

5172 statement — pages 30to 32

Critical market factors that influence
performance - page 46

Awards and accreditations — pages 04 and 05
Market drivers - pages 20 and 21

Business model — pages 22 and 23

Customer satisfaction — page 26

Stakeholder engagement — pages 28 to 29
and 71 and 72

Environmental matters

— ESG Approach

FTSE4Good membership

1SC 13001 {Environmental Management
System) cerification

ESG reporting webisite

ESG Approach - pages 33 to 41

TCFD statément — pages 42 to 44

Carbon emisslons statement — page 44
Erwironment and waste recycling — page 36

Employees

Whistleblowing policy

Family Friendly policy

Safeguarding !

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

Approach to Labour Standards compliance
Launch of a socially responsible business
plan to attract and retain staff and go further
on our diversity and inclusion plans

2025 Strategy

Health and Safety

Red Thread Approach

RoSPA Order of Distinction

Improving Lives — pages 29 and 3810 39
Gender Pay Gap Report — page 38
Governance raport - page 71

Remuneration report — pages 82 to 97
Awards and accreditations - pages 04 and 05
Health & Safety — pages 38 and 39

Human rights

Modermn siavery and human trafficking
Preventing engagement of child labour
Whistleblowing policy

Family Friendly policy

— Modern Slavery Act— page 40
— ESG Governance — page 40

Anti-corruption
and bribery

Ant-Bribery & Corruption
Independent research Into ethical
procurement sponsored by Mears
Respansibie Business Charter

Govemance — page 71
Report of the Audit and Complance
Committees — pages 76 to 81

Social matters

ESG Approach

Social Value UK Certlficate Level 2
FTSE4AGOOd Index

Mears Scrutiny Board

ESG Board

Social Mobility Index

ESG Approach - pages 33to 41

Awards and accreditations — pages 04 and 05
Governance - page 71

Stakeholder engagement — pages 281to 29
and 71 and 72

Description of principal
risks and Impact of
business activity

Risk management —pages 46 to 49
Principal risks and uncertainties —
pages 50 to 54

= Business model ~ pages 22 and 23

Oescription of
bdusiness model

- Business model - page 22 ang 23

Nan-financial KPis

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategic Report — page 26 -

Corporate govarnance - page 64

Report of the Audit and

Compliance Committees —pages 76 1o 81
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Strategic Report

Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking an
appropriate level of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
Effective management of risks and opportunities is essentiai
to the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives, whiist
protecting our employees and other key stakeholders.

Risk management framework

Governance

Board

- Sets the tone on risk managerment culiure

~— Maintains sound and effective risk management and internal
Lontrol systems

— Defines risk appetie

Audit Committee {Non-Executive)

- Reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process
-— Approves risk management polictes and guidelines

Internal Audit

— Defines and monitass the risk management pracass and
mitigation tocls and eclibns

— Plans and execules assurence activities o ensure that there are
policies and procedures in place to support the effectiveness of
the Group's interrial control System

Compliance Committee ([Executive)

— Develops and oversees implemeniation of risk management
stralagies and makes recammendations to the Audit Commitiee
and senlor management

— Supports the Audit and Risk Committee In monitoring
sustainability risks

Business Unit and Central Functions

Rigk awareness embedded in day-l10-day operations

Risk idenification and assessment performed across business
operations on an everyday basis

— Irmplementation of risk mitigation programmes and operationat
maonitoring of intermal controis

46

— s responsible for principal risk Ideniification and ongoing
monitoring of the Company’s risk exposure 1o ensure that material
matters are managed in alignment with stiategic objectives

3rd line of defence

- Prepares teguiar risk and internal control reports for approval

by the Audit and Risk Committee and maintains the Risk
Assurance Map

— Perorms risk analysls on growth projects, detailing the specific
conditions and risks faced by a new project

2nd line of defence

~— Supports the Audit and Risk Committee in evaluating the Group's

risk profile and internal controls impltemented by management

- The Chair of the Compliance Comumittee presents 1o the Board

1wice a year, 1o provide a detailed update on the activities of
the Committee

1st line of defence

Mears Group PLC Annval Report and Accounts 2021




Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overali responsibiiity for
determining the nature and extent of risk

itis willing to accept within the agreed
strategy and ensuring that risks are managed
effactively across the Group. Risk is a regular
agenda item &l Board meelings and is clasely
aligned to strategy review. The Board also
reviews reports on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk management
and Internal control.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Commitee manitors the Group's
key risks identified by the risk assessmerit
processes and reports is findings to the
Board. It alsc has delegated responsibility for
reviewing in gdetail the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal control polickes and
procedures for the identification, assessment
and reporting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Our internal audit plan s devised by
understanding the sirategy. objectives angd

rlsk profiie of the Group and considering the
other forms of management and independent
assurance before agreeing what internal audit
waork Is required. This enables us 10 ensure that
our internal audit resources target the key
areas and It also enables us to be efficient by
not duplicating other assurance activitles,

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
outsourced provider of internal audit services.
KPMG assists the internal Group risk function

to set the internal audlt plan. This Is a dynamic
programme set on a 3-year time horizon snd
ensures certain Tisks and themes are priaritised
and appropriate resources and skills applied to
those areas.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has a very active
sub-committee, being the Compliance
Commitice. This reflects the significant focus
that the Group gives to dealing with health,
safety and environmental risks. The extent

10 which the full integration of hesglth, safety
and environmental risks is now embedded In
the govermnance structures of the Group is
highlighted by the members of the Compllance
Committee, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Direclar
and internal Health and Safety kegal adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL
RISK OWNERS

Mears has a structured risk management
framework operated at a business unit, function
and Group level. The senior management team

_reviews and identifies the key risks which may

impact upon the achlevemeant of the Group's
strategic goals and will consider how these risks
are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the regutatory emvironment.

The nature of the risk is reviewed, Including the
possible triggering events and the aggregated
impacts, before setiing appropriate mitigation
strategles directed &t the causes and
consequences of each risk, The risk is assessed
in relation 10 the likelihcod of occurrence end
the potential Impaci of the risk upon the
business, and assessed &gainst a matrix scoring
system which Is then used to escalate risks
within the Group as appropslate. The senior
management team has respansibility for
managing the Group's key risks.

The Group has a functional risk registar and
there Is a good understanding of the risks that
could impact the Group, and their severity.

The Group has & positive risk culture, with a
clear tone-at-the-top being set by the senlor
management team. The control environment is

underpinned by a detaited scheme of delegated

responsibifiies that defines processes and
procedures for the approval process in respect
of decision making. This ensures that decisions
within the organisatlon are made by the
appropriate level of management.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Three lines of defence
— assurance providers

Mears operates a ‘three knes of defence’
assurance model.

Gur first Hne of defence, our operational
managemant, have a respaonsibllity 1o
manage day-to-day risk In their own areas
guided by Group policles, proceduras and
control frameworks.

Our second line of defence Includes our
central support functions, which develop and
maintain the risk management framework
and engage with management o identify,
agree and upgate risk information on a
regular basis 10 review the effectiveness

of the mitigating actions and controls.

Our outsourced provider of internal audit
services provides our third line of defence,
providing independent assurance on
internal controls and risk management
processes. Further external assurance

is provided by our stawtory auditor, In
respect of the financial statements, and
other external specialists as required.
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Strategic Report
Risk management continued
Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for risk identification,
analysis, evaluation and mitigation rests with
the senior menagement team, This is also
responsible for reporting and monitoring key
risks in actordance with established processes
under the Group operational policies.

1dentililed risks are documented in tisk registers
showing: the risks that have been Identified;
characteristics of the risks; consequences of
the tisks; the basis for determining the
Milgaton stralegqy, anc what reviews and
monitoring are necessary. The persongs)
sccountable for assessing and monitoring

each risk is nated.

Wa continue to (rive [mprovarments in our risk
management process. We slso review our
business model, core markets and business
processes to ensure that we have ptoperty
Identified all risks. As part of this review,

Setting our internal
audit pricrities

48

Step §
Audit plan and approach
Develop an imemal

audit plan

Climate related risks are considered In both the
Group and Operational rigk registers, but theic
severity Is not considered 10 ba significant.
We continually review our mitigating actlons to
ensure thet they are sulficient to minimise our
residus! risk. Key financial end non-financial
risks idantiffied by the business from the risk
assessment processes are collgted and
eviewed by the Audit Commitiee and are
regularly reviewed to monitar the status and
progression of mitigation plans; the key risks
are reported to the Board on a regular basls,

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Basrd has camied out & robust assessment
of the principal rigks facing the Group, including
those that threaten the business mode!, suategy.
future performance, solvency and fiquidity.

Risks have been identified as ‘principal’ based
on the lixelihood of occurrence and the severity
of the impact on the Group.

The Group's principal tisks are identified on
the pages that follow, logether with how we
mitigate those risks, Eech principal risk is
considered in the context of how it relates

lo the achievement of the Group's strategic
abjectlves. The risk discussion Includes
assessment of gross risk and nef risk. Grass
risk veftects the exposure and risk landscape
betore cansidecing the mitigatians in place,
with net risk being the rasidual risk after
mitigations. The movement in gross sisk from
the prior year for each principal 1isk has been
assessed ang s presented onihe pages that
follow. Mitigations in place supporting the
management of the risk to 8 net risk posilian
are giso described for each prindpat risk.

Stap 1 Step 2
Strategic ptlonities Anslysis of rigk
Priovities: short/mediurn/ Top down/bottom up

lang term risk peofiting

Risk management Core controls
Refresh of principal risks. Core controls
mitigating actions, and Spot checks
assurance feview
Step 6 Scheme of Delagated
Resource and skills Fraud Risk register Authority (SODA)
|dentify and deploy team facditation

Specific risk areas
Sericus Incident rasponse
Branch spat visits including
business cantinuity and
sub-contractor management

tatarmation secutity

Step 4

PrOCESSRS

Other assurance
Consider other assurance

Step 3
Identifying priorities
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Principal Risk Heat Map: year end
The Group's risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based on their likelihood and i
Impact, Le. potential severity, This severlty can be measured using life and limb, financisl,

customer service, growth, regulatory compliance and reputational criteria. Therefore, Mears

measures more than simply the financial impact of the risk. These scores are used to escalaie 2
risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Likeiinood of occurrence
Unlikely Possible Likedy Almost certain

Rare

Insignificant

EMERGING RISKS

Minar Moderate Major

No. Risk

Failure 1o successfully deliver the Asylum

Seekers Contract from a commercial,

reputational, and aperational perspective.

Major breach of information or data security

Serious health and safety failura

4 Fallure In governance, control, processes,
systems and structure in the management-led
contracts

5 Fallure to recover operations in a disaster or
crisls {business continuity)

6 Political and market disrutions, for example

towards gutsourcing

Reduction |n the Group's abillty to attract and

4 4 retaln tatent

Serigus damage o or ioss of brand integrity

due to poor management of publicity and

[ external communications

Serious fallure to manage housing

9 9 [ & 8 Sub-contractors

10  Riskof perceived and actual discrimination

leading to reputational dsmage and financial

penaitles

10 10 -

Gross risk
Net risk

Severg
7 8 High

Medlum

Low

Read more in the Corporate
govemnance section

Read mora in the Report of the
Audit and Comgpliance Committees

Catastrophic
Severity of impact

In addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing
risk management processes. Emerging risks are events that present uncertainty. They may patentialy Impact us in
the longer term but there is currently insufficient information to understand and assess the likely scale or impact, or
for the senkor management team to set out an appropriate risk response. In some cases, emerging risks are
superseded by others, or cease to be relevant, as the eavironment in which we cperate changes and evolves.

The Boerd has considered the following areas and their risk to the Company:

Cowvid-19 aftershocks

The risk that the Graup fails to successfully recaver from the short-lerm impact of Covid-19. Areas of concern
are increased health and safety risks 10 the Group's staff and its service users, adapting 1o remote working,
and mental hesith and wellbeing.

Covid-19 has long-term implications for the Group that coukd result in financial losses and limitations on future
growth. Possible scenarios include a reduction in Govesnment spending, increased taxatlon, and potential
future claims from stalf and service users in relation to the medical condition Long Covid'.

£5G

ESG presents risks and opportunities for the Group. There is a risk that Mears daes not identify and manage
the risks assodciated with changes in environmentai legisiation relating to housing. transportation and
corporate reporting requikements. There is also & risk that the Group does nol maximise opportunities
presented by ESG refated changes In its business environment.

Legislauve changes

Read more

Changes to building and fire safety legistation that result In higher cost 10 comply with requirements and
increased scrutiny from regulators.

in the Carporate governance section and in the Repor of the Audit and Compliance Committees

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

Damage to Reputation

Damage 1o Reputation

Strategic priacitles

To be recognised as the most
trusted targe private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customer service In the
affgrdable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace lnnovation that
drives pasitive change such
as digitai end carbon reduction

To maknizaln and grow a resitent
busingss with long-term
partnerships, a strong balance
shest and cash pasition,

along with a commitied,
engsged workforce

Risk Level
O severe
@ High
" .
Ly Medium

{iiow

Change in year
@ lncrease In rigk expasure

@ Recdfuction in risk exposure

(:.3 No change in fisk exposure

RISK  Failure ta successfully

1 deliver the Asylum Seekers
Contract. Given the nature
of the contract, the failure
to manage the reputational
impact of an incident or
operational or commercial
issues remains 2 key risk,

oe

Strategic outcome

mSKk  Major breach of information

2 or data secyrity rasulting in
negative pyblicity leading to
loss of confidence in the
sactor or financial panalties.

XS

KPls associated with risk

- Works orders completet! on time %
{rnonthly)

- Right first ime % {maonthiy}

Cusiomer satisfaction (manthiy)

Complaims {monthiyj

Mitigations

-  Number of privacy complaints
«— Response time to data
subject requests

- Business As Usual risk register i
maintained for the asylum contract
which Is reported 10 Horna Office on
a monthiy basis ond acts 55 g basis
for questioning (o Mears

- Mabilisation, iransition snd defivery

planning led by senior team and close

attention from Group Executive

- Weekly Teams call including Chief
Executhve Cfficer ang Chief Financial
CHikcer (o ensure al senior leam
members are aligned

- Various projects around 1T system
set up, GDPR, HR relawad and training

= Information Security eam in place.
Meetings are attenced Ly Information
Security Group [SG) and information
A55€1 owners o 8 monthly bass
The asset ownears are hald responsitle
{for thek respective depariments’ actions

- Penetration tesling ks underiaker
by an external specialist company

~= Third party review and support for
traming in terms of GDPR requirements

-  Onsorme of e Group's most secsitive
comracts, the cient conducts audits that
review physic) access, security of hard
coples of flles and IT system secunty

- Compliance with ISO 27001
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Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Damage to Reputation

RISK  Failure to manage the

3 impact of & health and
safety incident leads to
reputational damage and
high financial penalties.

L JC)

Strategic outcome

RISK  Failure in governance,
4 control, processes,

systems, and structure in
the Registered Provider of
Social Housing key risk.

o0

RISK Fallure to recover
5 operations In a disaster or

crisis (business continuity).

L JS

KPls associated with risk

— Accident frequency rates
= Customer complaints
- Extellent service rating

Mitigations

Praperties with valid gas, electrical and
Legioneiia lest certificate {100% targel)
Properties wilh up-to-date asbestos
survey and fire risk assessment

{100% target}

Tenant satisfaction (manthty)

Custorner complaints

= The amount of time since each plan

was updated

- The Group's Health and Safety function

provides a second line of defence

and carrles out regular branch audils

— Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPIs with
business improvement records
issued to managers and action
completions are being tracked

- Accidents are reported within

24 hours. investigations are performed
far every case and recommendations

are provided where applicable
= Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality report submitted to

Compiiance Committee covering key

areas (sefety, health, environmental,

waste, quality, compliance. and trend

analysis on accident statistics)

Registered Providers have own Board
structure which inciudes five Non-
Executive Dlrectors and an independent
Chalr. Sub-Committee {Assurance and
Operations) meetings are held which
focus on key contract details

The RPs have been subject to audit by
the Regulator of Social Housing
Regular Committee meetings are
held on key areas: performance
updates, customer service
performance, compliance (gas,

fire, electrical and ashestos sk
assessments, and complaints update}

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021

== A crisis management policy is in place
== Business continuity planis in place for

each branch

51

LHOd3H HIDI1VHLS

IINVNUIAOCD ALYHOLJNOD

SINIWMILVLS TVIDONYNIA

NOIAVHYOINS H3GTOHIANYHS

Ay

h))

A\ Y




Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

KEY

Damage to Financial Viability

Ability to Resource

Strategic priarities
To be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest leveis
of customer service In the
alfordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace inngvstian that
drives positive change such
as digital and caroon reduction

To maintain and grow a
resikent business with
fong-term partnerships, a
strang bafance sheet and

cash posilion, along with a
committed, engaged workforce

RISK Palitical and market
6 disruptions, for example
towards outsourcing,

® O

Strategic ouicome

RISk Reduction in the

7 Group's abllity to
attract and retain talent.

Risk levei

O severe
@ Hish

'Y :l Medium

L

g Low

KPis assoclated with risk

Change in year
@ Incrgase In risk exposyre

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure

52

— % of surveyad clients and poiiticlans
who regard Mears &s highly
responsible (annual)

— % of overaf media coverage thal
is positive {monthly)

Mitigations

Staft turmaver (moathly)

Sociel value per emplioyee (annual)
Salf-deltvery % {monthly)

% of apprentices completing their
course and obtaining work {annual)
Great Place to Work score {annuaf)

% of the grade 5+ workforce who are
women {annual)

1111

~ There is reguiar Board level monitoring
of the political cimate

- Reguler one-to-one meetings between
CEO and Members of Parliament 1o
Improve mutuai understanding

«~ The business is diversified (o become
a registered provider of social housing

« Close working relationships are
developed with Local Government
organisations

— A Woridorce Strategy Group consisting
of senior employees 5 in operation, 1o
address key mattefs assoclated with the
remit of data analysis action planning
and Implementation monitoring

- Rigorous process ensures that afl
annua! appraisals above grade 5
{mid-management) are reviewed
tyy Senior management team

- Mears Learning is an internal raining
department used 10 implement
Learning and Development strategy

-~ Therels an Executive backed
culture of retaining and develcping
the Group's talent
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Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation

Damage toc Reputation
and Financial Viability

RISK ' Serious damage to or
8 loss of brand integrity due

to poor management of
publicity and external
communications,

P 2aky
1 1
L)

Strategic cutcome

RISk Serious faifure to manage
9 housing sub-contractors.

RiSK  Risk of perceived and actual
1 0 discrimination teading to

reputational damage and
financial penalties.

KPis associated with risk

% of surveyed clients and politicians
who regard Mears as highly
responsible {annual)

% of overall media coverage that

is positive (monthly}

Customer satisfaction (monthiy)
Complaints (monthly}

Mitigations

Self-delivery % (monthly)

i1

{monthty}
— Right first time % {monthly)
Customer satisfaction {(monthly}
- Complaints ([monthty) '

Works orders completed on time %

% of apprentices completing their
course and obtaining work {annual)
% of the grade S5+ workforce who are
women {annual)

Engagement of external public
relations advisory

All staff are required to follow the sociat
media policy

TFhere & a dedicated Group Head of
Communications

Whisileblowing policy and procedures
in place (for some potentlal adverse
publicity events)

Staff are given clear girections as to
how to deal with a press enquiry

— A criticel control point [CCP) has been

develoned which partly focuseson
Branch compliance with the Group's
sub-contractor processes

— Priotf to sub-contractor engagement,
rigorous lrerview process covering

health and safety and insurance

— Mears Contract Menagement (MCM}
holds key sub-contractor Information

and documentation
Payment controls

performance reviews of accident
statistics)
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Post inspection checks and monthly

Social Value Board with external
Board members

Workforce Strategy Group, consisting
of senior employees, addresses key
matters associated with the remit of
data analysis, action planning and
implementation monitoring
Invesiment in singte HR database
(Workday) which allows for improved
analysis,

Gender pay gap is considered as part
of the people pian

Remuneration Committee provides
govemance at executive kevel
Tradeswomen into mairtenance and
social mobility initiatives in operation
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Strategic Repoft

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

‘Smartphone’
initiative for
Rotherham’s
asylum seekers

54

._.fu_oc-.n..n_a!inne.i-:,.)mmmm#
s d with the Mears

“These 2 displaced peaple and TsmBias.
with the saime nesds for ematianal 4upport

10 W Asylum seekers temporsily housed
N Rotherham to cammumcate with thei
Tamiles and support graups.

The fwo nrganisations funded the purchase
of move than 800 smariphonet in &n
inlilative: that recognises the soct and
sinotionsl nedds for connectivity of 8 group
1hat hes In MOSI Cakes mxpeienced extreme
Rardship dusing R journey 1 the UK.

A Bry onia lime, 3rounz 600 Fropie.
ncluding Individusis and femily graups, ane

and thal we afl have. I's a

" jolned-un world st sManphones give

them aceess io information and imporant
Tamily and socie] support,” he addad.

The charlty and ib# Rotherham
headquanered enginesring com pary
aré [0y firancmg the Infiative 10 buy
& stock of detlry loved but fully funclional
smariphongs that arg capabie ot imiemet
CONNELHON AN SLRport vidwo caling.

Thic i5 i 20dHion 10 e Supporl provides by

inhotel of plher \
0 Rothachacn whila $hair stylm claimes se
processed. The swylum saekars came fiom
various pért of the world, inchuding s

I

Ar h food and
!-Fﬂu-onaqclzﬂ:ngsn!

Maart is 8 provider of housing to ssytum
saekats in Yorkshire. The Mears Foundation
Is & e for prorfit chadeble foundation
WIKCE JUDPOtS the COMMUNTIRS whern
Maars warks.

AESSEAL MD Chwis Rea sald the company
heard about the asylum seekirs and
wanDkd (0 heip easurs thal, whinever

he cutcame of their casa to remaia i he
U, thay retaingd positive memariss of
Fotherharn and its peaphe.
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tha UK w0 thase who arve i the
UK seeking ssylum on 8 v ety of grownds.

Hasthar Tyres, General Mansger of the

Wiy fo communcate for 2eylum seehers.
When pacpie arive in the UK, ofte fleeing
pérseCution, Iving in a naw Comimnity Must
oM dauning. We hope that by providing a
Sk for therm 10 be Able 1o speak 1o (elakvs
2 10 find oul Sbowt thie i local ared,
‘this will feelty them 10 S81L 0 FR2 i it K.



Financial review

_ . Thissection provides further key information in respect of the financial - -

performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer’s review,

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM)

The Strategic Report includes both statutory and adjusted performance measures, the latter of which are considered to be useful to stakehaiders in
projecting a basis for measuring the underlying performance of the business and exclude items which could distort the understanding of performance
in the year snd between periods, and when comparing the finandial outputs lo those of our peers. The APMs have been set considering the requirements
and views of the Group's investors and debt funders among other stakeholders. The APMs and KPIs are aligned to the Group's sirategy and also
form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.

These APMs shoukd not be considered to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, and the Board has endeavoured to report both statutory
and alternative measures with equal prominence throughout the Strategic Report and financial statements.

The APMSs used by the Group are detaller! helow with an explanation as lu why management considers the APM to be useful in helping users to have a
petter understanding as o the Group's underlying performance. A reconciiation Is also provided to map each non-IFRS measure to s IFRS equivalent.

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the smortisation of acquisition intangibles and before other normalisation adjustments which
management belleves are infrequent in nature and are considered not to be part of underlying trading. The normalised results are further adjusted
to reflect a 19% corporation tax charge. The Directors believe this aids consistency when comparing to historical results and provides less incentive
for the Group to participate i schemes where the primary intention is to reduce the tax charge.

A reconclliation between the statutory prafit measures and the rormaised result for both 2021 and 2020 is detailed below. -

In addition, the Group also provides an APM which reports resulis before the impact of lease accounting under IFRS 16. Management has provided
this alternative measure at the request of a number of shareholders and market analysts to allow those stakeholders to property assess the results of
the Group over-time. In parlicular, the Directors use the pre-IFRS 16 measure to generate the Group's headline aperating margin; whilst this generates
a lower operating margin, it reflects how the underying contracts have been tendered and is also more aligned to cash generation. In addition, the
Group's banking covenants utllise adjusted profit measurements which are reported before IFRS 16 and stakeholders require better visibillty of the
Group's adjusted profit for that purpase.

GContinuing activities* 201 2020
Note £000 £°000
Profifloss) before tax Statutory 16,333 {15218}
Amortisation of scquired intangibles Note 13 7654 9526
Nen-underlying items See below 1,627 2,279
Profithoss before non-underlying items, amortisation of acquired Intangible and tax APM 25,614 {(3.413)
Remaoval of IFRS 16 profit impact See below 2876 ms8
Finance costs {non-IFRS 16) Nate S 1148 2,875
Operating profit pre-IFRS-16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intanglbles APM 29,638 580
Amortisation of software intangibles Note 13 2)23 2211
Depreciation and loss on disposal {non-IFRS 16)! Note 14 5,884 5,677
EBITDA pre-IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 37644 8,468
IFRS 16 profit impact See below {2.876) (na)
Finance costs (IFRS 16) Note 5 6921 7323
Depreciation and loss on disposal (IFRS 16) Note 15 43,386 42,242
EBITDA pest-IFRS-16 hefore non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 85,075 56,715
Amortisation of software intangibles Note 13 2123 {2,21)
Depreciation end loss on disposal (IFRS 167 Note 15 (43,386) (42,242
Depraclation and loss on disposat (non-IFRS 16} Note ¥4 (5.884) (5.677)
Operating profit post IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items - APM 33683 6,585

1. Qperating profitioss) and EBITDA measures inchude shore of profits of associates.
2. Includes profit on disposal of £27.000 (2020: £268,000).
3. Includes lossAprofit) on disposal of £268,000 (2020:{€3.000)).
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

The profit impact in respect of IFRS 16 s delalied below:

202 2020
£000 £'0c0

Charge 1o Income statemeant on a post-IFRS 16 basis {S0.307 (49.365)
Charge lo income statement on a pre-IFRS 16 basis 47430 (48247
Profit impact fram the adaption of IFRS 16 {2,876) (1918}

Non underlying items

Non-underlying ltems are tems which are considerad outside normal operations. They are material io the resulis of the Group through either thelr
size or nature. These items have been disclosed separately in the adiusted resull stiove lo provide a belter understanding as to the underlying
performarice of the Group.

01 020

£'000 £030

Repayment or waiver of furtough entitiement 1627 -
Impairmem of assels in the course of constryction - L5800
Restnscture costs - 79
1,647 2,279

The Directors elected to voluntarity repay 1o HMRC amounts previoissty recelved of £1,1m and, in addition, 1o not submit a claim for 8 further amount of
£0.5m aceruing during 2021 under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (furtough'). During the first lockdown, the furlough scheme was esseatial
in safeguarding the financial statiiity of the Group and protecting empioyment. However, the Directors beiieve that the strong recovery of the
business in 2021, augmentad by the disposal of Terraquest, means that to cantinue to claim furkaugh is o langer necessary and is not within the spirit
of the legiskation. A number of Mears’ clents Jooked 1o the Group & continue 1o utiise the fulough scheme, and much of that cost reduciion passed
to those clients as part of the open book reconciliation, leaving Mears Group PLC 10 subsidise this voluntary repayment.

The Direclors believe that the repayment of turlough should be disclosed within non-underlying items; this voluntary repayment is not a trading item
and by its nature is urigue and non-recurring. The size of this item is considered material and the Directors believe It would distort the readers’
ungerstanding of the Ananclal resuits of the Group.

Af furigugh received during 2020 was recognised within the income statesent in Normat trading. Matched against the associated cost, and no
repayment is intendead In respect of that earlier period.

In the prior perlod, the Group Incurred restructuring costs of £0,8m, which were disciosed as non-underlying and excluded from the adjusted operating
profit 1o the extent they arose from initiatives which were significant in scope and Impact hut would not form part of recuming operational activities in the
future, In addition, during that same period, the Group recognised 8 £1.5m krpairment on an asset in the course of construction being the diffarence
between the total cost including an estimata of the costs to complete} and the fak value ofthe asset The impairment charge applied against this assat
was considered exceptional given its sizé and due o it relaling to an activity which is not part of the continuing activities of the Group,

Earanings per share (EPS)
For the purposes of assessing the Group's compliance with Its banking covenants, the Group uiises an agjusted measure bases on EBITDA before
the Impact of IFRS 16 and before non-underlylng items which are termed as ‘exceptional tems’ within the Group's bank fachity agreement.

A reconcifiation between the stawutory measute for profit (loss) for the year attributabile to sharehoiders before and after adjustments for both baslc
and dituted EFS is:

Biluted {(continuing

Diyted {continuing) Dituted {oiscominuged) angd discontinued)
2021 2020 200 2020 2021 2020
] ] [ P P P
Eatnings per share N30 MOEB) 059 5087 249 40N
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 677 862 - - 677 862
Effect of 1l tax charge adjustment 021y ey 032) =267 53 {160}
Effect of non-undertying items 117 1.67 - (3873 177 [37.06)
Normalised egrnings per share 18.23 {2.29 067 246 18.90 017
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Continuing and

Continuing Discominuect discontinued
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £000 £°000 £000 £'000
Profitfloss) altributable to sharehoiders 12,996 m7sn 1122 56,242 1418 44,461
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 7654 9,525 - - 7655 9525
Full tax adjustment {1,365) {2125} (36}  {10,696) (1726) (12,821
Exceptional Costs 1,318 1846 - (42,823) 1318 (40,977
Normalised earnings 20603 (2.535) 761 2,723 21365 188

Net cash/{debl)

The Group excludes the financial Impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debt measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been Introduced to atign
the net borrowing definition to the Group's banking covenents, which are required to be stated before the impact of IFRS 16. The Group ulllises leases
as parL of its day-to-day business providing around 10,000 residential properties to vuinerable service users and key workers. A significant proportion
of these leases have break provisions and (he lease terms are aligned to the Group's customer cantracts to mitigate risk. The Group does not
recognise these lease obligations as traditional debt instruments given the Group’s ability ic break these leases and in 50 doing cancel the
associated lease obligation. A reconciliation between the reported net cashAdebt) and the adjusted measure is detailed below:

20 2020

Note £000 £'000

Cash and cash equivalents 54,632 96,220

Amortisation of ecquired intangibles - (39,353}

Adjusted net cashAdebt) APM 54,632 56,867

Lease liabilities (current) Note 20 {41.600) (42,888)

Lease liabililies (non-current) Note 20 {175,290) 166183}

Total Statutory {162.258) {152,204)

Less: lease obligations (iIFRS 16} above 216,890 208,07

Adjusted net cashAdebt} 54,632 56,867
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Amortisation charge 7,654 9,525

A charge for amortisation of acquisition intangibles arose in the year of £2.7m (2020 £3.5m), This charge predominantly relates to the MPS acquisition
in 2018, resulting in intengible assets being identified associate with to the order book and customer relationships. This MPS intangible has now been
fully written off, The Directors estimate thay, i the absence of further acquisitions, the amortisation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.3m per
annum. As detailed sbove, the Group adjusts for this charge within the Group's alternative profit measure, This amortisation charge 15 very materiaf in
size snd can vary significantly based upon the Direclors’ assessment of useful economic fife. The Group's shareholders and market analysts typicatly
add back this item in their analysis and the Group's alternative performance measure Is aligned to thet. Management believes that reporting profit
figures that exciudes this item can heip the reader to better understand the underlying perfarmance of the business, without any distortion as a resutt
of this charga.

DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

As detailed within last year's Annual Report, in December 2020, the Group completed a disposal of its entire share capital In its Planning Solutlons
business (‘Terraquest") for a headline enterprise value of £72m. The consideration payable Lo the Company pursuant to the terms of the Disposal
Agreement was structured as follows:

— £56.9m payable in cash 3t Completion

w The issue by the Buyes to the Company of Consideration Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal value of £3.16m, accruing an interest rate
of 10% per annum payable on redemption

~— The issue by the Buyer to the Company of £0.06m of Ordinary Shares in the Buyaer, representing 6.16% of the entire issued share capital

A maximum amount of £10m of deferred consideration payable in cash conditional upon the Terraquest Group achleving an aggregate

EBITDA of £9.5m In the finandial year ended on 31 December 2021. A minimum consideration of £5m was guaranteed.

1

The Directors are pleased that the Terraquest business, under new ownership, has performed well. The Directors have been notified by the tuyer
{Apse Capitai) that the acquired business delivered an EBITDA of circa £8.5m in 2021, being the eam-out period. The legal agreement allows Mears
time to review the basis of this result and a mechanism for resolution if there is any disagreement. Based on the draft assessment of the Terraguest
result for 2022, deferred consideration has been falr valued at £6.5m, being an Increase of £1.1m. This additionat profit has been recognised within
discontinued activitles. The deferred consideration Is payable in April 2022,
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Property, plant and equipment (PPAE) is stated at historicat cost of £57.3m (2020: £64.6m) less accumulated depreciation of £36.6m (2020: £41.0m),
ghving a net carrying vakue of £20.7m{2020: €23.6m). Mears historically has a track record of delivering organic growth In the core Housing
activities with a low requirement for capital expenditure, When the Group secures a new contract, the Group willtypically open an office in that
iocality delivering services to this single client; whilst Meats will typically lease the slte office, improvements are often required to ensure that the
property is set up to defver the required services, and IT infrastructure and equipment is also required, and &l this spend is typically capitatised.
Leasing properties for réntal 1o tenants is a core business activity for Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds around 10,000 residential property
leases and a further 3,500 office property and vehicle leases. Broadly speaking, & lease should be accounted for under IFRS 16 only if Mears has
the right to direct its use, which, through its decision making rights, can affect the economic benefit derived from that asset. Around cne-half of
the Group's residential leases meet the criteria for racognition on the balance sheet. Those that do not meet the criteria are typically due to them
being short term In nature, often driven by the existence of a two-way break clause (a practical expedient offered under IFRS 16 allows those
leases willy a lean ulless than 12 inonths o be expensed).

IFRS 16 focuses upon a ‘right of use asset, and o complete the book-keeping, recognises a corresponding lease obligation. The lease obligation

Is not entirely consistent with the historical definition of a llabillty; accordingly, the lease obligation is not a typical debt Instrument as Mears can

terminale a significant proportion of its leases giving 30 days notice, with ne more than an insignificant penalty.

Working capital balances Include trade recelvables, trade payables and inventorles; further explanation is provided within the werking capital

management section that follows.

The Group participstes in wwo principal Group pension schemes (2020: two) togethar with a further 21 (2020: 20) individual defined benefit

schemes where the Group has received Admilted Body status in a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

= Pension assets of £37.7m (2020: £71m) which relate to the two Group pension schemes, The significant Increase [n the surplus is driven by
the increase in the discount rate assumption, which reduces the carrying value of the pension cbligations. Positively, the focus of the penston
trustees is 10 reach @ position In the madium term where both these schemes become self-sufficient.

= Pension obligations of £17.0m (2020: £45.7m) which predominantly relate to the Group's LGPS pension arrangements. The significant reduction
In this obligation is driven by increasing discount rates. Whilst pensions Lyplcally have long-term time horizons, the risks carrled by the Group
associated with the LGRS obligations maich the time horizon of the underlying contract which, whilst not removing all risks, does reduce the
period over which a deficit can arise.

- The exposure 10 the Group in respact of its LGPS obligations ts reduced where the Group enjoys back-to-back indemnitles with its {.ocal
Authority and Housing Association cllents. These indemnities are classed as Guarantee assels, absorbing £13.0m of pension obligations
(2020: £30.7m). Therefore, in respect of its LGPS pension schemes, the net exposwe is £4.0m (2020: £15.0m} being the pension obligation
less the Guarantee asset. In addition, 8 number of LGPS schemas are reporting surpluses amounting to £37.7m {2020: £11.1m] which the
Directors believe would rot be prudent to recagnise as assels, but which do provide additional headioom against future deficit.

The pension disclosure is spiit on the face of the balance sheet between non-current assets and non-current liabikties. in addition, the pension

guarantee assels are reporied separately from their associated liabliities. Where LGPS arrangements are reporting sumiuses, these are not

recagnised as assets.

Receivables relate 10 the disposal of Terraquest and comprise deferred consideration of £6.5m and loan notes of £3.5m as getailed within the

discontinued acthities section above.

Other payables include provisions relating to the Group’s insurance risks and a small number of onerous contractual provisions which arise when

the unavoidable costs of meeting contractual obligations exceed the remuneration expected to be received.
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

CASH FLOW AND WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has delivered excellent pperating cash flows over recent years with sirong underlying EBITDA 10 operating Cash conversion.

As highlighted in |ast year's report, and notwithstanding the strong underlying performance In the prior year, the Group did benefit from a number of
Covid-19 related cash inflows which would unwind during 2021, notably the VAT deferral which increased the aperating cash flows in 2020 by circa
£16m and which was subsequently settled and is reported as an outfiow In 2021, Given the unique circumstances brought by the pandemic, the
Directors believe that taking a compined result for the 2 year period provides stakehoiders a better measuwse for assessing the underlying cash
performance of the business. The EBITDA 1o operating cash conversion for this 2 year period, 85 detalled below, was 118%.

Mears has atways fostered a strong ‘cash culure’, whereby the Group's front-line operations understand that involcing and cash collection are
intrinsically linked, and that a works order is not complete untll the monies are banked. This culture has underpinned strong cash performance over
many years. The reported cash cohversion has been enhanced further as the working capital absorbed within the Group’s Development activities,
which have been in run-off phase for the past 2 years, has siarted 10 be released. The working capital absarbed in the Development activities
reduced to around £12m st 31 December 2021 {2020: circa £29m), a reduction by circa £97m over tha last 2 years.

2021 2020 20212020

£'000 £'000 £'000

(LossMprofit before tax 16,333 {15,218} . ins
Net finance costs 8,069 9,998 18,066
Amortisation of scquisition Intangibles 7654 9,525 17180
Depreciation and amortisation 51,392 51630 103,022
ERITDA 83448 55.935 139383
Other adjusiments ' 0213 1608 395
Change in inventories 12,944 4787 17773
Change in operating receivables (2,244) 18.475 6,23
Chenge in oparating payables (32,573) 22418 (10455
QOperating cash flow 60362 103323 163,585
EBITDA to operating cash conversion 72% 185% 7%

The Group reported an adjustad et cash position at the yeer end of £54.6m (2020: £56.9m). The small reduction predominantly reflects the unwind
of the VAT deferrai, which cancelled out the free cash flow generated in the pericd. Whilst it is pleasing 1o report a strang cash position within the year
end balance shest, of much greater significance is the performance over the 365-day period. Positively, the strong year end performance is also
mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year a1 £0.4m (2020: adjusted net debt £97.3m).

2021 2020

£000 £'000
Average daily adjusted net cash/{debt) 400 {97.300)
Adjusted net cashAdebt} at 31 December 54,632 56,867

The average month end trade récaivable and trade payabie balance split by Housing category reflects strong working capital management during
the period and is detailed below:

2021 2020

Receivables Payables Net working capital Racelvables Payables Networking capital

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Meintenance-led 20 (123.5) 125 1385 1257 128
Management-led 179 [egh: ) {138 324 {255} 6.9
Davesopment 216 B8 78 310 8.0} 250
|5 (1659 16.5 2019 1572) 447

The core activities of Maintenance and Management have historicsily absorbed a relativaly low tevel of warking capital when compared to the size
of the business and the profit generated. This low working capital intensity remains the case and 1s reflected in the sverage month end balances
detailed above. The working capital absorbed within Management-ted activittes beneflited fram payments received o account sveraging araund
215.0m gver the year; however, @ven if exciuding this temporary benefit, the adjusted measure would reflect sirong performance.

The Development postfollo had a strong sell-through in the pericd totafiing €25 6m of revenues. The working capital absorbed within the
Development activity has seen a reduction reflecting excellent pragress in unfocking the cash that has been absorbed in this legacy pact of the
business. The working capital balynce absorbed In Development as at 31 December 2021 was circa £12.0m. Management continues o expect io
complete the remaining unwind of the working capital absorbed In this area over the course of the next 12 months.
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Banking and finsncial covenants

The Group has a simple approach 10 its debt funding arrangements, holding a single revolving credit facility (RCF) which provides a totat commitment,
but allows the Group to draw down Monles as required, mirroring an overdraft facility. Following the significant reduction in debt levels, the Directors
completed & refinancing, reducing the total commitment to £70m.

The Board I3 grateful for the tremendays support that has been provided to the Group by its banking partners; Barclays and HSBC have provided
support to the Group for many years and made additional funds available at a time of extreme uncertainty, as the UK entered the first national
lagldown. It ic pleasing to refinance at levals which are considaerably lowor, whiltt rotaining cignificant headreom. The refinance also saw it Bank
enter the banking srrangernent, and the Mears team |ooks forward to extending this new relationship.

The financial covenants included within the RCF, which are tested twice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, are detalled betow:

Covenant Formulae Covenam ratio
Leverage Consolidated net borrawing divided by Adjusted consolidated ERITDA® 3.00x
Interest cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDA® divided by Consolidated net finance charges™ 3.50x

*  Ad|usted EBITDA on a rofling 12-month basls, pre-IFRS 16, and steed belfore non-underlying items and share-based payments.
*  Netfinante charges comprise al Commission, fees and other finance charges payatle In respect of Ainancisl indebtedness, This excludes income/Casts relating
ta Group pension arrangements.

The margin applied 1o draw-downs under the RCF increases Is determined by the Group's leverage ratio at each guarter end, as deiailed below.
This margin Is payable In additian 1o the Sierling Ovemight Index Average (SONIA) being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Sterfing markets.
Given the strong cash performance In 2021, the Board's expeciation would be for the margin (0 stay at the bottom end of the raichet throughout 2022.

Leverage ratlp Margin % p.».
Greater than or equal to 2.50x 275
Less than 2.50x 250
Less than 2.00x 2.25
Less than 1.50x 200
Less than 1.00x 175
Andrew Smith

Chief Financial Officer

31 March 2022
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Strategic Report

Financial viability review

This viablilty review Is being completed
following a perlod of almost 2 years that has
seen the unprecedented event of a worldwide
pandemic. The Covid-19 outbresk brought
significant short-term chalienges, The Group
adapted quickly to deliver services (n a secure
and safe erironment o protect both our
employees and service users. Whilst the
Group adapted guickly to find the new ways of
waorking, the alternative meathods of working
reduced productivity and brought incremental
cosls such as PPE. However, the Board takes
significant comfort from the fazt that during this
period, where the Group wes required (o react
10 an evenl thal was more severe than any
scenario thal was previously considerad, the
Group dellvered services safely, malmained
high levels of customer satisfaction and
improved employee engagemant, whitst trom
a financial perspective detivered both a profit
and impraved liquidity, Whilst this viability
review looks to the future, the recent
performance of the business In the most
challenging of circumstances provides the
Board additional confidence 85 1o the
resilience of the Group.

in accardance with circa 2.2 of The UK
Corporate Governance Code 204, the
Directors ave required 1o assess the viabiiity of
the Group over a 5-year period. A period of 5
years has bean chosen as it reflects the
sverage contract length, being a blend of an
average contract length of 5 years excluding
exiension options. Whilst the Group hokds
contracts which extend beyond this time
horizon, a perod of greater than B years

was considered toa iong, given the inherent
uncertainties involved.

The Board consiclered its key risks. The
principat risks are sat out on pages 50 (o 54
and are those whith are considered lo thrasten
the Group's lullire perfarmance, solvency

and liquidity. Risks are identified as ‘principal’
based on the likelihood of accurrence and

the severity of the impaci on the Group,

A financlal mode! has been bullt on & contract-
by-contract basls for the next 12 months ang
extended for the following 4 years. The S-year
plan consliders cash flows as well as financial
covenants. The forecast for 2022 Is based
upan revenues generated from axisting
customer relationships, and a business thatis
generating contraci margins that are In line
with recent run-rates. The forecast for 2022
assumes a mpdes! level of new customer
fevenues secured from the current bid pipeline,
but with no further growth anticipated beyond
this first year.
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The base case made! forecasts a result for
2026, being yaar 5 of the model, with revenues
and profit before tax (PBT) of £741.2m and
£29.3m respectively, and an sverage netcash at
the end of that periad of £66.6m. The financial
model exchudes the Group secuting wark with
new customers beyond the first 12 months and
reflects some revenue reduction from existing
clients, where iLis expected that there will be no
further opportunity upon expiry of the cufrent
contract. The base casa model could be
considared to be conservative.

Sensitivity analysis was undertaken 1o siress
test the reslliance of the Group and its business
maodei to the potential Impact of the Group's
principal risks, or a combination of thase risks.
A dovmnside case was prepared by management
to fllustrate the impact of adverse changes In
key variabies of the base case forecast and
projections. The downside casels intended 1o
NMusirate s reasonable worst-case scenario
which could affect solvency o liquidity in
'severe but plausible’ scenarios.

The Directors have consldered five scenarios:

— A grolonged impact of Covid-19 upon
Mainlenance-led activitles

— Significant deterioration in Group's bidding
SUCCESS On CONrAct re-bids

— A performance failuré on a major contract

— Sigrificam deterioration in working capital
management

— A combination of all of the above scenarics

The following sensitivitles have been applied
ta each downside case:

SCENARIOQ 1, COVID~19 IMPACT UPON
MAINTENANCE-LED ACTIVITIES

The Covid-18 ressonable warst-case
assumptions assume 8 fourth UK naticns)
lockdown in the 3-month period between
October and December 2022, with irading
Intine with that experianced between Aprll
and June 2020, but without the benefil of

the UK Governmem’s Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme or other simllsr

Q2-23: A 5% reduction in revenue in April
and May 2023 with a return to the base case
in june 2023,

Key financial output, Scenario 1

— A reduction In revefive, PBT and net cash
In 2022 to £769.3m [base case: £823.0m),
€17.1m (pase case: £28.0m) and £25.7m
(base cese: £27.5m) respectively, The
size of the revenue and profit shortfall
reduces in 2023, reflecting the easing
of \rading restrictions.

SCENARIO 2. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORAYION IN GROUP'S BIDDING
SUCCESS ON CONTRACT RE-BIDS
This downside scenario assumes a negative
outcome in respect of Housing maintenance
contract renewals. Given the average contract
length of cinca 5 years. several key cantracts
will come up for renewal over the viabiliity
review period. The Group has a good track
record of securing work on re-bid, However,
for the purposes of this viability review,
managament has assumed a significan
deterioration in the Groun's performance in
this area, possibly folowing a significant event
which has impacted negattvely on the Graup's
reputation in the sector. The Group has
modelled 8 downside scenario where it fails
10 re~secure any matesial conrBets that come
up for re-bid during the period 2022 1o 2028.
The impact upon revenue of this assumption
i detailed below:

Annugl velue  Expiry
Contract £m date
Contract A £16m 2022
Contrac1 B £12m 2022
Contract C £42m 2023
Contract D £1m 2023
Caontract E €20m 2023
Contract F £24m 2024
Contract G £12m 2024
ContractH £42m 2024
Total annual
value In 2025 £179m

Following this dechine, 1his scenario assumes
that this period is followed by a phased
recovery in trading, as the restrictions are
gradually relaxed. Notably:

Q4-22: A 45% reduction in Maimenance-led
revenue compared 1o the base case, reflecting
a further UK lockdown of equal severity 10 that
experienced In Q2 2020,

-23: An 18% reduction in Maintenance
revenue, mirraring levels reported in Q3 2020,
reflecting customers’ desire lo deliver some
high priority services but equally to defer any
spending which could in the short term be
considered discretionary.

Key financlal cutput, Scenario 2

- Revenue reducing from £823.0min 2022
10 %555.9m in 2026, together with an
associated reduction in PBT from £28.0m
in 2022 to £17.3m in 2028,
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SCENARIO 3. PERFORMANCE FAILURE
OF A MAJOR CONTRACT

The Directors have modelled a performance
failure in 2023 resulting in higher costs of
delivery with no recovery from the customer.
In arder 1o illustrate a worst-case scenario, the
Directors have considered a performance
failure on the Asylum contract, being the
Group's largest single contract, which is
expected to account for around 15% of Group
revenues. This failure is assumed to be driven
by a shortage of residentiat housing units,
resulting in & significant increase in cccupants
being placed in hotel accommodation for an
extended period. This sensitivily assumes that
1his performance fallure begins in April 2023
with 1,000 service users belng accommaodated
in hotels over a perlod of 12 months,

Key financial output, Scenatlo 3

- Areduction In PBT in 2023 to £21.4m
{base case of £30.2m}. The net cash
balance at 31 December 2023 also reflects
this profit reduction, reducing to £33.2m
(base case £40.2m).

SCENARIO 4, SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN WORKING
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This scanarky assumes a significant
deterioration in the cash colleclion
measurements, being an increase in the time
period batween the completion of works and
the receipt of cash from the Group's clients
{which follows a precess where works are
valued and involced by the Group before being
approved and settied by clients). The Group
has made significant investment In its
operational systems which are key o ensuring
that the work delivered is identified and
invoiced corractly. The Group has an excedent
track record in managing the working capital
absorbed, This scenario modelied a permanent
deterioration in respect of the maintenance
contract asset collection perlod, increasing
from 60 to 70 days. Whilst a scenario where the
Group experiences a permanent detericration
in working capital is consldered particularty
pessimistic, such a scenario is helpful to the
Directors to further stress test the viability
review when taking a combination of
downside scenarlos.

Key financial output, Scenario 4

- A reduction in the net cash balance at each
financial year end, reducing 10 £42.9min
2026 (base case £66.6m).

SCENARIO 5. A COMBINATION OF ALL SCENARIOS 1TO 4.
The Directors modelied the impact from the occurrence of all downside scenarios occLmng -
concurrently. The key financial cutputs from this combination are detailed below:

Scenario § 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Revenue £m 769.3 6325 5725 5559 655.9
PBT £m " 2.3 15.2 7.3 73
Net cashfdebt) £m 13.5 {2.6) {5.9) (0.0} {14.9)

No mitigating actions were included within any
scensro, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions
aveilable to manegement Include a reduction
in discretionary capital expenditure, dividend
policy and robust working capitel management
around covenant test dates. In addition,
upsides hat are available to the base case
include generating an Improved margin ata
jocal contract levet over and above the current
run-rate and securing new contract awards.

In addition to the five scenarios, the Board tested
the sensitivity of the business lo increasing the
severity of the assumptions detalled in each case,
¢ measure the tigger points at which the viability
of the Group, in the absence of further
mitigations, could be impacted.

— Scenario1indicates that in the event of
a national lockdown of similar severity to
that experienced in Q2 2020, and In the
absence of any Government rellef such as
the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme,
each trading month reports a profit
reduction of circa £3.5m. Whilst the Group
woutd continue to retain strong liquldity,
the Group's interest cover covenant is
breached In the event that the Group's
pre-IFRS 16 EBITDA is negative.

- Scenario 2 assumes that all revenue is fost
on re-bld and inisolation this wouid not
impact on the viability of the business.
Were the Group 10 5ee existing contracts
terminated before their time, this could
impact upon covenants and funding levels,
and could inevitably iImpact upon viabllity.

— Scenario 3 assumes a contract faiture for
a period of 12 months, reducing Group
profits by £1.0m per month over that
pericd. In the event that a contract failure
of a similar severily extended over g longer
period, the Directors do not believe such
an event would Impact upon the viability of
the Group In isoiation but could impact
upon scivency and liquidity to the extent
that this more negative outcome combined
with other negative events.

— Scenario 4 shows a change in net cashy/
(debt) by circa £18m for a change of
10 days in the contract asset collection
periad. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facllities,
itis not considered plausible that the
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callection period could deteriorate 1o
SUCh an extent as to result In exceeding
the available banking facilities.

The viability review also considered the
increasing risk that fines can be levied upon
companies for non-compliance In areas such
as health and safety and data protection.
Fines are discretionary based on the nature,
gravity and culpabllity of the company but
fines are appiled based upon a percentage
of Group revenue. In a low margin business
such as Mears, any single fine could have a
stgnificant and proportionate impact upon
retained profits. Whilkst such an event could
be damaging. it would not be expected lo
ultimately impact on the long-term viability
of the Group. Both health and safety and

IT and data feature high on the Group's

rlsk reglster, and we continually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that we
minimige our residual risk.

The Group's existing debt facilities run to
December 2025. The future viabiity review
extends beyond this date and therafore
assumes that there will be enough appetite
from our existing of new funders to provide
the required level of funding on similar terms.
The Group repored an average dally net cash
balance of £0.5m in 2021. The fulure viability
review indicates net cash at the point of
renewal in respect of Scenario 110 4. Only In
the case of Scenario S Is a net debt pesition
of £5.9m forecast at the paint of renewal.

The Directors recagnise that there is naturally
uncertainty within any forecast and this uncentainty
Increases as the projections cover a S-year
pesiod. The conclusion attached to the viability
review was that there was a reascnable
expectation that the Group will continue in
operation and would be able to continue to
meet ltabllities as they fall due over the 5-year
period of business planning.

This Strateglc Repaort was approved
by the Board on 31 March 2022

D Miles
Chief Executive Officer

david.miles@#mearsgroup.co.uk
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Corporate governance

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual Report sets out how the Company is governed. It provides
biographical and service details about the Board of Directors and discusses the
composition of the Board, how that has been developed and the Board evaluation
process entered into in 2021. It discusses how the Board assures itself as to Company
performance and sets out the key areas which were subject to significant Board
review and discussion in 2021. Finally, it sets out how the Board communicated

with shareholders and key stakeholders.

- Chairman's intraduction Page 65
Introduction to v
corporate governance

Board of Directors Page 66
Roles and responsibliities Page 68
Board Iead(.ar-ship. Corporate governance framework Page 69
Board activities
Key Board activities in 2020 Page 70
Stakeholkler engagement Page N
" s d ition, development and evaluation P, 73
Compasition, succession Board compasit vew 29¢
and evaluation Repart of the Nominations Committee Page 74
. . R t of the Audit and Compliance Committees Page 76
Audit, risk and eportatihe pran o
internal controls
Repon of the Remuneration Commitiee Page 82
Ancual Report on Remurnteration Page 90
Remuneration
Report of the Directors Page 98
Statement of Directars’ responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

The Board continues to develop its activities and processes so as to provide effective
oversight and valuable input to the sustainable development of the business.

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to
introduce the corporate govemance report

for 2021. The overall purpose of this reportis

to brief stakehotders on how the Board
undertakes its responsihiities for the leadership
ofthe Company and for the promotion of its
long-term sustainable success. Dwing 2021, the
Board considers that it was compliant with the
principles of good governance set out In the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

PEOPLE AND CULTURE

Mears has a strong and distinctive corporate
culture. The Mears ‘Red Thread' underpins
how our workforce ungertokes is dally tesks,
with its emphasis on working hard, being &
role model, taking responsibility and initiative,
and focusing on excellent customer service
- 8 desire nat just to do each job well but to
make a positive difference to customers and
communities. The wellbeing of our workforce
and our customers, alongside the creatian

of commercial value for stakeholders and
shareholders, are key ingredienis to the
Company's long-term sustainable success.

The pramation of this culture is an important
elememnt af the debates thal take place at

each Board meeting and informs the strategic
decisions which the Board takes. At each
meeting, the Board recelves reports on key
workiorce developments, monthly health and
safety and compliance statistics and up-lo-date
feedback from customers, both complaints

and commendations. In 2021, each meeting
also received data on Covid infections and
disruption 10 the business caused by the
pandemic. Twice a year, the Board receives

a more detziled report on key trends in the
reguiatory and compllance landscape. Similarly,
the Board receives anin-depth repoit of key
human resources developments twice a year,
including an analysis of the annual Voice of

the colleague staff survey, data as to workforce
diversity and developments in staff training and
development schemes. Each Board meeting
8lso has a discussion faclitated by a report from
the Employee Director on current issues of
importance to the workforce, In these different
ways. the Board maintains constant oversight of
the development of the Mears culture.

STRATEGY

Duwring the course of 2021, the Bosrd spent
significant time examining how Mears showld
best develop once it had completed its exit
from activities which it had declded notto
continue and reduced Its indebtedness to
acceptable levels. This exercise, undertaken
with the hefp of external advisers, is discussed
further in my |etter at the front of this Annua)
Repaort. The conclusion was that Mears should
remain as a specialist provider of housing
services, largely to the public secior, Areas for
future growth will be developing homelessness
solutions for our key Local Authority customers,
executing on the very large programme of
insulation work and ather heating related
changes to the UK's social housing portiolio
needed 1o satisfy Govesmment targets for
carban reduction and selactively develaping a
capabliity 1o provide services to private sector
customers on a sustainably profitable basis,

BOARD EVALUATION

Duwing 2021, the Board undertook a rigorous
extemnal evaluation of its perfoarmance,
supported by Independent Audit Limited (JAL).
| am grateful for the objective, candid and
supportive manner in which the |AL team
approached [ts task. [AL's report identified
areas of good practice and made a number of
suggestlons for improvement. This is discussed
further in the Report of the Nominations
Committee. The Board will follow up on this
reviewin 2022

BOARD DEVELOPMENT

During the course of 2021, the Board
undertook an exercise to [dentify and appoint
8 new Non-Executive Olrecior. This process is
discussed In more detall In the Report of the
Nominations Committee. The result was the
appoimment of Angela Lockwood to the
Board with effect from 1 Januery 2022,
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ESG

The Board continues to lake a close interest in
the developmeni of the Company agenda for
Impravemants In its environmenta performance,
the creation of soclal value and the promotion
of gnod governance.

Dwing 2021and inte 2022, the management
team has been working on 3 delaifed plan

to give effectto the Company's ambition to
defiver operations which are net 2eroin carbon
emissions terms by 2030 (see ESG section

on pages 33to 41).

Our commitment to soclal value was reinforced
by the development of the Mears Cusitomer
Scrutiny Board, whose Chairman reports
twice-yearty to the Mears Board about s
activitles. These involve the detalled scrutiny

of selected operational activities throughout
the Mears Group with & view to producing
recommendations for change designed to
create Increméntal improvements in the quality
of service which Mears delivers 10 its customers.

We continued to strengthen our govemance
over the year, with rigorous planning of Board
agendas to ensure that all important aspects

of the business are examined at Board level al
Ieast once a yaar, if not more ofien. We have
strengthened the contribution of the Employee
Director 3t Board meetings and thereby ensured
that current workforce issues can be a point of
discussion at each meeting.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company, primarily through the
management tesm but also at Chairman

level, maintains a close dialogue with its major
shareholders. Each Board meeting receives

4 report on Investor relations tssues, with a
discussion on changes and trends, and there

is a discussion sbout anything of importance
that has emerged. itis important that all Board
members understand the main reasons why
major shareholders are supporters of the Group
and what thefr key Issues are so asto ensure
that the valce of the owniers is also brought Into
boardroom discussions and decision making.

AGM

For the first time in three years, it appesrs that it
will prove praclicable to hald this year's AGM In
person. Accordingly. | look forward tc meeting in
person any sharehoiders who wish to come to
the meeting.

K Murphy

Chairman
31March 2022
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Corporate governance

Board of Directors

Kieran Murphy David J Miles Andrew CM Alan Long Angeia Lockwood
Chairman Chiaf Executive Officer Smith Executive Directos Non-Executive Director
Chief Financlat Officer

Age Age Age Age Age

83 56 48 59 59

Tenure Tenure Tanure Tehure Tenure

3years 25 years (15 years on 22 years (15 yeors on 16 years {llyears on 3 months
the Board) the Board)] tha Board)

Skilis and experience
Kieran is a very
axperienced Non-
Executiva Director and
Chairman. He spent
much of his executive
career working

in finance. At Klgimwort
Benson, he huiit a
market-leading
corporate finance
advisory business

in the buildfing and
cansiryction sector and
became a member of
the bank’s kmvestment
Bank Management
Commitiee. More
recently, at Gleacher
Shackiock, Kieran
extenged his advisory
work into the business
services seclor.

Skills and experience
David joined Mears in
May 1996 and, prior to
his appaintment (o the
Board In January 2007,
was Managing Director
of the Mears Sociat
Housing division.
Before joining Mears,
Cavid held a senior .
position with the MITIE
Group. His background
Is in electicat
engineering.

Skiils and experiance
Andrew joined Mears in
1999 and, prior 1o his
appointment to the
Boarg, was Chief
Financial Officer
covering the Group's
subsidiares.

Andrew gualified as 3
Chartered Accountant
In 1994 and worked In
professional practice
prios to joining Mears.

Skitls and experience
Alan joined Mears in
2005 andg, priof to his
appointment ta the
Board in August 2009,
was Managing Director
of the Group's Care
division, having
previously held the
posiion of Group Sales
ang Marketing Diraclor.
Prior to joining Mears,
Alan heid senlor roles
at Britannia Bullding
Sociaty, Mars and
Smith & Nephew,

Skills and experience
Angels has extensive
experience gained from
a career in hausing
spanning nearly 30
years. Starting her
career at Sunderand
Council, Angela than
worked for Home
Housing and
subsequently joined
Endeavour Housling
Associalion, firstly as
Housing Director and
than Managing Dinector.
She joined North Star

in 2009, hoiding the
position of CEQ.

Angeta holkis an MBA
and is a Fellow of the

- Chartered instine

of Housing,

Principal external
appointments
Allaxis 5.4, Unhsarslty
of London
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Princlpal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments

CEC @f North Star
Housing, Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust,
National Housing
Federaticn Board,
Institute of Customer
Service

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021




Claire Gibbard Loughiin Dame Julia Unwin Jim Clarke Ben Westran
Employee Non- Non-Executive Director, independent Non- Independent Non- Company Secretary
Executive Director Senior independent Executive Director Executive Director and
Director, Remuneration Audit Committee Chair
Committes Chair
Age Age Age Age Age
34 69 65 62 45
Tenure Tenure Tenurse Tenure Tenure
1year 2 years G years 2 years 18 years (7 years as
Company Secretary)

Skills and experlence
Claire joined the Group
in 2018, following the
acquisition of Mitie's
maintenance business.
Prlor to this, Claire
worked for s Local
Authority as

well as previously
wavking a1 Mears for

7 years In various rofes.
Clalve is currently
working 8s 8

Customer |nsight
Manager in the Group's
Marketing team and has
worked across a wide
range of branches and
central support,

Skills and experience
Chris Is a very
experienced CEQ.

His last executive role,
prlar to his retirement In
2020, was Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennon Group pic, the
listed company which
ownad Sauth west
Water and the waste
buslness Viridor.

He was previously CEO
of Sauth West Water
and before that held
roles at Lloyds Register,
British Nuciear Fuels Plc
and Magnox.

Skills and experience
Julia is former Chief
Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation
and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing
Trust. She has
significant experience
in the hausing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Housing
Corporation Board for
10 years and Chair of
the Refugee Councll.
She was appointed
Dame Commander of
the Order of the British
Empire In January 2020
for service to civil
society.

Skills and experience
Jimis avery
experienced company
Chief Finandat Officer.
He qualfled as a
Chartered Accountantin
1984. He has spent
much of his career in
senior Ansnca rales in
consumer facing
Industries, having been
Chief Financlal Officer at
David Lioyd Leisure, JO
Wetherspoon and
Countrywide.

Skills and exparience
Benis a Chartered
Accountant and, priar
to his appointment as
company Secretary,
was Group Financlal
Controller and Director
of a number of the
Graup's subsidiaries.
Ben joined the Group
in 2004, having
previously worked in
professional practice.

Principal external
sppointments
None
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Prineipal external
appointments
British Water,

Water UX, Retall

Principal external
appointments
Yorkshire Water,

York St Jofur Unhsersity
Smart Data Foundry
(University of Edinburgh)

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
Nonhe
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Corporate governance

Roles and responsibilities

Rale

Chairman
Kieran Murphy

Senior independem Director

Chris Loughlin

independant Non-Executive Directors

Jim Clarke

Chris Loughlin
Dame Julia Unwin
Angela Lockwood

Employee Director
Ciaire Gibbard

Chief Executive Officer
David Miles

Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Smith

Executive Directar

Alan Long
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Responsibilities include:

- Promoting a cutture of challenge, debate, openness, support and mutusl respect

- Leadership of the Board, setting ks agenda and ensuiing effective information flow
and time management

- Ensuring thal Directors contribute effectively and siiacate sufficient time to the Company
0 do so

— Ensuring thal the Board listens to the views of shareholders, the workforce, customers
and other stakeholders

- Ensuring that ihe Board both monitors and demanstrates culture, values and behaviours
of the Group

— Ensuring thal the Board determines the nature and extent of risk and rewsred in
sirategy execution

— Ensuring effective Board evaluation

— Leading the anpual performance evaluation of the Chalrman
Pravitding & sounding board for the Chalrman
Avaitabie to shareholders as a chennel for them to raise Board level issues

[

- Promoting the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate governance
throughout the Group

Canstructively challenging decisions proposed by the Executive Directors
Ensuring stakeholder views are debated and constdered

Assisting in deveioping Propassls on stravegy

Contributing to the pesformance evaluation of the Chairman

Briefing the Board on dectsions made and key issues from each Committee Chair

ttii

Pramoting the highest standards of integrity and probity

Agsistion] in developing propasals on strategy

Assisting the Board to receive full, open and honest insight and views from its
workforce on how strategrc initiatives are being implemented

- Helping (0 provide the wider workforce with a better understanding of how the
Board cperates

{ i

— Managing the day-lo-day running of the business in fine wilh the strategy and objectives
set by the Board

Ensuring the Board Is supphied with sufficient and appropriate informatian on a timety basis
Leading the business withia the scope set by the Board

Developing sirategy and setting objectivas to meet the Group strategy approved by

the Board

Managing the Group's CPerations to ensure they meet the risk appetite $et by the Board

Supporiing the Chief Exacutive Officer in geveloping sirategy and meeting objectives
Bringing a commercial and financial perspective to the Board

Leading the finance Tunction and establishing strong control processes

Managing the treesury activitias in accordance with the credit sk appetite set by the Board
Supporiing the Chief Executive Dfficer with Investor relations

Leading the development of ialent within the finance function

frred

Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in develaping sirategy and meeting objectves
Supporting the Chief Executive Officer In managing external communications and
Investor relations

- Setting the Group social value policies and procedures

-= Leading the operational leadership and development function of the Group
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Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

During the course of the year, there were
W1 scheduled and 4 unscheduled Board
meetings, B Audit and Risk Commitiee
meetings, & Remuneration Committee
meetings and 4 Nominations Committee
meetings, with full attendance.

INDEPENDENCE AND

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Board reviews the independence of

its Non-Executive Directors as part of the
annual evaluation process, The Nominations
Committee also considers this as part of its
ongalng review of the Board composition.
The Board considared sll Non-Executive
Directors to be Independent.

The Board operates a policy to Identify and
manage situations declared hy Directors In
which they or thei connected persons have,
or may have, an actual or potential conflict of
Interest with the Company. No Director conflict
situation currently exists or existed al sny tme
during the year.

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with aur Articles of Association
and o the extent permitted by the laws of
England and Wales, Directors are granted an
indemnity from the Company In respect of
llabilitles Incurred as a result of their position In
office. However, our indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of being
proven of acting dishonestly or fraudulently.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE
GOVERNANCE

The Board Is the principal decision making
body of the Company. Certain matters, for
example relating to strategy, financial structure,
communications and policy approvals, are
matters reserved for the Board to decide.
Authadlty for other specific matiers Is formally
delegated by the Board to three Board
Committees — Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations — and to executive management.

During the course of 2021, foliowing an
Independent appraisal of the effectiveness

of the Board, an exercise was undertaken to
review and update the documents which set
ott the role of the Board, the Chairman and the
CEOQ/executive management and to review the
matters reserved for Board approval. The full
text of these documents can be found on the
Group website,

A summary of the roles of each element
of our corporate governance regime (s set
out opposite.

THE BOARD

The key purpose of the Board is collectively to
iead the Company and to promole its long-term
suslainable success, so generating value for
shareholders and other stakeholders, and
contributing to wider soclety. The principal
responsibllity of the Chairman is to lead the
Board and to ansure Its effective operation,

The Board's key functions are:

#) leadership: establishing Company purpose
and values, sirategy, financial structure,
adequacy of human and financial resources,
and workforce policies;

b) oversight: of corparate practice
and behavlour, financial controls,
implememation of workforce policies,
risk and management performance,
and succession;

¢} relationships: understanding views of
shareholders, other slakehaiders and the
workforce, and the means to Influence
those views; and

d} decision making: to take effective decislons
on those matters reserved Lo it, ensuring
it has the appropriate mix of skills and
experience and the information, time
and resources 10 ¢o $o.

The matters reserved far decision by the
Board are:

a) strategy and management: approval
of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes in the scopa of activities
and review of performance against plans;

b) financlal structure, capital allocation,
dividend! policy and lsting,

¢) approval of financial and other major
communications and resolutions for
general meetings,;

d) spproval of major contracts;

€] changes 10 the composition of the Board
and its committees and appointment of the
external suditor;

fi remuneration and other corporate
policles; and

g) risk appeiite and review of strategic risk.

The Board's activities in 2021 are set out on
page 70. The composition of the Board and
the evaluation process undertaken during the
year is set out on page 73. The Chalrman’s
review of 2021 is set out on pages 06 to 08 of
this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee

The key purpose of the Audit Committee islo
assist the Board in lts function of oversight of
risk, financial cantrols and reporting.

The Committee:

a) oversees the deveiopment of the
Company's strategic risk reglster and
makes an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company's risk management;
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b) assesses the Company's financial systems
of control, accounting policles and key
Judgements, and comphiance with
regulatory requirements;

c) oversees the work of both the internal and
external auditors; and

d)} reviews the Company's policies on fraud,
bribery, whistleblowing, etc.

A report of the Audit Committee's activities in
20211s set out on pages 76 10 81.

The Remuneration Committee

The Committee’s key function Is 1o determine
the Remuneration Policy for executive
management and oversee the appropriateness
ang effecliveness of Group-wide remuneration
policies.It:

8} determinesthe remuneration of Executive
Directors and the Chairman;

b) reviews and decides on awards under all
share incentive schemes;

¢) reviews the application of pay and pension
polcles across the Company, and

d) reviews Group-wide human resources
sirategy

The report of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2021 is set out on pages 82 to 97,

The Nominations Commitiee

The Commitiee reviews the composition,
structure and size of the Board and oversees
the process of recruitment to the Board. it also
reviews executive management succession
plans. A report on lts aclivitles in 2021 is set out
on pages 74 and 75.

The Chief Executive and executive
management genarally

The CEQ has responsibility for the day-to-day
operattons of the Group and authorlty for all
decisions which are not reserved to the Board
or its Commitlees. The key rale of the CEQ s to:

&) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution of
the agreed strategy, that key pesformance
metrics are in place and that progress
agalnst those metrics is measured and
reported to the Board;

b} lead, inspire and support Company
employees, through developing a high
performing management team and effective
Campany-wide communication;

¢} lead the Company's relationships with

shareholders, customenrs, suppliers, other

stakeholders and the wider community; and
ensure that adequate processes are in
place to manage risk.

d

3

The CEO's report is set out on pages 10 to 15 of
this Annual Report.
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Corporate governance

Key Board activities

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD IN 2021
The Board med a total of 15 times n 2021, of
which 1l were planned meetings and four were
shorter 8d hoc discussions convened during
the year to discuss partlcular topics. As in
2020, proceedings of the Board were
significantly affectad by the Covid pandemilc
and it &idd not brove possibile i Mmeet
coliectively in person on a regular basis

untii after the summer. All of the meetings
were attended by all of the Directors.

While all Board members agree that the quaiity
of Board distussion is typically better when

we meel in person, the Board has noted that

it has proved perfectly practicable to take
effective decisions while being required to
work remotely. Accordingly, the Board resolved
at the start of 2022 10 have some meelings

Strategy snd performance

Finance and risk

togelher and some remately, taking into
sccount the recommendations of the
external review of Board effectiveness,

The Board agenda i5 set by the Chairman
with suppaort from the Company Secretary.
Early In 2021, a plan was produced and
appraoved by the Board which set out the
proposed particular discussion areas for
esch meeting. inevitabiy, the plan evolved
and changed during the year.

Al every planned Board meeting, each of the
Executive Diectors and the Empioyee Director
provides a repott and/or a verbal summary in
relation to the activities for which they have
responsibility. in addition, the Board receives
verbal updates from the chairs of each of the
three Board committees on activity which has

People

occurred since the last Board meeting. Finalty,
the Board receives & verbal report on any site
visits undertaken by the Chairman or ather
Non-Executive Directors since the last Board
meeting. in this way. the Board Is assured thet
at sach meeting it Is provided with an
up-to-date understanding of strategic and
sector related developments, operational
issues and successes, major contract
performance, customer feecback, hwaatth and
safety performance. finencial matters, investor
relations, workforce issues, successes and
awards, progress on new business wins,
communications, marketing and Influencing.

The table helow sets out the ather substantive
matters with which the Board dealt during 2021

Statutory ang governance

- Development of 8 5-year Group - Review of the strategic -—

Daep dive reéviews of health —

Approvai of the Company’s

strategy and focused risk reqister, folowing and safety ssues and Annual Report, AGM
discussion on jssues and recommendations from nlermal performance documents and resohutions,
opportunities related to the asudn and the Audit Committee . Review of workforce survey pretiminary and imerimn financial
requirement for carbon - Review and approval of the data and trends statements and ad hoc trading
reduction, on ppporunities in Company's Insurance — Review of the ESG Strategy statements
the private rerued sector and programme, teflecting [see E5G sectioh on pages — Approval of certain Geoup
on future KPi measures Group risk eppetite 3310 45} policies inciuding it relstion

—~— Deep dives inio the aperations Review of 8 valuation of the — Review of pay and the Gender lo going concern and
of the housing maintenance Group prepared by the Pay report, following discussion viabllity agsessment, tax
business, the hausing with care Company’'s agvisers and of at Remuneration Commitiee and modern slavery

portfolio and the asylum
contracts

tn-depth raview of the

1T functian and key
relaled Issues

Review of the repont of
the Mears Customer
Scrutiny Board

Review of the proposed:
Scottish business charter

stock market perspectives
Appraval of a debl refinancing
package

Approval of the annual budget
for 2022

Deep dive on key workforce
policies and issues

Review of senlor management
succession lollowing discussion
a) Mominations Committee
Approved the appomiment on a
new Non-Executive director with
effect from1 January 2022,
following a process run by the
Nominations Commitiee

[—

Approval of the dividend palicy
and of propased dividend
paymenis

Review of the independent
report on Board govemance
practice

Approval of updated
documents satling aut thase
matiers reserved for the Board,
Rermuneration Commiltee lerms
of reference and the roles of the
Board, Chaikman and CEQ

70
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT Description
WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we detait how

we engage with our key stakeholders, and

explain how each stakeholder group Impacts

upon our business moedel and our abitity Clients

to deliver against our strategic priorities.

The Board recognises that engagement

with key stakehaotder groups strengthens

our relationships and is an ongoing part of

the operational management of the Groug.

This includes employee surveys, assessments

of customer satisfaction and angolng

conversations with reguiatars and non- Tenants and
governmental organisations, The Board

receives regular updates from senior customers
management on insights and feedback from
stakeholders, which allows the Board 1o
understand and consider the perspectives
of key stakeholders in decision making.

The table below sefs out the different Communities
stakeholders with whom we engage
and how the Board monitors these
important relationships.

Colleagues

Suppliers

Shareholders and
debt funders

The Company is commilted to maintaining good communication with investors,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

How the Board is kapt informed

= Exacutive team has dally contact
with key clients

- Regular discussion of key issues
at each Board meeting

= Access to extemnal press and
news flow

— Monthly customer performance
statistics, Including satisfaction,
complaints and compliments

- Executive Director atiendance
at tenant panel meetings

— Customer Scrutiny Board

——Meonthly social value measures
-  Social Value Annual Report

Close monitoring of staff surveys
Monthly People KPis
- Employee Direcior

(|

— Engagement with supply chain

- Investor roadshows and
investor briefings

— Shareholder feedback
gathered bi-annually

e Analyst research notes

- Regular dialogue with
shareholders and funding banks

— Engagement with supply chaln

Read more

Page 28

Page 28

Page 29

Page 29

Page 22

Page 72
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Corporate governance

Stakeholder engagement continued

INVESTOR MEETINGS

Investor meetings are predominantly attended
by the Group CEQ, CFO and Head of investor
Relations, sithough oiher senior Executives
may atlend. There IS an Active programme of
cammunication with existing and potantiat
shareholders, with ‘City Days’ scheduled ona
monihty basis (outside of closed periods) which
provides any shareholder an opportunity lor a
meeling with management. Thare is increased
dialogue following the publication of final ang
Interim results, which is facliitated through a
seres of formal presentations. and management
aflocates a il week at those times to ensure
ail sharehoiders can be accommodated.

The Chalrman is also avaifable for discussions
with sharehoiders as and when they s wish
and a number of such discussions took place
during the year.

The Chalr regulerly engages with major
shareholders to canvass their views an
govarnance and performance against
strategy. Comimittea Chalrs wili engage
with shareholders where a parucular
mattes relates 1o thelr ares of responsibility.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Shareholder participation 8l gach AGM is
ususlly encouraged. Given the restrictions
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, speciat
measures meant that no shareholders ware
able to atiend the 2021 AGM in these unigque
circumstances. Full details of the 2022 AGM
will be set out in the Natice of Meeting.

In normal circumsiances. all sharehoiders
sre imviied to attend the Company's AGM,
al which point they have the oppoFlunity

ta meel the Board and ralse questions.
Shareholders who are unabie to attend are
invited 10 email questions in advance (o
company.secretary@®@mearsgroup.co.uk

ANNUAL REFORY AND OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS

The Board maintains regular contact through
Ibe provision of the Annual Repori, regular
Interim Reports and regular trading updates.
This information can be found on the Group's
webslte (www.mearsgroup.co.ukj.

CORPORATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated kwvestor
section which provides an gverview of
Mears, whilst also providing access to historic

Annval Reports and shareholder presentations.

The Group regularly recelves and responds to
questions raised by small private shareholders
through the invesior enguiry portal within the
Group's website.

The Group also has regular diglegue with s
banking partners. The Group refinanced its
debt facilitles in December 2021, puiting in
place @ £70m unsecured revotving credit
fecility. The Directors were pleased 10 extend
the close refationship with Barclays and HS8C,
which have both been banking partners to the
Group for over 20 years. The Directors were
also delighied to include Citi Bank in he new
arrangement and look forward 10 bullding on
that partnership i the fulure.

Molding at Hoiding st

March 2022 April 2021

Sharehoiders halding over 2% of issued share capitsl % c xiC
Shareholder Value Management 10.3% 9.8%
Artemis Investment Menagement 10.2% H3%
Fidelity Mansgement & Research 9.9% 10.0%
Premier Miton B.2% -
Majedic Asset Management 18% B2%
Heronbrdge Investment Management 55% 5.0%
Columbia Thresdneedle Investments 53% 51%
LOYS 5% 5.1%
Huntington Partners 4.3% 33%
Dimensional Fund Advisors 4.3% 41%
PrirmeaStone Capia) - 12.3%
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2021 investor relations
programme:

JANUARY
-~ Shareholder calls available on request

FEBRUARY

— Mon-holder investor (virtual) roadshow

- Chairman's {virtusi) rosdshow with top
shareholders

MARCH
- Pre-close trading update foliowed by
calls with major shareboiders

APRIL
— Close period

MAY
— Preliminary sesuits for FY2020 released
lollawed by full investor (virtual) roadshow

JUNE
-~ AGM Bnd trading update followed by
<calls with major shareholders

JULY
= Close period

AUGUST
- Interdm resuits for H1 FY2021 released
foowed by full {virtual) kvestor roadshow

SEPTEMBER
= ESG consuliations with major sharehaotders

OCTOBER
- Ad hoc nan-helder {virtual)
Investor meetings

NOVEMBER
- Tradmng update foliowed by calls
with majar shareholders

DECEMBER
~=  Management vinual) G&A session with
existing and prospective investors
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Board composition, development and evaluation

1. COMPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT
itis critical to the success of the Board that

it has the optimal mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity to produce an
informed debate and a high quality of decision
making. Directors offer themselves for re-
election annually, The Board considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors applies
their time and experience 50 as tc make an
effective contribution 10 the dedlberations of
the Board.

a) Independence

In accordiance with the Code, the Chairman
was independent at the time of his
appointment In January 2019. The other three
Non-Executive Directors {Julia Unwin, Chris
Loughlin and Jim Clarke) are ali considered to
be independent for the purposes of the Code.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Director {by virtue of her
employment In an executive role within the
Group) are naot considered to be independent.

At the stant of 2021, both Roy Irwin and Geraint
Davies served as Directors of the Company
and both were considered to be independent.
Both stood gown from their positions at the
Annual General Meeting in June.

The Company considers that it has been In
campliance with the Code requirements as
to independence throughout 2021.

b) Tenure

All Directars are subject 1o annual re-election
by shareholders at the Annual Genersl
Meeting. The length of service of each
Director as at the end of 2021 |s set cut

In their blographies on pages 66 and &7,

c) Skilts and experience

The Nominations Cammittee regularly
assesses the skills and experience mix of

the Non-Executive Directors. Mare information
on this process in 2021 is set out in the Report
of the Nominations Committee.

The Board requires a range of views, skills

and experience in arder to ensure that it £an
effectively challenge management's ideas and
delivery but also contribute positively to
Company strategy and corporate development
more generally, The balance of those skills
and capabilities is kept under review (o ensure
that the Board can supply effective leadership
end that, in particular, it has both extensive
comimercial private sector experience and

8 good understanding of the dynamics and
processes which drive the behaviour of its
citent base.

Set out below Is a self-assessment of the skills
mix of the six Non-Executive Directors:

Skills and experience mix of the
Non-Executive Directors

Customer knowledge

Service sector experience

Finance

Human resouces

Strategy

Invesiar relations

Senior executive leadership

Risk management

Business development

W (& [ bjw]e N ] ]ejon |

Operations

f) Commitment

The Directors, Executive and Non-Executive,
are required to devote as much time asis
reasonabliy requived 10 discharge their duties
effectively and the Board is satisfied thatthe
Directors do so, This 5 illustrated by the fact
that in 2021 all of the Directors were in
attendance ot all Board meetings, whether
planned or ad hoc. Similar levels of attendance
were in evidence at meetings of the Board
sub-commiitees, each of which are now
attended by all Non-Executive Directors.
Directors wishing to take up additional extemal
appointments require the permission of the
Board, acting though the Chalrman.

g) Pr

This assessment underpinned the decision
making behind the recruitment of a new
Non-Executive Director In the secand half of
2021, a process discussed in the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

d) Diversity

As gt the end of 2021, the Board had eight
Directors, two of whom were famale. Of the
Non-Executive Directors {Including the
Chalrman), three were male and one female.
There are currently no Disectors from an ethnic
minority background. The diversity mix was a
factor in the approach taken 10 the recrultment
of a new Non-Exacutive Oirectorin 2021, which
is discussed further in the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

To consolidate the Board's facus on diversity
and Inchusion, a seminar was hetd In spring
2021, coordinated by Jane Farrell of EW Group,
which examined a number of aspects relevant
to the oversight of a large commerclal business
such as Mears.

Mears will work to secure balanced boards 1o
broaden the range of perspectives and
expertise, and ultimately benefit the services
and clients we seek to support.

We will follow the principles set out in the FTSE
Women Leaders review, which alms to increasa
opportunities for women at the top of Britain's
largest companies.

e} Induction

In view of the intended appointment of 28 new
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman and the
Company Secretary reviewed and updated the
Company's Induction programme. This now
provigdes for a comprehensive series of
meetings with each of the Directors and senlor
managers in the Group, access to the key
Board and Commilitee papers prepared and
discussed over the last 12 months, plus a
programme of visits to some of the Group's
key operating locatlons.
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All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring
caomgpliance with law and regulation and that
Directors are kept abreast of changes in
relevant corporate legislation. Directors,
coliectively or individually, have access though
the Company Secretary to appropriate external
professtonal advice should that be needed.

The Board operates 8 policy to identify and
manage situatlons declared by any Director in
which they or their cannected parties have, or
may have, an actual or potential conflict of
interest with the business of the Company.

No such sitvation currently exists or existed

n 2021,

In accordance with the Articles of Association,
and 1o the axtent permitted by law, Directors
are granted an Indemnity from the Company in
respect of llabilities Incurred as a result of thelr
position In office. The indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of their
behaving fraudulently or dishonestly.

2. EVALUATION

During the course of 2021, an independent
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board
and Its committees was undertaken by
Independent Audit Limited. A description of this
process and the outcomes is set out In full in
the Report of the Nominations Committee.
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Corperate governance

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report sets out
the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Mueting attendance

C Loughlin

K Murphy

J Unwin

G Davies

JClarke

SIEIETERE

R Irwin

F-3

K Murphy
Chairman
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As forashadowed in last year's report, one of
the main tasks for the Committee in 2021 was
the selection of 8 new Non-Executive Director,
consequent ta the retirements of Geraint
Davies and Roy Unwin.

To commence this process, the Committee
reviewed the mix of skills and experience

al Non-Executive Director leved, taking

into account Geraint and Roy's departure,

In discussian, the Commitiee concluded thal,
we required an Individual with an excelient
understanding of the dynamics and operstions
of the organisations which are the key
constituents of Mears' cumrent customer base,
The ideal candidate would demonstrate
effeciive leadership at Board level, having
held one or more leading executive positions
In 2 Local Authorlty, operaticnal Government
depariment or Houslng Association. The key
requirement would be an ability 1o bring that
knowledge of Mears’ customer base to make
an effective contribution ta strategic dabale,
with a clear understanding of the drivers of
customer behaviour and how that cquld be
maiched with Mears’ desire for growth and
value. It was alsa important that the successful
candidate be aware of and empathetic o
Mears’ cosporate cuiture.

The Commitiee was also conscious of the

need to continue to broaden the diversity

of backgrounds around the boardroom table
and this was explicitly reflected in the chasce of
recruitment consukant made for the assignmernt
and in the brief given to that adviser.

The Committee interviewed five candidates for
the role, chosen from a kenger list of possible
appointees, and selecled Angela Lockwood.
Angela is Chief Executive Offlcer at Nonh Star
Housing, a successhul medum sized Housing
Association based in Stockion an Tees which
won Investors in People UK 2021 Platinum
Employer of the Year for smaller organisations.
Angela has extensive experience gained from
a career in housing spanning nearly 3Q years.
Starting her career at Sunderland Council,

Angela worked for Home Housing and
subsequentty Joined Endeavour Housing
Assaciation, firstly as Housling Director and
then Menaging Director. She jolned North Star
In 2009. Angels holds an MBA, is a Fellow of
the Charterad Instilute of Housing, a Board
member of the Juseph Rowntree Houslng
Trust. a member of the Nalional Housing
Federation Board and a Vice President of the
Institute of Customer Service. Angefa joined
the Mears Board with effect from 1 January
2022 and has bagun an extensive induclion
programme with a sefies of meetings and visits
to Group operations.

The other major task for the Committee in 2021
was lo undertake an Independent evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Board and its
camemittees, in accordance with the Code.
This review was postponed from 2020,

Independent Audft Limiied was appainted in
May 2021 to undertske such a review. 1AL has no
other connection with the Company and this is
the first time it has evalated the Mears Board.
1AL undertook 8 comprehensive review
covering af aspects of Boarg and Committee
affectiveness. The reviewers attended Board
and Commitiee meetings in person and virtually
during the summer, reviewed a full cycle of
Board information and held one-tt-one
discussions with all of the Directors, a range of
other senior executives and the extemal auditor.
IAL reporied o the Board in September 2021,
attending an in-person meeting. Al Directors
had an opportunity 1 discuss the findings, ask
the reviewaers questions and consider the
direction of future Bosrd development,

The review concluded that the Board had
undergone cansiderable ¢change In the last
twa years, with the Chair having extensively
changed both the composition of the
non-executive team and the pfanning of
Board agendas. Much had been improved
over that period andd there was the potential
for further Improvement.
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Strengths of the Board

Areas for Board development

Stable and long-
standing executive
team with effective
operational control
of the business

Movre effective
scrutiny, with oversight
of and Input to stratagic

and financial lasues

Skilled chairing and
good qusiity debate
and chailenge on a
renge of major topics

The Employee Director
provides a valuable
smployee perspective
and helps reinforca the
workdfares volee

The review highlighted a number of areas for the Board to focus on in 2022.

Key areas for
development
A stronger focus on offective

communication with more time
spent together if possible

Action taken/
to be taken

Holding more Board meetings In persor,
moving Committee meetings 1o different
days, regular Non-Executive group
discussions befare Board meetings

and, over time, more visits by Non-
Executives to operations

Clearer documentation of the role
of the Board, its committees, the
Chalrman and the CEO to facilitate
collective working

Reviewing and agreeing documents
setting out the respective roles of the
Board, committees, Chairman and CEO.
These documents can be viewed on
the website

Clearar plan for executive succession
combined with further consideration
of the roles of the most senior
managers below Board level

Substantive discussions held about
execulive regrganisation, the recruitment
of a new senior commerclal director

and continuing discussion on senlor
executive succession

Maintain focus on strategy and
on the use of KPls and risk analysis
and assessment

The Board will review the S5-year plan in

spring 2022, examine the Group's carbon

reduction plan and continue Hs
discusslon of KPi reporting

Clarification of the role and
contribution of the Employee Director

Ensuring that each Board meeting has

an agenda item for the Employee Director

1o report on her activities and key issues

More work needs 1o be done and the Board Intends to undertake an internal self-evaluation

during 2022.

In addition lo its assessment of the Board, IAL also provided Input to the review of the Chairman
conducted by the Senior Independent Director.

The terms and conditions of each of the Non-Executive Diractors are available for inspection at

the AGM and can be made available la sharehalders on request to the Company Secretary.

K Murphy
Chalrman, Nominations Commitiee
31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the

Committee in 2020.

Ming

J Clarke

C Loughiin

&8
:%:

3 Unwin

44

G Davies

44

J Clarke
Audit Committee
Chairman
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This report sets out how the Commitiee has
futhlted its responsibiites during e year and
In relation to financial reporting matiers, the
significant issues that were considered and
how they were addressed.

ln my first year as Chairman of the Audit
Commitiee, | am pleased 10 present the
summary of the work of the Committes
over the last 12 months.

As detaited in last year's report. the Commitiee
appointed Emst & Young LLP (EY) as the new
exiemal auditor and the first year of the new
audit engagement went wel, but was made
more challenging by tha restrictions placed

on oifice working through the pandemic.

The Cammbttee is pleased with the progress
of EY in its second year, with much of the
legrming and knowledge accumulated In the first
year allowing & more locused audit approach,
with continyed leverage of data-analytics aals
to dediver an efficlent process.

The Committee has reviewed the significant
financial reporting matters and jJudgements
Identified by the management team and EY
twough the audit process, and the approach
to addressing thase Is detailed on pages 78
and 79 of this report.

The 2021 financial year was relatively
straightforwand when compared 1o the previous
twa years, which had encountered a aumber of
disposals [DosmiciBary Care and Terraquess),
sleps taken to exit the Devalopment acitvitias,
significant naw accounting standards (IFRS 16
‘Leases’) and the unique challenges
encountared at the start of the pandemic,

By contrest, 2021 wes a period of stabilty and
sirengthening; the areas within the financiat
staternents requiring significant estiimates and
judgemant are not new ta the management
team of any of the Commitiee members.

The ¢ontinuation of the pandemic ensured
than the fight against Covid-19 and ihe
necessity lo keep our pecple and customers
safe remained one of the primary concerns of
the Caompliance Committee throughout 2021,
The ever-changing environmant meant there
were challenges across our entire range of
operations, mosi notably in asyium support
and care services, whilst the Graup's decislan
to take 8 vary cautious approach to the
refaxation of control measures linked to the
return to 'busingss as usual' meant we were
able 1o quickly respond (o the ttweat posed
by the Omicron varlant.

The ever-increasing importance of data
securily is a key strotegic Conskderation for

the Group and in this regard, the Comphance
Committee’s roke has recently been widened
ta encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area rmaving forwerd into 2022, to enhance the
level of information available to the main Board.

In relation 1o Ask management ang intemal
controls, the Board and Audit Committee are
mindful of the importance of continuing to
impiove both control and output in this area,
The wark carmied gut during 2021 is detafted
within this repart. The co-seurcing between
the Internal Mears team and KPMG has
dekvared a high quality cutput and excellent
value, allowing KPMG 1o bring in specialists on
an ad hoc basis rather than adding ful-time
employment far what are mainly ‘lask and
finish' projects. The overall lend for aur
Internal audit work continues to sit with KPMG,

Qur reguiar programme of meetings angd
discussions, supported by our Interactions

with the Company's management, and external
and internal suditors, ang the quality of the
reports and information provided Lo us, enable
the Commitiee members 10 eflectivety
discharge their guties and responsibiiities.
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HOW THE AUDIT

COMMITTEE OPERATES

The Commitiee provides Independent

review and monitering of the risk management
and control procedures within the Group.

Each Committee member is independent and
has broad commercial experience. Jim Clarke
is a Chartered Accountant and has signiflcant
recent and relevant financial experience,

mast recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chiis Loughlin has held a number of CEO and
COO roles within large, quoted entities ang
brings broader, more operationally focused
commerclal expertise. The final Commitiee
membey, Julia Unwin, has held senior roles
within housing and care sectors which bring
industry specific exgertise, whilst also currently
engaged by the Financlal Reporting Council,

During the year, the Committee held eight
meetings. These meetings were 2150 sttended
by the Group Chief Exacutive Offteer. the
Chief Financial Officer, and the Group
Chairman. The internal and external auditors
were (nvited to alil meetings. The Compary
Secretacy acts as secretary (o the Committee.

The Audit Committee Chairman meets with
the external auditor and lead interna) auditor
reqularly throughout the year,

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

In addition, the Audit Committee has a

very active sub-commitiee, being the
Compliance Committee. This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives to
dealing with health, safety, and evironmental
ricks. The Compliance Committee s 8
sub-committee of the Audit Commitiee and is
chaired by Jasan Burt, the Group Director of
Health, Safety and Compliance, a former
specialist health and safety lawver. He has

an extensive and detalled working knowledge
of the Issues which can adversely impact the
efficiency of heakh, safety and compliance
governante systems and cause and drive
regulatory prosecutions and employers’

and public liability claims. The extent to

which the full integration of health, safaty

and environmental risks is now embedded

in the governance structures of tha Group is
highlighted by the members of the Compliance
Committee, who include the Group's Chlef
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Director
and internal Health and Safety legal adviser.
Qthers are cailed upon to attend as required.

The Committee's terms of reference are
avéllable on the Company's webslite and
on request from the Company Secretary.

Main activities of the Committes duting the year

Internal audit

— Reviewed and monltored progress against
2021 internal auvdit plan

— Reviewed the quality and effectiveness
of the outsourced arrangement

— Reviewed the internal audit plan for 2022

Risk management

— Received réports from the Chair of the
Compliance Committee

- Reviewed and approved the Group's
risk register

« Reviewed and validated the effectiveness
of the Group's system of internal controls

- Monitored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

- Qversight and monitoring of the Group's
compllance with the Bribery Act

Financial performance

— Reviewed the basis of preparation of the
financlal statements as a going concern
and the long-term viability review

— Reviewed and discussed repons from
the CFO on the financial stalements
and considered the significant
accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncenainty

— Considered reports from the external
auditor in respect of the sultability of the
accounting policdies and the integrity of
the financial reporting

«— Reviewed the 2021 Annual Report
and Accounts and provided a
recommendation to the Board that, 8s
a whole, they complied with the 2018
Cade principle to be fair, balanced,
and understandable, and provide the
information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company's position,
performance, business model
and strategy

External auditor

— Agreed the audit fee for the year
ended 31 Deceamber 2021

— Reviewed the proposed audit plan
for the 2021 statutory audit

-~ Reviewed recommendations arising
from the 2020 statutory audit
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

We considered the aspects of the financial statements that reqtired significant accounting judgements or where there I8 @stimation uncerfainty.
These ara explained in greater detail within the notes 1o the financial statements. The Audit Committee recelved tetalled repors from the CFO
and the extarnal suditor an these areas and other matters which they belleved should be drawn to the attention of the Committee.

The Committee discussed the range of passible treatments both with management and with the exiernal auditor, confirming that the judgements
made by management were roDust and supponable. For all the significant issues detalled below, i was conchuded that the treatment sdopled was

the most appropriate.
Read more as to how this key Issue was
Signiticant issue addressed in the financial stalements

Lease accounting

IFRS 16 was sdopted with effect from 1 January 2019 and
hes proved & difficult standard 1o implament and one which
has required significant changes to the systems snd
day-10-day processes.

Undes IFRS 16, & lesser witl recognise ks tight io use g
Igased assel along with a lease liablfity representing its
obligatian tg make lease paymenis. On inception of &

new lease, a right of use asset and lease obligation are
measured at the present value of the future lease payments
discounted using the Group's incremantal borrawing rate,
The depreciation cost of the newly recognised 'right of use
assel’ will be charged to the profit within cost of sales or
administrative costs. whilst the interest cast of the newly
recogmises Habiity will be charged to net finance costs.
Cn the basis that deprecigtion is required to be charged
on 8 straight-fine basls, whilst interest is charged on a
reducing balance basis, this resulls tn a higher overall
charge being applied to the Income statement in the early
years of a |aase, with this Impact reversing over the later
years. The profitimpact over the life of a lease is neutral
and IFRS 16 has ne impact on pre-tax cash flows.

Lease accounting is critical to Mears given the Group haids
maore than 13,500 Jeases across its porticlio of residential
properties, offices, and vehicles. Tha most significart and
camplex category relates to \he Group's portfolio of
regidential praperties, which compeises approximately
10,000 lesses; whilst the Group endeavours to standardise
the form of leases, operational demands dictate that many
leases have specific wording to address the specific
operational need and also (o manage the associeted
operational and financial risks.

The Committee chaflenged management In respect of the
processes and controls that were in place throughout the
year to ensure the completeness of the right of use asset
and lease abligations. The Cammiitee recagnised this ta be
a high risk area ghven the high number of new leases being
incepted and the complexites of IFRS 16.

The Committee has reviewed the assumptions and key
Jjudgéments ptovided by management, including the
additianal detall provided, resulting from the extensive
review and reassessment of the process In respect of
lease ideniification.

The Cammittee recogrises that kease accounting Is very
significant to Mears and Is a key area for stakeholders o
fully understsnd.

The completeness of the lease obligation ks identilted as a key
audi area and EY has provided further detail as 10 how this
matter was addressed dunng its audit wark on page 105.

Datermination of the
amount of the Group's
retirament benefit
obligations

&1 31 December 2021, the Groug teported a net retirement
benefit surplus of £20.7m, being the difference between the
fair value of the scheme assels less the present value of the
benefits expected o be pald to members of the schemes.
This assessment requires an assumption to be made in
respect of mortality rates and fulure inflation rates which
will result in an increase in future benefits received by
members. This also requires an appropriste discount rate

ta calgulate the present value of these future obligations for
the future payments. Where the Group has a contractual
fight to recover the costs of making good any deficit
pension scheme, the fair value of that asset has beea
recognised and disclosed.

The Committee revipwed the key assumptions praposed by
fnanagement, notably assumplions in respect of discount
rate, RP1, CP1 and fulure salary increases, which are detailed
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,

Ghvan the technical nature of this area, \he Committee
placed reliance upon the work of Ao, which is engaged
o support manggement in setting assumptions and
consalidating infarmation prepared by the respective
scheme actuares in respect of each of the defined benefit
pension schemes. The accounting for defired benafit
pension schemes is aiso identified as 8 key audit area

and EY provides further detail as to how this matter was
addressed during Its audil work on page 106.

78
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s_ignll‘lcant issue

Read more as to how this key issue was addressed
In the financlal statements

Assessing whether the
Group has the power
to control in respect of
a beneficial interest in
49% of the shares ina
company, Haydon
Mechanical and
Electrical LLC

An investor, regardiess of the nature of its invoivement with
an ertity, is required 1o determine whether it is a parent by
assessing whether it controls an investee. An investor
comrols an nvesiee If and only if the investor has power over
the investee. In assessing whether it has power, an investor
cansiders only substantive rights relating to an investee. For a
right to be substantive, the holder must have the pracilcal
ability 1o exercise that right,

The Group holds a beneficial interest in 49% of the shares ina
company, Haydon Mechanical and Elecirical LLC ('Haydon
LLC?), registered |n the UAE. Whiist the Group took active
steps to dispose of Haydon LLC in 2016, certain completion
conditions associated with the sales transaction have not
been met, and the beneficlal interest in Haydon LLC has as
such been retained by the Group. EY has identified this as 8
significant control dediciency.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reports a net
Nability position. The carrying value of the Group's investment
in this associate has previously been reduced to £nll. and the
Directors do not believe that the Group has Incurred any legal
or constructive obllgations on behalf of this associale.

The Committee reviewed and considered the key judgements
by management. In assessing whether the Group has the
practical abllity to have power over the investee, the Directors
have considered several operational, kega! and reguiatory
barriers which prevent Mears from exerclsing #s rights.

These barriers Included the absence of suitable individuats
willing to provide an executive management service and
resirictions placed upaon the rade licence.

The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Mears
does not have the practical ability to direct the activities of
Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criteria for control.

The judgement of the Directors was supported by external
legal advice which confirmed the significant restrictions
preventing the Group from exercising its rights.

The committee took comiort from the additional work carried
out by EY, and that they iIndependently reached the same
conclusion to that reached by the Executive Directors

and Committes.

GoodwHl impairment

At 31 December 2021, the Group reported goodwill with

a carrying value of £119m. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, management identifted two separately
Identifiable cash flows which are termed as cash-generating
units {CGUs). The two CGUs identified are the continuing
Cave activities {referred to as 'Housing with Care’) and the
Group's other Housing activitles. Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimete of the value In use
of each of the CGUS 10 which goodwilt has been allocated.
The value-in-use calculation Involves an estimate of the
future cash flows of the CGU using the current one-year
budget, extrapolated for five years to December 2026,
requirng a medium-term growth assumption and & general
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an appropriate
discount rate to calculate present values. The Committee
took comfart from the fact thal there was sigrificant
headroom when reviewing any Impairment i the pricr year.

The key assumptlans, and a discussion of how they are
astablished, as well as the sensitivity analysis are described
In note 12 lo the consciidated finencial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised In accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’. IFRS 15 provides a single,
principles-based, five-step mode! to be applied 1o all sales
contracts. It is based on the transfer of control of goods and
services to customers, The accounting policy within nole 2
to ithe consolidated financial statements sets outthe
principat types of contracts and how the revenue |8
recognised in accorgance with IFRS 15,

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates
of future revenues, costs to complete, stage of completion

of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress,
mobisatlon costs and contract assets. Each contractis
treated on its merits and subject to a regulsr revew of

the revenue and costs to compiete that contract. In making
these assessments, there is 8 degree ofinherent uncertainty.
The Group utlises the appropriate expertise in determining
these estimates and has well-established inteenal controls

1o assess and review the expected oulcome.

‘The Audit Committee addressed this area of jJudgement
In the following ways:

— The Committee reviewed the key judgements report
prepared by management, which provided a detailed
explanation in respect of the valuation of unblled
works and the recognition of revenues,

— The Committee ook comfert from the contract
management system which Is central in generating
the valuation of works (both billed and unbilled) and
the integratad process that follows to ensure an
accurate cut-off so that revenue is appropriately
matched to cost. EY carried out substantive testing
of the amounts recoverable on contracts, adopting
a blend of risk-based and random sampling
approaches to testing, and provided detailed
feedback to the Committee in this area.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary focus of the Compliance
Committee during 2021 was directed towards
the following areas:

— Monitoring and review of the Group’s
policies in relation to health, safety and
environmantal (HSE) matters.

= Review of HSE risks and tisk assessments
on the Group risk register and mitigation
actions and controlg related therelo,
Including sub-contracior controls and
related procwement.

= Providing an operation focal poim and
report for KPMG, the Group's independent
internal suditor.

-~ Considering any other signilicanmt HSE
matters, including emerging risks and
unforeseen risks as they arose.

— Providing grester scrutiny on data security
and enhancing the ievel of information
available 10 the main Board,

The continuation ¢f the pandemic ensured that
(he fight against Covid-19 and the necessity o
keep our people and customers sale remained
one of the primary concerns of the Compliance
Committee throughout 2021, The ever-changing
emvironment meanl thare were chaklenges
across our enlire range of operations, most
notably in asylum support end care services,
whilst the Group’s decision Lo take a very
cautious approach 1o the relaxation of control
measures inked to the returm 10 ‘business es
usual’ meant we were able ta quickly respond to
the threal posed by the Omicron vadant. in all,
the Group performed axceptionally well during
these challenging imes.

The Asyium Accommodation and Support
Contract was also a key area of focus as its
operational challenges were impacted by the
unprecedented increase In the number of
asylum saekers entering the couniry,
necessiisting further reliance on hotel-based
accommodation, The Compliance Committeg
provided suppon and guldance to the relevant
teams, Sinked 1o the procurement, maintenance
and day-to-day running of the same and
implemented enhanced governance protocols
1o easure compliance with the Group's internal
procedures and wider regulatory obligations.

The Compliance Comimiliee also worked
closely with the 1eam mabllising the Ministry

of Justice CAS2 cantract, t& ensure rabust
governance palicies and procedures were
embedded into the conract delivery. In this
regard, the Group's knowledge, expertise, and
experience derived from managing the Asylum
Accommedation and Support Contract was
exceptionally benelicial and was a key element
in the very successful deployment of services
during the latter part of the year.

80

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board Is responsible for establishing the
Group's overall risk appetite and ensuring that
the Group has In place an adequate system of
inlemna! conirols. However, in accordance with
the requirements of the Financial Reparing
Councit’s Guidance on Risk Management,
internal Controi andd Related Financial and
Businass Reporting, the responsitifity of
montoeing and reviewing the integrity and
eHecliveness of the Group’s overall systems
of internat conlrols and risk management has
been delegated to the Committee.

The Commitiee also provides the Board with the
assurance that the risk management and imermal
controls systems, including strategic, financial,
operational, and compliance controls, are
sufficlemiy robust to mitigate ihe principal and
amerging risks that may impact the Company.

The system of internal controls Is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business oblectives and can onty
provide reasonable, but not sbsolute, assurance
against malerial misstatemeant or koss. It Includes
ali controls inciuding financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
procedures, These include health and safety,
people. legal compliance. Guality asswance,
insurance, and sacurity, and reputational,

social, ethical, and enviranmental risks,

The Group's principat 1isk report captures and
assesses the principal risks facing the Group.
This forms part of the Group's framework for
determining risk and risk appetite. This gocument
Is updated regularly and Is considerad at both
Committee and Baoard level throughout the
year. Further detalls are included within the
Strategic Repon on pages 46 to 54,

The intesnal audit function carries out work
across the Group, providing independent
asswrance, advice, and nsight 10 help the
crganisation accomplish its objectives by
bringing 2 systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluating and Improving the effectiveness of
risk management, controd, and governance
pracesses. in December 2021, the Audit and
Risk Committee agreed the FY21 pudii pian to
be undertaken by the intemal audit team.

The audit plan coverage is based on risk,
strategic prlarities, and consideration of the
sirength of the control environment. The intemal
sudit function prepares audit reports and
recommendations following each audit, and
appropriate rmeaswres are then taken o ensute
thal afl recommendations are implemented.
Significant issues, if any, are raised at once.
These were ho such Issues in 2021,

The Board has reviewed these procedures angd
considers them appropriate given the nature
of the Group’s operations. The Committea |s
pleased with the addittonal suppon provided
by KPMG.

The Board has adopted a scheme of
delegated authority, with defined financlal
and other autharisation imits and setting
procedures for approving capital and
invesiment expenditure. The Board also
approves detated annwal budgets.

ft subsequently reviews performance against
targets set forth in these plans and budgets.

Trroughout the year, the Group's principat
rigks have been regulatly reviewead by
management 1o psovide assurance on the
robustness, Integrity, and effectiveness of the
systems in piace, inciuding those that could
threaten its business model, Operations, future
performance, solvency. and liquidity.

The Board also seeks lo ensure thal a sound
system of intemal controls, based on the
Group's policies, standards, and procedures,
isin place In afl material assoclate and joint
arraagement entities. Qur systems of Interna!
controls and risk management are designeg
to identify, mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can anly ever
provide ressonable, and not absolute,
assurance egainst material financial
misstalernent or fraud.

The system of Internal cantrols encomEasses
the culture, behaviours, oroanisation design,
policles, standards, procedures, and syslems
that, Llaken together, facilitate its effective and
efficient operation, These internal controls
are based an the "three lines of defence’
principles as detajled on pages 46 and 47

of the Strategic Repot,

The Company's risk-based Internal audit
programrme for 202t was considered and
approved by the Commiltee In December
2020. This programme was developed further
during the year o consider the Company's
principal risks and to identify where they
primaeily occur In the business; thiough
discussions with the Committee and senior
management, by recognising changes withia
the Group and the external environment; and
with consideration to prior audit coverage.

n approving the 202t gudit programme, the
Commitiee considered the coverage of the
principal risks by the proposed audits. It was
agreed that primary focus for 2021 should be
on the folowing areas:
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RISK MANAGEMENT

— Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurence review

~ Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS
— Core controls spot checks
— Schame of Delegated Authorlty

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

.— Management of key conltracts

~ Peaople management and HR processes

— Legal and compliance framework

— Branch spot vislts including business
continuity and sub-contractor management

— IT systems, conlrols, and secuiity

There has been good sponsarship of internal
sudit from the senior management team ang it
is pleasing to observe the positive tone al the
top In terms of openness to discussion of
issues, agreement of action plans and a
commitment ta doing the right thing,

From the core controls work completed to date,
no high priority gaps were identified; however,
in & few areas there is 8 need 10 ensure that
processes are being followed and for control
activity 10 be formally dacumented and
evidenced. This is also important within the
wider regulatory conmtext where there are
emerging requirements for public Interest
entities to have a documented cantrol
framework and in due course an articulated
Audit & Assurance Policy,

There Is a culiure across the Group of actlive
monitoring by executive and senlor
management. Our focus this year was on
management’s oversight of branches.
Internal audlts were carried out on two key
contracts and a further three branch audits
were compleied, and the themes identified
during those audits will be developed further.

The 2022 programme was considerad and
approved by the Committee in December 2021
and performance against this planwill be
reparted in next year's Annual Report.

The Company has in place internal control and
risk management systerms in relation to the
Company's financizl reporting process and the
Group's process for the preparatian of the
cansolidated financial statements which are
produced by the Group finence function, which
is responsible for the review and compliation of
reports and financial resuits from each of the

operating subsidiaries in accordance with the
Group reporting procedures. The consolidated
financial statements are supported by detabed
working papers, The Audit Cormmittee is
responsible for overseeing and monitoring
these processes, which are designed 10 ensure
that the Company complies with relevant
regulatory reporting and filing requirements,

As st the and of the period coverad by this
report, the Audit Commitiee, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer
and tha Chief Finenciail Officer, evaiuated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures designed
10 ensure that infoermation required to be
disclosed in financial reports Is recorded,
processed, summarised, and reported within
specifled time periods.

We have conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of our risk manzgement system
and Intemal controt systems In accordance with
the UK Carparate Governance Code. Part of this
review involves reguiar review of our financial,
operational and complance controls, following
which we report back to the Board on our work
and findings as described above. This allowed
us 10 provide positive assurance 1o the Bosed to
assist it in making the statemenis that our risk
management and intemal control systems are
effective, as required by the UK Corparate
Governance Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor engagement was
re-tendered in 2020, at which point EY was
appointed, replacing Grant Thornton UK LLP,
which had been appointed since 1996.

The Senior Statutory Auditor, Paul Mapleston,
1S required to rotate after a maximum of five
yesrs, the year ending December 2024,
belng his last possible financial year.

The Committee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 In accordance
with the current segulation that requires a
tender every 10 years.

Annually, the Committee reviews the external
avditor's audit plan and reviews and assesses
information proviged by it confirming I1s
independence and objectivity within the
context of applicable reguiatory requirements
and professional standards.
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The Committee also reviews the auditor's
effectiveness, which involves assessment

of the auditor by the Committee and key
Executives; and confirmation that the auditor
meets minimum standards of qualification,
ndependence, expertise, effectiveness,

and communication. These assessments

are carried out prior to the Committee
recommmending 1o the Board that the external
auditer be proposed for reappointment at
the Compary's AGM,

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company has adopted a strict policy of
prohiblting the external auditor from carrying
out non-audlt services, to safeguard audit
cbjectivity and Independence. The Committee
is responsibie for approve! of all non-audit
services provided by EY, however, this is in
exceptional circumstances only. In such an
exceptional event, the Audii Committee would
approve such work enly where the Company
woulkd be disadvantaged by engaging an
alternative provider, for instance where EY
possesses a detailed knowledge of the
structure of the business or sn understanding
of the markets within which the Group
operates. No non-audil services were
provided by EY during 2023

J Clarke

Audit and Compiiance
Committee Chairman
fim.clarke@mearsgroup.co.uk

3V March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets
out the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

antlng attendance

C Loughiin

4Unwin

JClarke

R Irwin

K Murphy

S15)615|3

€ Loughlin
Remuneration
Committee Chairman
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Dear shareholders

I am pleased to present the Directors'
Remuneration Repart for the year ended
31 December 202).

This report s made up of three parts;

— This Annual Statement, where 1 set ouy
details of the key decisions of the
Remuneration Comrittee and the business
context within which they were taken.

- An abridged verston of the Direclor's
Remuneration Policy, which was approved
by sharehoiders fn June 2020

= The Annual Report on Remuneration,
which sets out detalls of fi) remuneration
earned by Directors and the knk belween
Company performance and pay in the year
ended 31 December 2021 and (il how we
intend to implement the Directors’
Remuneration Policy in 2022,

There will be an advisory shareholder vote on
the Annual Statement and the AnnualReport
on Remuneration at tha 2022 AGM,
Shereholders approved the current Directors’
Remuneration Policy at the 2020 AGM and this
is intended o apply for a three-year penod up
to the 2023 AGM,

Business context

2021 was a very strong year for the Group.

We entered the year in a lockdown which
restricted our activities, but by the half year,

much of the business had retumed to almost
normal operations and contrectust conditons.
Activity continued to bulld throughout the second
half of the year and this resulted In higher work
volumes and 8 more active bidding process.

As mentioned Inthe Chalrman’s letter earlier
Inthis Annual Report, our resilience in
performance is down to three main factors,
Our staff have been exemplary during the year,
a continuation trom 2020. They hava
demonstrated extraordinary dedlication and

# clear focus on service and delivering for

our customers. Our strength of customer
relationships has led to effactive cooperative
working between client and provider. Finally,
our |T platform has been integral to delivering
our high quality. responsive service,

This is reflected in our financial results, with
revenue increasing by 9% to £878m, wihich is
very close to pre~pandemic revenue in 2015,
Adjusted PBT increased to £25.6m and we
ended the year with a net cash balance of
£54.6m. Underlying cash conmversion of over
100% in the fast two years has, along with
sirategic disposals, ransformed the'Group’s
Anancial position and created the cumrent
position of balance sheet strength which Mears
Is determined 0 retain into the future, In 2021
we reinstated the dividend and the Board has
proposed a final dividend of 5.50 pence per
share, bringing the 101al dividend for the year
lo B.D peace per share.

For the third successive year we have secured
our placein the Sunday Times Best Companies
list of top 25 large companies to work for in the
UK, with our 2021 score higher than the
previous two years. QOur staff and therefore our
employee proposition Is very important to us
and during the year, following feedback from
employees, we have implemented the
following initiatives:

— Improved hallday and sick pay for front line
operatives.

= Building the workforce of tomorrow,
through Investing In apprentices,
supporting the Kickstar programme and
¢reatling new entry level roles 1o drive
soclal mobility.

«  Introducing ftexible benefits and enabilng
& better batance between home and
office working.

== Providing excellent communication and
support around Covid and maintairing the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadly.

«= Increasing investment in staff, through
bespoke training such as our Emarge
development programme, for staff
looking to progress to senior
management pasitions.

- We remain one of the very few Listed
Companies with an Employee Director
onthe Maln Board,

- Exlevnaly appoinied Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Hausing Diversity Netwark, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publish our first
‘ethnicity gap' report by the end of 2022,
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— Providing comprehensive mental health
and wellbeing support, especially given
the difficull situations many of our staff
face on 8 day-to-day basis,

INCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2021
Annual bonus

As set out In the business context section
above, the Group continued to make good
progress against its key stratagic objectives,
focusing on core housing actlvities and
reducing indebiedness,

The 2021 annual bonus was based 40% on
Group profli before tax, 30% on average daily
net debt and 30% on strategic objectives
refating 1o customers, employees and the
generation of social value, These targets were
sal early in the year and ware not adjusted at
any point thereafier. The achievements against
the largets were as follows:

- Profit before tax (30%)

— The Group delvered adjusted profit bafore
tax on all activities of £26.5m, which was
within the target range of £23.\/m to £28.1m.
This Is Bssessed on all aclivities comprising
a PBT of £25.6m on continuing activities,
additional fair value of £1.Im from the sale of
Terraquest, and a sundry loss of £0.2m in
respect of the discontinued Care activities

— Average daily net debt (30%)

— The Group reported a small datly net cash
balance, meaning the threshold and stretch
target of £64.4m and £43.9m of average
daily net debt respectively was achieved

- Empioyea angagement, customer
satisfaction and soclal value
genersted (30%)

— Our employee engagement criterion was
measured by reference to inclusion within
The Sunday Times bast companies to work
for, which was achleved

— The cusiomer satisfaction criterion was
assessed differently this year as a result
of the pandemic Impacting upon our
interaction with the client. Mears has
adopted altenative methods of working
since the onset of covid-19, with the
primary focus belng on ensuring the
safety of our employees, customers, and
service-users, Ultimately, the acciden
frequency rate which includes all measures
with ragard our working pracifces and
provislons of delivering essentlal services
throughoul the pandemic, it is the most
relevant measure of success In 2021,

The Group 5 delighted to report an
AFR of 0.19 {shead of target of 0.24).

— The social value generated was In excess of
€3,000 per employee, which was above the
maximum stretch target of £2,794 which
required 20% growth on the prior year

Overall, the strong performance over the year
resulted in a formulaic bonus outcome of 88%
of the maximum, 67% of the bonus will be paid
in cash, with the baiance deferred in shares for
three years.

The Remuneration Committee believes this
outcome is appropriate and fuly reflects the
strong financial snd opereting performance of the
Group during the year, As a reminder, pror to
202t the Remuneration Committee had applied
significant negative discretion on the formulaic
bonus outcomes for financial years 2018, 2019
and 2020, Such discretion was not deemed
necessary In respect of 2021 performance.

LTIP outcome

There were no long-lerm incentive plan {LTIF}
awards capable of vesting for performance
ending in 2021. The first awards to be granted
during the year under the LTIP adapted as part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy approved
at the 2020 AGM were made in June 2021

and these will vest in June 2024,

Update on 2020 annual bonus

As set outin last year's report, the annual
bonus for 2020 was scaled back to reflect
anumber of factors. The resulting bonus
outcome was 46,6% of salary. In accordance
with the agreed Policy, one third of the bonus
was deferred in shares and the remainder,
which should have been pald in cash shortly
after the 2020 year end, was withheld by the
Company. The Committee determined that this
withhefd cash amount would be released at an
appropriate time In 2021, taking into account
business recovery and the impact on our
shareholders. Following the recavery of the
business, the cash element was released to
the Executive Directors in Oclober 2021.

Mears-wide pay review

At a time when unemployment is low and where
competition for resowces labour is high, it has
never been more impornant for Mears to continue
its commitment to being a great place to work for
ouwr staff. Mears is committed 10 fine tuning our
employee brand proposition, emphasising more
clearly the benefits of working for Mears. We will
continue ouwr progressive approach of enhancing
packages to enhance retertion.

Glven the significant cost of living increases
pressures being encountered by our staff,

we were very focussed on directing as

much of the increase 1o the lowest pald.

The outcome of the 2022 pay review was 8
4% Increase applied to the first £40,000 of
basic pay for all our employees (except where
certain employees pay s inked to national

or local agreements). The weighted average
increase in base salaries across the group
has been calculated as cirea 3.4%. including the
mandatory requirement to apply Statutory
Living Wage increases which predominantly
relates to our Housing with Care activities.

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2022

Base salaries

The Committee has agreed that the Executive
team will have a£1,600increase, being in line
with the workforce, from 1 April 2022 who were
awarded a 4% pay Increase, but capped at
£1,600. The Committee intends to review base
salary positionlng Iater in the year, with any
proposed increases disclosed in nextyear's
repart and applying from 1 April 2023
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Annual bonus 2022

Following on fram the above, the Commitiee
has considered both the measures and targets
for 2022. We have decided that alt measures
should remain the same for 2022 as was the
case In 2021, Similarly, the Committee has
decided that the ssme welghtings applied to
each performance target will remain the same
as the previous year, being profit before tax
{40%), average daily net cash/{debt) (30%).
customer satisfaction (10%), employee
engagemen (10%) and the generation of soclal
value (10%). The specific targets for each of
these measures have aiso been set o reflect
the achievements in 2021. The actual targets
for 2022 and petformance outcomes will be
reportedin next year's report in 2023,

LTIP 2022

The secand awards under the LTIP adopted
as part of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
approved at the 2020 AGM will be made in
2022 at a level of 100% of salary to each of
the Executive Directors. The LTIP consists

of two measures, being EPS growth and total
sharehalder return (TSR} measurad relative to
the FTSE SmallCap {excluding Investmert
trusts, financial services and natural resource
companies). The Committee will consider
return on capital employed (ROCE)
performance in assessing the outcome for the
EPS component and the Commitiee has the
ability to reduce the vesting outcome If
performance is inconsistent with the
performance of the business or individuat
during the three-year performance period.

Pension

Pension contributions for the current Executive
Directors for 2021 will be 15% of salary.

This contribution level will reduce from 15% of
salary 10 8 level aligned with the workforce by
1 January 2023. The contribution leve! for any
new Executive Director hires will be aligned
with the workforce Immediately on jolning.

Conclusion

The last two years have been challenging for
many businesses. The Group has performed
well In the unforeseen circumstances and has
made strong progress n delivering against its
strategic priorities. The protection of our siaff,
of our customers, and our shareholders and
other stakeholders, while re-shaping the
business, have been our priorities.

| believe the Committee has put its mind to the
matter of Executive Pay matters In a serlous and
thorough way and has been faithful to the Palicy
that we consulied with our shareholders on in
preparation for its adoption this time last year.

| am happy lo receive feedback from the
Company's shareholders. Please get in touch
with me direct, or via the Company Secretary,
Ben Westran.

€ Loughlin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
31March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

REMUNERAYION FRAMEWORK ~ AT A GLANCE
The following section sels out our remuneration framework, a summary of how our Palicy was applled in 2021 in the comest of our business
performance, and from page 95 details of how the Commities intends to imptement the Policy i 2022,

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION

The Commitiee believes IL is important that, for Exacutive Directors and senior management, a significant proportion of the remuneration package
should be pedformance refaled, and the performance conditions applying to incentive arrangemeants should support the delivery of the Company's
sirategy. The following table sets out how the annuat bonus scheme and LTiP reflect the Group's strategic priorities:

Qur strategy
pening Increasing qualtity Growing and Developing Continue
our client leadership improving our peaple {0 innovate
relationships our business
How we have measured progress against these objectives
— Exceptional health and safety performance, with ihe Group being - Continue to unwind the Group's Hausing Developrient activities

awarded its 19th consecutive ROSPA Gold Award and retaining its wilft & positive impact to net gebt
place oan RaSPA’s Order of Merit. — Top 25 Sunday Times ‘Best Compames'

w— Impravement in Group operating praft margins

How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan |

Annual bonus (capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)

Adjusted Average - Customaer Employes value
operating profit daily net debt satisfaction engagement 10%)
(40%) {30%} ’ {10%) Ho%)

LTIP (capped at 100% of salary with 3-year performance targets)

Totat shareholder Earnings per !
return share
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TAKING ACCOUNT OF THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In implementing our Policy during the course of 2021 and in planning for its Implementalion in 2022, we have béen careful to lake full Becount of the

provisions of the Code and it wil continue (o bie & key touchstone for the Committee. In summary, with regard o how we have sought to comply with

the six factors outlined in Provision 40 of the Code, we believe the following are worthy of particular note:

- Clarity — the Policy Is well understood by our Directors and has been clearly articulated to shareholders and proxy voting agencies.

— Simpllcity — the remuneration structure Is simpie and transparent and we have purposefully avoided any compiex structures which have the
potential 1o deliver unintended outcomes.

— Risk - our Policy and approach to target setting seek to discourage any inappropriate risk-taking. A balanced scorecard of financis! and
non-financial objectives applies to the annual bonus scheme and the targets are appropriately stretching, te mitigate the risk of Inappropriate
actions belng taken, Malus and claw back provistans apply.

- Predictability — executives’ incentive arrangements are subject to individuat participation caps. An indication of 1he range of values n packages
is provided in the reward scenario charts on page 88. Deferred bonus and LTIP awards provide alignment with the share price and their values
will depend on share price at the time of vesting.

— FProportionality — there Is a clear link between Individual awerds, delivery of stralegy and our long-term performance.

= Alignment to culture — pay and palicies cascade down the organisation and are fully aligned to Mears’ culture.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY ~ A SUMMARY

The Directors' Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting and is intended to apply for a period of
three years Inciuding the 2021 financlat year. An abridged version of the Policy which sets out the key aspects is set out below {to Include updated
charts itlustrating the application of Remuneration Policy in 2021) and the full original Policy can be found In the 2019 Annual Report and on the
Company website.

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE
The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for Executive Directors:

Objective and Performance measures

link 1o strategy Qperation Maximum opportunity and assessment
Base salary Salaries will be ellgible for increases during the  The Commilttee is guided by  Not applicable.
The purpose of the base threa-year pefiod that the Remuneration Policy  the general Increase for the
salary is to: operates. The Committee reviews base salarles broader employee poputation

annually with any change typicatty effective bul may decide to sward a

— help recruit and retain
individuals of the
necessary calitire to
execute the business
strategy;

- reflect the individual's
experience, role engd
contribution within the
Group; and

-  ensure fair reward for
‘doing the job'.

from 1 April.

The Committea will retain the dlscretion to
Increase an individual's salary where there

Is a significant difference between current
levels and a market competitive rate.

When determining base salaries and whether
to increase levels the Committee will 1ake the
following into consideration:

- the performance of the individual Executive
Director;

—~ theindividual Executive Director's
experience and responsibilities;

= theimpact on flxed cO51s of any increase;

- pay and conditions throughout the
Group; and

— the economic environment.

When setting the salary levels for the Executive
Directors, in addition to the factors summarised
above, salary levels paid by companies of a
simiar size and complexity to Mears are taken
into account.

lower increase for Executive
Directors orindeed exceed
this to recognise, Tor example,
anincrease in the scale, scope
or responsibility of the role
andfor to take into account
relevant market movements.

Maars Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objactive and !ink to
strategy

Operation

Performance measures
Maximum opportiunity and sasessment

Pension

To provide a framewornic ta
save for retirerment thal is
appropriately competitive,

The Company may contribute directly into an
accupational pension scheme {(an Executive
Pirector’s personal pension) or pay a salary
supplement in keu of pension. f appropriate,
a salary sacrifice srrangemant can apply.
Only the base salary is pensionable.

The curtent Executive Not applicable.
Directors receive & contributian
of up 1o 15% of salary.

Any new Executive Director
appolintments ta the Board
after 1 January 2020 wili
receive a pension contribution
{in percentage of salary terms)
in line with the prevailing
cantribution for the majarity of
the Mesrs warkforce. 2020 witi
receive 8 pension contribution
{in percenmage of salary terms)
in line with the prevaiting
contribution for the majority of
the Mears workforce.

Annual bonus

To reward and incentivise the
achievement of annual largets
linked to the delivery of the
Company's sirategic priorities
for the year.

86

Bonus measwas and largels are reviewed

annually and any payout is determined by the
Committee after the end of the financial year,
based on performante against targets set for

the one-year financial period.

Up ta 67% of any bonys that becames paysble
I paid In cash with ihe remainder deferred Inlo

shares for three years.

Deferrad bonus shaie awards typlealy vest

subject to continyed employment.

ndividuals may be able to recatve a dividend
equivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at
the time of vesting equat to the value of
dividends which would have accrued during the
vasting periad. The dividend aquivaient payment
may assume the reinvesunent of dvdends ona

cumulative basis.

In the event that there was {l) 8 matenial
missiatement of the Company's resulis; (il 8
miscalculation or an assessment of any
pesformance conditions that was based on
Incorrect information; (§i} miscandguct an behalf
of an individual; (iv} the occurrence of an
insolvency or eaministration event; tv)
reputational damage; or [vi) sericus heallh and
safely events; malus and/or clawback provisions
may apply for three years from the aate of
payment af any bonus of the grant of any

deferred bonus share award,

Meximum bonus potential is Bonus perfformance measures

capped &t 100% of salary for are se! annuslly and will be

Executive Directors, predominantly based on
challenging financisd wargets seq
in lina with the Groupy's strategle
priorities and (ailored to each
frdividuat role as apiwopriate: for
example, targets refating to
adjusted eamings. For a minority of
tha bonus, stratagic or aperatianal
abjectives may operate.

The Comimittee has the discretian
to valy the performance measures
used [rom year to year depending
oh the strategic priarities at the
start of each year. Details of the
performance measures for the
retevant inancial year will be
provided in the Annuat Repart on
Rexnunavation and actual targets
will be disclosed relrospectivaty.

For financial targets, and where
practicable in respect of cperationa!
or strategic targets, bonus siarts o
aocrue once the threshold arnget is
met {up o 20% payable) fising on a
graduated scale to 100% for stretch
performance.

The Commitiee may adjust bonus
outcomes, based on the
appfication of the bonus formula
set at the s1art of the relevant year,
if it considers the quantum to be
Inconsistent with the performance
of the Comparny. business ar
indivioual during the year. For the
avoidance of doubt this can be to
zerg and bonuses may not exceed
the maximum levels detalled
above, Any use of such discretion
waould be detailed in the Annual
Reporton Remuneration.
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Objective and iink to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Parformance measures
and assessmemt

Benefits

To provide benefits that are
vaiued by the reciplent and are
appropriately competitive.

The Executive Directors may receive benefits
including a Company-provided car or an
aliowante [n lleu, life assurance and private
medical Insurance. Cther additional benefits
may be provided where appropriate, Benefits In
kind are not pensionable,

Beneflt values vary year on
year depending on premiums
and the maximum potential
value is the cost of these
provisions.

Not applicable.

Long-term [ncentive plan

Its purpose is 1o incentlvise
and reward the dellvery of
strategic priorities and
sustained performance over
the {onger terem,

To provide greater aignment
with shareholders’ Interests.

The LTIP provides for awards of free shares {Le.
either canditional shares or nil or nominat cost
options) normally on an annual basis which are
eligibile tg vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of
challenging performance conditlons. ltis
anticipated that the first award under this scheme
for cument Directors will be made in 2021,

Vested awards are subject 1o a two-year
post-vesting holding period. In exceptional
circumstances such as due to regutatory or
legal reasons, vested awards may aiso be
setlad in cash.

Dwidend equivalent payments may be
made on vested LTIP awards and may
assumne the relnvestment of dividends,
0N a cumylative basls.

In the event that there was (i} a materiat
misstatement of the Company's resulls; {li) 8
miscalculation or an assessment of any
perfarmance conditions based on incorrect
information; (i) misconduct on behalf of an
individual, {iv) the occurrence of an insolvency
or administration event: (v} reputational damage;
or (vi) serious health and safety events, malus
and/or clawback provisions may apply for three
years from an award becoming eligible to vest.

In any financial yess,
performance shares with a face
value of up te 100% of salary {or
150% of salary on an exceptional
basls, such as in recrultment
cases)may be granted to an
Executive Director.

The actuat grant level will take
into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the numbear of awards made In
previous years.

The actusl grant level will take
nto account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made in
previous years.

The Commitiee may sel such
performance conditions on
LTIP awards as it considers
appropriate reflecting the
medium-term priorities of the
Group. The ¢choice of measures
and their weightings witl be
determined prior t¢ each grant.

Up to 25% of awards will vesi for
threshold performance with full
vesting taking place for equalling,
o1 exceeding, the maximum
performance targets. No awards
vest for performance below
threshold, A graduated vesting
scale gperates between threshold
and maximum performance levels.

The Committee may adjust LTIP
vesting ouicomes, based on the
result of testing the performance
condition, if it considers the
quanturm 1o be nconsistent with
the performance of the Company.
business or individual during the
three-year performance period.
For the avoidance of doubt this
can be to zero. Any use of such
discretion would be detailed in the
Annual Report on Remuneration.

All-employee share plans
Encourages employees to own
shares In order to Increase
alignment over the longer term.

All employees are eligible to participate in the
Company’s Share Incentive Plan (SIP}and share
save plan (Save As You Earn).

Under the terms of the share save plan, all
employaes can apply for ttwee or flve-year
options to acquire the Company’s shares priced
at adiscount of up to 20%.

Under the terms of the SIP, the Company

can choose o offer free shares, partnership
shares, maiching shares {up to two for one on
any partnership shares purchased) and/or
dividend sheres.

In addition, the Company operales a
discretionary unapproved share pian and
a Company Share Option Plan {CSOP).
No awards to Executive Directors are
proposed under these plans.

Under the SIP, share save plan
and CSOP, the maximum
amount is equal to the HMRC
limits set from time to time.

Not applicable.
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Corparate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION FOLICY

The Company's Remuneration Policy results in a skignificant proportion of remuneration received by Executive Direciars belng dependent on
Company performance. The composition and icotal value of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages for minimum, on-target and maximum
performance scenarios, along with a maximum performance scenario with a share price growth assumption included, are set out in the graph belaw.

ASSUMPTIONS:

Minimum performance includes only fixed pay (base salary for 2022, the value of 2021 benefits as per the single figure of remuneration table and
3 15% salary pension contribution).

On-arget performance includes fixed pay and assumes an annual bonus payout of 50% of maximum and 25% vesting of 8 100% of salary grant of
LTIP awards.

Maximum performance includes fixed pay and assumes {ull bonus and 100% LT\P vesting.

Maximum performance with share price growth as per maximum but with 50% share price growth assumed on LTIP awards.
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CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
The Bosrd as & whale Is respansible for setting the remuneration of the Norn-Executive Directors, ather than the Chair, whase remuneration is
determined by the Committee and recommended to the Board.

The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors,

Cbjective and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures
and assessment

To provide compensation that
attracts individuals with appropriate
knowledge and experience.

Fee levels are reviewed periodically
taking Into account independent
advice and the time commitment

required of Non-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chair and the
fees of the other Non-Executive
Directors aim to be competitive with
other listed comparties which the
Commitiee (in the case of the
Chalkrman) and the Roard {in respect
of the Non-Executive Directors)
consider to be of equivalent size
and complexily.

Non-Executive Direclors receive a
base fee and additional respensibifity
fees for undentaking the rofe of Senior
Independert Director or for
membership andlir chalrmanship of
certain Committees.

In exceptional dircumstances, i

there is a temporary yet material
increase in the time commitment far
Non-Executive Directors, the Board
may pay exira fees on a pro-rala
basis lo recognise the additional
workload involved.

The Chair receives a single fee and
daes not receive any additional fees
for membership and/ar chalemanship
of Commitiees.

Non-Executive Directors alsa
receive relmbursement of
reasonable expenses {(snd any tax
thereon) Incurred through
undertaking their duties and/or
Company business.

Any Increase in Non-Executive
Director bese fees or additional
responsibility fees may be above the
level awsrded to other employees,
given that they may only be

Non-Executive Director faes
are not performance refated,
Non-Executive Directors do
not receive any variable
remuneration element.

reviewed periodically and may need .

to reflect any changes to time
commitments or responsibiities.
The Company will pay reasonable
expenses incutred by Non-
Executive Directars.

Current fee levels are setoutin
the Statement of Implementation
on page 95.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

89

IINYNEIAOD FLVHOIUOD 1HOJIY 19IIVHLS

SININALYLIS TVIONYNIE

NOILVYWNOAN] ¥3QT10HIUVHS

\Y

N

A\Y




Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This seclion of the Directors' Remuneration Report contains details of how the Cempany's Directors’ Remuneration Policy was implemented during
the financial year ended 3t December 2021 and how it wiit be imptemented for the following vear,

SINGLE TOQTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION (AUDITED]

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The remunaration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between efements and comparative figures is set out baidw, Figures provided
have been calculated in accordance with the reguiations.

Fheeg

Executlve Director Taxable and bmle:hs.y Annual {ong-term Varighle pay Totat
{'000) Year Satary’ benefns' Panglon® sub-total botys? Incenthves sub-total  ramwneration
D J Miles 2021 400 25 60 485 153 -~ 353 838
020 333 26 58 477 123 - 123 500

2021 267 n 40 B 235 - 235 553

A C M Smith 2020 262 5 39 30 82 - 82 392
202 218 " 33 262 193 - 193 455

Along 2020 214 15 32 26! 67 — 67 328

1 Benefits Included 8 COMpany-proviced tar of an Allowance in llaw, Hfe pssurance and private medical Ingurance.
2 Executive Dirgclors received a cash allowanca in Beu of pension.
3 Full detalls of the annual bonus outcomes ang SEL Gul in the section below.

ACDITIONAL DETAILS 1IN RESPECT OF SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION TABLE (AUDITED)

The performance measwes and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 Dacembes 2021 are delalled below,

The annual bonus measures chosen for 2021 were dependent upon achievement of a number of tamets detalied below, 70% of the annusl bonus was
linked to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic objectives relating to customer satisfaction, employee engagement and monetary
social value genesaied. The aciual performance achieved In raspect of the annual bonus for 2021 is 230 summerised below against each target.

Thresheold Maximum

~of [%of  Threshold Actua)
ghting i i target Maximum  parformance for  Bonus sutcome
Meaxys [% of salary) payebie} _paysble) for 2021 for 2021 2021 (%ol salary)
Adjusted Group operating prafit® 40% 20% 100% £232m £28Im £26.5m 30%
Average dally nel debt™ 30% 20% 100% £64.4m £43.9m {£0.5m) 30%
Achieved,
Custemer satisTaction™ 0% 20% 100% nfa n/a sew below 0%
Employee engagement; Sunday Times, Best
Big Campanies score January 2022)M 10% 20% 100% £59.2 675 &0 8%
Creation of sociai value® 0% 20% 100% £2,540 £2794 £2,600 0%

1 Adjusted Group profit Defore 1ax 15 stated before the amorisation of acguisition iMangRies and non-undertying kems. 1t s 25585520 on o activities compeising & PBT of
£25 6m on contirng activities, adaiiionai fair value of $1,tm fram (ke sale of Terreguest during 2021, and a loss of £0.2m In respect of the discontinued Care activides.

iy Aversge cely net debt s derhved from 365 -0y Sverag Dpnk statement balance. The putcome fol the year was a positive cash average daily cash position.

{if) The Customer satisFaction Criterion was assessed differently this year as 8 result of the pandentic iImpacting upon our interaction with [he client, Medrs has adopted
Alarnative methods of warking since the onset of covid-19, with the primary focus being an ansuring the salely of our employees, customers, and S¢rvice-users.
Littimately, the sccident frequency rate which lnciudes 2l measures with regard Our warking practices and provisions of delivering essential services throughtul the
pandemic, it s the most netevant measune of success i 202t The Group reported an AFR of 015 (shasd of argel of 0.24).

v/ The empioyee engagement measune is sat AgaINst the overal scone awarded (9 1 Sroup by e Sundyy Times in the Sest Companies swards.

v} Social vaiue 's independentty assessed uUtiising a soclal value measucement (ool and is expressed a2 an amount generated per empioyee.

The annual bonus mechanism resulted in an aggregate bonhus entiliement across the theee Executive Directars of £267.000 which is included within

the single total figure of remuneration, Two-thirds of 1his entittement is paid in cash and one-third of the bonus entitlement will be deferred in shares
far 3 period of three years.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' SINGLE FIGURE
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below. Figures provided
have been calculated In accordance with the regulations.

Variable

Chairman and Non-Executive Salery/ Taxsble Fixed pay Annual Long-term pay Total
Director {£'000) Year fees! beneiits Pansion sub-tatal honus incenives sub-total remuneration
K Murphy 201 160 — - 160 - = — 160
K Murphy 2020 147 - - 147 - - — 147
JUnwin 2021 63 - - 63 — - - 63
J Unwin 2020 55 - — 55 — — - 55
J Clarke 2021 68 - - 68 — - - 68
J Clarke 2020 52 - - 52 - — - 52
C Loughin 2021 70 - - 70 — - — 70
Cioughlin 2020 56 - - 56 — - - 56
C Glbbar® 202 56 — - 56 - - - 56
C Gibbarc® 2020 23 - — 23 - — - 23
G Davies' 2021 38 - - 38 - - - 38
G Davies’ 2020 69 - - 69 - - - 69
JBurt! 2021 - - - - - - - -
J8urtt 2020 18 - - 18 — - -

A Hillerty? 201 — — - - - - - -
A Hillerty? 2020 1 — —_ 1 — - —_ L]
R Irwin' 2021 43 - - 43 - = — 43
R Irwin' 2020 78 - - 78 - - - 78
C Gibbard? 2021 56 - - 56 - - - 56
C Gibbard® 2020 23 - — 23 - - — 23

Variations betwean the figunes above and the approved fee rates relate to the pert-yesr impact for changes in the Commitiee membership.

]

2
3
4

J Burt stepped down from the Board in March 2020.
A Hillerty stepped down from the Board in February 2020.
R Irwin and G Davies stepped down from the Board in June 2021

To reflect the challenges the business encountered during the Covid-18 lockdown. the Non-Executive Directors elected to lake 2 20% reduction in fees between

April and Ociober 2020

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR
The faflowing LTIP awards were granted on 10 June 2021:

Face value Number Thresholdwvesting  Maximum vesting End of
Director as % of aalary Face value' of shares {% of face value) (% of face velue)  performance period
D J Mies 100% £402444 213,876 25% 100% 31 March 2023
A CM Smith 100% £268,332 142,603 25% 100% 31 March 2023
AlLong 100% £219544 116,675 25% 100% 31 March 2023

The face value of the awards is based on a share price of £188.2p, being the 3-day average share price direcHy prior to the grant of the award.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The awards have been granted in the form of nominal cast aptions and will normally become exercisable on 10 June 2024, Awards may become
exercisable subject to the achievement of reiative TSR (50%) and EPS [SO%) performance conditions

Descrigtion Weighting < ton Targets
Total shareholder  50% Refative TSR versus the constitwents of the FTSE SmalCap Threshofd: Median [25% ves{s)
retum fexcluding Investment trusis, finandal services and natural resources Maximum: Upper Quartile (100% vests)

comparnies) measured over a three-year performance period.

Eamings 50% Adjusted EPS target relating to the 2023 finansial year. Nane of this part - Threshold: 20 pence (25% vesls)
per share of the award will vest If 2023 EPS is less than 20 pence; 25% shallvest  Maximum; 25 pence {100% vests)
far EPS of 20 pence, increasing ta fult vesting for 25 pence or higher. The
Comenittee wili consicder ROCE performance over tha performance
pariod and may reduce the EPS vesting outcome # the Committee is not
satisfied that the fevel of EPS vesting is justified on account of the
Group’s ROCE over the performance period,

tn addition, the Commitiee retains discretion to reduce the overall LTIR vesling level if it considers that the underlying business performance of
the Company goes not Justify vesting (teking imo considerstion & range of faciors, nduding, for example. ROCE performanca). if the Committee is
not satisfied inat the formulaic vesting outcome is algned with undenying Group performance then it may reduce (potentially 1o zerc) the vesting
outcome, Awards granted 1o Executive Direclors are adgitionalty subjec! 1o a lwo-year holding petiod folowing tha vesting date.

Awards granted to Executive Directors are adaiionally subject 1o a two-year holding perod following the vesting date.

The folfowing deferred bonus share awards were granted during the year in respect of bonus earned for periormance in the 2020 financial year:

Director Date of gram Number of deferred shares granted Vesting date

D J Miles 10 Juna 2021 32,45 10 June 2024
A CMSmith 10 June 201 21499 10 June 2024
Along 10 Jyne 2021 17,590 10 June 2024

1 The face velue of the awsrgs is based on » share price of 188.2p, being the 3-day average shere price diréchly prior 1o the grond of the award.
Awards were grented in the form of nomins! cost options.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS [AUDITED)
Directors' share interests as at 31 December 2021 are sat out helow:

Number of Cplions Options subject Unvested Total

beneficially vested but ot toperformance  deferred bopus Imgrezts haid
Director gwrved sheres exarchied conditions Awprds atyeur end Shrehokling guikieline met?
P 1 Mies 336,769 ~ 213,876 32245 582,890 173% of salary; guideline not met
ACM Smith 199,333 - 141,603 21499 363435 155% of 58iry; guideiine not met
Along 92,957 ~ 16,675 17580 C 221322 95% of salary; guideling not met

There wete No changes to the holdings set oul above from the period 31 December 2021 1o date of sign off,
No Non-Executive Director holds an interest in shares.
The current Execuiive Directors each have a shareholding requirement of 400% of salary. As ar 31 December 2021, based on beneficially owned

sharas and deferred bonus awards (on a net of 1ax basts), D J Miles, A C M Smith and A Long had shareholdings equat to 173%, 155% and 95% of their
base salanes (based on a share price of £1.88).
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SHAREMOLDER DILUTION
In accordance with the investment Associstion’s guidelines, the Company can issue a2 maximum of 10% of Its |ssued share capital in a rolling 10-year
period to employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary or Executive

plans. The Company operales all Hs share plans within these guidelines.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE {UNAUDITED)
The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Index and the FTSE
All-Share Support Services Index over the past 10 years. The Company Is & constituent of both indices and these peer groups are considered to
provide relevant comparisons.

The table below shows the Chlef Executive Officer’s remuneration package over the past 10 years, together with incentive payout/vesting as

compared to the maximum opportunity.

Single flgure Long-term Incentive vesting {as
of total remunaration Bonus payout (as % maximum opportunity}

Year Name (£'000) % maximum opportunity}
2021 D J Miles 838 B8B% -
2020 0 J Miles 600 47% —
2019 D J Miles 469 - -
208 0 J Miles 455 - -
7 D J Miles 443 - -
2006 D J Milas 436 - -
2015 D J Miles 436 - 20%
2014 D J Miles a2 - 35%
2013 D J Miles 825 - 100%
2012 D J Miles 409 - -
20m D J Miles 384 - -
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Corporate qovernance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS COMPARED WITH OTHER EMPLOYEES (UNAUDITED)
The table below compares the percentage change in the remuneration of the Directors with thet of the wider employee population for the Jast
WO years.

Remninerstion

Salaryfes Benefits Bonusincentives

2024 2020 2024 2020 2021 2020
D JMies 2.0% 20% (4%} - 187% -
A C M Smith 2.0% 2.0% 22% ~ 187% —
AlLong 2.0% 2.0% 27%) - 187% -
K Murghy - -~ - -~ - -
G Davies' ) - - = - - -
J Unwin - - = - - -
R trwint — - - - - -
C Loughlin ~ - - - - -
J Clarke - — - - - -
C Gibbardg? 2.0% 2.0% — - - —
Al employees’ salanes 2.0% 2.0% - - - -

-

G Davies, R irwin siepped down fram the Board in June 2021, Percentage change cakculation includes part-year remuneration in 2021

2 Rirwin stepped down from the Board on In June 2071, Percentage change cakculation includes patyear remuneration in 2021

3 Percentege change In Non-Executive Director fees is adiusted to exclude the voluntary electionin 2020 to take & 20% reduction In fees between Aprl and
Qctober 2020 to reflect ihe challenges faced by the business from Covid-13, The percenlage change reflects any change In entllement as compared to the
actusl remuneration received.

CEO TO EMPLOYEE PAY RATIO (UNAUDITED)
The table below sets out the ratio between the 1olal pay of the CEQ and the iotal pay of the empioyees at the 25th, 50th (median} and 75th
percentiles of the workforce.

Year Method 25th percenile Medlan 75th percantile
2021 B 287 278 221
2020 8 231 2t) 191

The 25th, S0th and 75th percemile rankad indhdduals have been identified using the gender pay gap survey data for 2020, 1.e_as allowed for
under method B of the UK reporting requirements. This was deerned Lo be the most ressonable and practical epproach to identifying the relevant
individuals for the purposes of this disclosure. The day by reference to which the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile employees were determined
was 22 March 2022, The CEQ pay figure is the total remuneration figure 85 set out in Lhe singie figure table on page 90 and equivatent figures
{on a full-time equivalent basis) have been cakulated for the relevant 25th, SOth and 75th percentile emplayees, The Remunerstion Committee

is comfortable that the resulting calculations are representative of pay levels at the respective quarties.

The lota.l pay and banefits figures usad 1o calkkulate thi ratios for @ach of the 251h percentile, median and 75th percentile employees are £28.244,
£30,146 and £37.870 respectively. The salary element for each of these ligures are £27,616, £29,379 and £35,733 respectively.

RELATIVE IMPORTAMNCE OF SPEND ON PAY (UNAUDITED)
The table below sets out the relative importance of spend on pay in the financial year and previous financial year compared with othar disbursements
from profit.

Disbursements
Oisbursements from profitin
from profitin previous
financial year financial year
2024 2020 %
Significant distributions £°000 £000 change
Tora! Directars’ pay 243 1819 18%
Profit distributed by way of dividend” 8,875 -
Cperating profit before non-undertying items (conlinuing activities) 33,686 6,585 51%

*  Profit distributed by way of dividend Inchades proposed final dividend of 5.50p per share.
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Following the uncertainty surrounding Covid-15, the Board proposed that no dividend be paid in respect of the 2020 financlat year. An interim
dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid 10 sharehoiders and the Directors recommend a final dividend of 5.50p per share.

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Director Date of contract/letter of appointment Notice period by Company or Director
Exacutive

D J Miles June 2008 Twetve months
A CM Smith June 2008 Twelve months
Along Aygust 2009 Twelve months
Chalrman/Non-Executive

K Murphy January 2019 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
J Unwin January 2016 Six months
R win - February 2017 Six months
J Clarke Juty 2019 Six months
C Loughlin September 2019 Six months
C Gibbsrd September 2020 Three months

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE [AUDITED)
There were no paymenits for loss of office of 1o past Directors during the year.

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR
Executive Directors

Base salary
The salary entitiements for the forthcoming year fwhich effective from 1 April of each year, and for the following 12-months) are set oui betow:

2022 2021 %
Exscutive Direcior £ £ change
D J Mites 404,044 402,444 0.4%
A C M Sinih 269,932 268,332 0.6%
Along 221044 219544 0.7%

The salary Increase for 2022 is effective from 1 April 2022 and matches the general workforce increase of 4% applied on 1 Aprll 2022, but capped at
an increase of £1,600 for any single individual.

Pansion

Details of pension contributions for the year ended 31 December 2021 are sel out below:

Executive Dirgctor Pension
D J Miles 15%
A CM Smith 15%
Along 15%

The current Executive Directors’ pension contribution rates will be reduced to the majority workforce rate of circa 6% of base saiary from t January
2023. New Directors appointed to the Board will have a contribution no higher than the workforce rate on joining.

Annual bonus 2022
The maximum benus patential will be 100% of salary and will be dependent upon the following performance measures:
— Profit before tax {40%)

— Netdebt (30%)
— Stratagic objectives {30%) relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engagement (10%) and monetary social value generated (10%)

These strategic objectives, which will be bullt atound the Group's strateqgy for customer success and supported by our independentty chawed
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect the Group's commitmenit to serving our clients and customers; to further developing our socigl vaiue offer to add
value in the communities we serve; and to securing high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoler scores and validation by
external accreditation,

In addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpln and, before any bonus becomes payable, the Commitiee will consider health and
safety performance over the year and wilt have the power to reduce the bonus outcome if standards are below expeciations.

Any bonus payable will be delivered In a mix of cash (67%) and deferred share awards {33%) which wilt vest after three years from grant.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

LTIP for 2022
The second LTIP award under the new plan edopled as part of the Directors' Remuneration Policy a1 the 2020 AGM will be mede In 2022.
)5 intended that awards will be made a1 YOU% of sajary to each of the Executive Direciors. The measurss and largets will be as follows:

Description Weighting  Calcutation Turgets

Total shareholder retumn S0% Relative TSR target against the constituents of the FTSE Threshold: Medlan [25% vests}
SmaliCan (exciuding investment trusts, financial services Maximum: Upper Quactile [100% vests)
and natural resgurces companies) measured over B

three-year performance period.
Earnings per share 50% Adjusted EPS target reating to the 2024 financlel yearl.e.  Threshoid: 21 pence (25% vests)
the third year of the three-year performance period. Maximum: 24 pence (100% vests}

The Commitiee will consider ROCE performance over the
performance period and may reduce the EPS vesting
outcame if the Commilttee is not satisfled that the level of
EPS vesting s justified on account of the Group's ROCE
over ine performance period.

The Remuneration Commitiee helleves the use of TSR and £P5 provides an apprapriate balance bewween locusing on share price recovery and
delivering financial returns,

Vesting will be on a pro-rata basis batween the thrashold snd maximum veasting figures. In addition, the Committee retains discretion 1o reduce the
overall LTIP vesting level If it considers that the undearlying business perforenance of the Company does not justify vesting (taking inta consideration
& range of factors, Including, for example, ROCE perfarmance). If the Committee Is not satisiied that the formulsic vesting outcome |5 sligned with
underlying Group performance then it may reduce {poientiatly 1o zero) 1the vesting cutcome,

Any shares which vast from this award wilt be subject to § two-yesr post-vesting holding pe'rlod‘

Non-Exscutive Directors
The fatlowing tabla sets out the fee rates for the Nan-Executive Directors (which effective from 1 April of each year, and for the following 12-monthsy:

%

2022 20271 change

Chawman fee 161,600 160,000 ™%
Base fee 51800 50,000 32%
Committee Chairman fee 15.000 15,000 -
Committee membership fee 5.000 5,000 -

The safary increase for 2022 s etfective from 1 Aprii 2022 and matches the general warkfarce Increase of 4% applied on 1 April 2022, but capped
at an increase of £1,600 for any single individual,

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Commitiee determines the total Individual remureration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain oiher senior employees
{and any exit lerms) and recommends 1o the Board the framework and broad policies of the Group in relation 1o Senior Executive remuneration,
The Committee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers in relation to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans. The terms of reference of the Caminitiee are avallable on the Company’s website,

There is a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on Executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration of indnidual Directors.
The Remuneration Coammittee is responsible for:
- determining and agreelng with the Board the broad Remuneration Policy for:
- tha Chairman, the Execulive Directors and senior management; and
— the Executive Diectors’ remyneration and other benefits and terms of employment, Including performance related bonuses and share
options; and
- Approving the service agreemeants of each Execulive Direclor, Including temmination arrangements.

No Director is invaived in determining Mis/her own remuneration.
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During the year the Committee addressed the following main topics:

-~ Undertook a tomprehensive review of Executive Directors’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of & revised Remuneration Pollcy
which was put to shereholders for approval at the 2020 AGM.

— Reviewed tha penslon contributions of the Executive Directors to align the contributions to the workforce level by 1 January 2023,

~ Sought the views of our major shareholders and the maln voting agencies as part of a comprehensive investor consultation exercise 1o Inform
the design process for the revised Pollcy which was approved at the 2021 AGM.

— Reviewed guidance from investor bodies and inslitutional shareholders,

- Assessed whether our remuneration framework is appropriately aligned with our culture and vslues, and motivates our leaders to achieve the
Group's strateqgic objectives.

— Reviewed ang approved the remuneration packages for aur current Executive Directors.

— Finakised the annual benus payments for the 2020 financial year to the Executive Directors {which included the exercise of negative discrelion
to reduce the formulaic outcome from 86% of maximum to 46% and the annual bonus plan for the 2021 financial year.

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee duiing the year were Chris Loughlin {Chair), Julia Unwin, Jim Clarke and Kieran Murphy. Roy irwin stepped down
from the Board and the Committee in June 2021,

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Commitiee, meetings are also attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Commitiee} and the HR Director,
who are consulied on matters discussed by the Committee, unless those matiers relate to their own remuneration. The Committee is authorised to
take such internal and external advice as it conskders appropriate in connection wilh carrying out its duties, including the appaintment of its own
external remuneration advisers. During the year, the Commitiee was assisted in its work by FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP. FIT was appointed

In 2019 following a tender process and has provided advice in 2021 n relation to general remuneration matters and the review of the Remuneration
Policy. Fees paid to FIT In relation to advice 1o the Committee in 2021 wera £44,398 (excluding VAT]. FIT dig not provide any other services lo the
Company. FIT is 8 member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarily operates under the Coda of Cenduct in relation to
exacutive remuneération consulting in the UK. The Commitiee is satisfied that the advice it received from FIT is objective ang independent.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The table below shows the voting outcome in respect of the remuneration related resolutions at the 2021 AGM.

tem Votes for % Votes against % Votes withheld
To approve the Remuneration Policy 70.850,552 77% 21,665,055 23% 1,788,687

The significant vote against the Annual Report on Remuneratian at the 2021 AGM was primarily as a result of the dissatisfaction with the performance
of the Company — at thattime ~ of a Small number of significant shareholders. The Remuneration Commitiee engaged in extensive consultation with
shareholders over the application of the Remuneration Policy during the year and refined the application of thal Policy In line with the feedback
received. The Commitiee also engaged with shareholders ahead of the AGM and endeavoured to explain the context around its application of the
Policy. Given the range of views which were expressed by sharehoiders, It was not practicable to reflect them all in designing the terms to apply the
Policy. The Committee recognises the need to continue 1o engage with shareholders over the coming year and wil do so, in addltion to continuling to
monitor evolving views and market practice.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2021.

98

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are
the provision of A 1ange of outsourced
services to the public and private sectors,
The principal activity of the Company Is 1o
act as a holding company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is requiréd (O Sat out a fakr
review of the business of the Group during the
reporing period. The information that fulfils

this requirement can be found in the Strategic
Repori, Chief Executive Officer's review and
Financial review. The resuits of the Group

¢8n be found within the consolidated income
statement. rformation required to be disclosed
In respect of emissions and future developments
5 Included within the Strategic Repart.

DIWVIDEND

Ng dividend has been declared in respect of
2020. Following the Impact on the husiness
from the Covid-19 pandemic, the Board took
Steps to protect iis liquidity and is grateful

for the sirong support of the majority of
sharehalders for the actions taken by the
Diraclors during this period of uncertainty.

An lnterim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p
was paid 10 shareholders in Oclaber 2021,

The Directors recommend a final dividend of
5.50p per share for payment in June 2022,
This has not been included within ihe
consoldated financia! statements as no
ohligation existed at 31 December 2021,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Group's corpavale governance
are set out on pages 64 t0 97,

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Wae focus on a range of key Indicators 10 assess
our performance. OQur performance indicators
are both financial and non-financial snd ensure
that the Group targets Its resources around its
customers, employees, operations and finance.
Collectively they form an Integral par of the
way that we manage the business lo deiver

our strategic goals. Our primary performance
indicators are detalled on pages 26 and 27,

DIRECTORS

The present membership of the Board is sét
oul with the biographical detall on pages 66
and 67.

Roy irwin and Geraint Davies did not offer
themselves for re-giection st the 2021 AGM
#nd ceased 1o be Directors in June 2022

In fine with curcent practice, all of the Directors
will rétire and, beling eligible, offer themseives
for re-election at the AGM In June 2022,

Any person appointed by the Directors must
retlre 8t the next AGM but will be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

The beneficial interests of the Directors in the
shares of the Company at 31 December 2021
ore detaited within the Remunerstion Repor!
on page 92.

The process governing the appointment and
replacement of Directors (s detalied within the
Report of the Nominatiens Conunitlee.

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

OF ASSOCIATION

The Campany's Articles of ASSaciation can be
amended only by a special resolution of the
members, requiring a majority of not less than
75% of such members voting in person or

Dy proxy.

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2021 AGM held in June 2021 suthorised:

— the Directors o allot shares within defined
kimits. The Companies Act 2006 requiras
directors to seek this authority and,
following changes to Financial Services
Authority (FSA) rules and institutionai
guidelinas, the authority was imited to
one third of the issued shara capital, a
total of £369,6086 plus an additional one
third of issued share capital of£369.606
that can only be used for a rights Issue or
similar fundrafsing;

-~ the Directors to lssve shares for cash on &
non-pre-emgptive basis. This authority was
limited to 5% of the lssued sharé capital of
£55.440 and Is required to facllitate
technical matters such as dealing with
fractiona! entitlements or possibly a smalt
placing: and

— 1he cenvening of general meetings [other
than an AGM} on 14 days' notice.

Section 307A of the Companies Act 2006
plavides that listed companies must hold
general meelings [other than annual
general meetings) on 21 days’ notice
unless the members of that company pass
a special resolution 3greeing to a shoner
netice period which cannot be any less
than 14 clear days. it is therefore necessary
for the Company Lo pass this resolution
sliowing the Company to continue to held
general meeungs (other than anaual
general meetings) on not less than 14
clear days notice.
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Further details of these authorisations are
avallable In the notes to the 2021 Notice of
AGM. Sharaholders are slso referred to the
2022 Notice of AGM, which contains simijar
provisions In respect of the Company's equity
share capital.

AGM

The 2022 AGM will be held on 17 May 2022.
A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy
will be Issued in advance. The ordinary
business to be conducted will inciude the
reappointment of all Directors.

* PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Risk is an accepted pact of doing business,
The Group's financial risk management is
based on sound economic objectives and
good corporate practice. The Board has overal
responsibility for risk management and internal
controks within the context of achieving the
Group's objectives. Our process for identifying
and managing risks is set out in more detail
within the Corporate Governance Statement,
The key risks and mitigating factors are set out
on pages 50 to 54. Details of financial risk
management and exposure 1o price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk are given in note 23 1o the
financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group is party to significant contracts,
The Directors do not consider that any one
of those contracts is essential In its awn right
te the continuation of the Group's activities,
As detalled within the Strategic Report on
pages 62 and 63, the Directors completed a
long-term assessment of the Group's financial
viability and the loss of a number of key
contracts was modelled as one possible
downside scenarlo but the Group remalned
viable In such an event

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as a holding
company and as such is non-trading.
Accordingly, no payment policy has been
defined. However, the policy for Group
trading companies Is 10 set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering into
atransactlon and o ensure suppliers are
aware of these terms, Group trade creditors
during the year amounted to 33 days
[2020: 59 days) of average supplies

for the year,

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group is financed through both equity
share capital and debt. Details of changes to
the Company's share capital are given in note
25 to the financial statements. The Company
has a single class of shares — ordinary 1p
shares — with no right to any fixed income and
with each share carrying the right tc one vote
at the general meetings of the Company.

Under the Company’s Articles of Association,
holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
pariicipate in any dividends pro-rata to their
halding. The Board may propose and pay
interim dividends and recommend a final
dividend for approvaf by the shareholders at
the AGM. A final dividend may be declared by
the shareholders in & general meeting by
ordinary resolution but such dividend cannot
exceed the amount recommended by

the Board.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 9 March 2022 the Compary has been
natified of, or is aware of, the shareholders
holding 2% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company. These shareholders are
detailed on page 72.

DISAHLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disebled
persans are always fully considered, bearing in
mind the aptitudes of the applicant concemed,
in the event of members of staff becoming
disabled, every affort Is made to ensure that
their employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is arranged. it Is
the policy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of disabled
persons should, as far as possible, be identical
10 that of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group's carbon emisstons data for the
year is provided within the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures

on pages 42 10 44,

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AND CONSULTATION

The Group has received recognition under
the ‘Investors in People’ award. The Group
continues to involve its staffin the future
development of the business. Information is
provided to employees through a daily news
email, 8 quarterly newsletter posted out to all
staff, the Group webslite and the intranet to
ensure that employees are kept well informed
of the performance and objectives of

the Group.

CREST

CREST is the computerised system for the
settternent of share dealings on the London
Stock Exchange. CREST reduces the amount
of documentation required and also makes

the trading of shares faster and more secure.
CREST enwahles shares to be heid in an electronic
form instead of the traditional share certificates.
CREST is voluntary and shareholders can keep
thelr share certificates if they wish. This may be
preferable for shareholders who do not trede in
shares on a frequent basis.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the Nnanclal statements, there Is 8
reasonable expectation that the Group and
Company have adequate resources to continue
in aperational existence for the period to at teast
30 June 2023. When making this assessment,
management considers whether the Group will
be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom
above the levet of its bomowing facliies and to
operate within the financlal covenants
applicable to those fadlities, which will be
measured at 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022
and 30 June 2023. At 31 December 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed borrowing
facilities, maturing in December 2025; however,
no amount was drawn on the facility.

The princlpal borrowing facilities are subject to
covenants, as detailed within the Financiat
review section of the Strategic Report.

The Strategic Report also detalls the principat
risks and uncertalnties and how the Group
manages lts risks. The Group has modelled its
cash flow outlook for the periad to 30 June
2023 and the forecasts indicate significant
liquidity headroom will be maintained above the
Group's borowing fadilities and that financial
covenants wilt be met throughout the period,
including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022
and 31 December 2022

‘The Group has carried out stress tests against
the base case to deterrnine the performance
leveis that woulkd result in & breach of covenants
or a reduction of headroom againstits
borrowing facllikies to £nil. The Direciors have
modelled a number of downside scenanrios,
which are covered in more detaitin the Finandial
viability review section on pages 62 and 63.
After making these assessments, the Directors
consider any scenario or combination of
scenarios that could cause the business to be
no longer a going concern to be implausible,
The Directors have 8 reasonable expectation
that the Company and Its subsidiaries have
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the geing
concern basis in preparing the Annuat Report
and Accounts.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offers itself for
reappointment as auditor In accordance with
Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006.

By order of the Board

B Westran
Company Secretary
henwestran@mearsgroup.co.uk

31March 2022
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Corporate governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required to grepare the
financial statements for the Company and the
Group at the end of each financial year in
accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations. Under company law the Direciors
must not approve the financial statemens
uniess they are salisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs and prafit or
k55 of the Group and the Company for that
period. In prepering these financiat slaterments,
the Directors are required 1o:

~— setect suitable accounting policies and
apply them consistently,

~— make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasanable;

~— state whether the consolidated financial
staterments have been preparad in
accordance with UK-adopted imesnational
accounting standards (IFRS) and in
conformity with the Companies Act 2006;

- state for the Company Minancial statements
whether United Kingdorm Accouriting
Standards and appicable law, including
Financisl Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101, have
been followed, and

= prepdve the financial statements an the
going concern basls unless it is
Inappropriate te presuma that the Caompany
and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that
the Group keeps proper sccouniing records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
nancial position of the Group and the Company
to anable them o ensure that the Rnanciat
statements comply with the Compeanies Act
2006 and, as regards the consolidated financial
staterments, FRSs, The Direciors ara also
responsibte for \he system of imernal controd, for
safequanding the assets of the Geouwp and the
Company. and taking reasonatie sieps 10
prevent and detect fraud and other iregularities.

100

Under applicable law and regulations, the
directors afe al50 responsibie for preparing a
strategic report, directors’ report, direciors’
temuneration report and corporele governance
statemment that tomply with that law and those
requiations. The Directars are respansible for
the maintenance and imegrity of the coiporate
and fingncial information included on the
Company's website,

The Directoss confirm that:

~ 50 far as each Director is aware there is no
relevant sudit informaiion of which the
Company's auditor is unaware; and

- he Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directars in
order to make themseives aware of sny
relevant audit inforrnation and to esiablish
that the ayditor is awate of ihat information,

The Directors are responsibie for the
mintenance and integuity of the corparate and
linancial infarmation inciuded on the Campany's
website. Legisiation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissamination of
financial statemenis may differ from legisiation in
other jurisdictions.

The Board confirms that to the best of
its knowledge:

-~ ihe finéndial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assels, llabiities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Group and
the undertakings included in the
consoldation tsken as a whole; and

~ the Annual Report Includes a fair review of
the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group and
the underiakings Included in the
consolidation isken a5 a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

The Direciors are responsible for preparing the
Annua! Repor! In accordance with applicable
law and regulstions. The Board cansiders the
Annugl Report and Accounts, taken as & whole,
Is faie, balanced and understandable and that it
provides the information necessary for
shareholders t¢ assess the Group's
pedarmance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

ACMSmhh
Chief Financial Officer
andrew.smith@mearsgroup.couk

31 March 2022
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In our opinian:

- Mears Group PLC’s group financial statements and parent company financisl statements (the “financial statements™) give a true and lair view
of the state of the group’s and of the parent company's affalrs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

— the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with LK adopted international accounting standards;

= the parent campany financial statements have been properly prepared In accordance with United Kingdom Generafly Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

— the financlal statements have been prepared in accordance with the requisements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group PLC (the "parent company’) and its subsidiaries {the 'group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021
which comprise;

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of profit or koss for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 December 2021

Consolidated statemeni of comprehensive income for the year Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
then ended

Consalidated balance sheet as at 3t Decembar 2021 Related notes 110 16 to the financial stalements including

a summary of significant accounting pallcies

Consolitated cash flow statement for the year then ended
Consclikiated statement of changes in equity for the yesr then ended

Related notes { (0 31 to the financist statements, including & summary
of significant accounting pollcies

The financlal reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted
international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom
Generafty Accepled Accounting Practice).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audlt in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing {UK) (15As (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibillties under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We bekieve thal the audit
evidence we have obiained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for ocur opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the group and parent In accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial ststements
in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entilles, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company and we remain independent
of the group and the parent company in conducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basls of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directars’ assessment of the group and parent campany's ability 10 continue to adopt the
guoing concern basls of accounting included:

— testing the clerical accuracy of the madel used to prepare the group’s going concern assessment.

- 855essing the reasonableness of the cashilow forecast by analysing management’s historical forecasting accuracy. We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the group's forecasts by proposing altematives, reflecting the uncertainties arising from Covid-19 and the recent
events in Ukraine, and challenging management’s position,

— considering whether the group's forecasts Inthe going concern assessment were consistent with other forecasts used by the group in its
accounting estimates, Including goadwill impairment,

== challenging, based on our own independent analysis, whethet the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead either to
#loss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarlos were plausibie. Our assessment included consideration of the impact
and likelihood of mansgement’s scenarios as follows, including a combination of them:

— the loss of significant customer contracts
— future Covid-18 restrictions and the lkelihood of government support in this respect
— @ performangce failure on 8 major contract
— considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a severe but plausible downslde scenario and challenging their feasibility.
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Financial statements

independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

— Considering, Independently, 8 “reverse siresstest”scenario that would lead to either a{oss of iquidity ar a covenant breach and concluding that
such a scenario would be Implausitie based on evidence obtained and gur understanding of the business. Our reverse stress-test scenario
utifised management’s scenarics and additionslly incarporated that there would De no Gevernment support in the forecast lockdown between
Qctober and Decermber 2022,

— ‘We ntso confirmied the cash position 81 31 December 2021 by agreeing to confirmations received directly from the bark, Bs welt 35 avalisbility
of dahbt facilities and considered thelr underlying terms, including cavenants, by examinglion of executed documentation.

Based on the work we heve performed, we have not Jdeniified any materlal uncerlaintles relating to events or conditions that, individually or
callectively, may cast significant doubt on the group ang parers company’s ability to continue s a going concern fof 2 peried 1o 30 June 2023

In refation o the group dnd parent company's reporting on how they have applled the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material
10 add or drew attentiontain relation to the drectors’ slatement in the financlal statements about whethes the directors considered it appropriate
o adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibiities and the responsibifities of the directors with respect ta going concem are described in the relevant sections of this report,
However, because nol alt future events or conditions ¢an be predicted, this statement is not & guarantee as to the group’s abilly 10 cantinue
as a going concern.

OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scape — We perfarmed an audit of the complete Rnancial information of 3 components and audit procedures on specific
balances for a further 8 compeonents,

The componants where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted ior 100% of Profit before 1ax,
100% of Revenue and 100% of Total assels.

Key audit matters —  Management override via topskie adjustments posted lo accruals and provisions through the financial statemant close
process and consoligation process

Apgropriateness of laase accounting under IFRS 6

Valuation of the Group and parent’s definred benefit pension obligation and valuation of hatd (0 value scheme assets
Agpropriataness of revenue recognition Including contract accounting, contract assets, and contract accruals
Intended disposal of Haydon Mechanical & Electrical LLC ("Haydon UAE®)

Overall Group materiality of £1.1m which represents 5% of normalised profit before tax from contiming operations.
‘We used prafessional judgment to determing materigiity given the impact of Covid-19 on the Qroup’s relevant
materiafity measures.

Materiality

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GROUP AUDITS

Tailoring the scope

Our assessmant of audit risk, ur evaluation of materiglity and our alocation of peiformance materiality determine aur audit scope for each company
within the Group. Yaken wegether, this enables us ta lrm an opinton on the consalidated financial statements. We 1ake into account size, fisk profile,
the arganisation of the group and effectiveness of graup-wide cortrols, changes i the businass enviranment and other factors such as recent
Imemal audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed at each company.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial stetements. and o ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage of significant
secounits in the financial statements, of the 15 reporting components of the Group, we selected 10 components covering entities within the UK and
tcomponent based in the Channel Istands, which represent ali the business units within the Group.

Ofthe 1 Group components selecled, we performed &n audit of the complete financial iInformation of 3 caomponents (*full scope components™)
which were selecied based on thelr slze or risk characteristics. For 8§ components ("speclfic scope componenis™), we performed audi procedures
on specific accounts within that component that we considered hed the potantial for the greatest impact on the significant gccounts in the financial
statements elther because of the size of these accoynts or their risk profile.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedur@s accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of the Group's profit before tax, 100%

(2020. 99%) of the Group’s Revenue and 100% (2020: 91%) of the Group’s Total assets. For the curient year, the full scope components
contributed 79% (2020: 56%| of the Group's profit before tax, 79% (2020: 88%) of the Graup’s Revenue and 82% (2020; 87%) of the Graup’s

Total asseis. The speclfic scope component contributed 2% (2020: 49%) af the Group's profit before tax, 20% (2020: %) of the Group’s Revenue
and 18% (2020: 4%) of the Group's Total assels. The audit scope of these components may not have included testing of all significant accounts of
1he eomponent but will have conttibuted 10 the coversge of significan sccounts tesied for the Gioup.

Ofthe remaining 4 components that together tepresent less than 1% of the Group's profit befole iax , none are Individually greater (han 1% of the

Group's profit before tax . Far these components, we perfarmed other procedures, including analytical review, testing of consotidation joumnals
and inlercompany eliminations Lo respond to any potential risks of material missiatemeant to the Group financial statements.
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The charts below illusirate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit team.

Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope components was at similar levels 10 the prior year.

2021 2020
Fuli scope 3 7
Speclific scope 5
Remaining components 4 8
Tolal components 15 20

The reduction in components compared to the prior year (which included 1in fuk scope, 3 in specific scope and 1in remaining components) reflects
3 entities disposed of in 2020 and a sationalisation of components, The changes in the current year reflect 3 full scope entitles In 2020 moving to
speciiic scope In 2021, and 3 remaining cormponents in 2020 moving to specific scope in 2021, This ensured that in assessing the risk of material
misstatememt we had adequate quantilative coverage of significant accounts In the Group Financial Statements.

Invelvement with componant teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit tleam.

CLIMATE CHANGE

There has been increasing Interest from stakehokders as ta how climate change will impact Mears Group Pie. The Group has determined that the
most significant future impacts from dimate change on its operations will be from the need ta move Lo an electric vehicie fleet for repairs and
maintenance work, and the need for “retrofitting” of $o<ial housing 10 be compliant with dimate-related measures (eg replacement of gas bollersk
These are explained on pages 42-44 in the required Task Force for Climate related Financial Disclosures and on page 49 in the risk management
section, which form part of the “Other information,” rather than the audited financial siatements. Our procedures on these disclosures therefore
consisted solety of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the coursa

of the audit or otherwise appear to be materially misstatad.

As explained In the Basis of Preparation nole on page 117 of the accounts, governmental and societal responses to climate change risks are still
developing, and are interdependent upon each other, and consequently financial statements cannot capture all possible future cutcomes as these
are not yet known. Our audit effort In considering climate change was focused on ensuring that the effects of any material chmate risks disclosed on
pages 42 and 43 have been appropriately reflected in asset values where values are determined through madelling future cash flows and inthe
timing and nature of llabilitles recognised. The Direclors have assessed that there were no material impacts of climate change in determining asset
and liability valuations and the timing of future cash flows 1o be incorporated Into these accounts. We 2lso challenged the Directors' considerations
of climate change in their assessment of going concern and viahility and assaciated disclosures.

Whilst the Group has stated its commilment to the aspirations of the Parls Agreement to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, the Group is currently
unable to determine the full future economic impact on thelr business model, operational plans and customers to achieve this and therefore as set
oul abave the patential impacts are not fully Incorporated in these financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matiers are those matters that, In our professional Judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of

the current period and inciude the most significant 8ssessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due 10 fraud) that we Identifled.
These matters included.those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of rescurces in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed In the context of our audit of the finandial statements as a whole, and in
our spinlon thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Financial statements

independent auditot’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Rigk

Qur response to tha risk

Key obgervitions communicated
1o the Audit Committes

Managament override vis topside
adjustments posted ta accruals and
pravisions through the FS close
process and consolidation process

Refer to the Accounting poficies in
Naie 1ofthe Consolidated Financiod
Siemenis (page 117)

Thare is a 1evel of complexity within
the buziness which necessitates high
volumes of manual Journal entries,
BNG wWp-side sdjustments in preparing
the consolidated finandial statements.
This increases the rigk that
management will post an eronecus
journal that will materiatly atfact the
financlal statements,

There are also a number of provisions
and accruais at year end that are
based on managemen: eslimation.

We performed audil procedures over this risk ared centratly, coverlng both
full and spedcific scape companents.

We watked through tha financial statement close and consclidation
processes 10 assass the design and implementation of Key controts.

We indegéndently verified the resulis and balances ol the consofidatad
entlties by agreeing the resuls and balences included in the consolidation
direcily 10 the audited results and balances for all full snd specific scope
componens.

We obtained an understanding of all matedal year-end financial statement
close and consolidation journal entties posted and specifically wested a
sample of the journals o supporting evidence.

We have further tested journal entrias throughoun the audit process using
our data anatytics general ledger anglyser toals to ldentify and Investigate
unususl items having considered criteria that we belleved Indicated a higher
fikelihaod of material misstatement.

We idantified 3 joumal source types that in our judgement may be more
susceptile 1o management override. We assessed that size was an
importan factor in relation ja the risk of management override and therefore
tested al joumnais In thase saurce types ovar £110,000 atfedting acoruals and
provisions n the momth of Decembar 2021 us we assessed that there was
graater risk of management override close to the year-end date.

We alsc tested the same Journal source lypes to the ssme threshald in
Januery 2022 t¢ undersiand if there were any unususl smendments which
should have been reflected in tha 2021 financial statements.

We underttood the nature and appropristeness of rmaterial round sivn smounts
in accruals and provisions at the y nd. We ¢ we undersiood the
reason for significan) movements in provisions and accruals from the prior year
angd challenged management where there had been no movement Our work
inCludied corroborating the yesr-end accrusts and provisions 1o supporting
Information, loaking back at prite year 10 855655 Mandgement’s ability 1o
estimate and challenging the most significant assumptions.

Al audit work In relation to this key auoi matier was undertaken by the
Group engégemen team.

‘We conclude that based on the sudit
procedures performed, manuat
journat eniries, top-skde consotidation
adjustments, judgemental provisions
and accrusls are appropriate.

Our procedures did not identfy any
instances of managemert avemde of
controis skhough we did Identity that
there is & reed to Improve internal
revigw and appioval processes.
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Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key abservations communicated
16 the Audit Committee

Appropriateness of loase acchunting

under IFRS 16 (right of use asgets
Group 2021 £204.9m Group 2020
£200.0m, lease liahilities Group

2021 £216.9m, Group 2020 £209.4m,

right of use assets Parent 2021
£21.4m Parent 2020 £19.tm, laase

liahilities Parent 2021 £21.7m, Parent

2020 £16.9m)

Refer to the Audit Committee Repont
(page 78); Accounting policles (oage
134} and Note 15 ond Note 20 of the
Consolidated Finondiol Statements
(poges 134 and 141 respectively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 Is complex
and requires a number of estimates

and jJudgements. The most significant
— eslimate-Is-the discount-rate

Incrementat Borrowing Rate, '1BR') to
spply to each lease. Key Judgements
are made when assessing whether
leasing arrangemaents fall within the
scope of IFRS 16 and In determining
the appropriate lease term atthe
inception of the lease where lzased
assets are subject 1o extension or
termination options. Further, the
group has a high volume of feases,
sotne of which are complex in nature,
and the group uses a combination of
manual bespoke excel modelling
templates and an off the shelf
software package to derive the

ROU assel and lease llability values
for the ROV asset categories.

Due to the significant financial
statement impact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation and judegment
required in determining the

appropriale accounting treatment, and

tha manual modeliing of the impact an
some lease categories, we therefore
identified IFRS 16 as a signifitant risk,

We performed sudit procedures over thig risk area which covared 100% of
the risk amount.

Gur pracedures included:

Assessing management's process: We gained an understanding throligh a
walkthrough of the process and controls management have in place over
the completaness of IFRS 16.

Key estimate: We have assessed the appropriateness of the IBR by
revigwing management's methodology. With the support of our Corporate
Treasury speciglists we reperformed the calculatlons and challenged their
validity by compering to observable market rates.

Key judgments: We challenged the key judgements and assumplions used
by management in refation to assessing whether leasing arangements fall
within the scope of IFRS 16 and in determining the appropriate lease term al
the inception of the lease where leasad assets are subject to extension or
termination opticns, by inquiring of management, Inspecting Audit
Committee and Board minutes, and selecting 8 sample of leases, inspecting
the arangement terms and reaching an independent opinion on the IFRS 16
accounting treatment.

Tasts of detal: We assessed the completeness of the population of leases
by selecting 2 sample of lease payments made duwing the year, and post
year end.through to 31 January 2022, from the appropriate income
statement general ledger codes {which indludes all lease payments made
during the year prior 1o the reversal of ROU assets), abtaining and inspecting
a copy of the underlying lease contract and independently assassing
whether management’s lease identification basis Is aligned with IFR5 16, by
tracing the asset through ta the correct ROU model/ensuring not included
within any ROU models. Further, wa obtained and inspected third party
statements from the vehicle lessors and third perty retums from these whare
the leasa completion pathway sits outside of the immediate Mears function,
and ensured that these reconciled to the undertylng IFRS 16 lease data.

We considered whether any reconclling difference may indicate a
completeness issue,

For a sample of leases, we assessed the measurement/valuation of the
underlying ‘ease data by checking the key inputs used in the models to
original contract or other supporting data and racalculating the right of use
asset and comresponding lease liabifity.

We interTogated the Integrity and mechanical accuracy of the bespoke excel
modelling templatas used to derive the IFRS 16 journals for vehicles,
residentlal property used directly in the business and scme of the residential
property sub-eased to customers, through the application of our EY Al
Spreadsheet anatyser which highlights, amongst other things, camplex
sheets, hardcoded items, inconsistencies in the logical design, unexpected

formula changes, and by searching the models for potential duplicate assets.

During the year management transitionad the office leases and leases for
some of the residential property sub-leased to customers from their
bespoke manual excel modals to an off tha shelf lease accounting software
package. We assessed the completeness and accuracy ofthe transition by
reconcling the 2021 total opening position for each lease category to the
2020 total closing position and selecting a sample of leases and agreeing
the key inputs from the underiying lease agreement Lo the iease accounting
software package. The Integrity and mechanical accuracy of the software
package used to derive the IFRS 16 Journals for office and MHM fixed leases
was validated by independently calculating the cash flows for & sample of
Jeases and comparing the autput to the output from the software package.

We considered the adequacy of IFRSIE disclosures, Including seasitivity of
the lease liabllites o the key assumptions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement tearm with assistance from our valuation specialists.

Based on our audit procedures
performed we conclude the key
astimates and judgments
undarpinning the IFRS 16 right of
use assets and lease liabilites are
appropriate and the disclosuras
within notes 15 and 20 are in
accordance with the requirements
of IFRS 16, Leases.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Key observations communicated
Risk Our response to the risk o the Audit Commitiee
Valuation of tha Group and parent’s  We performed audit procedures over this risk srea centrally, which covered The two Group Schemes and the

defined benefit pension oblgation
(Group 2029: net surplus £20.2m,
2020: net deficit £38.5m Parent
202%: net surplus £1.8m, 2020: net
deficit £2.8m) and valustion of hard
1o value scheme assets (Group
2021: £419.3m, 2020: £421.3m,
Parent 2021: £19.7m, 2020: £18.6m)

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{poge 78 Accounling policies (poge
150); and Note 28 of the Consolidoted
Finonciol Siotements (poge I50)

The Group operotes o numbey of
defined benefit pansion schemes
{Group schemes)and is on admitted
body of other defined beneflt pension
schemes {LGPS)

Subjective lan using pk
actuarisl assumptions:

A gross defined benefit pensicn
liability of £434 9m was heid at

3 December 2021 [2020: £501.4m) in
respect of all defined benefit pension
schemes, Small changes in the
assumptions and astimates used to
value the Group's and Parent's
pensicn obligation (befgre deducting
scheme assets) would have

a significant effect an the carrying
value of those pension chligations.

The effect of these matters 1§ that,

as parl of our risk assessment, we
datermined that the Group's end
Parent Company's pension obligation
has & high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of
rd850nable oulcomes greater than our
materiality for the financial statements
&5 8 whole. The flnancial statements
[note 28) discloses the estimaltion
uncerisinty ldenilfied by the Groun
and company.

Valuation of defined benafit
pansion asgate:

The falr value of the defined pension
scheme assets in aggregate as at

3 December 2021 was £492.9m
{2020: £473.9m). Judgement is
applied in valuing the more complex
level 2 and 3 Group schemes” assels,
while the LGPS assets are estimated
by ralfing forward the published asset
position from the previous year using
market index returns over the geriod,

100% of the risk amount.
Duwr procedures included:

We have undersiood management's process and methodology for
caiculating the pension liablity for each scheme, including discussions with
manag t's | actuaries, walkthrough of the processes,
understanding the key Inputs and the design and implementation of key
controls. We performed a fully substantive audit approach tather than tesling
the operating effectiveness of key contrals.

We have assessed the independence, cbjectivity and compelence of the
Group's extemsl actuades, which incuded understanding the scope of services
being provided and considering the approprateness of the qualifications of the
external aciary.

With the support of our pansion actuarial speciglists, we assessed and
challenged the appropriateness of the assumplions adopted by the
Directors by comparing them to the expectations of gur penslon actuaria!
specialists which they had derived from broadar market data.

We tested a sample of the membershlp data used by the actuaries to the
Group's reconds. We direclly confirmed the existence and valuation of
pension scheme assets with asset managers and custodians for Group
Schemes and analysed the movements on assets for LGPS, With the support
of our valustion and acluarial specialists we independenily challenged the
vaksation of hard to velue scheme assets by pedorming detailed testing an a
sampie of level 2 anct tevel 3 Group scheme's assels and the LGPS assets.
We identified market ingices that mast accurately reflect the expectad
performance of the fund (based on the undertying investrnent/asset portfolio
of the fund) for 2021, Using the sultablesrelevant market index, we set an
expéctation of the performance of the fund In ordet ko determine the
expected vaiue of the fund a5 at 31 December 2021. Wa then compared the
expected value of the fund as at 31 December 202110 the value as at

31 December 2021 88 per the investment manager lo determine whather this
matour Bxpectations.

We considered the adequacy of IAS 19 disciosuras, inchxiing sensitivity of
the ghiligation to the key assumptions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement taam with assistance from our actuarial ang valuation
specialists.

LGPS all have different scheme
liabliity durations. However, the
financial assumptions have been
sel cansistently across the Group
Schemes and LGPS based ona
weighted average duration of all
Schemes. The salary increase
assumption which is linked to RPfis
oplirnistic. There is sufficien scope
within the other assumptions which
fall wilhin a centra! range or have
been assessed and setan an
appropriate basis to offset this.

As such, we conclude that overall
management’s actuarial
assumptions ara within an
acceplable range.

We have noted below, for the
assurnptions that are assessed
BHBINSE B SPECITiC fange. our ranges
compared to management’s
assessment:

Discount rate; 1.70%-2.00%
(Mears rate: 2.00%)

APl infietion: 3.00%-3.70%
Mears rale: 3.00%).

We conclude thal group scheme
assets were under-valued based
on external confirmations recelived.
Management made adjustments to
Increyse the group schame asset
values by £0.62m 1o refiect this,
Our testing did nat identify any
other material missiatemants.

We ace satisfied with the
adequacy of disclosure within
the financial statements,
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Way obasrvations eommunicsted
E Our 1e3p0se t the sk Bguggmmm
Appropintensss of revenus We perfonmed audit procedures over this risk area which covensd 1D0% Forthe yest o 31 December 2023,
recogiition bichuiing contrast af the dsk amount. we concluda that based on The
arcounting, contractassetsand | sudll procedunes partormed,
{Group g%&ﬁﬁiﬂ%&?ﬁﬁ:ﬁé n process for all revenue transactions nave baen
2021:£378.4m, Group streams to assess the design and fmplementation of key nexagnised appropriately.
1020:€905.8m) comola. Ow procadures did not idantity
Instances of inapprcpriate
Rafer to the Awdit Committee Report Wo used dath anakysts kol o 100% of revonua Wensactions intheyearts  menagement overide In the
(page 29, Acogunting policies (poge text the cortelation betwean revanue, rede debtods and cash recelpts 1o recognition of revenue scross

12 onct Naie 2 of v Cansnticioted verdythe of ravenue. We pésts ISt Of SHtAIS On hof the Group.
Finandiol Sextements fpoge 715) | correlatng entries by g evidence and
.o gsz%%ﬁ:nﬁmga;gﬂnﬂimg e ere satisTied with the adequacy
Mears has 4 diforentkay reveaue - Lransecbions [0 énsure that nevenue hed been ap d of within the financlal
ﬂ._.auar nan_.i__n_ Its own revenue sttements.
the We ined 1he sthodule of contracl ¢5sety and selected a sampta of
nin:ﬁgggsgg contracs uting the lowes range of out testing thresheid to Include an
mequines management ko make slementof Nty We d the ility of contract
sigrificent and assels oy to post balance sheet cash coflection, or
inthe epplicstion of IFRS 15, the stage  obtalning the evidence (rom the work certfied by the customer or Group's
of completion of cedteln contracis end  Imemal &1 independent guantily surveyor,
ne ity of WIP,
casts end controct #356ts. For revenue recogrised but not certifled by the cusiomerns or Gioun's
Internal or independent quantily surveyor, wo inquired the resson for -
There Is considered to be a risk :anmlwnﬁa_uﬁguuﬂﬁnns recognition of contrac] assans and
af malesiakerror and mansgemen relatod ravenus,
averrida in mekng this sssassment,
We LEX tract costto tnehudl
ppart our !:n-aﬁi...«:.ﬁn
warlfying tha work orders Issued to sub, 3 and ping the
estimation basis of overheads).

W held meetings with the-in-hguese legel counse! and reviewed the board
meeting minutes to identify and assess te lmpact of any ergoing disputes
In relstion Lo Bve recoverabilly of the contiactessats batance end
challerged the o har ity of sUch comroct assets
whera they had bean racognisad,

woq !.:Enouona__.nnﬂ 5.5503380603&%:#%
on the appr of their onerous

3__5_“5 pravisian,

For & sampla of customers, we obizined 95&853363853.:«_"
contract trada remms with Mears.

We have L]
recakulation of Incoma recognised during tha yaar Eﬁnpﬁ.ﬂn :_..aﬁm.
end, ablained supporing evidenco for 8 sampts af transactions and enswed
nat the ravenus IS recognised m accordance wih FRS 15,

of contrast gnd p ot

W seiacted a samphe of reverue transactions recorded before and etter
year end Io verify that the revenue had been recorded In the appropriaie
period.

We salecies o sprmpie of credh notes Issued after year-end and obiained
vestly that revenua adj nls ot yaor end had been
recarded appropriately
the of Group's disch n with thes
Bﬂa.!:!.ﬁnm_ﬂama
At st work b redation 10 s kary sudit matier was wideriaken by the
Group engag: M.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

Key ohaervati icated

Our response 1a the risk

10 the Ausit G

Intencied disposal of Haydon
Mechanical & Etactrical LLC
{“Haydon UAE™)

Refer 1o the Audi#t Commiliee repont
{poge 78) ond the Accounting palicies
bosls of preporotion (oode 115)

The 2016 sAnual report and accounts
reflected Mears' Intanded disposal
{during 2016) of 48% of s beneficial
imerest in the shares of Haydon
Mechanical & Elactrical Comracts LLC
{"Haydon UAE") leaving Mears with a 1
% interest. The lagal ownar of the
shares is Haydon UK Limited (“"Hayden
UK"). 1t was brought 1o o attention in
Iate 20211hat the trensfer of shares
from Haydon UK {end Mears®
beneficisl Interest) 1o the intended
acquirer did not complele as mended,
due to a fallure 1o complete all aspects
of the required Aing processes in the
UAE, gnd therefore Mears has
retained s lull 49% banelicial interest
irt the shares of Haydon UAE.

As & result of the fatiad share transfer,
Maars continues to hold the right to
control Haydan UAE (dy virtue of its
beneficial interest in the shares and
pawers set under the Memorandum
of Association). We have therefore
consklered what the approprizte
accounting is and whether aay prior
year adjustments result

We performed audit procedures over this risk area which covered
cansideration of the key judgements relRting to Mears' substantive right, and
praclical ebility 1 control Haydon UAE and whether any iability should be
recegnised by Maare Group Pic In respect of claims lodged against the
Haydon UAE entity.

We have obleined and inspecied relevant third party decumentstion and
confirmed detsils to the company's analysis.

We have challenged management's conclusions relaling 10 thelr ability to
coniol the Haydon UAE enlity in the cuirent and prios years and whelher
there is any further Yability to be recognised os Oisciosed.

With the suppact of EY Law Dubai, we have ind dently chalienged

We conciude that whilst Mears has
e right 1o control Haydon UAE,
1hare are Darriars preventing control
and therefore the entity has not
been consolidated. We have also
concluded that Mears' exposure

w0 any lurther liability is remote,

We are satisfied that all other
disposals made by Mears In the last 10
years have taken place es intended.

As referred 1o In the Audit

management’s Judgemeans relating to the existence of oparational, lege!
and requiatory bardiers 1o exercising their right to control Haydon UAE.

We have aisa independently consldered, with advice from EY Law Dubai,
tive Hicelincod of any further ability arising on Mears from the Hayden UAE
entity.

We have confimed all other dispasals in the last 10 years have taken place
as intended by checking current ownershio detalis io ndependent third
party information.

We considerad the adequacy of disciozwe in the basis of preparation note
in the accounts and considered whether any further disclosures In the
BCOQUNLS were requited,

All audit work in relation to this key audft matter was undertaken by the
Group engagesnant team with assistance from aur EY Law specialtsts.

Con Report page 75} the
faflure to complete all necessary
requirements for the glsposal
transaction 1o be effective
righlighted a significant

contred deliciency.

We are sslishied with the adequacy
of distioswre within the financial
statements.

i che prior yosr, aur auditoe's report included key audit matters in relation to a) dispasal sccounting Including recagritian of profit on disgosal and
contingent consideration and b) frst year audit transition including assessment of opening balances, In the current year, these weren't considered
key audit matters since thare wera no disposals and this was the sacond year of our audit,

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materlality In planring and performing the awdit, in evaluating the effect of ienttfied misstatements on the sudit ang

In forming our audit opinicn,

Materiality

The magnitude of on omission or missiotement thot, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influance the economic
decisions of the users of the finoncial statements.

Materiafily provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our sudit procedures. We determined materiality for the Group 1o be £11 million
{2020: £1.1 milllon), which is 5% (2020: 4.75%) of normalised profit before tax from continuing operations, Materiality in 2021 was based on our
jwdgement of normaksed earmings of the Group from continuing operations. To form the basls of this assessment wa have considered the average
profit before tax from continuing operations for finandal years 2018, 2019, 2021 and the forecast profit before 1ax for financisi year 2022,

Financial year 2020 was excluded due to the significant impact of Covid-19 on prefit before tax from continuing aperations.

Wwe determined materality for the Parent Company to be £1.1 million {2020: £1.t miihon), which is 1% (2020: 1%) of net assets.

Duwiing the course of our audit, wa reassessed initial maedality and adjusted our final materiaiity to reflect the final profit before tax far 2024,
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Performance materiality
The application of materfality at the individuc! account or balance leved. it is set of on omount to reduce io on approprictely low tevel the prabobitity
thot the oggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstalements exceeds maleriaity.

On the basis of our Hisk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’'s overall control environment, our judgement was that performance
materiaiity was 50% (2020: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £550,000 (2020: £550,000). We have set performance materiality at this
percentage due to differences identified relating 1o both the current year and prior year,

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining sudit coverage over significant financial statement accounts Is undertaken based

on a percentage of total performance matertelity. The performance materiality set for each carnponent is based on the relative scale and risk of the
component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component. In the cument year, the range of performance
materiality alocated to components was £55,000 1o £412,500.

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstaterments are considersd as being clearly triviol.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncomected audit differences in excess of €55,000 (2020: £55,000),
which Is sel ai 5% of planning matenality, 8s well as differences below that threshold thal, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant
qualitative considerations In forming our apinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The other Inrformation comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1 to 100, including the Strategic Report, setaut on
pages 1to 63, Corparate Governance, set out on pages 64 to 100, and Shareholder information, set out on pages 168 10 169, othar than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are nesponsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our apinion on the financia! statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibifity is to reed the other information and, in doing so, conskder whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or ow knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistancles or apparant material misstatements, we are required 1o determine whethar this gives rise 1o a material misstatement
inthe financial statements themseltves. if, based on the wark we have performed, we conclude that there is a matevial misstatement of the other
information, we are required 1o report that fact,

We have nothing to reportin this regarg,

QPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report 10 be avdited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

— the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the finandial year for which the financig! statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial staternents; snd
— the sirategic report and the directors' repornt have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS QN WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements In the strategic report or the directars” report.

Wae have nothing to report In respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, In our opinion:

— adequate sccounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received fram
branches not visited by us; of

— the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be sudited are not In agreement with the

accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not recefved all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
We have reviewed the directors’ statement in relation 1o going concern, long er-term viabiity and that part of the Corporate Governance Statement
relating 1o the group and company's comgdiance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Govemance Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules.

Basead on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance Statement
is materially consistent with the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained during the audit:

— Directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of agepting the going concern basis of accounting and any materal uncerlanties
identified set oui on page 93;

Directors' explanation as 1o its assessment of the company’s prospects. the periad this assessment covers and why the period is appropriste

set out on page 62 to 63,

Director's statement on whether It has 2 reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meets its Rabllities

set out on page 99;

Directors’ statement an fair, balanced and undesstandable set out on page 77;

Board's confirmation that it has carted out 8 robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on pages 46 to 53;

The section of the ennual report tha! describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and intemat control systems set out on page 77, and;
The section describing the work of the sudit committee set ut on pages 76 to 81.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilties statement set out on page 100, the directors sre responsible for the preparation of the
financiai statemanis and for being satisfled that they give a true and fair view, and far such internal control 8s the directors detérmine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial stataments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financlal stastements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company’s ability ta continue as a going
concern, disclosing, 8s applicable, matters refated to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to iquidate the group of the parent company of 1o cease operations, or have no reailstic aliemative but to do so,

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due o fraud or error, and to Issue an auditor’s report thet includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance s a high level of assurance, butis not s
guarantee thai an sudit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a materlal misstatement when it exists, Misstaiements can arise
fram fraud or error and are considered material if, indwidually or In the aggregaie, they could reasonably be expecled to influence the economic
decisions of users 1aken on the basis of these financial staterments.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting Irrggularities, Including fraud

krregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compllance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibllities,
outlined above, to detect irregularities, Including fraud, The risk of not detecting a material misstaternent due ta fraud Is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberale concealment by, for example, forgery or intentlonal misrepresentations, or through
coflusion. The extent to which our procedures are capabite of detecting irregularittes, including fraud is detalied below.

However, the primary responsioiity for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with govemnance of the compeny and management.

- We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the group and determined that the most significant
are those that relate to the reporting framework (IFRS, FRS101 and the Companies Act 2006, the Financlal Reporting Council (FRC) and the UK
Carporate Governance Code) and the relevant tax compiisnce regulations in the UK.

— We understood how Mears Group PLC is complying with those frameworks by reading internal policles and assessing the entity level controt
anvironment, inciuding the level of oversight of those charged with gavernance, We made enquiries of the Chair of the Audit Committee. the
group's legal counsel and intemat audit of any known instances of non.compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Wae corroborated our enquiries through review of comrespondence with regulatory bodies. We designed our audit procedures to identify
non-compliance with such laws and regulations identified in the paragraph above.

— We assessed the susceptibllity of the group's financisl statements 1o material misstaternent, inciuding how fraud might occur by considering the
programs and contrals that the group has esteblished to address fisks identified by the entity, or that otherwise prevent, deter and detect fraud,
how senior management monitor those pragrams and controls, evatuating canditions in the context of incentive and/or pressure to commit fraud,
considering the oppartunity ks commit fraud and the potential rationalisation of the fraudulent act.

— Based on this ungersianding we designed our audit procedures 1o identify nen-compliance with such jaws and regulstions. Our procedures
invalved making enquiries of senior management, including the Group Finance Dicector, Company Secretary and Chair of the Audit Committee.
As well as attendance and enquiry at meetings, our procedures involved a review of minutes of board meetings, Intemal audit reports, and other
committee minutes to identify any non-comphance with laws and regulations. We plenned our sudit procedures to identify risks of management
ovetride, 1ested higher risk journal enirtes and peformed audit procedures to address the potential for management bias, particularly over areas
involving significant estimation. Further detall of our approach to address the identified risks of management overide are set outin the key audit
matters section of our report.

A further description of our responsiblities for the audit of the financial statements is localed on the Financlal Reporting Council's webslte at
https:www fre.ong.uldauditorsresponsibilitias. This description forms part of our suditor’s repor.
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-

OTHER MATTERS WE ARE REQUIRED YO ADDRESS

— Following the recommendation from the audit committee we were appointed by the Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC on 9 September
2020 to audil the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. This appointment was approved
by the shareholders at the annual general meeling on 29 June 2021. The period of total uninierrupted engagement including previous renewals
and reappointments Is 2 years, covering the years ending 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021

— The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

USE OF OUR REPORT

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state 1o the company's members those matters wa are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permittad by law, we do not accept or assume responsibllity to anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Mapleston (Senior statutory auditer)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor E[Zl_éj é Zag% LLP
Bristol Ernst & Young LLP (Jun X7,2022 13:59 GMT+1)

31 March 2022
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

201 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 14,263 44,801
Other comprehensive income:
which will be subsequently reclassified 10 the Consolidated Siatement of Proflt or Loss:
Cash flow hedges:
— gainsfliosses) arising in the year 23 1,023 039
== reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 23 {85) 354
(Decrease)incréase in deferred tax asset in respact of rash flaw hedges 24 () 149
Which will not be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement uf Profit or Loss:
Actuarial gainfloss) on defined benefit pension scheme 28 $9.721 19114}
Pension guarantee asset movements in respect of actuarial (gain)/loss 28 {19,018) 10,024
{Decrease)/increase |n deferred tax in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 24 (8,809) 1727
Qther comprehensive income for the year 32,654 (7.999)
Total comprehensive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Anributable to:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 48773 36520
Non-controlling Interest 144 282
Total comprehensive Incoma for Lhe year 46,917 36,802
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable ta owners of Mears Group PLC arises from:
Continuing operations 45,651 197229
Discontinued operstions 1122 56,24
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC 46,773 36,520

The eccompanying 8ccounting policles and notes form an integral part of these financial slatements,
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Financlai statemeants

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Assets
Non-current
Goadwiil 12 118,873 18,873
{ntangitie assets 13 6610 15,205
Property, plant and equipment “ 2072 23600
Right of use assets 15 204949 200041
Investments 16 13 966
Loan notes 3 34 3¥60
Contingent consideration 23 - 543
Pension and other employee benefits 28 37651 7068
Pension guarantee assels 28 12,975 30705
Deferred tax assel 24 - 3320
405,959 408,369
Current
Inventories 7 22,869 3,258
Trade and other receivables 3 148,305 139884
Current 1ax assets 2154 358
Cash and cash equivalents 23 54,632 96,220
227,960 267720
Total assets 633,919 676,089
Equity .
Equity attributablas to the sharelralders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 25 1109 1309
Share premium account 82,365 82225
Share-based payment reserve 1313 1312
Hedging reserve 23 - (760)
Merger reseswve ToN 79N
f deornings 107578 63.536
Total equity attvil:utable to the shareholders of Mesrs Group PLC 200,236 155,393
Non-contraling interest 802 658
Total equity 201,038 156.051
Liabllities
Non-current
Long-term borrowing and overdrafts 23 - 39353
Pension and other employee benefits 28 16,995 45653
Deferred tax libilities 24 6,676 -
Interest rate swaps 23 - 462
Lease Babilities 20 176,290 166183
MNon-current provisions 22 3,800 3567
202,761 255318
Current
Trade and other payables ] 184,042 221,029
Interest rate swaps 23 - 459
Lease lizbilittes 20 4,600 42,893
Provisiong 21 4473 4
Current liatilitles 230x20 264720
Total llabitities 432881 520,038
Total and liabliithes 633913 676,089

The financial stalements were approved and authorised for issue by the Boaid of Direciors and were signed on its behalf on 3t March 2021

D J Miles A CMSmith * y .
Director Director ﬁ(/ W Aﬁf
Company number. 03232863 d j miles (Jun 19,2022 13:34 GMT+1) andrew smith [Jun 19,2022 21:11 GMT+1}

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral pan of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Note £000 £°000
Operating activities
Result for the year before tax 16,333 15.218)
Adjustments 26 65,902 72761
Change in inventories 12,944 4787
Change in trade and other receivables {2,244) 18,475
Change in trage. other payables and provisions {32,573) 2248
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing cperations before taxation 60,362 103,223
Taxes paid (3.752) L1l
Net cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations 56,610 103,264
Net cash inflow from operating activities of discontinued operations 9 59 2,527
Met cash infiow from operating activities 585,669 105,791
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipmeny (7.587) {5,065)
Additions to other intangible assets (1982) )
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 46 17
Cash inflow in respect of property for resale - 4,618
Loans repaid by related parties A 500 10
Distributions from assoclates 16 1108 -
interes! received 413 86
Net cash outflow from Investing activities of continuing operations (6,702) {2,051}
Net cash inflow from Investing activitles of discontinued operations 500 54,612
Net cash [outfiow)inflow from invesling activities (6,202) 52.561
Financing activitles
Proceeds from share Issue 40 4
Net cash movement in revolving credit facility {40,000) {84,694
Discharge of lease kabiiities (40,258) (39.958)
Interest paid (8.844) (10.056)
Dividends pald — Mears Group shareholders (2,773) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities of continuing operations {91,835) {134,704
Net cash autflow from financing activities of discontinued operations g {220) (489
Net cash outflow from financing activilies (92,055) {135,193}
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 96,220 73,061
Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents (41,588) 23,59
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 54,632 96.220
The Group cansiders its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management.
— Cash and cash equivalents 54,632 96,220
— Revolving credit facility - {39,353
Cash and cash equivalents, including ravolving credit Facilty 54,632 56,867

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statemments.
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Aty 10 squity shareholders of the Company
Share-
Shate based Non-

Share prem pay Hedging Do R controling Total

capite} account reserve resere nesarve earnings interast squity

£000 £000 1000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Al Janvary 2020 105 82,224 2421 024) 12956 159,840 185) 18,337
Net result for the yeas - - - ~ - 4519 282 44,801
Other comprehensive income ~ - - (636) - {7363} - {7.999)
Total comprehensive Income
for the year ~ — - 1636 - 37156 282 36,802)
Deferred tax on share-based
payments . - - - - - 10 -~ 10
Issue of shares 4 1 - - _ _ _ 5
Share pplions - value of
empioyee services - - 1029 ~ - - - 1,029
Share oplions - exercised or
lapsed - ~ (2138) - - 2138 - -
Non-controlling inlerest
eliminated on disposal )
of subsidiary - - - - - - N3z 3y
Transactions with non-
controling interasts - - - - - 1593 593 -
Teanster of realised profils - - - - (4.985) 4,985 - -~
At 1 January 2021 1109 82,225 1312 760} 797 63,536 B58 156,05
Net resull for the year - - - - - 1an9 4 14,263
Other comprehensive income — - - 760 - 31,894 — 32,654
Total comprehansive income
for the year - - - 760 - 45,013 44 45,917
Oeferred tax on share-hased
payments - - - - - 228 - 228
tssue of shares - 40 - - - -~ - 40
Share options — value of
empioyee services - - 575 - - - - 525
Share options - exercised or
lapsed - - (574) - - 524 - —
Dividends - — - - - @773 - (2773)
At 31 Decembar 2021 1309 82,265 1313 - TN 107578 802 201,038

The accompanying accounting paficies and notes form an imegrel part of these financial stalements.

‘H 6 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detalled in their respective noles, where relevant. Policles that are not specific to a particular note are detatled below,

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Intemnational Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of contingent consideration, derivative financial instruments and share-based
payments. They are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000).

The accounting policies remain unchanged from the previous year except for the modification of a number of standards with effect from 1.Januvary 2021,
The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group's finencial statements.

The preparation of financlal stawements in cordormity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the finencial statements and the reported ameounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Aithough these estimates are
based on management's best knowledge of the amounts, aclual resulls may uitimately differ from those estimates. The most significant estmates made
by management In these financia) statements are set cut in the accounting policies to which they relate.

Government and socletai responses Lo climate change are still developing and are interdependent upon each other, and consequently financial
statements cannot caplure 8l possible future outcomes as these are not yet known. There were no material impacts of climale change in determining
asset and lizbility valuations and the timing of future cash flows to be incorporated into these financial stetements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and domiciled In England and Wales (registration number 03232863). its registered office and principal place of
business is 1390 Momipellier Coynt, Gloucester Business Park, Brockwarth, Gloucester GL3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet inciudes the assets and liabilities of the Compary and its subsidiaries and is made up to 31 December 2021.
Entities for which the Group has the ability to exercise control over financial and operating pokicies are actounted for as subsidiaries. Control is
achleved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current abllity to direct the activities that affect the Company's returns and exposure
or rights to variable relurns from the entity, interests acquired in antities are consolidated from the effeclive date of acquisition and interests soid are
consolidated up to the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and batances between Group enterprises, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated on consolidation; no profit Is taken on sales between Group companies.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolldated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein. Non-controlling
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the originel business combination and the non-controlling shareholders’ share of
changes in equity since the daie of the combination. Totat comprehensive income is attributed to non-controliing interests even if this results in the
non-controlling Interest having a deficit balance.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have Joint control have the rights to the net assats of the arrangement. Assaciates are
entitles over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisition profits of losses is recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss; the cost of the investment in a given joint veniure or assoclate, logether with the Group's share of tnat entity's post-
acquisition changes to shareholders’ funds, is included In investments within the Consolidated Balance Sheet,

Going concern

The Directors conslder that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the period o at least 30 June 2023, When making this assessment, management considers
whether the Group will be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom above the level of its borrowing facliities and to operate within the financial
covenants applicable to those faciities, which will be measured at 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023, At 31 Decamber 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed borrowing facilities, maturing In December 2025; however, no amounl was drawn on the facility. The principai borrowing
facliities are subject to covenants, as detailed within the Financlal review section of the Sirategic Report. The Strateqic Report 2lso de1ails the principal
risks and uncertainties and how the Group manages its risks. The Group has modelled its cash flow outfook for the pediod to 30 June 2023 and the
forecasts indicate significant liquigity headroom will be maintained above the Group's borrowing facilities and that financlel covenants will be met
throughout the period, Including the cavenant tests at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2022,

The Group has camied out stress tests against the base case to determine the performance levels that would result in a breach of covenants of 8
reduction of headroom against its borrowing facilities to £nil. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scenarlos, which are covered In
more detail in the Financial viabliity review section on pages 62 and 63. After making these assessments, the Directors consider any scenario or
combination of scenarios that cauld cause the business to be ne longer a going concern to be implausible. The Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adeguate resources to cantinue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concem basis In preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method involvas the recognition at fair value of all identifable
assels and liablities, Including contingent labilities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or net they were recorded In the
financial statements of the subsidiary pricr to acquisiian, Cn initlal recagnition, the assels and Habilities of the subsidiary 8re included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at their fak values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group
accounting policies. Goodwill is stated after separating out identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents the ¢xcess of acquisition cost over

the falr value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of scquisition.

Where applicable, the consideration for an acquisition Includes any assets or labilities arising from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured ot fair value st the acquisition date. Subsequent changes In such fair values are adjusted against the cost of Bcquisition where they result
from additional infarmation obiained up to one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumsiances that existed at the acquisition date.

All oiher subsequent changes in the falr value of contingent consideration classified as an asset o lisblkity sre recognised In accordance with IFRS 9
In the Consolidated Statement of Profii or Loss,

For transactions with non-controfiing parties thal do not result In a change of control, the difference betweer the fair value of the consideration
pald and the amount by which the nen-contralling interest Is adjiusied is recognised In equity

Any business combinations prior ta 1.January 2010 were accounted far in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ i the
following respects: transaction casts directly attributable lo the aoquisition formed part of the acquistlion casts; contingent consideration was
recognised if, and only if. the Group had a present abligation, the economic Qutfiow was more likely than ot and a reflable estimate was
determinable; and subsequent adjustments ta the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goadwill.

Fair vatue
The Group Measures certaln assels and Mabilties at fair value on a recurring basts, including (is interest rate swaps, contingent consideration and
assets in the Group's defined benefit pension schemes.

Trade and other receivables. rade and other payables and other loans are Initially measured at fakr value and are subsequently held at amartised
cost. Other assels are measured at fair value when they are assessed for impairment or on classification as held for sale.

Fair value is the price thal would be recelved 10 sall an asset or pekd to tansfer a Nabllity in an orderly ransaction between market paricipants atthe
measyrement date. The Group yses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs using the following valuation hierarchy,
ordered irom highesi to lowest priarity:

Level 1~ Quoted prices In active markets for Identical assets or Yablities,

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices Included in kevel 1 Lhat sve ocbservable either directty or indirectly.

Level 3 — Unobservable nputs, typically dertved from the Group's own Information with any necessary adjustments to ediminate {actors specific o
the Group.

For assets and liabllilles measured at fak value on a lecurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by assessing the lowest level input that is significant 1o the most recent measurement.

Detalls of the particular valualion techniques used by the Group are provided in the relevant notes for each type of asse or llabllity measured at fair value,

Use of judigemants and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgerments that affect the reporied) amounts of assets and
Habiities and disclosure of contingent assats and Habilitles gt the date of the finandial slatements and the reporied amounts of income and expenditure
during the reported period. The estimates and atsocisled judgements are based on historks! experience and various other factors that ane believed to
be reasonabie urxler the circumstances, the resuits of which form the basis of making fudgentents shout carrying vakies of assets and flabilitles that are
not resdily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions (o accounting estimates ae recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period. of in the period of the revision ang future periods if the revision affects both
current and fulure periods,
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In the preparation of these consolidated financial stalements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning whether
an entity should be consaiidated, provisions necessary for certaln liabilities, estimates used In farecasts used 10 assess future profitabliity, the
discount rates used and othet judgements when recagnising right of use assets for lease accounting, the timing of revenue recognition, the
recoverability of contract assets and work In progress, actuarial estimates in respect of defined benefit pension schemes, the fair value of contingent
consideration in respect of disposed entities and other similar evaluations. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. Further details of key
ectimates and judgements are pravided in the appropriate notes, with the exception of the cansolidation jJudgement described below.

The Impact of Covid-19 has been considered when making the estimates and judgements above. The global and local effects of the pandemic have
primarily affected the discount rales used for lease accounting as well as the assumptions of discount rate and inflation rate used in calculatng the
Group's liabilities in respect of defined beneflt pension schemes.

Consolidation judgement

An Investar, regardiess of the nature of its involvement with an entlty, Is required to determine whether it is a pareni by assessing whether it controls
an investee. An investor controls an investee i and only if the Investor has power ovel the Investee. In assessing whether It has powes, an mvesior
considers only substantive rights relating to an investee. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability 1o exercise that right.

The Group holds & beneficial nterest in 49% of the shares in  company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC {Haydon LLC'), reglstered in the UAE.
in assessing whether the Group has power over the investee, the Directors have considered several operational barriers which prevent Mears from
exercising its rights. These barriers included the absence of suitable individuals willing to provide an executive management service and restrictions
placed upon the trade licence. The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Mears does not have the practical ability 1o direct the

activitles of Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criteria for control. The results of the entity are therefore not consolidated within the

financlal statements.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reports a net llability position. The carrying value of the Group's investment in this associate has
previously been reduced o £nil, and the Directors do not believe that the Group has incurmed any fegal or constructive obligations on behalf of
this associate.

New standards and interpretations not yet applied

A number of standards have been modified with effect for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 Januvary 2022. These include IAS 37 -
'Cost of Fulfiling & Contract’, IAS 16 - "Proceeds Before intended Use' and olher existing standards arsing from the Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018 — 2020 cycle. None of these amendments are expected Lo heve a material effect on the Group's financial statements.

2. REVENUE

Accounting policy

Revenue is recognised In accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based, five-step
model io be applled to all sales contracts. It is based on the transfer of control of goods and services to customers, The detail below sets out the
principal types of conlract and how the revenue is recognised in accordance with [FRS 15,

Repair and maintenance contracts
For contracts in this category, the customer raises orders on demand, for example to cary out responsive repairs. Revenue is derived from a mixture
of lump-sum periodic payments and task-besed payments depending on the terms of the individual contract.

Where & lump-sum payment Is in place it may cover the administrative element of the contract or may cover the majority of the tasks undertaken
within that contract with exclusions to this being charged In addition to the lump-sum charge. Far the works covered by the lump-sum payment, the
performance obligation is belng avaliable to deliver ihe goods and services in the scope of the contract, not the performance of the individual works
orders themselves. Revenue Is recognised on a straight-line basis as performance obligations are being met over time.

For works arders not covered by a ump-sum payment, each works order represents 8 distinct perfarmance obligation and, as the customer controls
the assel being enhanced through the works, the perfarmance obligation is satisfied over time. Each works order can be broken down into one or
more distinct tasks which are efther complete or not complete, The stage of completion of the works order I$ assessed by looking at which tasks are
complete. Tha transactlon price for partly completed warks orders is recognised as cost plus expacted margin. The transaction price for completed
works orders Is the invoice value, which Is typlcally determined by a pricing schedule referred to as 8 Schedule of Rates that provides a transaction
price for each particular task.

Some contracts may inciude an element of variable revenue based on certain KPls. These are recognised either at apoint In time or over time,
depending on the nature of the KP| and the contractuat agreement in which It Is contained. Where there is uncertainty in the measurement of variable
consideration, at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the facts and crcumstances of the contract in determining
alther the most likely amount of variable consideration when the outcome is binary, or the expected value based on a range of possible considerations.
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there Is a high probability that a significant reversal in varlable conslderation revenues will not
occur once the uncertainty is subsequently resolved. This assessment will indude constideration of the following factors: the total amount of the variable
conslderation; the proportion of consideration susceptible to judgements of customers or third parties, for example KPis; the length of time expected
before resclution of the uncertainty; and the Group's previous experience of similar contracts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements —~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. REVENUE CONTINUED
Property income
Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor oparating lease revenue is recognised In revenue on a stralght-line basis aver the tenancy.

Where the Group is providing a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent {the net management fee) on a stralght-line basis.
Where significant Initéal costs are required to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities. the costs direcily attiibulable to
the initial upgrade wil be recognised as costs incurred to fulfil a contract and held within current assets, to the extent that it is determined that
costs are recoverable.

Where the Group ts providing an accommaodation and support service, revenue is recogrised ata point in time for each night that the sccommodation
Iz occupled.

Some conlracts may Include an element of varizble revenye based on certain KPIs, This is recognised on the same basis as above.

Where the Group enters into arangements with customeans for the provision of housing, an assessment is made as to whether this income

is recagnized undes IFRS 15 or IFRS 16, The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed 10 contain a lease where the contract conveys
the right ta control an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. In this Instance, the rental income is recognised on 3
straight-#ne basis over the life of the lease, All such sub-leased resigential property leases are clasiified as operating leases. Revenue In respect of
sub-leased residential property is disclosed separately.

Care services

The standsione selling prices for providing care are overtly siated in the contract, and the methad of application of the rate of charge is on a unit of
time basls, usually expressed s a rate per visit, Revenue will be recognised In respect of this single performance obiigalion, by reference to the
chargeable rate and time for compleled care visits in the perlod.

Fram time to fime, care contracls with custemers inciude a fixed fee per period for performing a consistent scape of cane services, For these contract
types, ihe revenue recognition is consisient with lumg-sum payments included in repair and maintanance contracts, as descrihed above.

Mobilisation

Across all revenue types, where & contract includes a mobilisation element. conslderation is initislly given to whether the mobilisation efement
contains any discreta perfarmance obllgations. If this is the case, an element of the total conlract price is allocated Lo those performance obligations
and recognised eliher at 8 paint in time or over time, depending on the nature of the performance ablkgetion. Mobilisation Income Is included in the
revenve category to which the contract relates.

Where amounts are recelved far mobilisation elements that are not performance cbigations. these amounis are allocated @ the performance
obligations in the contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021 In respect of mobllisation performance obligations.

Contracting projects

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works lo be carried out, for a fixed price. Mears is
continuousty satistying this single performance obligation as cost is incured. deteimining progress against the performance obligation on an Input
basis. The customer controls the site of oulput as the work Is belng performed on it and therefora revenue is recognised aver lime where there s an
enforceable right 1o paymen for works completed 1o date and the work completet does not credte an asset with an slternative use 10 the Group.
An assessment is made of costs incurred 10 deate and the costs required to complete the project. i a project is not deemed ta be profitable, the
unavaidable costs of fulfilling the contract are provided for immediately. This calegory alse includes construction contracts where an end customer
hias not yet been identified end the revenue is recagnised atthe point of sale of the property, rather than over time.

Other
From time to time, the Group recelves revenue that does not fall within any of the categories above but is not individually significant enough to requive
a specific policy. In these cases, the revanue is considered separately and recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverabllity

Determining future contract profabilty requlres estimates of future revenues and costs 10 complete. In making these assessments there is 2 degree
of Inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these estimates and has wel-estabkshed internal controls o
assess and review the expected outcome.
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Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting palicies

Revenue recognition

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profit recogrition in respect of coniracting and variable consideration contracts require
judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisation costs and contract
assets. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject 1o a regular review of the revenue and costs to complete that contract.

The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition is as follows:

2024 2020
£'000 £°000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repalrs and mainteience 481,647 449974
Contracting 101,589 103,642
Property income 240,641 199718
Care services 19,446 19,825
Other 295 109
843,608 773,259
Lease income . 34,792 32,548
378,420 805,817

Al of the above calegories fall exclusively within the Housing segment,

A totat of £13.2m of revenue was recognised in respect of the balance of contract Hiabilities at the start of the year (2020: £2.1m),

Repairs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically invoiced between one and 30 days from completion of the performance obligation.
Contracting revenue |s typically Involced based on the stage of complatlon of the overall contract. Property income is typically involced monthly in
advance. Payment lerms for revenue invoiced are typically 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

A maturity analysis of future minimum kessor income as at 31 Decamber is shown in the table below:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Less than 1year 7.535 7263
Between 1and 2 years 2,365 2,938
Between 2 and 3 years . 2,060 2,385
Between 3 and 4 years 1,750 2,087
Between 4 and 5 years 1.544 1.683
Qver 5 years g12 2,296
18,066 19,352

3. SEGMENT REPORTING
Accounting policy

Segment information Is presented In respect of the Group's opersting segments based on the format that the Group reporis to its chief operating
decision maker.

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business.

The Group hag one continuing aperating segment during the year:

-— Housing — following the disposal of the Group's domiciliary care operations, all services provided by the Group fall within this segment,
This includes housing repairs and maintenance services, a full housing management service and Care services directly related o
hausing provision. ’

All of the Group's activities are carried out within the United Kingdom and the Group's principal reporting to its chief operating decision maker is not
segmenled by geography. As such, the results for the Group as a whole represent the results for the single segment.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 1 2 1

ADNVYNYIAOD IV HOLNOD LEOLNY JIDILVULS

SLNANILYLS TYIDNYNIY

NOILYINHO4N! HIATOHINVHS

AAY

\Y

\




Financial statemants

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

BN revenut Bnd af NONR-CUINETL a5 3etS B Wi the Uniek Kingdom Al of tha nevenult reporiad Is exunal i the Group. The Groug's inngest

single crsiomer rlationship | in respect of e Asylumn Accommacttion and Support COnIrect with the Home Office. AL the time that this contract
was won, e Group expacted 10 repor anmiBl revenyes of wmund S120m, which would, uAder Normat condions, amoun| 1 irourd 15% of Group
RveNues, The AMST COMract hos exPerancad sleviied vaksmies a3 & result of » backiog nkad 10 the chellenges of Cavia.9. As 3 msull, ihis
custtme s ieiationship scotunted for var 20% of Group revenues in 2021 8nd this devilad Dosition has continued into 2022. in the langer term.
this contract ks expactad to reduce Dack Sown ko 8 narmal igv, No other customisr compnses move than 1% of reported ravenys,

4 OPERATING COSTS
Operating coats. rekating 10 coNinuNG actvites. Inlude the folowing,

Toon 000
Shaa-based paymenis a5 993
Qeprecision 45,029 47688
Impainma of fed asseds - 1800
Amartsation af acquisiion intangibws T5E4 4525
Amactsation af ahar ImongiDies 2D 221
Loet on cispsal of ropeny, plent and squiomeny m £ )]
Faes poyobie for sudit and non-sudh 3ervices during tha yebr were ot follows

03! 1030

L0 008
i respect of ConinLINg BCTviters.
Fods paysbiv (0 (RS BUAIDF 10T ENe auiit of N8 GIouD's Inancisl siataman L] BO
Otner feus Paysiie 1o the audlion in (espect of:
= Sutlling of aconunte of subsidiary unesiaiings purkuant to iegistation 600 485
o additionalfews a1 nespact of the 2020 sudk m -
Feut pEysbie 10 the auditoe In respact of discontihued sctivities - 70
Torpl auciin's v ner atioe 3,028 685
5. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

3N 1m0

£000 £'000
et charge on Qvertrans and oans HADE} ri-u]
iragrest charge on hedged nems o 354)
Inerest on lease oblgsiions 1) [rirk]
Qther nierent m ]
Findce Costs on bartk keans, overdrafts snd issses. ATY {0159
Interest charpe on defined hanellz pension obllg, —_ QI 132
Tousl finance costs a0 £0.25%
nterest incoma resuking from shori-senm bank depasits 1 [
intwrest inoome (esuliing irom geflned tenefit pension axset 6 4
incorne fior o hedge n5 -
Qiher inkereyt incomey <] ]
Flnance ncame [.=.] 23
Nt rorce tharge _ adew __ _nwy
Gois #d 105503 ON hesgrd lents recognised In other comprehenshve income
Gairaliosses) 2:14ing in (e year 1023 3y
Recinssificaon 1 the Comsordaes of Profit x Lesy g 154
Cl | INBTAD-marialt of interesd TR SYwaps 38 [785)
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6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 E'QQ0
Wages and salaries 166,304 161128
Social security cpsts 16,425 17,380
Other pension Costs 8,552 8,454
191,281 187,962

Wages and salarigs are presenicd net of Coronaviius Job Retention Scheme of £nil (2020: £15.7m).

The average number of employees of the Group during the year was:

. 2021 2020
Site workers 2873 3,474
Carers 664 703
Office and management 1,860 250
5,397 6,327

7. SHARE-BDASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2.

The Group operstas equity-settied share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received In exchange lor the grant of
any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values. These are Indirectly determined by reference (o the fakr value (excluding the effect
of non-market-based vesting conditions] of the share options awarded. Their vaiue is determined st the date of grant and Is not subsequently
remeasured unless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant Is calculated using the Monte
Carlo option pricing model (2020: Black-Scholes) and the cost Is recognised on a stralght-line basis over the vesting pericd. Adjustiments are made to
reflect expected and actual forfellures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn {(SAYE) plans, employges are required to contribute towards
the plan. This non-vesting conditian is taken into account In calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date.

All share-based ramuneration Is ultimately recognised as an expense In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. For equity-settied share-based
payments there is a corresponding credit 1o the share-based payment reserve.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any direcily atiributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued
are allocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four [2020: four) active share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration.

Details of the share options outstanding and movement during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
Walghted Weighted
average average
exercise anercise
MNumber price Number price
Qpesating segments ‘000 p '000 [
Outstanding at 1 January 5,292 13t 3325 217
Granted 544 1 4,004 93
Forfeited or lapsed {965) m 1,647 - 240
Exercised (44) 22 390 ?
Quistanding at 31 December 4827 " 5292 -1

The wefghted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 195p. At 31 December 2021, 0.5m optlons
had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1p and 428p. These options had a weightad average exercise price of 284p and a weighted
average remalning contractual life of 6.7 years.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION CONTINUED

The fair vahses of options granted were determined using the Monte Carlo option pricing moded (2020; Blsck-Schales). Significant inputs into the
calcutation Include the market price at the date of grant, the exerclse price and share price volatility. Furthermore, the calculation incorporales an
estimate of the future dividend yield and the nisk-free intarest rate. The share price volatility was determined from the daity log normal distributions
of the Company share price Gver a period commensurate with the expecied life as calculalad back from the date of grant. The risk-free interest

tate Utilised the 2era-coupan band yield derived from UX Government bonds as at the date of caleulation for 2 life commensurate with the expected
iife. Adjustments are made ta reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting pesiod due 1o failure to satisfy sevvice conditions.

There were 0.54m options granmed during the year and 0.97m options that lapsed during the year. The markel price a1 31 December 2021 was 189p
and the range during 2021 wis 14Bp 10 224p.

All share-based employee remuneration witl be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obiigation 1o repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the foflowing expenses related to shara-based payments:

20 2020
£000 £'000

Giving rise to share-based payment reserva:

- SAYE 295 . 632

- CSOP 33 347

- TP 94 -

- DSBP 53 -
57% 1029

The Group is currently running four active schemes, detalled below:

Share save plan {Save As You Earn)

Options are available ko al employeas. Options are granted for a period of thiee years. Oplions are exercisable a1 s price based on the quoted
market price of the Company’s shares at the time of invitation, discounted by up to 20%. Options are lorfeited if the employee leaves Mears Gioup
pefore the aptions vest, which impacts on the number of options expected to vest, I an employee stops saving but continues in empioyment, this Is
treated as a canceitation, witich results in an acceleration of the share-hased payment charge.

Company Share Option Plan

The Company operates & discrelionary unapproved share plan and a Company Share Optian Pign. Oplions are exercisabie at a price below market
value at the date of grant and often at nominal value. The vesting period is three years. It the options remain unexercised afier @ period of 10 yeers
from the dste of grant, the options expire. Opiions are forfelted if the empioyee leaves Mears Group before the options vest. No awards to Executive
Directors are proposed under these plans.

Long-term incentive plan
The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (Le. either conditional shares or nil or nominal cost options} normally on an annual basis which are eligible
1o ves\ after three yaars subject to continued service and the achlevement of challenging parformance conditions. The first award under this scheme
was made guring 2021. Options are granted under this scheme to key sefior management subject to performance conditions as detalled on page 92
of the Remuneration Report.

Deterred share bonus plan (DSBP)

The deferred share bonus plan relates to Annual Bonus payments where typically 33% are deferred Into shares and vest sublect to continued
employment. individuals may be able 1 receive a dividend equivalent payment on deferted bonus shares at the time of vesting equal to the value of
dividends that wouid have accrued during the vesting periog. The dividend equivalent payment may assume the reinvestment of dividends on a
cumulative basis. Clawback provisions may apply for three ypars from the date of payment of any bonus or the grant of any defered bonus share eward.
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8. TAX EXPENSE

Accounting policy

Current tax assets andfor llabilities comprise those obligations 1o, or claims from, fiscal authorities that are Unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are
cakulated according to the tax rates end 1ax laws applicable to the accounting periads to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Where an itlem of Income or expense is recognised in the Consolidated Stalement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recognised as @
component of tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Proflt or Loss. Where an ltem is recegnised directly to equity or presented within the
Consaildated Statement of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated Is treated similarly.

Deferred taxation is the tax expacted to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounis of 855ets and liabililes in
the financtal statements and corresponding tex bases used in the computation of taxable profit and Is accounted for using the balance sheet
liabitity method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on all taxable temporary differences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets are
recognised 10 the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
However, defermed tax is not provided on the initial recagnition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or liabifity, unless the related
transaction is 8 business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

Deferred taxation is ¢alculated using the tax rates and iaws that are expected to apply in the period when the liabllity is settied or the asset Is realised,
pravided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferrad Laxation assets Is reviewed at each
balance sheet dale &nd reduced to the extent that it Is no longer probable that sufficlent taxable profits will be avallable Bgainst which taxable
temporary differences can be utdised. Deferred tax Is charged ar credited to either the Consolidated Staternent of Profit or Loss, the Consalidated
Stetement of Comprehensive Income or equily to the extent that li relates to items charged or credited. Deferred 1ax relating to items charged or
credited directly 1o equity is also credited or charged to equity.

Tax recagnised In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporation tax 2,407 {785
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (450) 674
Total cusrent tax charge/credit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Lass 1957 my
Cefarred taxation charge:
- oOn defined benefit pension obligattons 154 167)
= Onshare-based payments - ot
- Oncapital allowances 806 (26)
— on amortisalion of acquisition imangibles (1.372) (1.553)
— on short-lerm temporary timing differences (45) 144
— Oncorporaie tax josses 1,003 (324
— othertiming differences {50) 43
= statutory rate changes Ta2 -
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (3 {.319)
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or toss 1235 3.086)
Total tax chargeficredit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on continuing operations 3192 (3.209)
Total tax (creditycharge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on discontinued operations {182) 121
Total tax chargedcredi) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 3,010 3.086)
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

B. TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED
The charge for the year ¢an be reconclied to the rasult for the yesr as folows:

2021 2020
£000 £000
ProfitAioss) for the year on cortinuing operations before tax 16,313 (15,218;
Profit for the year on discontinued operations before tax 940 56,933
Result for the year before tax 17273 415
Rasult for the year multiphied by standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the period of 19.0%
(2020 19.0%) 3,282 7926
Effect of: .
~  expenses not deductible for lax purposes n 142
-~ fixed assetimpairment - 285
— net proceeds of disposals of subsidiaries not subject to tax (209) (9760)
- income not subject 10 tax - (248)
— taximpact of employee share schemes 102 2Mm
- l3xl0s5es Not previously recognised in deferred 18x {593} (35)
= Impact of stalutory rate changes ' 742 -
= adjustment in respect of prior periods (835) {.597)
Actuil 1ax charge/icredit) 3.0t (3.088)

Deferred tax is recognised on both tempovary differences betwean the lreatment of items for 13x end actounting purposes. Deferted tax on the
amortisation of acquisition Intangibles is a temporary difference and arises because ro tax reliel 1s due on this kind of amortisation.

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expected to be utiiised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax asset and
a subsequent charge arises as those losses are utilised. No defesrad Lax asset Is recognised in respect of losses of £25.5m (2020: £29.0m) across
several entities in the Group as it is not expected that they will be eilgible to be utilised against profits in the fulure.

Deferred [ax IS also recognised on short-term temporary timing offerences, primarily relating to provisions. These dilferences are expected
to reverse in the following vear and arise because tax relief is only avallable when the costs are incurred.

Capital slowances represen) 1ax relief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and afe spread over severa! years at rates set by
legislation. These differ from depreciation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment aver its useful ife. Deferred tax
ts recogrised on the difference batween the remaining value of such an asset for lax purpeses and its Carrying value in the ascounts,

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 Included measures (O support economic recovery as 4 result of the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic. These Included an increase 1o the UK's main corparatlon tax rate to 25%, which Is due to be effective from | April 2023. These changes
were substantively enacled at the balance sheet date and hence have been reflected in the measurement of deferred tax batances at the period end,
to the extent those balances are expected to impact on current tax after 1 April 2023,

The following tax has been chargeq to other comprehensive income or equity during the year:

2021 2020
£'000 £000

Deterred tax chargeAcredit) recognised in ather comprehensive income
- on defined benefit pensian obligations 8,809 072n
— _On cash flow hedges ALi) {149)
Total deferred tsx charge/credit) recognised in other comprehensive income 8,987 {.876)
Defarred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit: .
— ©on share-hased payments az8) 10}
Total deferred tax recognised in equity (228} {10y
Total tax i
Total current tax 1775 1
Total delerred tax 9,994 (4582
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9. DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES
During 2020, the Group compieted the disposal of its Domiciary Care busimess and disposed of its Plannimng Solulions business.

A small amount of income and expenditure were incufred in respect of the Domicillary Care business during 2021, primartly for transitional services as
a result of the separation of the disposed business from the continuing business. These transactions are recognised in discontinued operatians.

in addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Soiutions business included a contingent element (o be received in April 2022,
The falr value of this contingent conslderation has been reassessed at 31 December 2021 and the resultant profit has been recognised in
discontinued operations.

The resuits of the aperations which have been included in the consolldated financial statements are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Revenue and profits
Sales revenue | 57 35,388
Cost of sales (63) {20787
Adminisirative expenses (e {1738
Profiton disposal - 54,074
Increase In falr value of contingent consideration 1100 -
Finance costs 31 @
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 940 56,933
Tax on discontinued operations -1 {129
Profit for the year after tax on discontinued operations - 1122 56,812

The results of all disposed businesses prior to their disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows In the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

The results of the operations which have been included in the Consalidated Cash Flow Statement are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Oporating activitles
ResLit for the year before tax 940 56,933
Net finance costs a 4
Share-hased paymants - 36
Deprediation and amortisation - 1,004
Net profit on disposal of investments - (58,993
Fair value movernent {1100} -
Change In operating receivables - 586
Change in operating payables 34 2.962
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities before taxation (123) 2,532
Taxes paid 182 &)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 59 2527

Investing activitles
Addhions to property, plant and equiprment - {(305)
Additions to other intanglble asseis - 3
Proceeds from disposal of subsidianes 500 63676
Net cash disposed of with substdlaries - {5.618)
Net cash inflow from Investing activities 500 54,612

Financing activities
Discharge of lease liabilities 10 {485)
Interest paid 5] 4
Net cash outflow fram financing sclivities (220) {489}
Net increase in cash and cash equlvalents 339 56,650
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. DIVIDENDS

Accounting policy

Dividend distributions payable to equity sharehalders are Included [n 'Current financlal llabilites’ when the dividends are approved in a generat
meeting pricr to the batance sheet date.

The following dividends were pak$ on ordinary shares in the year:

2024 2020

£000 £°000

Fina) 2020 divigend of 0p 2020 final 2099 divigend of Op) per share - -
lnterim 2621 dividenda of 2.5p (2020: interim 2020 dividend of Op) per share 2773 -
2,773 -

No dividend was declared In respect of 2020. An nterim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was Haid 1o shareholders in Oclober 202,
The Directors recommend o final dividend of 5.50p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial ststements as no
obligation existed st 31 Decernber 2021,

1. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Continuing
Canminul Discontinued and dk ued
202 2020 2021 2020 202 2020
P P -] 2] -] )
Eamings per share Hnrz (10.66) 1.1 5087 1273 40.21
Diluted earnings per share .50 $0.66) 0.99 50.87 12.49 40.21

The calcuiation of EPS is based on » weighted average of ordinary shares In Issue during the year. The diluted EPS Is based on a weighted average of
orgdinary shares calculated In accordance with JAS 33 ‘Earnings per Shase’, which assumes that all diutive options will be exercised. 1AS 33 defines
diutive options as those whose exercise would decresse earnings per share of increase loss per share from continumg operations.

20 2020

Milllon Milan

Weighted average number of shares in issue: 093 no56
— Diutive effect of share aptiuns - 213 -
Weighted average number of shares for calculating dituted earnings pet shaté ’ 113.06 110,58

As the Group made a loss from continuing aperations during 2020, there were no dilutive options during that period. The number of antidilutive
patential shares not inclugded in the ahove table for 2020 was 0.39 milhon.
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12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of substdiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired entily over the Group's inlerest in the fair
value of the entity's identitiable assets and Habilities acquired and Is capltalised as a separate item. Goodwill [s recognised as an intangible asset.

Uinder the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previousiy written oft directly to reserves under UK GAAP is not recycled tothe
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on calculating a gain or loss on disposal.

Impairment

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which these are separately ldentlfiable cash flows: CGUs. As a
result, some assets are tested individually for impaiwment and some are tested at CGU level. Goodwill is allocated to those CGUSs that are expected to
benefit from Synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors the
related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include goodwili and thase intangible assets not yel availeble for use are tested for impakment at least annualty.
All other Individual assets or CGUs are tested for Impalrment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate thal the carrying amount may not
be recoverable,

An impairmenioss Is recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Proflt or Loss for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amount
exceeds ils recoverable amaount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to seil, and value In use
based on an internal discounted cash fiow evaluation. Impalrment losses recognised for CGLIs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
Initialty to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impakment loss is charged pro-rata (o the other asseis in the CGU, With the exception of
goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indicatlons that an impairment ioss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Goodwil
ariging on. Purchased
consolidation poodwill Tota!
£'000 £:000 £'000

Gross camrying amount
AL 1January 2020 114954 8.250 123,204
Reclassification 4,208 {4.208) -
Disposal of subsidiary {4331 - 433
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 114,831 4,042 113,873
Accumulated Impaimment losses
At1January 2020, at 1 Janusry 2021 and at 31 December 2021 = - -
Carrying amount
At 31 Decamber 2021 114,81 4,042 118,873
At 31 December 2020 114,831 4042 18,873

Goodwill on consolidation arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a company.

Purchased goodwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition aver the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assets
of a business by the Group.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Goodwilllis hot amortised but is reviewed for impaikment on an annual basis o more frequently if there are any Indications that goodwill may be
impaired. Goodwil acquired in 8 business combinalion is allocated to groups of CGUS according 1o the leve! st which management mantors that
gaodwill. Goodwill Is camied at cost less accumulated impaitment losses.

The camrying value of goodwill is allocated 16 the following CGUs:

Goodwin
arlsing on Purchased
cansolidats goodwill Total
. £'000 £'000 £'000
Housing 95,742 4,042 99784
Housing with Care 19,089 — 19,089
114,831 4,042 18,873

Housing with Care is delivered through two standalone subsidiaries of the Group and includes those activities thal include an alement of personal
care as parl of the service to the end user. The cash Nows In respect of these two subsidiaries are separately identifiable ana hence this is a CGU in
fts owrt right. All other activities fall within the Housing CGU.

An asset 5 impaired if the carrying value exceeds the CGU's recovarable amount, which is based on value in uvse. AL 31 December 2021 impaliment
reviews were performed by camparing the cerrying value with the value in use for the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.

The value in use for each CGL is cakulated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extiapolated cash fows for the next four
years discountad gt a post-1ax discouni rate of over a five-year period with 8 terminal value. The impalrment reviews incorporated a terminal growth
assumption, which is consarvative whan compared with the UX long-term growth rate gnd the underhying demographics, which will be positive for the
Group’s core markeats.

The estimated growth rates are based on knowledge of the individual CGU's sector and market and represent management's base level
axpectalions for future growth. Changes 10 revenue and direct costs are based on past experience and expeciation of future changes within the
markets of the CGUs. All CGUs have the same access to the Group's treasury function and barowing amangements Lo finance thelr operations.

Managemen! consicers thal reasonably possible changes In these assumplions would not cause a CGU's Carrying amount 1o exceed its
recoverable amount.

The raies used were as follows:

Volume Terminat

Post-tax Pre-tax growth rate growth

discount rse _ discount rate fyears 3-5) ra

Housing 900% 1.50% 2.00% 170%
Housing with Care 9.00% N.45% 2.00% - 1.70%
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13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting pelicy

In accordance with IFRS 3 {Revised) ‘Business Combinations’, an Intangible assel acquired in 8 business combinglion is deemed to have a cost 1o the
Group of its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the Intanglble asset reflects market expectations about the probability that the future
aconomic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together with a relaled
tanglble or intangible asset, the group of assets Is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual fair vatues of the
assets in the Group are not reliably measurable. Where the individual fair values of the complementary assets are reliably measurable, the Group
recagnisesthem as a single asset provided the Individual assets have similar useful lives. ntangible ssets are amortised over the useful economic
life of those assets.

Devetopment costs incurred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

— Completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be avalilable for use.

- The Group intends to complete the development of the module and use It

The software will be used in generating probable future economic benefits.

There are adequate technical, financial and other resources to compleie the development and 1o use the software.
— The expendilure altributable to the software during its development can be measured reliably.

Costs incurred rmaking intellecival property available for use (including any assoclated borrowing costs) are capitalised when all of the following
conditions are satisfied:

Completion of the data set is technically feasible 50 that it will be available for use.

The Group intends 10 complete the preparation of the data and use it.

The data will be used In generating probable future economic benefits.

There are adequate technical, financial and other resources 1o complate the data set andto use it.

The expenditure attributable to the Inteflectual property during its development can be measured reliably.

Developmenl costs not meeting the Criterla for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. Careful judgement by management is applied when
deciding whether the recognilion requirements for development costs have been met. This Is necessary 8s the economic success of any
development Is uncertaln and may be subject 1o future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
available at each balance sheet date. In addition, all interna! activities related to the research and development of new software are continually
monitored by management.

The cost of an internally generated intangible assel comprises all directly attsibutable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the assetto be
capable of operating In the manner intended by management. Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software development.

Amortisation commences upon completion of the asset and is shown within other administrative expenses. Until the assat is avallable for use on
completion of the project, the assets are subject to Impairment testing only. Development expenditure is amortised aver the period expectiad
to benefit.

The Identiflable intang ble assels and associaled periods of amortisation are as follows:

Order book — over the period of the order book, typically three years

Client refationships - over the petiod expected 1o benefil, typically five years
Supplier relationships - over the period expected to benefll, typicatly two years
Development expenditure — over four to five years, straight line

Software - 25% p.a,, reducing balance

The useful economic lives of intangible assels are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. OTHER INTANGIHLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Acquisition intangibles

Totaf
- Client Qrcfer Supplier Scquisition Owreigpmient Total
rlationships - book relationships Intengibles axpenditure intangibles
£000 000 £'000 £00D 2000 E'DOD
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 6%.987 12770 2772 85929 22.998 w0as27
Additions - - - - 4858 4858
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (7.896) {7.895)
At 1 January 2021 ' 65,987 7176 2172 85929 19.960 105,889
Addltions - - - - 1182 1182
At 31 December 2021 65.987 17770 272 85,929 21142 w0ron
Ace 1atod prvortispt
At 1 January 2020 5143t 13,580 1,089 66100 185 80285
Amortisation charge for period 8,351 525 650 8526 2,625 12151
Dispasat of subsidiaries - -~ ~ - {1752} (1752)
At 1Janusry 2021 59782 05 1739 75,626 15,058 90684
Amortisation charge for penicd 3,556 3.665 433 7854 2123 9777
At 31D ber 2021 63,338 7 2R 83,280 1781 100,461
Carrying amount
At 31 Dacombar 2021 - 2649 - - 2649 3,961 5,690
At 31 Dacember 2020 6,205 3,665 433 10,303 4,902 15,205

Cavelapment expenditure 1s an internally developed miangible asset and relates largety to the development of the Geoup’s Howsing job management
system. Development expendilure is smonised over its yseful economic life of 5.0 years. The weighted average remaining economic e of the asset
is 3.1 years (2020: 3.1 years).

All amortisation is included within other administrative expenses.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policy

ltems of praperty. plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure thay Is directly atiributable
1o the acquisition of the tems. Subsequent costs gre included in the asset’s carrying amount o recodrised as a separate asset, as appropriate, anty
when it is probabla that future econemic Brehefits associated with the 1een will ficw Inte the Group and the cost of the ter tan be measured reliably.
Al other repairs and maintenance are charged o the Consolicated Statement of Profit or Loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Freehold Jand is not deprecisted. Depreciation on other assets is Calculated 10 write down the cost Jess estimsted residual value over their éstimated
useful gconomic lives. The rates genesally applicable are:

Freehold builidings ~ 2% p.a. straight Ine

Leasehold improvements ~ over the period of the lease, straight line
Plant and machinery — 25% p.a. reducing batance

Equipment -~ 25% pa. reducing balance

Fixtures and fittings. — 50% p.a., straight line

Motor vehiicles - 25%pa, reducing balance

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate, The carrying value is reviewed forimpairment in the period H events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carning value may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying value is writter down immediately ta its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is qreatet than its esdmated recaverable amount.
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Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative
expenses in the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Identifying whether there are indicators of impairment in respect of propery, plant and equipment involves some judgement and a good

understanding of the drivers of value behind the asset. Al each reporting period an assessment is perfcrmed in order o determine whether there are
any such indicatars, which involves considering the performance at both a contract and business level, and any significant changes 1o the markets in

which we operate, This is not considered to be a critical judgement or an area of significant unceriainty.

Fixtures, Assots
Freehold Leasehold Plantand fittings and Moter under
property  improvements machinery equipmant vehicles construction Total
£'000 £000 £'000 €000 £000 £000 £'000

Gross camrying amotunt
At 1 January 2020 822 22497 2933 47440 1,008 4726 79426
Additions - 2,969 28 846 - 113 4956
Disposals (6) {6.080} sy (10.755) {24} - {(17.0%)
Reclassification - (104} - 104 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries - {241 (761 (2,005) - - 3,009
Transferred from disposal group "o 129 - 17 - — 256
At 1 January 2021 926 19170 2,049 35647 984 5839 B4,815
Additions o 5,225 9 205 - 216 7602
Disposals - - (500) (8.343) - ~ (8,843
Transfer to inventories - - - — - (6,055) (6.055)
At 31 December 2024 1,027 24395 1558 29355 984 -~ 57319
Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 46 12,824 213 3n3s 982 - 53,100
Provided in the year 28 2226 214 3205 7 - 5,680
Eliminated on disposals 5) {6,080 n3s) {10,496) {23 — (167409
Impairment - - - - - 1.500 1.500
Reclassification - 2 - {2) - ~ -
Disposal of subsidiarles 102) (647 (1.808) - - (2.551)
Transferred to disposal group - 18 - 8 — ~ 26
At1January 2021 68 8,888 1551 28,042 966 1.500 41015
Provided In the yaar 30 324 hit:} 2222 5 - 5,615
Eliminated on disposals - (426) 8,098) - - (8.524)
Transfer ta inventortes - — - — - 1.500) {1,500}
At 31 December 202¢ 28 12,129 1,243 22166 aM -~ 36,607
Carrying amount '
At 31 Decernbier 2029 929 12,266 315 7189 13 - 20,712
Al 31 December 2020 858 10,282 498 7,605 18 4,339 23,600

During the year, the properly previcusly presented as an sssel under construction was reclassified to inventories as ILis now expected to be sold (0
third party on completion, rather than used within the business.
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Firanciat statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

15. RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Accounting policy

Where an asset Is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use assel and a lease liablity on the balance sheet. The right of use asset is
measwed at cost, which matches the Initizl measurement of the |ease liability and 2ny costs expected at the end of the (ease, and then depreciated
on a Straight-ine basis over the lease term.

The lease lability is measured at the present value of the future lesse paymenis discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed payments, variable payments based on an Index and payments arising from options reasonably cenain to
he exercised.

The Group has efecied to account for short-term feases and Irases of iow value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right
of use asset and a lease liabllity, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense In profit of foss on a straightine basis over the
lease term.

On the statement of financiat position, right of use aSsels and lease labilities are presented separately.

Critleal judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policlas

The Group holds more than 15,000 leases across its partfalio of residentlal properiies, offices and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours

to standardise the form of leases, operatlonal demands dictate that many leases have specific wording to address particular operational negds and
atso to manage the assoclated operattonal and financiaf risks. As Such, each lease requires individual assessment and the Group s required to make
key judgements which include:

the identification of a lease;

assessing the right to direct the use of the underlying asset;

delermining the lease term; and

the assessment as 10 the level of future lease payments, inciuding fixed arkd variable payments,

The most typical challenges encountered and which form the key judgements are:

where {he lease contains a one-way no-fault break In Mears' favour, the Group measures the obligation based on the Group's best estimate of its
future intentlons;

where 3 unilateral break is in place, assessing whether the ‘ease can be lerminated with no matse than an insignificant penalty;

where the lessor has a right of substtulion meaning that the lessor can swap one property far andther without Mears’ approvat

where Mears does not In practice have the rignt 1o control the use of the asset and Ihe key decislon making Jights are retained by the supplier;
where a wider egreement for a supply of services Inciudes a lease component which meets the deflnition of a lease under IFRS 16; and

the assessmant of the fixed lease payments where the lease obligation to the landiord is based on a pass-through arrangement in which Mears
onily makes lease payments to the owner 10 the extent that the praperty is eccupied and 1o the extent that rents are recelved from the tenant.

Key sources of tion uncer Y,

Additions and remeasurements 10 right of use assets In respect of lease agreements are equivalent 16 the present value for change in present vaiue)
of the relevan lease abligation. Unless there is 8n interast rate implicit in the lease itself, the Group's Incrementa) Borrowing Rate (iBR) is used to
calculaie the present value of fulure lease payments. Estimation is required in deriving an appropriate IBR. The Directors believe that the best
approximation for 1BR Is the cwrently spplicable margin from the grid comained within the Group's RCF agreement, added to an approprlale base
rate. For the current period, that base rate was LIBOR, as that was the base rate under the RCF agreemant throughout the year. For 2022, the base
rate will switch to SONIA as that is the base rate under the new RCF agreement, finalised in Decernber 2021, This change is not expected 10 have 8
material impact on the caiculstion of IBR.

The above represents a change in estimation methedology for IBR from that used during the previcus year. In 2020, the Group had a low level of
headroom on its RCF and a reduced ahility for additional boreowing. it was therelore not considered appropriate at that time to utilise the RCF rate.
Instead, the Direttors determined a synthetic credit rating and used this to select appropriate corporate bond yietd curves at varying tenars to
determine an gppropriate IBR (or leases entered into during the year.

The Directors believe that the methodology apphed in 2021 is boih a simplification of and an impravement 1o the method applied in the prios year.
Given the significant reduction in the Graup's leverage, the RCF would now De utiised (o fund the undertylng assets were the Directors 16 choose to
purchase rather than lease. The RCF rates are real commercial rates of Interest that the Group has access to and therefare represent more rediable
information an which 10 base this estimate. The sensitivity of the lease (lability to the assumgtions used in these estimations is indicated in note 20.

Investment property

Included within right of use assets are certain properiies classified as investment properties in accordance with IAS 40, These properties are held
primarily in order to eam rentals. The Group has chosen to apply the cost model (o all investment property and therefore measurement (s in line with
IFRS 16 as described in the Leased assets accounting policy.
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Properties that generate rentals but are primarily held for the provision of social benefits are not considered to meet the definition of

imvestment property.
Assets that are Assets that sre used
sub-teased to custemers directly within the business
Investment Residentlal Residential
property property property Offices  Motor vehicies Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At1January 2020 27052 115,592 42,352 11,961 3209 229,066
Additions® 476 2,999 33462 1479 8187 46,603
Disposals - 6.552) (500 (1,105) (23980) (10.554)
Disposal of subsidiaties - - - .259) - {1.259
At 1 January 2021 27528 112.03% 75307 1,076 37906 263,856
Additions* - 417 5824 29646 1262 12,895 50.044
Disposals - 4,674) (1,487) [910) {19761 {26,832}
At 31 Decamber 2021 27945 113189 103,466 11428 31,040 287068
Depreciation
At January 2020 1509 1874 3460 3282 0557 30682
Provided In the year 1,521 10,832 16,292 2753 nnz 42510
Eliminated on disposals - {5.555) {140} (1063} (2,215) 8,973
Disposal of subsldiares - - - {404) - {404)
At 1 January 2021 _3,030 sl 19,612 4,568 19454 63,815
‘Provided In the year 1553 8,609 2,589 170 9,921 43413
Eliminated on disposals - (41403 (795} (910} {19.264) {25309)
At 31 December 2021 4,583 21,620 40,406 5,399 10111 s2.419
Camying armount
At 31 Decamber 2021 23,362 91,569 63,060 6,029 20,929 204,949
At 31 December 2020 24,498 94,888 55,695 6,508 18452 200,04

Additions includes both new undertying assets and remeaswement of the right of use asset for changes in the lesse terms,

Investment property Included above represents properties held by the Group primarily to eam rentals, rather than for use in the Group’s other
activities. The amount included in lease income n note 2 in respect of these properties is £1.7m (2020: £2.9m)}. Direct operating expenses arising from
investment property that generated rental income during the period was £3.3m (2020: £3.4m). The carying value of the right of use assetin respect
of investment property is considered to be approximatety equal to its fair value.

16. INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments include those over which the Group has significant influence but which it does not control. These are categorised as assoclates. ltis
presumed that the Group has significant influence where it hias between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the investee unless Indicated otherwise.
The Group also holds investments in joint ventures where the Group and other parties have joint control over their activitles.

The basls by which associates and joint ventures are consolidated in the Group financial statements is through the equity method, 8s outlined in the

basis of consolidation.

in addition to associates and joint ventures, the Group holds investments in entlties over which it does not exert significant Influence. These are

accounted for at fair value through profit or l0ss.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16, INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Other

A i [ Toiaf

: £'000 £'000 £'000

AL 1 January 2020 . 836 - 536
Share of profit 1.056 - 1,056
Distribistions recetved {681 - Bo1
Acquisition - 65 65
At 1 January 2021 904 65 966
Share of prof 855 - 855
Distributlons received {.108) - {1108}
A2 31 Decombar 2021 648 €5 713

On 9 December 2020, as part of the disposal of the Group's Planning Solutions business, the Group acquired 6.16% of the ordinary share capital of
Mason Topeo Limited, the new owner of the disposed bus) This im, s presemad In Othet invesiments and is mandatedily held ai fai
value through profit or 105s. Thare have been no changes in the 1air value of the Investment during the year (2020: ngne).

Assoclates
Setoul below IS the investment in an associate as at 31 December 2021, which in management’s opinion Is significant 19 the Group:

Carpying vatue
Nature of Proportion Courtry of 2021 2620
relstionship haid registration £000 £on0
Pyramic Plus SouthLLP Associate 30% England and Wales 543 o™

Pyramid Plus South LLP Is a repalrs and maintenance service provider that is central to one of the Group’s contracts.

During the year. the Group received distributions of £1.1m (2020: £0.7m) from Pyramid Pius South LLP. Summarised financial information for Pyramid
Plus South LLP for the year is shown below.

2021 2020
£'DD0 £'000
Revenue and protits.
Revenue 19,866 18,413
Expenses (7017 {14.89%)
Profit for the year 2,849 3518
Cther comprehensive incdme - =~
Total comprehensive Income 2849 3518
Share of profil at 30% - 855 1,056
Net assets
Non-current assels - -
Current assets 6498 6275
Current Habilities {4,291 (3.257)
Non-cutrent fapiities - 4
Total assets less tolal lisbilities 2307 3,04

Cash and cash equivalents of £1.9m (2020: £0.9m) were included in current assels above.

1 36 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2021 are shown below:

Proportion held Country of registration Natwre of business
3c Asset Management Limited 100% Englard and Wales Dormant
Careforce Group Plc 100% England and Wales Dormant
Evolve Housing Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Let to Birmingham | imited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited BO% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Direct Limited BO% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Grounds maintenance
Mears Extra Care Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England snd Wales Darmant
Mears Home Improvement Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Homes Limited 100% Engiand and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited ' 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Mears Housing Management {Holdings} Limited 100% England and Wates Intermediate hokding company
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings} Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Pontfolic (London) Limiled 1W00% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Portfolio 1 Limited 100% England and Wales Domant
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 00% England and Wales Propeny acquisition
Mears Insurance Company Limited 99.99% Guemsey Insurance services
Mears Learning Limited 90% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Limited 00% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Modular Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears New Homes Limited 100% England and Wales House building
Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited 100% Scotiand Dormant
Mears Scotland {Services) Limited 66.67% Scatland Domnant
Mears Scotland LLP 66.67% Scotland Maintenance services
Mears Social Housing Limited 100% England and Wales " Dormmant
Mears Supported Living Limited 100% Scotand Provislon of care
Mears Wales Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MHM Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Morrison Facliities Sesvices Limited 100% Scotland Maintenance services
MPM Housing Limited 100% England and Wates Dormant
MPS Haousing Limited 100% England ard Weales Maintenance sevvices
Q&T Developments Limited 100% England and Wales Hausing management services
Omega Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Plexus UK (First Project} Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Sclon Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Scion Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Sclon Technical Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Suppaorta Limited 100% England and Wales Dommant
Tando Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Tando Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services

Al subsiciary undertakings with the exception of Evalve Housing Limited prepare accounts to 31 December. Evolve Housing Limited prepares

accounts o 30 June in line with its historical accounting reference date.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16, INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The Group Inchudes the following three subsidiaries with non-cantroliing interesls: Manchester Working Limited, Mears Leaming Limited and Mears
Scotland LLP. The table below sets aut selectad financial infarmation In respect of those subsidlaries;

201 1030
£000 £000
Revenie snd profits
Revenue 54,447 46,586
Expenses and taxation {54.539) {47,685}
Profit for the year ) {92) 0.099}
Gther comprehensive expense - -
Totsl comprehengive income {82) {1.03g;
Profilloss) for the year allacated to hon-controlling interests 144 {68}
Total comprehensive expense allocated 10 non-controliing interests = -
Net assets
Noa-current assets T7s 305
Current assets 14,985 17,538
Current liabilities {10.339) (12,899)
Non-current hiabilities . (1.393) {1429
Total 8ssets less 1otal lisbllities 34N 3523
Equlty shareholders’ funds 2525 2,865
Non-controlling imeresis 802 658
Total equity 3,431 3,523

The followinng UK subsidiaries win 1ake advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 4794 of he Companies Act 2006 for the year ended
31 December 2021, except MPM Housing Limited, which will take the same exemipticn for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2021:

Registration

- numbes

3C Asset Management Limited 02859913
Let 1o Birmingham Limived ' 08757503
Mears Estates Limited 03720903
Mears Extra Cave Limited 03689426
Mears Homedcare Limited 02744787
Mears Home Improvement Limited 036517
Mears Housing Management {Hoklings) Limited 04726480
Mears Housing Portiolio {Holdings) Limited 10908305
Mears Housing Portioko 4 Limited 10952906
Mears New Homes Limited 08780839
Mears Supported Living Limited SC662805
MHM Praperiy Sarvices Limited 07448134
MPM Housing Limited 03528320
Q4T Developments Limited 05692853
S¢ion Group Limited 03905442
Scion Technlcal Services Limited Q367450
Tando Homes Limited 09260353
Tando Property Services Limited 07405761
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17. INVENTORIES
Accaunting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost Is the actual purchase price of materials.

Work in progress is included in inventories after deducting any foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work in
progress represents costs Incurméd on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yet been identified. Work In progress is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cast comprises matevials, direct labour and any sub-contracted work that has been (ncurred In bringing the

inventories and work _in progress o their present location and condliiton.

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Materials and consumables 1,650 3558
Work in progress 2,249 27700
31,258

22,869

The Group consumed inventories totalling £167.3m during the year (2020: £163.3m). No items are belng carried al (air value less costs to sefi

(2020: £nil).

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounting policy

Tracdle receivablas rapresent amounts due from customers in respect of invoices raised. They are inttislly measured at their transaction price and

subsequently remeasured at amastised cosl.

Retention assets represent amounts held by customers for a period following payment of invoices, to cover any potential defects in the work.

Retention assets are included in trade receivables and are therefore inltially measured at thelr transaction price.
Contract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments on accouwnt and amounts Invoiced.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimation techniques used for revenue in respect of contracling require judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recovery of contract assets. Each contract is treated on s merits and subject to a regular review of the revenue and costs to

complete that contract. Contract assets represent revenue recognised In excess of the total of payments on account @nd amounts invalced.

However, due 1o the estimation unceralnty across numerous contracts each with different charactenstics, it Is not practical to provide a quantitative
analysls of the aggregated judgements that are applied. and management does not believe that disclosing a potential range of cutcomes on 8

consolidated basis would provide meaningful Information ta a reader of the accounts.

20 2020
€000 £ 000

Currenl assets:
Trade raceivables 285N 39,83
Contract assets 97680 88,594
Contracl fulfilment costs 1,242 1,408
Prepayments and accrued income 9,277 6,517
Contingenl consideration 6,531 500
Other debtors 5,004 3,034
Total trade and other receivables 148,308 139,884

Inchided in rade recelvables is £4.9m {2020: £4.7m] In respect of retention payments due in more than one year.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 Lo 60 days and do not bear any effective interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued income are

subject to credit risk exposure.

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk in relation to trade recetvables and accrued income at the balance sheet date is the fair value of trade

recelvables and accrued income. The Group's customers are primarlly @ mix of Local and Central Government and Housing Assoclations where credit
risk Is minimal. The Group's customer base is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group does not have 8 significant concentration of credit risk

with any one counterparty,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

The amounts presented In the balance sheat In relation to the Group's trade recetvables and accrued income balances are presemed net of loss
alowances. The Graup measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses using both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis based on the Group's historice) experience, and forward-loaking information.

The ageing analysis of trade recelvables 1s as follows:

2021 2020

Gross Expected Coarrying Gross Expecied Carrying

amoum due cradit loay value amaum due credit foss value

000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 000

Not past due 27641 {(tM0) 26,531 332719 722) 32,557
Less than three months past due 2,063 29 1,634 %496 (479) 5017
More than three manths past due 5873 (5467 406 9,221 (6.964) 2457
Tolal Irade recetvables assr (F.006) 285M 47996 BIO5) 39831

For expected credit lpsses with large organisations, such as Government bodies or Housing Assaciations, expected credit losses are cakulsied an
an indhvidual basis, taking account of alf the redevent factors applicabie to the amount outstanding, The Group has ne Rislory of defaults with these
ypes of customers, so expected credi losses refate Lo specific dispuled balances.

For individua) tenant customers, expecied credit 10sses are calculated based on the Group's historical experience of defauli by applying
a percentage besed on the age of the customer’s balance.

The movement in expected credil kass during the period is shown below:

201 2020

£°000 £000

As at t January 3485 22

Changes in amounts provided 17%6 2958

Amounts utifised (1.355) (1,915)

As at 3t December 7,006 8,65
The movement in contract assets during the pertod is shown below:

2021 2020

£000 £'000

AS M ¥ Sanuaty 88,594 10,263

Recognised on completion of performance obligations 843,628 773.269

Invoiced during the year 1634,542) {794.538)

As at 31 December 97680 88,594

Contingent consideration of €6.5m (2020: £0.5m) is consideration receivable n respect of the disposal of subsidiaries. The 2021 halance is in respect
of the disposai of the Group's Planning Solutions business in December 2020, The 2020 balance was in respect of the disposal of the final element, of
the Group's Domiciliary Care business in September 2020, This balance was received in ful during 2021

Inchuded in other debtors is an amount of £2 9m {2020: &nil) recoverable fram the Group's franting insurers. An equal ang opposia amount is also
included within gther creditors.

19. TRADE AND GTHER PAYABLES

2021 26020

£000 £'060

Trade payables 69,555 14,
Accruals 51,343 42097
Saciat security and other taxes 29724 34,983
Contract labiltties 27843 25,330
Other crediors 5,582 3208
184,047 221029

Due to the short duration of trade payables, management considers the carrying amounts recognised in the Consofidated Balance Sheeltobe a
reasonable approximation of their fair value.
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The mavement In contract liabilities during the period is shown below:

2021 . 2020

£'000 £'000

As at1Janvary 25330 2n2
Revenue recognised in respect of contract liabilities {13,197, 2n2)
Payments received in advance of performance obligations being completed 15,710 25,330
As at 31 December 27,943 25330

Contract labilities relate 1o payments recetved from the cuslomer on the contract, and/or amounts invoiced to the customer In advance of the Group
performing its obligations on contracts where revenue Is recognised either over time or at a point in time. These amounts are expected to be
recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

Incivded in other creditors is an amount of £2.9m (2020: £nil} payable to the Group's frenting Insurers. An equal and oppoesite amount is also included
within other debtors reflecting the subsequent reimbursement due to the Group's insurance captive.

20. LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities are separalely presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as shown below:

20 2020

000 £'000

Current 41,600 42,888
Non-current 178,290 166,183

216,890 209,01

The Group had not commitied 1o any leases which had not commenced at 31 December 2021. The majority of the Group's property teases contain
variable lease payments that vary annuaily either by reference to an index, such as the Consumer Prices Index {(CP1), or based on market conditions
each year. The potential impact of this variation depends on future events and therefore cannot be quantified, bul the Group would typically expect
commansurate ad|ustments to income derived from these properties.

A smaller number of property leases tontain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether i is reasonably certain that the
longer term will apply. In some cases, g portfolio of (eases with similar lease terms is considered together and, where a rolling notice perlod is
avallable 1o the Group, an sverage expected lease life may be appiied.

The Group has electad not 10 recognise a lease Kability for short-term leases and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases sre
expensed on a straight-line basis. Certain leases incorporate variable lease payments that are not Included in the measurement of iease liabiities in
accordance with [FRS 16. The expense relating to paymems not included in the measurement of the lease &iability is as follows:

2021 2020

£000 £000

Short-term leases . 46,780 45,846
Low value leases 879 839
Variable lease payments 1,550 2737

The portfolio of short-term leases to which the Group Is committed at the end of the reporting period is not dissimilar to the portialio to which the
above disclosure relates.

Other disclosures relating (o lease liabilities are provided in the table below:

20 2029

Note £'000 £000

Depreciation of right of use assets during the year 6 43,413 42510
Additions during the year 16 50,044 45,603
Carrying value at the year end 16 204,949 200,041
interest on lease liabfiities during the year - continuing activities 5 6,952 7123
Totat cash outflow in respect of leases during the year 26 47,399 47470

The Group's lease liabilities are subject to changes in ¢ertaln key assumptions In estimating the 1BRs used ta calculate the liabliitles. The IBRs used
during the year ranged from 2.11% to 3,54%. The impact of an increase in all IBRs applied during 2021 by 0.5% is a £0.6m reduction in the lease kability
and 8 £0,'m reduction in profit belore tax.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. PROVISIONS
A sumimary of the movement In provisions during the year is shown below:

Onercus

contract Proparty Legal
provisions p i K Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At1 January 2021 344 - - 344
Utiised during the year (232 - - T (232
Provided during the yesr 1288 730 2.343 4,361
AL 31 December 2021 1,400 T30 2,343 4,472

The provision of £0.3m at 1 January 2021 was in respecl of proparty costs related to the discontinued care business. The remalning £0.3m of this
provision is expected to be utilised within one year.

A1 31 December 2021, the Group identified a small number of maintenance contiacts where the estimate of unavoidable costs of meeting contractusl
obligaticns exceed the remuneration expected to be neceived, These have been categoitsed as onerous CoNtracts. In sach case, the Group has
triggered the contractus! bresk clause and the respective contracts will conclude during e course of 2022; a provision of £1.3m has been made for
the remaining lifetime Josseés on those contracts

Propenty provisions have been recognised during the year In respect of the expected cosis of reinstating several properties to their original condition.
These are expected to be utilised within one year.

Leqal provisions relate to sub-contractor and employee related legal claims which are aiso expected to be utilised within one year.

22. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Accounting policy

The Group seifdnsures cenain fleet and liability risks. A provision for claims lncurred bul not raceived Is recognised in respect of these potential
clatms. The value of this provision is estimaied based on past experience of claims.

2021 2020
£°0D0 £'000
Nan-current provigions 3,800 3,667

Nan-current provisions represent self-insured claims incurred but not yat reported. £1.7m of the provislon was utitsed during the year and £1.9m of
additional amounts were provided. The timing of the ulilisation of the provision Js uncenialn 85 )t depends upon the timing of inswrance claims against
the Group. Méwever. the majorily of the carrying valuse is expected to be utilised In mare than one year and, as such, the provision s considered to be
non-cuirent,

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

The Group uses a limited number of financial instruments comprising cash and fiquid resources, bomowings, interest rate swaps and vanious items
such as trade recelvables and irade payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments s to fingnce the
Group’s operations. The Group seeks to finance its operations through a combmation of relained esrnings and borrowings and Investing surplus cash
on deposit. The Group uses financial instruments o manage the interest rate risks arising from s aperations and sources of finance but has no
interests in the trade of financial instruments.

Financlal assets and fiabilities are recognised In the Consclidated Balance Sheel when the Group becomes party 10 the contractual provisions of the
instrument. The principal financial assets and liabikities of the Group sre as follows:

Financiaf sssets
fnvestments in unlisted equities that do not convey controt or significant iInfluence over the underlying entily are recognised at faw value. They are
subsequently remeasured ai fair velue with any changes being recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Contingent consideration is held by the Group in arder to collect the associated cash flows but until the amount Is determined, these are not solely
payments of principal and interest and therefore these assets are measured both initially and subsequently at fair vaiue, wilh any changes being
recognised In the Consohdated Statement of Profi or Loss.

Loan noles sre held by the Group in order (0 collect the associated cash flaws and mot for trading, They ara thevefore inftially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amartised cost, less any provision for impairment.
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Finandal assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either trade receivables or contract assels. All of the
Group’s ttade receivebles are short-term in nature, with payments typically due within 60 days of the works being performed, The Group's contracts
with its customers therefore contain na significant financing component.

Mears recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ‘simplified
approach’. Individuaily significant balances are reviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with the customer.
Other balances are grouped into credit risk categories and reviewed in aggregate.

Trade receivables and cash at bank and in hand are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Trade receivables are Initially recorded at fair value net of ransaction costs, being invoiced value less any provislonal estimate for
impairment shoutd this be necessary due to a loss event, Trade receivables are subsequently remeasured at invoiced value, less an updated
provision for impairment. Any change in thelr value through impairment or reversal of Impairment is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss. :

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with no notice or tess than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafls are presented as current liabliities 10 the extent that there is no
right of offset with cash balances. The Group considers its revaiving credi faciiity to be an integral part of its cash management.

Following initial recognition, financial assets are subsequently temeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial llabilities
The Groug's financial liabilitles are overdrafts, irade and other payables and interest rate swaps. They are included in the Consokdated Balance Sheet
line llems ‘L ong-term boarrowings and overdrafts’, “Trade and other payables', ‘Interest rate swaps” and “Othar payables’.

Altinteresi related charges are recognised as an expense In ‘Finance costs’ in lhe Consolidated Staterment of Profit or Loss with the exception of
those that are directly attributable to the construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Bank and other borrowings are initially recognised af fak value net of transaction costs. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settiement or
cancellation of liabillties are recagnised respectively in finance income and finance costs. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense inthe
period In which they are incuired with the exception of those which are directly attributable 10 the consiruction of 8 Qualifying asset, which are
capitalised as pan of that asset.

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on Initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial Instruments to hedge its exposure 1o interest rate risks arising from operational and financing activities,

Derivative financisl instruments are recognised inltialty and subsequently at falr value, with mark-to-market movemants recognised In the
Consoldated Statement of Profit or Loss except where cash flow hedge accounting 15 applied.

The fair value of Interest rate swaps is the estimated amount thal the Group woukd receive or pay 10 lerminate the swap at the balance sheet date,
taking Into account current interest rates and the curent creditworthiness of the swap counmerparties.

In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financlal instruments for trading purposes.

Hedge accounting for interest rate awaps

Where an interest rate swap is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of an existing or highly probable forecast loan Interest payment,
the effective part of any valuaticn gain or loss on the swap instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the hedging reserve.

The cumulative gain or 1055 Is removed from equity and recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Prafit or Loss at the same time as the hedged
transaction. The ineffective part of any gain or loss Is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss Immediately.

When a hedging instrument or hedge relstionship Is terminated but the hedged transaction |s still expected to occur, the cumulstive gain or loss at

that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer
probable, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised In equity Is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss immediately.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group contmued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

23, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Categorias of flnancial Instruments

202 2020
£'009 £°000
Non-current assets
Fair value flove) 3)
nvestmentis — plher ivestments 65 65
Contingent consideratian - 5431
65 5496
Amortised coat
Loan notes 3ATS 360
Current assets
Fait vatue (level 3}
Contingent consideration 653 =
Amorsed cast
Trade receivabies 2881 3983t
Delerred consideration .- 500
Other debtors 5,004 2,034
Cash at bank and In hand 54,632 96,220
88,207 1395685
Non-current Habilities
Fair value (level 2)
Intarest rale swaps — effective - (479)
Intergst rate swaps — ineffective - 37
Interesl rate swaps - (462}
Amortised cost
Long-term barmowing and overdrafts -~ {39,353)
Lease liabiities _{175,290) _(66383)
{175,290) {205,536)
Current Kabifities
Fair vatue flevel 2)
Interast rate swaps ~ effective - [484)
Interast rate swaps ~ ineffective - 25
Interest rate swaps - (459)
Amortised cost
Trade payables (69,555} mazn
Lease kabilites {41,600) (42,808
Other credhors (5582 (3.208)
{116.737) (60.807)
(w37a8) 219023

The amount recognised as an atiowance for expected credit iosses on trade receivables during 2021 was £0.2m (2020: £3.0m).

The IFRS 13 rwerarchy level categorisation relates to the extent the fair value can be determined by reference to comparable market values,

The classifications range fromlevel 1, where insirumenis are quoled on an acilve market, through 10 level 3, where the assurmrptions used to arrive at

fair value do not have comparable market data.

The fair values of interest rate swaps have bean calculated by a third party expen discounting estimated future cash flows on the basls of market

expectations of future interest rates (leval 2.

Tive amount of contingent consideration recelvabie is typicaily determined by future expected profils of the sakd businesses. The fair value

of contingent consideration has been calcuisted by management by reference to the draft income and expenditure of the disposed business during
200 and the teims of the sate {jevel 3} Where appropriate, the falr vae of coningent considenation is distounted at the Group's weignied average
cost of capital. A £0.1m increase in the 2021 profits of the disposed business would increase the fair value of contingent cansideration by £0.3m.
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The Increase in the faif vahue of contingent consideration of £1.10m {2020: £0.04m) during the year was recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss.

The fair values of investments In unlisted equity instruments are determined by reference to an assessment of the fair value of the entity to which they
relate. This is typically based on a multiple of earnings of the underlying business.

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Falr value information
The falr value of the Group's tinancial assets and liabilities is as disclosed above and approximates to the book value.

Financial risk management

The Group's aclivities expose it fa a variety of financial risks: market risk {including interest rate risk and price risk}; credit risk: and liquidity

risk. The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs and the risk of credit default by customers,

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 1o minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial perfarmance.

Risk management is carried aul under policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors.

Borrowing facilities
The Group's borrowlng facikties are drawn on as required to manage its cash needs. Banking factiities are reviewed regularly and extended and
replaced in advance of thelr expiry.

During the year, the Group agreed a replacement borrowing fackty of £70.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and CHl, of which £l was
utllised at 31 December 2021,

The faciiities comprise 8 committed four-year £60.0m revolving credit facility and an unsecured overdraft facllity of £10.0m. The entire amount of both
elements was undrewn at 31 December 2021,

Detaiis of the Group’s banking covenants are provided on page B1.

Intarest rate risk management

The Group finances its cperations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking institutions at floating rates of
interest based on SONIA, Ouring the year, the Group setlled its outstanding interest rate swaps due to its reduction in bomrowing requirements and
consequential ineffecliveness of the hedging relationships.

The Group's policy Is 10 accept a degree of interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various potential changes in rates remain within cenain
prescribed parameters,

Effective interest rates
The Group's overall average cost of debt was 2.3% during the year to 31 December 2021{2020: 2.4%).

Cash flow hedging resarve

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on a mark-lo-market bas's, accounted for through the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consoiidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Movements during the year were:

£'000
At 1 January 2020 (124)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 354
Revaluations during the year (1139)
Deferred lax movement s
At1January 2021 (760)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Siatement of Profit or Loss [85)
Revaluations during the year 1023
Deferred tax movement (178)

A% 31 December 2021 _
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
for the year ended 31 December 2021

23, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
At 31 December 2021 the Group had minimal exposure 10 movements in Interest rates as it had no drawn borrowings.

If the interest rates had been 0.5% higher and afl other variables were hekd constant. the Group's profit before taxation for the year ended
21 Decembyer 2021 and reserves would have decreased, by £0.2m (2020; £0.6m).

tiquidity risk management
The Group seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient fiquidity is avaitable to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safoly
and profitably.

Management monitors roling forecasts of the Group's liquidiity reserve [comprising undrewn barrgwing faciliies and cash and cash equivalents) on
the basks of expected cash fliows. This is generally carried out at a local level in the operating companies of the Group In accordance with the practice
and limits set by the Group. These limiis vary by location and take into account the liquidity and nature of the merkel in which the entity operates,

The quantum of committed borrowing facilites of the Group is regularly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross dabi levels:
For short-lerm working capital purposes, the Group utiises bank overdcafts as required. These facilittes are regularly reviewed and are renegoliated
ahead of their expiry date.

The table below shows the malurity profile of the Group's financial liabilities;

WHhin 1 yesr 1-2 yewrs 2-5 years Ovar § yeaors Totsl
£'000 £'000 £'000 000 £'000

2021
Non-derivative financial liabllities
Bank borrowings - - - - -
Trace and other pavables ’ T5437 - - - 5137
Lease habilities 42,302 30,769 63,899 123,394 260,364
Derlvative financlal Nabilities
Interest rate swaps — eflective - - - - -
2020
Non-dernivative financlat labikties
Bank borrowings - 39,353 - - 39,353
Tracde Bnd other payables .99 3,667 - - 121,586
t ease ftabilities 55237 33 54,724 121603 265,391
Dertvative financial Habliities
Interast rate swaps - effective 459 246 216 - a9

Credit risk management
The Group's credit fisk 15 priarily attributable to its trade receivables, contrac assels end work in progress.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days. Trade and othes receivables included in the Consalidaied Balance Sheet are siated net of
an expected credit loss provision which has been estimated by management following a review of Individual receivable accounts. There is no
Group-wide rate of provision and provision made for deists that are overdue Is based on prior default experience and knawn lactars at the balance
sheet date. Recelvables are written off against the expected credit loss provision when management considers that the debt is no fonger
recoverable.

Housing customers are typically Local and Central Government and Housing Associations. The nature of these customers means that credit risk is
minkmal. Other trade receivables contaln no speciiic concentration of credit risk as the amounts recognised represent a large number of receivables
frotn varigus cuslomers.

The Group continually monitors the position of major customers and incorporates this information into its crecit sk cantrols. External credit ratings
are optained where appropriate. .

Detalis of the ageing of trada receivables are shown in note 18,
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Loan notes recaivable

The loan notes included within non-current assets were received as part of the disposal of the Tetraquest Group. They are repayable in December

2028 and accrue interest at 0% per annum,

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in defefred consideration receivable:

Deferred Contingent Totai

£'000 £'000 £'000

At1January 2020 4618 - 4618
Increase due to disposal of Domiciliary Care businesses 1,500 - 1500
Fair value of contingent cansideration on disposal of Planning Sotutions business - 5395 5.395
Movement in fair valua of contingent consideration - 36 36
Received during the year (5,618} - (5,618)
Al 1January 2021 500 5431 5,931
Movementin fair value of contingent consideration - 1100 1100
Received ducing the year {500) - {500}
At 31 Dacember 2021 - 6,531 8,531

The baiance of contingent consideration is expected (o be raceived in April 2022,

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capial are:

~ 0 safeguard the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern, so thal it can continue to provide seturns for sharehoiders and benefits for other

stakeholders;

— to provide 8n adequate relurn to sharehoiSers by pricing protucts and services commensurately with the level of risk; and

— o maintaln an optimal capital structure ta reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital In proportion to risk, The Graup manages the capital structure and makes adjustments io it in light of changes In
economic condhions and the risk characteristics of the underying assets. In arder to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the

amournt of dividands paid to shareholders, retum capitel to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt as disclosed below and equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes

in Equity.
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
The Group considers Its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management:
— Cash at bank and In hand 54,632 96,220
— Revolving credit facility - {39,353)
Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit facility 64,632 56,867
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is ¢alculated on temporary differences under the liability method.

Deferred 1ax relates (o the following:

Consofldated statemant
Baiance sheet of profit or loas Othet movemants
A3 At
D b [+ b

20 2029 2on 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 000 £000
Pension schemes 8,315} 1497 {1,003 67 {8.509) 1726
Share-based payments 588 281 e {i00) 228 0
Cash-flow hedges - 78 - - g} 149
Tax losses 249 1779 (1.030) 1,215 - -
Provisions 49 76 73 43 - -
Acquisition imangibles (662) 1875 1,213 1553 - -
Capital allowances 647 1323 (676) 439 - -
Leases 668 561 107 32 - -
(6,676) 3320 {1,237) 3,09 (8,759) 1,885

Other movements are recognised In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive [ncome, except those in tespecl of share-based payments
which are recognised In the Consolkdated Statement of Changes in Equity.

In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payrnent’, the Group has recagnised an expense for the consumption of empioyee services recefved
as consideration {or share options granted. A tax deduction will not erise unti! the optlons are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is

dependent on the Company's share price a1 the date of exercise, The esumated fulure 1ax deduction 1 based on the options' intrinsic value at the
balance sheet date.

The cumusalive amount credited to the Consofidated Statement of Profit or Loss is limited to the tex effect of the associated cumutative share-besed
payment expense. The excess has been credited directly to equity. This is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

In addition to those recognised, unused tax losses lolating £25.5m [(2020: €29.0m) have not been recognised as mansgement does not conskder that
it is probahle that ihey wifl be recavered,

Inangible assets acquired as part of & business combination are capitaliised o fair value 8t the cate of the acquisition and amortised over thelr useful
aconomic lives. The UK tax regime cajculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the consolidated
accounts, Hence, the tax base of acquisition intangible assets arising on consokdation is £l Furthermore, no UK tax relief is avallable on the majority
of acquisition intangibles within ingividual entlties, sothe 1ax base of these assets ks also £nll. The estimated tax effact of this £nll tex base is
accounted for as a deferred tax Hability which Is released over the period of amortisation of the associated acquishion intangible asset.

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Classes of reserves

Share cagital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the ditference between the nominal value of shares tssued and the total considetation received.

Share-based payment reserve rapresants empioyee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment resérve until the refated share
oplions are exescised. Upon exercise the shace-based payment reserve is ransferred Lo retained earnings.

The cash flow hedging reserve Comprises all gains and losses arising frarn the valustion of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. Thase ara valugd on 8 mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

The merger reserve relates 1o the difference between the nominal vaiue and total consideration in respect of acquisitions, where the Company was
entitled to the merges relief affered by the Companies Act 2008,
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Share capital

2021 2020
£'000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Al T January 110,881,897 (2020: 110,490,459) ordinary shares of Tp each 1109 1105
Issue of 44,613 {2020. 351,438) shares on exercise of share options = 4
At 31 December 10,926,510 (2020: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of ip each 1109 1109
During tha year 44,613 (2020: 391,438} ardinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share options exercised.
26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-operating cash flow acjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax;
20 2020
£°000 £'000
Depreciation 49,024 47488
Impairment of fixed assets - 1,500
Loss on disposal of assets 245 23
Arnortisation oTr7 1736
Share-based payments 575 $93
IAS 19 pension movement {933 ge
Share of profits of associates ®%5) (365}
Finance Income (835) (86)
Finance cost 8,904 10186
Total 65,902 72761
Movements in financing Nabilitkes during the year are as follows:
Revolving Lease
credit facilty Kabilities Total
£'000 €000 £'000
At1January 2020 124,047 205175 329222
Inception of new leases - 46,603 46,603
Termination of leases - {61 (.e¥
Interest 2 7,254 9,965
Arrangement fees expensed during the vear 515 - 515
Disposal of subsidiaries - {880) (880)
Cash outflows including in respect of interest (87920} {47.470) (135,390}
At 1 Janyary 2021 39,353 209,01 248,424
Inception of new leases - 50,044 50,044
Termination of leases - {1.750) {1,750}
Interest 966 6,955 791
Arrangement fees eaxpensed during the year 647 - 647
Cash outflows including in respect of interest {40,966) 47430 {88.396)
At 31 Dycamber 2021 - 296,890 216,890

27. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

No disposals of subsidiaries were made during 2021. During 2020, the Group disposed of its Scotland Domiciliary Care business in the form of Mears
Care (Scotland) Limlted and its Planning Solutions business in the form of Terraquest Solutions Limited and Portatplanguest Limited.

During 2021, the deferred consideration of £0.5m in respect of the sale of Mears Care (Scotland) Limited was received in full.

The contingent consideration in respect of the isposal of the Planning Solutions business is carried at fair value as a current debtor and Is due to be

received In April 2022, The fair value was estimated to be £6.3m as a1 31 December 2021 (2020: £5.4m).
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Retiremant henefit obligations

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as follows:

Defined contribution pensions
A defined contribution plan Is a pension plan under which the Graup pays fixed contributions ta an Indepandent entity. The Group has no legal
obligations (o pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribytton.

The contributions recagnised in respecl of defined comrbution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabillties and sssets may be recagnised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included in current llabititles or current assets as they are normally of a shork-tesm nature,

The assets of the schames are Rald separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Defined benefit pensions
The Group contributes to defined benelit schemes which require contributions 1o be made to separately administered funds.

A definad benefit plan is a pensiaon plan that defines an amouwnt of pension benefit that en employae will receive on retiremen), usually dependent on
one or more actors Such as age, years of service and salary. The legal abligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benedit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuariat assumptions at the balence sheet date.
Assets are measured at markel vatue. In accordance with IFRIC 14, the asset that is recognised is restricted to the amount by which the 1AS 19 service
costis expected, over the lifetime of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payablke in respect of accruing benefits,

Where the Group has & contraciug/ obligation 1o make good any deficit in its share af an LGPS but also has the rght to recaver the costs of making
good any deficit from the Graup's client, the fair value of that guarantes asset has been recognised and disclosed. Movements In the guarantee assel
are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Prefit or Loss and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income to maich the movement in
pension assets and lisbilties,

The Group recognises the pension fiability 8nd guaraniee asseis separately on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Actuarial gains and lasses are taken o the Consclidaled Statement of Camprehensive Incame as ncured. For this purpase, actuarial gains and
losses comprise bioth the effects of changes In actuarial assumptions and experience adjusiments arising because of differences Detween the
previous aciyarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other movemants in the net surplus or deficit are recagnised in the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss, Including the current Service cost, any
past service cost and the effect of curteitmernts or setiements. The net interest cost I also charged 10 the Consolidated Statement of Profi or Loss,
‘The amount charged ta the Consolideted Statement of Profit or Less in respect of these plans IS Included within aperating costs.

When the Group ceases its participation in a defined berefit pensian schems, the difference between the carrying value of the scheme as calcuiated
on an LAS 19 bas!s and any deficit payment or surplus recelpt due are racognised in the Consollgated Statement of Profit or Loss as a settlement.

The Group's contributions to the Scheme are paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the scheme actuary.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have baen estimated by rofing forward the published asset position from the previous year using market index retuens over
the perigd. This is considared to provide a good estimate of the fair vatue of the scheme assets and the valges will be updated to actuals each time a
trienaial valuation takes place.

Defined benefit liabilities
A numbes of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent on factors cutside the controd of the Group:

— inflation rates;

— mortality:

- Oiscoum rate; and

— Saiary and pension Increases.
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Details of the particular estimstes usaed are included In this note. Sensitivity analysis for these key estimates s included below,

Where the Group has a contractual abligation 1o make good any defich In its share of an LGPS but atso has the right to recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed. The right 1o recover costs Is limited 1o exclude
situations where the Group causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incurred were the members
employed within Local Govermment. Management hes made Judgements in respect of whether any of the deficitis as a result of such situations,

The right to recaver costs Is also limited to shuations where tha cap on employer contributions to be suffered by the Group is not set so as 1o
contribute to reducing the deficit in the scherme. Management, in conjunction with the scheme actuaries, has made Judgements In respect of the
predicted future service cost and contributlons to the scheme tg reflect this in the fair value of the asset recognised.

Key sources of ectimation uncertainty

The net position on defined benefit pension schemes is a key source of estimation uncertainty. Given the importance of this area and fo ensure
appropriate estimates are made based on the most relevant information available, management has continued 10 engage with third party advisers in
assessing each of the underlying assumptions. The discount rate is derived from the return on carporate bond yields, and whilst this is largety
observable, any change in discount rates In the future could have a material impact on the carrying value of the defined benefit obligation. Similarly,
Infiation rates and mortality assumptions Impact the defined benefil obligation as they are used to mode! future salary Increases and the duration of
pension payments, Whilst current assumptions use projected future inflation rates and the most up to date information available on expected
mortality, if these estimates change, the defined benefit obligation could slso change materially in future periods.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees. The Group contributes to personat
pensioh schemes of certain Directors and senior employees. The Group operates a stakeholder pension plan available to all employees. During the
year, the Group contributed £4.0m (2020: £4.5m) 10 these schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group participated In 23 {2020: 23) prindpal defined benefit schemes on behalf of 8 number of emplayees which require contributions (o be
made to separately administered funds.

These pension schemes are operated on behalf of Mears Limited, Morrison Facilities Services Limited and their subsidiary undertakings. The assets
of the schemes are administered by trustees in funds Independent from the assets of the Group.

The Group schemes are no longer open to new members and have no particular concentration of investments, $o expose the Group anly 1o
typical risks assoclated with defined benefit pension schemes including the risk that investments underperform compared with movements in the
scheme Nabillties.

in certain ceses, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status in the LGPS. The Group will contribute for a finite period up untll the end of the
particular contract. The Group is required (o pay regular contributions as detailed in the scheme’s schedule of contributians. In some cases, these
contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which the employees originally transferred. Where the Group has a
contractual right to recover the costs of making good any deflcit in the scheme from the Group's cllent, the fair value of that asset has been
recognised as 8 separate pension guarantee asset Certain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and are discussed in the
judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies.

The disctosures in respect of the two {2020: two) Group defined beneflt schemes and the 21 (2020: 24) other defined benefit schemes in this note
have been aggregated. Details of movements in pension guarantee assets are presented In a separate table and the disclosures for 2019 have been
re-presented In the same way in order to aid comparability.

Costs and kiabilities of the schemes are based on actuarial valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes ware updated to
31 December 2021 by quslified Independent actuaries using the projected unit funding method.
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The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss are as folfows:

2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£000 £000 £°000 £'00G £000 £000
Current servi¢e cost 2154 4277 6431 2,029 4,244 6,273
Settiement and curtailment . - {687 (687 - 22) Ry
Administration costs 545 - 545 375 - 375
Totat operating charge 2699 3,590 6,289 2,104 4,222 6.626
Netinterest {69) 282 n3 {208) 466 260
Effects of limitation of recognisabie surplus related
1o ne! Interest - 152 152 — S6 56
Tolal charged to the result for the year 2,630 4,024 6,654 2198 4,744 6,942
Cumulative actuarlal galns and losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OC)) are as follows:
201 2020
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Towl
. £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Return on plan assets in excess of that recorded in
net interest 12,093 .69 23,784 003 20,766 41,847
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demographic assumptions 292 1,001 1,293 1,693 8364 10,057
Actuariat gain/floss) arising from changes In
financial assumptions 17,084 31648 48,692 {25,080) (62.337) 87.397)
Actuarial gainf{loss) arising from kabitity experience 4,364 8,032 12,396 350) 25,300 24,950
On scheme transler - - - - (157 {157
Effects of imitation of recognisable surplus related
to OC1 movements - (26,444) (26,444) - {8.44) {8.44)
Total gains and losses recognised in OC| 33793 25,928 59721 (2.636) {16,478} 914}
Changes In the prasent value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Totai schemes schemes Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 £000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 101,184 320486 501,370 156,379 327460 483,839
Cusrent service cost 2154 4277 643 2029 4,244 6,273
Interest on obligations 2,413 3.808 6,221 324 5974 9,215
Plan participants’ contributions 236 540 776 264 763 1,027
Benefits paid {5.026) (6,348) (1374) {a.44¢) {4189} {8,635)
Contract transfer - 2.212) (@.212) - (42,59%) (42,595)
Settlements - (3742) (3,742) - had) (144)
Actuarial galn arising from changes in
demegraphic assumptions (292) (1,00% (1,293) ,693) (8.364) (10,057)
Actuarial {gain)loss arising from changes in
financial assurnptions {17,043) {31,648) {48.692) 25,0680 62,337 B7.397
Actuariaf (gainyloss arising from iisbifity experience {4,364) (8,032} (12,396) 350 (25,300) (24,950j
Present value of obligations al 31 December 159,261 275,828 435,089 18184 320486 501,370
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Changes in the fair value of the plan assels are as follows;

201 2020
Graup Qther Group Other
schemes schemes Yotal schemes schames Fotal
£000 €000 £000 £'000 £0a0 £'000
Fair value of pian assets at 1 January 185,436 288,491 473,927 163,250 303464 466714
Expected return on plan assets 2,482 3852¢ 6,008 3447 5,508 8,955
Empicyer's contributions 2,236 3279 5515 2215 1805 . 40320
Plan participants' contributions 35 540 Tr6 264 763 1.027
Benefits pald {5,026) (6348) m3re {4.446) (4385) {8,635)
Schemae adminlstration costs (54%) - (545) 375) - (375
Contract transfer - {1.553) {1,583) - [39.836) {39.836)
Settlements - (3,055) (3,085) - {122 fi22)
Return on pian assets above that recorded in
netinterest 12,093 ",659¢ 23784 21081 21,098 42179
Fair value of pian assets at 31 December 196,912 296574 493,483 185,416 288 49 473927
Changes in the falr vaive of guaraniee assets are as follows:
200 29020
L'0a0 £000
Fair value of guarantea assets et 1 Jsnuary 30705 23890
Transterred in on scheme entry 570 -
Transferred outl on Scheme exit (6.369) {5)73)
Recognised in the C: tidated Siav "t of Profitor Loss
Guaraniee assel movement in respect of service cost 1707 1626
Guarantiee asset movemen in respect of net interest 240 N8
Recognised in other pred b |
Guarsntee psse! movement in respect of aciuarial losses {19.018) 10,024
Fak value of guarantee assets at 31 December 12975 30205

Funding arrangements are agreed for each of the Group's defined banefit pension schemes with their respective frustees. The employer's
contribulions expected 10 be paid during the financiat year ending 21 December 2022 smount 16 £3.5m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through a variety of methods and strategles to limit downside In falls in equity markets, movement in Infladen and

movement in interest rates.

The Group's defined benefit abligation is sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions. The sensfiivity anatysis below, prepared using lhe same
methods and assumptions used above, shows how a reasanably possible increase or decrease in a particular assumption, In Isolation, results in an
Increase ar decrease In the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2024,

£000 £000
Rate of inflation ~ decrease/increase by 0.1% 7287 7296
Rate of Increase in salaries - decrease/increase by 0.1% (1.344) 1344
Discount rate - decrease/increase by 0.1% 8,450 {8,441)
Life expeciancy — decreaselincrease by I year {18,403) 18,402
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2%, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capltal commitments at 31 December 2021 ar at 31 December 2020.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2021 these guarantees amounted 10

£15.7m (2020: £44.7m).

The Group had no other contingent liabillties at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

identity of related parties

The Group has a reloted party ielationship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemes
Detaiis of contributions o pension schemes are set out in note 28.

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which ail subsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it mesningful 1o set out detaiis of
transfers made in raspect of this reasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider it meaningful to set out details of Interest or divicend

payments made within the Group.

Yransactions with key management personnel
The Group has identifled key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC:

201 2020

% %

Dieectors 0.6 06
Key management personnel’s compensation is as follows:

200 2020

£'000 £'000

Salaries Inctuding Soclal security costs 1659 2,063

Contrlbutions to defined contribution pension schemes 134 3t

Share-based paymaris 146 340

1,939 2,534

Further detalls of Diractors’ remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Report.
Dividends totaling £0.02m (2020: £nil) were paid to Directors during the year.

Teansactions with othar related parties

At the beginning of the year the Group was owed £0.Sm (2020; £0.5m) from YourMK LLP, an entity in which the Group is 8 50% membet. This loan was

repald in full during the period.

During the year the Group provided maintenance services to Pyramid Plus South LLP, an entity in which the Group is 8 30% member, totalling £10.2m
(2020: £7.9m). At 31 December 2021, £1.0m (2021: £0.9m} was due to the Group In respect of these transactions. Pyramid Plus South LLP aiso made
recharges of certaln staff costs to the Group totalling £0.2m (2020: £0.9m). There were no amounts cutstanding at 31 December 20211n respect of

these recharges (2020; Enil).
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Financial statements

Parent Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2021

020
203 {reswuted-)
Noe £'000 £000
Non-cument assets
intangibie assets: goadwill - -
Right of use assets [ 1417 1946
Investments 7 139394 139,398
Loan noles n 3478 360
Pension and other employee beneflts 5 1,820 -
Deferred tux asset - 3
166,211 162,417
Currant assats
Debtors 8 45933 37612
Cash at bank and In hand 549 21,461
48,582 59,073
Craditors: atmounts [alling due within one year S {7.216) B0104)
Net current (liabilitiesy/assets {24,6348) 28,879
Tota! aasets less curent Nabliities 1577 191,296
Creditars: smounts falling due after more than one yesr 10 {15.492) 49.919)
Pravisions for liabllities
Pension tability 15 ~ 2,816}
126,085 138,561
Capital and resarves
Called up share capital 12 110% 1108
Share premium account 82265 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 1313 1312
Hedging reserve - 765y
Profit and loss account 41398 54,675
Sharehoiders’ funds 126,085 138,561

*  Details of the reclassification in sespect of 2020 are included in note 1),

The Parent Company has taken advaniage of Seciion 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and bias not included its own profit and loss account In these
financial ststements. The Group profit (2020: loss} for the year includes a loss of £15.2m (2020 profit of £30.9:m) which Is recognised within the

financial statements of the Company,

The financial statements were approved by the Beard of Directors on 31 March 2022,

D J Miles A C M Smith . Y
Director Director d/ /me
Company number: 03232863 d } miles (Qun 19,2023 13:34 GMT+1}

andrew smith {Jun 19, 2022 21:11 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policles and notes farm an ntegral pan of these financial statements.
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share- ‘
Share based : . . :
Share pramiuvm payment Hedging Retained Total
caphal account reserve reseve " eamings - equity
£'000 £'000 £'00D . £'000 . . £'000 £000
At 1 January 2020 1105 82,224 2420 . f124) 22,874 108,500
Net result for the year - - - . .- - 30,936 30,936
Other comprehensive expense - - = . . (636§ 1.273) - (1,909}
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - {636) 29663 29.027
Issue of shares 4 1 - - = 5
Share gptions - value of employee services - - 1029 .. - S 1.029
Share pptions - exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - [2138) . L= - 2138 -
At 1January 2021 108 82,225 1312 760} 54,675 138561
Net result for the year - - - - (15.229) 15,229)
Other comprehensive expense — - - 760 4151 491
Total comprehensive (expense)income for
the year - - - 760 (1,078) (10,318)
Issue of shares - 40 - - - 40
Share options - value of employee services - - §7% - - 575
Share options - exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (574) - 574 -
Dividends — - = - (2773) (2.773)
Al 31 December 2029 1109 82,265 4,313 - 41,396 126,085

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financlal statements.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting poficias are detalled in their respective notes, where ralevant. Palicies that are not specific 1o 8 particular note are delalled below.

t of compliance
Mears Group PLC Is a public Imited company incarporaled in England and Wales. its registered office Is 1390 Montpetier Court, Gloucester Business
Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH.

Basis of preparation

The financist statements have been prepared In accordance with applicable Uniled Kingdom accounting standargs, including FRS 101 and the
Companles Act 2006, The financia) s1atemants have been prepared on the historical cost besls except for the modification to a fali vaiue basis for
certala financial Instruments specified in the accounting palicies below. The financial stalaments are presented in Stering.

The financial statemengs have been prepared on a going concem basis. Further details of the considerstions made by management when making
this assessmant are provided in note 1 of the notes to the Group financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from disclosing its individual profit and loss account.

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for In FRS 101 and has theretore not
provided a cash flow statement or certain disclosures in respect of share-based payments.

The principal accounting policies of the Company ere set cul below. These policies have been applled consistently w ail the years presented. unfess
otherwise stated.

Government granys

Govermment grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all atlached corxditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on 2 systematlc basis over the pericds that the related costs, for which ltis
Intended to compensale, are expensed.

During the priar periad, the Group banefitted from receipts from the UK Gavernment under the Caranavirus Job Retention Scheme. in dccoedance
wilh FRS 101, smourits received were presented a5 other income.

Deferred toxation
Deferred lax is recognised on all timing differances where the transactions of events thal gve the Company an obiligation 1o pay more tax in the
future, of & righl 16 Pay less tax in the fulure, have occurred by the balence sheel date. Deferred 1ax assets 8re recognised wherte it is more likely than

nat that they will be recovered. Deferred tax is measured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted of substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Critical Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Criticel judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are dischosed in the Group's
accounting policies.

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result for the year is stated after charging auditor's remuneration of £150.000 (2020: £130,000) releting 10 audh services.
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3. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Employee benefits expense:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 13,283 13789
Social security costs 1,510 1665
Other pension costs 512 412
15,305 15,266
A Cnmnavirus Job Rotention Schenie yrant of £nil (£020: £0.6m) was recognised as other income.
The average number of employees of the Company during the year was:
2021 2020
Number Nurrther
Management 287 308
Remunerétion In respect of Directors was as follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Emcluments 1427 1.8
Pension contributions o personal pension schemes 134 3
Gains on exercise of options 16 340
1707 2,292

During the year contributions were paid (o personal pension schemes for three Directors (2020: three).
During the year no Directors {2020: three) exarcised share options,

4. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All shere-based payment arrangements that were gramted afier 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financial stalements.

The Group operates equlty-settled and cash-settied share-based remuneration pians for its employess. All employee services received In exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured st their falr vatue. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded. Their value ks determined at the date of grant and Is not subsequently remeasured untess the conditions on which the award
was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant Is calkculated using the Black Scholes option pricing madel and the <osl is recognised
on a siraight-ine basis over the vesting period. Adjustments are mede to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period.

Share-based temuneration in respect of employees of the Company is ullimately recognised as an expense in the profit and loss accaunt. For
equity-setiled share-based payments there Is a caresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve; for cash-settled share-based payments
the Company recognises a liability at Lhe balance sheet dale. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees of subsidiaries
using the Company's equity instruments. The fair value of the compensation given In respect of these share-based compensation plans jess
payments received from subsidiaries in respect of those share-based payments Is recognised as a capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly atiributable transaction costs up 1o the nominal value of the shares issued,
are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium,

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four share-based payment schemes for employee remuneratton. The details of each scheme are
included within note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Ali share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settie the optlons,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

5. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

0 2020

£'000 000

Final 2020 dividend of Op (2020: final 2019 dividend of Op) per share - -
nterim 2021 dividend of 2.5p (2020: interimn 2020 dividend of Op) per share 2713 ~
2773 ’ -

No dividend was declared in respect of 2020, An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid tb shareholders in October 2021.
The Directors recommend a final dividend of 5.50p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial siatements as no
abligation existed at 3t December 2021,

6. RIGHY OF USE ASSETS

Accounting peiley

Whare an assel |s subject 1o a lease, the Company recognises a right of use asset and a lease liabliity on the balance sheet. The right of use asset s
measured at cost, which matches the Initial measuremant of the fease lability and any cosis expected al the end of the lease, and then depreciated
on a swakght-line basls gver the lease term.

The lease liablllty is measured at the present velue of the future lease paymens discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments Include fixed payments, varlable payments basad on an index and payments arising lrom oplions reasonably certain 1o
ba exerclsad.

The Group has elected 10 account lor short-term lesses snd leases of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right

of use asset any a lease hablity, the payments in retation 1o these are recognised as An expense in profit Or loss on a Straight-Iing basis over the
lease term.

Qn the stetement of financlal position, right of use assets and lease liablities are presented separately.

Offices  Motorvehicles Total

£000 £"000 £'000
Gross carrying amount
At January 2020 ms 32109 33224
Additions® : ' 12 8187 8199
Disposals {18) (2.390) {2,408)
At1January 201 1109 37906 39,015
Additons® {*C) 12,896 12,886
Disposais B1) {19,764 (19,842}
At 31 Decomber 2021 1,018 31,049 32059
Depreciation
At Janvary 2020 219 10,557 w076
Provided in year i) nn2 1326
Efminated on gisposals 18 2.215) 2233
At Januery 2021 415 19,454 19,869
Provided in the year 197 2921 ons8
Eliminated on disposals 8y (19.264} £19,345)
At 51 December 2021 531 nm 10,642
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 487 20,930 21417
Al 31 December 2020 694 18452 18146

*  Additions includes both new underlying assets snd remessuremert of the right of use asset for changes in the lease lemms,
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7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments in equity shares which ara not publicly treded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at deemed cost less

imparment. Dividends on equity securlties are recognised inincome when receivable,

Investment

n subsidiary

undertakings

£'050

At1January 2020 39,583

Capltalisation of loans with subsidiaries 10,000

Disposal of subsidisry {10,250}

Retention of holding In disposed subsidiary 85

ALY Janwary 2021 and 31 December 2021 139,393
Details of the subsidiary undertakings of the Camparty are shown In note 16 to the consolidated financial siatements.

8. DEETORS

2020

2021 {restated)

€000 £'000

Amaounts owsd by Group undertakings assae N4

Other receivables 7,405 5,858

45,933 37612

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on demand, Expecled credlt losses are assessed on 8n indivicual basls, taking into account )

the relevant factors in respict of the counterparty.
Details of the reclassification in respect of 2020 are Included in note tl.

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Trade creditors 12,855 15,478
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 49,455 4123
Interest rate swaps - 459
Accruals 1727 751
Corporation 1ax 346 578
Lease obligations 6,720 8,768
Other payables "3 36
1,216 30,194

10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR
2021 2020
£000 £000
Bank borrowings - 39,344
Lease obligations 15,012 1013
Interest rate swaps - 462
Deferred tax 480 -
15,492 49,919
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

Financiei asseis and abilities ane recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Campany becomaes party {0 the contractual provisions of
e instrument. Tha principal financlal asseds and liablitles of the Company are a5 folows:

Financial assets

Basic financlal assets, including trade and other raceivables, amounts due ta Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are Initialty
recognised at transactlon piice, uniess the arrangement constituteés a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at (he present value of
the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest,

Such assels are subsequently carred at amortised cost using the effactive Interest rete method.
Al the end cf each reporting period financial assets measured at amontised cos! 8re assessed for objective evidence of impalrment. If an assetis

impaired the impakment (0ss 15 the difference beiween the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash (lows discounted atthe
assel’s origingl effective ir rale. The impal it kiss is récognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are devecognised when (a) the contraciual rights to the cash flows from the assed explre or are settled; (b) subsiantlally ali the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to ancther party; or (c) despite having retsined some significant risks and rewards of
ownership, control of the assel has been translerred to another party which has the practical abdlity to unilaterally $efl the asset to an unrelsted third
party without imposing additionaf restrictions.

Cash and ¢ash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposils avaiable with no notice of less than three monihs’ natice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes invalue. Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabikties to the extant that there is no
right of offset with cash balances.

Financist Habilities

Basic financial liablities, ncluding trade and other payables, and amounts paysble to Group companies that are classlfied as debt, are lniilally
recagniged at transactlon price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the presen
value of the fulure recelpts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Bank borrowings are non-basic finsncial liabilites and are initially recognised at fair value, being the present value of fulure payments discounted at a
market rate of imerest. Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair valve.

Derivatives, including inlarest rate swaps, are hat basic finandial Instrumants.

Dertvatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value,
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognisad in profit or loss in finance costs ar finance income as appropriate, uress they are included in &
hedging arrangement.

Financial lisbilities are derecognised when the labikty is extinguished, thet is when the contractus! obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Offsetting
Finsncial assats and labilties are offset and the netemaunts presented in the finandial statements when theve is a legally enforcesble right 1o set off
1he recognised arnounts and there Is an Intenilon to seitle on a net basts or to realise the asset and settle the liabiiity sknulaneously.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company apphes hedge accounting for iransactions entered into to manage the cash flow exposures of borrowings. interest rate swaps are heid
1o manage the nterest rate exposures and are designatled as cash flow hedges of floating rate barmowings.

Changes in the faic values of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised directly In equity. Any ineffectiveness
In the hedging relationship {bekng the excess of the cumuiative change In falr value of the hedging Insitument since inception of the hedge aver the
cumulative change in the falr value of the hedged ltem since inception of the hedge) is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss,

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive kicome fs reclassified to the Consalidgted Statement of Profit ar Loss when the hedge

relationship ends. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrumeni expires or no longer meets the hedging critenia, the forecast
transaction is no longer highly prabable, the hedged debt insirument is derecognised of the hedging instrument is terminated.
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The Company has the following financial instruments:

2020
201 {restated)
£000 £'000
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:
= Loan notes 3,476 3160
— Amounts owed by Group underakings 38528 3724
= Other receivables 7,405 9,048
Financial liabiNties that are measured at fair value through other comgrehensive Income;
e [NlErEs! rate swaps - 921
Financlal kabilities that are measwred at amortised cost:
-~ Bank borrowings - {39344)
— Trade creditors (12,855) (15478)
-~ Lease obligations 1,732} (18.881)
-  Amounts owed to Group underiakings (49,455) (4123)
o Other payables (13 38
(34.,7486) (34.851)

There have been no changes during the period or cumulativety in the fair value of bank borrowings atiribuable to changes In the credit risk of the
instrumant. The change attributable ta changes In own credit risk is not material due ta the short life of individual draw-downs within bank borrowings.
The difference between the camying amount and the amount expected 10 be paid at maturity is not material due to the short ife of individual
draw-downs within bank borrowings.

The Company paid a margin over and above LIBOR on bank borrowings. The mergin is based on the ratio of Group consolidated net borrowlings to
Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.35% and 2.2% during the year. In December 2021, the Company agreed a
new barrowing facility based on SONIA; however, the facility had not yet been utiised at the year end.

During the year, tha Company settled ali outstanding interest rate swap instruments due to its reduced borrowing requirements.

During 2021, a hedging gain of E1.0m (2020 loss: £1.1m) was recognised in other comprehensive income for changes In Lthe fair value of the interest
rate swap and £0.1m of income (2020: £0.4m of expense) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss.

The Company seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity Is available o meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assels safely
and profitably.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group and Company's liquidity resarve {comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivaients) on the basls of expected cash flows. The quantum of committed barrowing facllities of the Group and Company i regularly reviewed
and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purposes, the Group and Company utlli